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Lepanto Consolidated Mining Company 
 

  

 

NOTICE OF 2021 ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING 
 

Please be informed that the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting of Lepanto Consolidated Mining 
Company will be held on Monday, September 20, 2021 at 4:00 o’clock p.m. The Meeting will be 
conducted virtually via remote access communication and the access link will be provided in the 
Company’s website at www.lepantomining.com   
 

The agenda for the Meeting will be as follows: 

1. Call to Order 

2. Proof of due notice of the meeting and determination of quorum 
3. Approval of the Minutes of the Annual Meeting held on July 27, 2020 
4. Approval of the Annual Report 
5. Retention of Messrs. Ray C. Espinosa and Val Antonio B. Suarez as independent directors 
6. Election of Directors 
7. Amendment of Article VII of the Articles of Incorporation to increase the authorized capital 

stock from P6.64 Billion to P12.00 Billion 
8. Appointment of External Auditor 
9. Transaction of such other and further business as may properly come before the Meeting 
10. Adjournment 

 
Only stockholders of record as of August 31, 2021 are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the 

Meeting. The stock and transfer book of the Company will be closed from August 31, 2021 to the close 
of business hours on September 20, 2021. 
 

The Definitive Information Statement and Management Report and SEC Form 17-A and other 
pertinent documents are posted on the Company’s website and PSE Edge. Guidelines for registration 
and participation in the Meeting shall likewise be posted on the Company’s website.  
  

Stockholders who intend to participate in the Meeting via remote communication should email 
on or before September 15, 2021 the Asst. Corporate Secretary at oaj@lepantomining.com a scanned 
copy of a valid government-issued identification card (ID) for registration and verification purposes. 
Indirect stockholders should include in their email their broker’s certification of shareholding.  

 
Stockholders may also be represented and vote at the Meeting by submitting a Proxy via email 

to  oaj@lepantomining.com together with a government-issued ID.  Hardcopies of proxies may also be 
submitted to the Company’s principal office at the 21st Fl., Lepanto Building, 8747 Paseo de Roxas, 
Makati City.  Proxies emailed or submitted after September 15, 2021 shall not be recorded for the 
Meeting.  

  
Makati City, 16 August 2021. 

 
ETHELWOLDO E. FERNANDEZ 

Corporate Secretary 

http://www.lepantomining.com/
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ANNEX “A” 

 

EXPLANATION OF AGENDA ITEMS 
 

 
1.  Call to Order – The Chairman of the Board and CEO, Mr. Felipe U. Yap, will call the meeting to 

order. 
 

2. Proof of due notice of the meeting and determination of quorum – The Corporate Secretary, Atty. 
Ethelwoldo E. Fernandez, will certify that (a) in accordance with SEC Notice dated April 20, 2020, 
notice of the meeting was duly published in two newspapers of general circulation for two 
consecutive days at least 21 days before the meeting date; and that (b) a quorum exists for the 
transaction of business. 

 
The said published notice of the meeting advised stockholders that: (a) those who intend to 
participate in the meeting via remote communication should send by email on or before 
September 15, 2021 to the Asst. Corporate Secretary at oaj@lepantomining.com a scanned copy of 
a valid government-issued identification card (ID) for registration and verification purposes. An 
Indirect shareholder should include in the email a scanned copy of his/her broker’s certification of 
shareholding. (b) Stockholders may also be represented and vote at the meeting by submitting a 
Proxy (form attached) via email to oaj@lepantomining.com together with a scanned copy of a valid 
government-issued ID. Hardcopies of proxies may also be submitted to the Company’s principal 
office at the 21st Fl., Lepanto Building, 8747 Paseo de Roxas, Makati City.  

 

Stockholders  who  have  successfully  registered  will  receive  an  email  with (a) instructions on 
how to access the Ballot through  a secure online portal which will allow them to vote at the 
meeting. The Ballot gives the stockholder the option not to vote directly, but to allow the 
Chairman to vote all items (except the election of directors) as his/her Proxy;  a n d  ( b )  t h e  
Z O O M  m e e t i n g  l i n k .  A stockholder who participates and votes in absentia or by remote 
communication shall be deemed present for purposes of quorum. 

 
3.  Approval of the Minutes of the Annual Meeting held on Ju ly  27 ,  2020 – The minutes of the 

previous stockholders’ meeting    may    be    accessed    through    the    Corporation’s    website 
www.lepantomining.com.   A resolution on this item requires the approval of a majority of the 
votes of stockholders present and eligible to vote. 

 
4. Approval of the  Annual Report – The Chairman  will deliver a report to the stockholders on the 

Company’s performance in 2020. The President, Mr. Bryan U. Yap, will report on the Outlook for 
2021. The Chairman will then open the floor for clarificatory questions. Then, the audited financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 (attached to the Information Statement and 
accessible through the company’s website) will be presented for the approval by the 
stockholders.  A resolution on this agenda item requires the approval of a majority of the votes of 
stockholders present and eligible to vote. 
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5. Retention of Messrs. Ray C. Espinosa and Val Antonio B. Suarez as independent directors –  The 

Board is submitting to the stockholders for approval the retention for two more years of Messrs. 
Ray C. Espinosa and Val Antonio B. Suarez as independent directors, beyond the term limit of nine 
years per SEC Memorandum Circular No. 4, Series of 2017. 
 

6. Election of Directors – The Nomination Committee received nominations for the Board of 
Directors within the prescribed period and found such nominees to have all the qualifications 
and none of the disqualifications to serve as directors.  The names of the nominees and their 
respective personal profiles,  including  directorships  in  listed  companies,  are  duly  indicated  
in  the  Information Statement. Election of directors will be done by plurality of votes.  
 
Each shareholder is entitled to one (1) vote per share multiplied by the number of board seats to 
be filled, i.e. nine  (9), and may cumulate his/her votes by giving as many votes as he/she wants to 
any candidate provided that the total votes cast shall not exceed the total votes to which he/she is 
entitled.  

 
In the event that only n i n e  (9) are nominated to fill t h e  n i n e  seats in the Board, the 
Chairman, unless otherwise instructed by a stockholder, may  direct the Corporate Secretary to cast 
all votes in favor of those nominated.  
 

7. Amendment to Article Seven of the Articles of Incorporation – The stockholders will be asked to 
approve an amendment to the Seventh Article of the Articles of Incorporation to increase the 
authorized capital stock from P6.64 Billion to P12.00 Billion.  
 
The Board is recommending to the stockholders that the Board of Directors be authorized to take 
appropriate steps and means to support the increase in the authorized capital stock from P6.64 
Billion to P12.0 Billion.   
 
Approval of the foregoing amendment to Article VII requires the affirmative vote of shareholders 
owning or representing at least 2/3 of the outstanding capital of the company. 
 

8. Appointment of External Auditor – The Corporation’s Audit Committee has recommended  the 
re-appointment of SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. as external auditors for the current year.  A 
resolution on this agenda item requires the approval of a majority of the votes of stockholders 
present and eligible to vote. 

 
9.  Transaction of such other and further business as may properly come before the Meeting -  

Stockholders may propose to discuss other issues and matters. 
 

10.  Adjournment – After all matters in the agenda have been taken up, the Chairman will entertain a 
motion to adjourn the meeting. 

 

 



ANNEX “A-1” 

P R O X Y 

 

This undersigned stockholder of LEPANTO CONSOLIDATED MINING COMPANY (the “Company”) hereby appoints Felipe U. Yap or 
Bryan U. Yap, as attorney-in-fact and proxy, to represent and vote all shares registered in his/her/its name at the Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders to be held on 20 September 2021 (Monday) at 04:00 p.m. by remote communication and at any adjournments thereof 
for the purpose of acting on the following matters: 
 

Unless i have indicated my preference or my votes on the issues in the form as provided below, my shares shall be voted in accordance 
with the recommendation of the Board of Directors or, if there is none, at the discretion of the Proxy, except in the election of 
directors, on which the Proxy shall vote only the number of shares i have indicated for the candidate i have chosen. 
 

Hereunder are the matters to be taken up during the meeting. Please indicate your vote by firmly placing an “X” in the appropriate 
box. 
 

1. Approval of the Minutes of the Annual Meeting 
held on July 27, 2020 

Yes No Abstain 

2. Approval of the Annual Report 
 

Yes 
 

No Abstain 

3. 
 
 
 
 
4. 

Retention of independent directors for two more years: 

     Ray C. Espinosa 

     Val Antonio B. Suarez 
 
Election of Directors 

     Vote for nominees listed below: 

                                                             No. of Votes 
     Felipe U. Yap                        _______________ 
     Bryan U. Yap _______________ 
     Marilyn V. Aquino _______________ 
     Ethelwoldo E. Fernandez _______________ 
     Douglas John Kirwin _______________ 
     Regis V. Puno _______________ 
     Cresencio C. Yap     _______________ 
      
     Independent Directors 
     Ray C. Espinosa _______________ 
     Val Antonio B. Suarez _______________        

 
 

Yes  
Yes 

 
 

No  
No 

 

 
 

Abstain 
Abstain 

 
 

 
5. 

 
Amendment of Article VII of the Articles of 
Incorporation to increase the authorized capital stock 
from P6.64 Billion to P12.00 Billion 

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
Abstain 

 
6. 

 
Appointment of SGV as External Auditor 

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
Abstain 

 
7. 

 
Transaction of such other and further business as may 
properly come before the meeting. 

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
Abstain 

 

IF THE STOCKHOLDER IS A CORPORATION, A SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATE QUOTING THE BOARD RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE 
CORPORATE OFFICER WHO SIGNED THIS PROXY MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE CORPORATE SECRETARY AT oaj@lepantomining.com. 
 

A STOCKHOLDER GIVING A PROXY HAS THE POWER TO REVOKE IT ANY TIME BEFORE THE RIGHT GRANTED IS EXERCISED.  A PROXY IS 
CONSIDERED REVOKED IF THE STOCKHOLDER REGISTERS ON THE VOTING IN ABSENTIA & SHAREHOLDER (VISH) SYSTEM AND/OR 
NOTIFIES THE COMPANY BY EMAIL BY 15 SEPTEMBER 2021 OF HIS INTENTION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE MEETING BY REMOTE 
COMMUNICATION. 
 

STOCKHOLDERS PARTICIPATING BY REMOTE COMMUNICATION WILL NOT BE ABLE TO VOTE UNLESS THEY REGI STER IN THE VISH 
SYSTEM OR AUTHORIZE THE CHAIRMAN TO VOTE AS PROXY, ON OR BEFORE 15 SEPTEMBER 2021. 
 

A SCANNED COPY OF THIS PROXY SHOULD BE SENT TO THE CORPORATE SECRETARY AT     oaj@lepantomining.com ON OR BEFORE 15 
SEPTEMBER 2021 WHICH IS THE DEADLINE FOR SUBMISSION OF PROXIES. 
 
   ________________________________________        
                                        (Stockholder) 
 

By:  ________________________________________ 
                  Signature over printed name 

mailto:oaj@lepantomining.com.
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ANNEX “A-2” 

ONLINE BALLOT 

 

Email Address: ____________________ 

 

1. Approval of the Minutes of the Annual Meeting 
held on July 27, 2020 

Yes No Abstain 

2. Approval of the Annual Report 
 

Yes No Abstain 

3. 
 
 
 
 
4. 

Retention of independent directors for two more years: 

     Ray C. Espinosa 

     Val Antonio B. Suarez 

 
Election of Directors 
 
    Vote for nominees listed below: 
      

                                                   No. of Votes 
  Felipe U. Yap                 _______________ 
  Bryan U. Yap       _______________ 
  Marilyn V. Aquino _______________ 
  Ethelwoldo E. Fernandez  _______________ 
  Douglas John Kirwin _______________ 
  Regis V. Puno _______________ 
  Cresencio C. Yap     _______________ 

 

     Independent Directors 
     Ray C. Espinosa _______________ 
     Val Antonio B. Suarez _______________        

 
 

Yes 
Yes 

 

 
 

No 
No 

 
 

Abstain 
Abstain 

 
5. 

 
Amendment of Article VII of the Articles of 
Incorporation to increase the authorized capital 
stock from P6.64 Billion to P12.00 Billion 
 

 
 

Yes 

 
 

No 

 
 

Abstain 

6. Appointment of SGV as External Auditor Yes No Abstain 

 
7. 

 
Transaction of such other and further business as 
may properly come before the meeting. 

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
Abstain 

     

 
I OPT NOT TO VOTE  DIRECTLY AND INSTEAD APPOINT THE CHAIRMAN AS MY  PROXY TO VOTE ON ALL MATTERS 
EXCEPT IN RESPECT OF THE ELECTION OF THE DIRECTORS. 



   

ANNEX “B” 
 

REQUIREMENTS AND PROCEDURE FOR VOTING AND PARTICIPATING 

IN THE 2021 ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING 

 

A.  CONDUCT  OF  THE  MEETING  -  The  2021  Annual  Stockholders’ Meeting  of  Lepanto 

Consolidated Mining Company will be conducted virtually on Monday,  September 20, 2021, via 

ZOOM. Due to the Covid-19 crisis, there will be no physical venue for the meeting.   Stockholders 

who participate in the meeting by remote communication shall be deemed present for purposes of 

quorum. 

 

B. PRE-REGISTRATION - Stockholders intending to participate by remote communication or by Proxy 

(Annex “A-1”) are required to pre-register by emailing the Asst. Corporate Secretary at 

oaj@lepantomining.com  not later than September 15, 2021. Following are the requirements for 

pre-registration:  

1. Name of the stockholder  

2. Mailing Address 

3. Contact number (landline or mobile) 

4. email address through which the stockholder will send and receive communication from the 

Company  

5. Scanned  copy of any valid  government-issued ID  with photo and signature of the stockholder 

6. If attending through a duly-appointed Proxy, the name of the Proxy, together with a  

scanned copy of the Proxy’s valid government-issued  ID with photo and signature (except if the 

designated Proxy is the Chairman of the meeting) 

7. If  the stockholder  is  a  corporation, a scanned copy of the  Corporate  Secretary’s certification  

stating the representative’s authority to represent the corporation, and a scanned copy of the 

government-issued ID with photo and signature of the Company representative and email 

address of the representative. 

THE   SUBMISSION   OF   INCOMPLETE   OR   INCONSISTENT   INFORMATION   MAY   RESULT   IN 

UNSUCCESSFUL REGISTRATION AND WILL RENDER THE STOCKHOLDER INELIGIBLE TO PARTICIPATE IN 

THE MEETING. 

C.   REGISTRATION PROPER- Successful registrants will receive a notice by email:  

1. confirming their registration status and providing: 

a. link to the online secure portal where they can vote/accomplish the Ballot (Annex “A-2”), 

which should be accomplished not later than September 20, 2021; 

b. ZOOM meeting link to enable them to participate at the meeting.  

2. for those who submitted a PROXY, a confirmation of the validity of the PROXY.   

mailto:oaj@lepantomining.com


   

D.   VOTING 

1.  A stockholder who chooses to vote electronically should vote on the agenda items by accessing 
the Ballot through the secure online portal.   

2. A  stockholder  who  does  not  wish  to  vote  electronically  can only  appoint  the Chairman  of  
the  meeting  as  Proxy.  

3.  The  Office  of  the  Corporate  Secretary  will  tabulate  all  votes  received  and an independent 
third party will validate the results. 

4.   The Corporate Secretary will report the results of the voting during the meeting. 
 
E.  MEETING PROPER 
 

1.   During the meeting, each proposed resolution will be shown on the screen as the relevant 
agenda item is taken up. 

2.   Participating stockholders can send questions or comments on any item on the agenda through 
the chat facility of ZOOM. 

3.   The meeting proceedings will be recorded in audio and video format. A copy of the recorded 
proceedings will be made available to a stockholder upon request. 
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 SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
 
 SEC FORM 20-IS 
 

INFORMATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 20 
OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE 

 
 

1. Check the appropriate box: 
 
 ___  Preliminary Information Statement 

 
        Definitive Information Statement 

 
2. Name of Registrant as specified in its charter: LEPANTO CONSOLIDATED MINING COMPANY 
 
3. Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization: Makati City, Philippines 

 
4. SEC Identification Number: 101  
 
5. BIR Tax Identification Code: 320-000-160-247 
 
6. Address of principal office:       21st Floor, Lepanto Building 
            8747 Paseo de Roxas  
            1229 Makati City, Philippines 
 
7. Registrant’s telephone number, including area code : (632) 815-9447 
 
8. Date, time and place of the meeting of security holders :  
 

Monday, September 20, 2021 at 4:00 o’clock p.m. The meeting will be conducted virtually via remote 
access communications and the access link will be provided in the Company’s website at 
www.lepantomining.com   

  
9. Approximate date on which the Information Statement is first to be sent or given to security holders:  

August 31, 2021 
 

10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code or Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA:  
 
  Title of Each Class   Number of Shares of Common Stock 
                 Outstanding  
 
  Class “A”      39,822,869,196 
  Class “B”      26,552,888,901   
  
 The Company has no Preferred Stock. 
 
11. Are any or all of registrant's securities listed on a Stock Exchange? 
 
 Yes       X           No _______ 
 
 If yes, disclose the name of such Stock Exchange and the class of securities listed therein. 
 
 Philippine Stock Exchange   Classes “A” & “B” 
 

http://www.lepantomining.com/
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GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
   
 WE ARE NOT REQUESTING YOU FOR A PROXY AND YOU ARE REQUESTED NOT 

TO SEND US A PROXY. 
 
 
Date, time and place of meeting of security holders 
 
 The Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Lepanto Consolidated Mining Company will be will be conducted 
virtually via remote access communications and the access link will be provided in the Company’s website at 
www.lepantomining.com on Monday, September 20, 2021 at 4:00 o’clock p.m. The complete mailing address of 
the offices of the Company is 21st Floor, Lepanto Building, 8747 Paseo de Roxas, Makati City, Philippines. This 
Information Statement will be posted on the Company’s website on or before August 30, 2021.  
 
  
Dissenters' Right of Appraisal 
 
 A stockholder has the right to dissent and demand payment of the fair value of his share: (1) in case any 
amendment to the articles of incorporation has the effect of changing or restricting the rights of any stockholders or 
of authorizing preference over the outstanding shares or of extending or shortening the term of corporate existence; 
(2) in case of any sale, lease, mortgage or disposition of all or substantially all the corporate property or assets; and 
(3) in case of any merger or consolidation. 
 
 The appraisal right may be exercised by a stockholder who has voted against the proposed corporate action, 
by making a written demand on the corporation for the payment of the fair market value of his shares within thirty 
(30) days after the date on which the vote was taken.  
 
 There is no matter in the Agenda that may trigger the exercise of shareholders of the right of appraisal. 
 
 
Interest of Certain Persons in or Opposition to Matters to be Acted Upon 
 
 Except for Directors Ray C. Espinosa and Val Antonio B. Suarez for whom an extension of two years as  
independent directors is being sought, none of the directors, officers, nominees for director, or any of the associates 
of the foregoing persons have any substantial interest in the Matters to be Acted Upon in the Annual Meeting nor 
has any of them informed the Company in writing of any opposition to the matters to be acted upon. 
 
  

CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 
 

Voting Securities and Principal Holders Thereof 
 
 Of the 66,375,758,097 outstanding shares of the Company, 66,355,164,424 shares as of August 31, 2021 
are entitled to one (1) vote each. Said outstanding shares, all of which are common shares, are broken down as 
follows: 
 
    Class “A” - 39,817,947,179 
    Class “B” - 26,537,217,245 
 
 A stockholder entitled to vote at the meeting shall have the right to vote in person or by proxy (which need 
not be notarized) the number of shares of stock held in his name on the stock books of the Company as of August 
31, 2021 and said stockholder may vote such number of shares for as many persons as there are directors to be 
elected or he may cumulate said shares and give one candidate as many votes as the number of directors to be 

http://www.lepantomining.com/
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elected multiplied by the number of his shares shall equal, or he may distribute them on the same principle among as 
many candidates as he shall see fit. 
 
 Article VII of the Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation, “No stockholder of this corporation shall have 
any pre-emptive or preferential right to subscribe to any increase thereof that may be lawfully authorized, in 
proportion to his respective holding at the time such increase is so authorized.” 
 

Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners 
 
 Owners of more than 5% of the Company’s securities, as of August 15, 2021, were as follows:  
 

 
Title of 
Class 

 
Name/Address of Record Owner  

 
Name of 

Beneficial Owner/ 
Relationship to Issuer 

 
Citizenship 

 
A / B 

Shareholdings 

 
% 
 

 
Total 

Shareholdings 

 
% 

 
A & B 

 
*F. Yap Securities, Inc.  
U-2301 & 2302, 23/F, PSE Centre, 

Exchange Rd.,Ortigas Center,  

Pasig City 

 
F. Yap Securities, 

Inc./ Principal 
Stockholder 

 
Filipino 

 
13,592,362,044 
12,088,069,379 

 
34.14 
45.52 

 
25,680,431,457 

 
38.69 

 
A & B 

 
 
 

A  

 
** First Metro Investment Corp. 
Makati City 

 
 

***Philex Mining Corporation, 

Brixton St., Pasig City 

 
First Metro 

Investment Corp./ 
Principal Stockholder 

 
Philex Mining 
Corporation/ 
shareholder 

 
Filipino 

 
 
 
 

Filipino 

 
2,720,445,426 

799,642,268 
 
 

2,164,240,810 
3,494,999 

 
6.83 
3.01 

 
 

5.43 
0.01 

 
3,520,087,701 

 
 
 

2,167,735,824 
 

 
5.30 

 
 
 

3.27 

 
Equity Ownership of Foreigners  
 
 As of August 31, 2021, the record date, none of the “A” shares and 13.74% of the “B” shares were held by 
foreigners. 
 
Voting Trusts and Change in Control  
 
 There are no voting trusts involving the Company’s shares nor has there been any change in the control of 
the Company in the last five (5) years. 
 
Security Ownership of Management (as of August 15, 2021) 
 

Title of 
Class 

Beneficial Owner 
(Directly Owned) 

 
Position 

Amount and Nature of 
Beneficial Ownership  (A / B) 

 
Citizenship 

Percent of 
Classes (A / B) 

A & B Felipe U. Yap Chairman of the Board 254,161,744 /134,355,552 Filipino 0.64 /  0.51 
A & B Bryan U. Yap Director / President 970,846,692 /  50,107,284 -do- 2.44 /  0.19 

B  Marilyn V. Aquino  Director     23,440,591  /   13,515,060 -do- 0.06 / 0.05 
A& B Douglas John Kirwin Director                                              1 Australian             nil 
A & B ***Ray C. Espinosa Director       1,213,447 / 500,000 Filipino  nil  
A & B Ethelwoldo E. Fernandez Director/Corp. Sec.       1,697,900 / 983,659 -do- 0.01/nil 
A & B Regis V. Puno Director          10,000  - -do- nil 
A & B ***Val Antonio B. 

Suarez 
Director                                         1 -do-  nil  

A & B Cresencio C. Yap Director 12,813,538 / 22,332,961 -do-      0.03 / 0.11 
A Ramon T. Diokno Chief Finance Officer  953,183  /   333,066 -do-              Nil 

A & B Ma. Lourdes B. Tuason Vice Pres./Treasurer 23,991,732 / 16,328,419 -do-   0.06 / 0.06 
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A & B Odette A. Javier Vice Pres./Asst Corp Sec    11,965,525  /  5,688,130 -do-   0.03 / 0.02 
A & B Rene F. Chanyungco Vice President 3,882,141  /  4,568,095 -do-   0.01 / 0.02 
A & B Abigail Y. Ang Vice President 6,913,351 / 8,542,361 -do-   0.02 / 0.03 
A & B Pablo T. Ayson, Jr. Vice President 866,516 / 2,720,074 -do-   0.00 / 0.01 
A & B Cherry H. Tan Asst. Vice President    4,662,880  /  3,130,959 -do- 0.012 / 0.012 
A & B Knestor Jose Y. Godino Vice Pres./HR 989,090  /  659,693 -do- nil 
A & B Aggregate as a group  1,318,408,331 / 263,765,314  3.31 /1.00 

 
*  -    Power to dispose of shares is vested in:  F. Yap Securities - Pacita K. Yap; Voting rights/proxies  
  for F. Yap Securities have been granted to Mr. Felipe U. Yap.  
**     -   Power to dispose of shares is vested in their respective Board of Directors; Voting rights/proxies have 

been granted to:  Atty. Regis V. Puno. 
***  - Power to dispose of shares vested in the Board of Directors of Philex Mining Corporation;  
  Voting rights/ proxies have been granted to Marilyn V. Aquino.  
**** -     Independent Directors 
 
 There is no arrangement which may result in a change in the control of the Company and there have been 
no such changes since January 2021.  
 
Involvement of the Company or its Directors and Officers in Certain Legal Proceedings  
 
 None of the directors and officers were involved during the past five (5) years in any bankruptcy petition. 
Neither has any director or officer been convicted by final judgment in any criminal proceeding, or been subject to 
any order, judgment or decree of competent jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, suspending, 
or otherwise limiting their involvement in any type of business, securities, commodities or banking activities, nor 
found in an action by any court or administrative bodies to have violated a Securities or Commodities law. 

 
There are pending material legal proceedings involving the Company, to wit: 
 
Lepanto vs. NM Rothschild & Sons (Australia) Ltd. (Civil Case No. 05-782) 
 

 The Company initiated in 2005 a case for the declaration of nullity of forward gold contracts with 
Rothschild to sell 97,476 ounces of gold on the ground that they are considered as wagering transactions under 
Philippine law. In a decision dated February 5, 2018, the Regional Trial Court (“RTC”) of Makati City ruled in favor 
of Lepanto, declaring the subject contracts null and void.  Defendant Rothschild has elevated the matter to the Court 
of Appeals where the case remains pending.  
 

In re an Arbitration between Lepanto Consolidated Mining Company (LCMC) and Far Southeast 
Gold Resources, Inc. (FSGRI) and the Republic of the Philippines, represented by the Department 
of Environment and Natural Resources (DENR) 

 
                LCMC and FSGRI applied in June 2014 for the renewal of MPSA No. 001-90-CAR. An issue arose as to 
the applicability of certain provisions of the Indigenous Peoples’ Rights Act to such renewal, which issue has been 
submitted to arbitration. Pending and in connection with the arbitration proceedings, LCMC and FSGRI 
(Petitioners) filed a petition for interim reliefs with the Regional Trial Court. On 18 March 2015, the court issued a 
writ of preliminary injunction, enjoining the respondents DENR, MGB, NCIP and the NCIP Regional Hearing 
Office- CAR from performing any acts that  would (a) disrupt, disturb or impede the operations of Petitioners  in the 
area covered by the  MPSA; and acts that would (b) hinder, prevent or delay  the Petitioners from exercising their 
rights and/or from discharging their obligations under the MPSA in any manner whatsoever, until such time that a 
final and executory award is issued with respect to the arbitration proceedings commenced by the Petitioners; and 
directing the respondents to perform all acts necessary and proper to maintain and protect the validity and/or 
enforceability of the Petitioners’ vested rights under the MPSA during the pendency of the arbitration proceedings. 
In a final award dated November 27, 2015, the Arbitral Tribunal ruled that the Free and Prior Informed Consent 
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(FPIC) and Certification Precondition may not be validly imposed as requirements for the renewal of MPSA 001-90, 
and the latter should be renewed under the same terms and conditions, without prejudice to changes mutually agreed 
upon by the parties. In a Decision dated April 30, 2018, the Court of Appeals affirmed the final award of the Arbitral 
Tribunal.  Following the Court of Appeals’ denial of the Republic’s Motion for Reconsideration, the Republic filed a 
Petition for Review with the Supreme Court.  
 
 Should the case be finally resolved in favor of LCMC and FSGRI, then the renewed MPSA shall be issued 
by the DENR. Otherwise, LCMC and FSGRI will have to seek the FPIC and Certification Precondition from the 
IPs/National Commission on Indigenous Peoples. 
 

Directors and Executive Officers 
 
 The Directors of the Company are elected at the Regular Annual Meeting of Stockholders to hold office 
until the next succeeding annual meeting or until their respective successors have been elected and qualified. The 
incumbent Directors are: 
 

Directors Age Citizenship Period Served 

FELIPE U. YAP 84 Filipino  Since 1975 
BRYAN U. YAP 48 -do-              Since 1997 
DOUGLAS J. KIRWIN  70     Australian           Since 2017 
RAY C. ESPINOSA (Independent) 64 Filipino   Since 2005 
MARILYN V. AQUINO 65 -do-              Since 2012 
ETHELWOLDO E. FERNANDEZ 93 -do-   Since 2007 
REGIS V. PUNO 63 -do-              Since 2016 
VAL ANTONIO B. SUAREZ (Independent) 62 -do-  Since 2011 
CRESENCIO C. YAP 75 -do-              2000-2004;  
                 2006 to present  
       
Following are the names of the Candidates for election to the Board of Directors with the names of the 

shareholders who nominated them, in the case of the candidates for independent directors:   
 
 Age Citizenship 

FELIPE U. YAP 84 Filipino   
BRYAN U. YAP 48 -do-   
CRESENCIO C. YAP 75 -do- 
REGIS V. PUNO  63 -do-  
MARILYN V. AQUINO 65 -do-  
DOUGLAS J. KIRWIN  70     Australian  
ETHELWOLDO E. FERNANDEZ 93 Filipino  
For Independent Directors: 

RAY C. ESPINOSA 64   Filipino - nominated by Mr. Antonio Cielo     
                                with whom he has no relations 

VAL ANTONIO B. SUAREZ  62 Filipino - nominated by Ms. Ma. Theresa B. Tuason 
     with whom he has no relations 

  
Business Experience in the Last Five (5) Years 

 
Mr. Felipe U. Yap became the Chairman of the Company in 1988. He is likewise the Chairman and Chief 

Executive Officer of Manila Mining Corporation and of Far Southeast Gold Resources, Inc. He is the Chairman of 
the Board of Kalayaan Copper-Gold Resources, Inc. and Zeus Holdings, Inc. and Vice Chairman of Ayala Land 
Logistics Holdings Corporation.  Mr. Yap is a director of, among others, Manila Peninsula Hotel, Inc. and Philippine 
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Associated Smelting and Refining Corp. (PASAR). Mr. Yap was the Chairman of the Board of the Philippine Stock 
Exchange from March 2000 to March 2002.  

 
Mr. Bryan U. Yap has been the President and COO of the Company since 2003 and of Manila Mining 

Corporation since 2011. He is also the President of Kalayaan Copper-Gold Resources, Inc.; Lepanto Investment and 
Development Corporation (LIDC); Shipside, Inc.; and Diamond Drilling Corporation of the Philippines.  He is also 
a director and Vice Chairman of Far Southeast Gold Resources, Inc.  

 
Atty. Marilyn V. Aquino has been a member of the board of Philex Mining Corporation since December 

2009 and of PXP Energy Corporation since 2013. She was a partner of the law firm Sycip Salazar Hernandez & 
Gatmaitan until June 2012 when she joined First Pacific Company Limited as Assistant Director.  She is now the 
Chief Legal Counsel of PLDT.  
 

Atty. Ray C. Espinosa is the president of the Manila Electric Company (MERALCO) and a Director of 
Philippine Long Distance Telephone Company (“PLDT”), Meralco PowerGen Corporation, Metro Pacific 
Investment Corporation and Roxas Holdings, Inc., among many others.  He is also the President of Mediaquest 
Holdings, Inc.  He is the vice chairman and a trustee of the Beneficial Trust Fund of PLDT.  

 
Atty. Ethelwoldo E. Fernandez rejoined the Company as Corporate Secretary in 2001, the same year he was 

reappointed Corporate Secretary and elected director of Manila Mining Corporation. He is also a director of Far 
Southeast Gold Resources, Inc.   

 
Mr. Douglas John Kirwin was the Exploration Manager of Ivanhoe Mines from 1995 (when it was known 

as Indochina Goldfields Ltd) until 2012. He was the Vice President of the Society of Economic Geology from 2009 
to 2011, where he continues to serve as an honorary lecturer. He is now semi-retired with a part time consulting 
business.  He has been a Director of Manila Mining Corporation since 2014 and an independent director of Zeus 
Holdings, Inc. since 2017. 

 
Atty. Regis V. Puno is currently the Vice Chairman of Metrobank Card Corporation and Special Legal 

Counsel to the Metrobank Group. He was a Senior Partner at Puno & Puno Law Offices until his retirement in 2018. 
He was formerly an Undersecretary of the Department of Justice.  

 
Atty. Val Antonio B. Suarez is the Managing Partner of Suarez and Reyes Law Offices. He also serves as 

independent director of Filinvest Development Corporation and Filinvest Land, Inc. Atty. Suarez was the President 
and Chief Executive Officer of the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) and the Securities Clearing Corporation of the 
Philippines in 2010.    

 
Mr. Cresencio C. Yap is the Chairman of the Rural Bank of Tagum (Davao del Norte) and   General 

Manager of the Felcris Supermarket and Central Warehouse Club in Davao City.  
 

 There is no director who has resigned or declined to stand for re-election since the last annual meeting 
because of a disagreement with the Company. 
 

Nomination of Independent Directors 
 
In compliance with existing rules, the following are the criteria for Independent Directors 
 

1. Not a director or officer or substantial stockholder of the corporation or of its related companies or any 
of its substantial shareholders (other than as an independent director of any of the foregoing); 
 

2. Not a relative of any director, officer or substantial shareholder of the corporation, any of its related 
companies or any its substantial shareholders. For this purpose, relative included spouse, parent, child, brother, 
sister, and the spouse of such child, brother or sister; 
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3. Not acting as a nominee or representative of a substantial shareholder of the corporation, any of its 
related companies or any of its substantial shareholders; 

4. Not been employed in any executive capacity by that public company, any of its related companies or 
any of its substantial shareholders within the last five (5) years; 
 

5. Not retained as professional adviser by that public company, any of its related companies or any of its 
substantial shareholders within the last five (5) years, either personally or through his firm; 
 

6. Not engaged and does not engage in any transaction with the corporation, or with any of its related 
companies or with any of its substantial shareholders, whether by himself or with other persons or through a firm of 
which he is a partner or a company of which he is a director or substantial shareholder, other than transactions which 
are conducted at arm’s length and are immaterial or insignificant. 
 

The Nomination Committee of the Board of Directors is composed of: Atty. Ray C. Espinosa, Chairman; 
and Mr. Bryan U. Yap and Atty. Ethelwoldo E. Fernandez, members. In pre-screening the qualifications of the 
nominees, the Nomination Committee considered nomination letters for independent directors submitted on or 
before March 10, 2021 by shareholders of record. With due regard to the qualifications and disqualifications set 
forth in the Company’s Manual for Corporate Governance, the Securities Regulation Code and its Implementing 
Rules and the criteria prescribed in SRC Rule 38, the Nomination Committee has determined that Atty. Ray C. 
Espinosa and Atty. Val Antonio B. Suarez are qualified to sit in the Board as independent directors. 

 
Executive  Officers 

FELIPE U. YAP  - Chairman of the Board and CEO 
              BRYAN U. YAP - President and COO  

RAMON T. DIOKNO - Chief Finance Officer 
ETHELWOLDO E. FERNANDEZ - Corporate Secretary 

              MA. LOURDES B. TUASON - Vice President/Treasurer 
RENE F. CHANYUNGCO -             Vice President-Logistics & Marketing 
ABIGAIL K. YAP - Vice President for Technology & Planning 
ODETTE A. JAVIER - Vice President/Asst. Corporate Secretary  
PABLO T. AYSON, JR. - Vice President-Mining Claims 
KNESTOR JOSE Y. GODINO -      Vice President- Human Resource & Admin. 
JOSEPH B. PATANO - Vice President – Legal Services 
CHERRY H. TAN - Asst. Vice President- Purchasing 

 

Business Experience of Executive Officers 
 

Mr. Ramon T. Diokno rejoined the Company as CFO effective April 1, 2008. He held that same position 
from 1985 to 1996. Mr. Diokno is a member of the Board of Directors of Alcantara Consolidated Resources, Inc. 
and Zeus Holdings, Inc.  He is also a director and the CFO of the Diamond Drilling Corporation of the Philippines 
(DDCP) and LIDC, and a director and Vice President of Far Southeast Gold Resources, Inc.  

 
Ms. Ma. Lourdes B. Tuason is also the Assistant Treasurer of Manila Mining Corporation and of Far 

Southeast Gold Resources, Inc. and Treasurer of Shipside, Inc., DDCP and LIDC. She is  a director also of LIDC 
and Shipside, Inc.   

 
Mr. Rene F. Chanyungco is also a director and Senior Vice President-Treasurer of Manila Mining 

Corporation. He is the Vice President-Treasurer of Kalayaan Copper Gold Resources, Inc. and Vice President of 
LIDC.  

 
Ms. Abigail Y. Ang, Vice President for Technology and Planning, is also the Chief Executive Officer of 

Yapster e-Conglomerate, Inc. 
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 Atty. Odette A. Javier has been the Company’s Assistant Corporate Secretary since 1993. She was 
promoted to Vice President-Assistant Corporate Secretary on February 20, 2006. She is also the Assistant Corporate 
Secretary of Manila Mining Corporation and Far Southeast Gold Resources, Inc. and is a Director and Corporate 
Secretary of Zeus Holdings, Inc. and LIDC. She is also Lepanto’s Chief Information Officer. 
 
 Atty. Pablo T. Ayson, Jr. was appointed Vice President in December 2006. He is also a vice president of 
Manila Mining Corporation and Far Southeast Gold Resources, Inc. and a director of Zeus Holdings, Inc. and 
Kalayaan Copper-Gold Resources, Inc.  
 
 Mr. Knestor Jose Y. Godino joined the company as Group Manager for Administrative Services of the 
Lepanto Mine Division in 2006. He was promoted to Asst. Vice President for Human Resource and Administration 
in 2011, and to Vice President   in 2015. He is also the Asst. Vice President for Human Resource of Manila Mining 
Corporation. 
 
 Atty. Joseph B. Patano joined the Company as Legal Manager in 2019.  He was promoted to Vice President 
in July 2021.  
 
 Ms. Cherry H. Tan joined the Company as Purchasing Manager in 1998. She was promoted to Assistant 
Vice President in 2004. 
 

 
Attendance of Directors for the year 2020 Meetings: 

Board Name  
No. of Board 

Meetings Held 
during the year 

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended 

% 

 
Chairman 

 
Felipe U. Yap 13 13 

 
100% 

 
Member 

 
Bryan U. Yap 13 13 

 
100% 

 
Member 

 
Marilyn V. Aquino 13 11 

 
85% 

 
Independent 

 
Ray C. Espinosa 13 8 

 
62% 

 
Member 

 
Ethelwoldo E. Fernandez 13 13 

 
100% 

 
Member 

 
Douglas John Kirwin 13 12 

 
92% 

 
Member 

 
Regis V. Puno  13 12 92% 

 
Independent 

 
Val Antonio B. Suarez 13 12 92% 

 
Member 

 
Cresencio C. Yap 13 9 

 
69% 

 
Continuing Education Attended: 

Name of Director/Officer Date of Training Program 
 Name of  Training 

Institution 
 
Felipe U. Yap October 28, 2020 

Corporate Governance Updates 
and Economic Briefing  

Center for Global Best 
Practices 

 
Bryan U. Yap October 28, 2020 

Corporate Governance Updates 
and Economic Briefing  

Center for Global Best 
Practices 

 
Marilyn V. Aquino September 25, 2020 

Corporate Governance – How to 
lead courageously during a crisis  

 

 
Ray C. Espinosa October 28, 2020 

Corporate Governance Updates 
and Economic Briefing  

Center for Global Best 
Practices 
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Ethelwoldo E. Fernandez October 28, 2020 

Corporate Governance Updates 
and Economic Briefing  

Center for Global Best 
Practices 

 
Douglas John Kirwin October 28, 2020 

Corporate Governance Updates 
and Economic Briefing  

Center for Global Best 
Practices 

 
Regis V. Puno  October 28, 2020 

Corporate Governance Updates 
and Economic Briefing  

Center for Global Best 
Practices 

 
Val Antonio B. Suarez October 28, 2020 

Corporate Governance Updates 
and Economic Briefing  

Center for Global Best 
Practices 

 
Cresencio C. Yap October 28, 2020 

Corporate Governance Updates 
and Economic Briefing  

Center for Global Best 
Practices 

 

Significant Employees 
 
 There are no significant employees expected to contribute significantly to the business other than the 
executive officers. 
 

Family Relationships   
 
 Mr. Bryan U. Yap, Director and President, is the son of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. 
Felipe U. Yap. Mr. Cresencio C. Yap is a brother of the Chairman while Ms. Abigail Y. Ang is his niece. 
 

Related Party Transactions  
 

Related party relationships exist when one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly through one 
or more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and 
operating decisions.  Such relationships also exist between and/or among entities which are under common control 
with the reporting enterprise, or between and/or among the reporting enterprise and their key management 
personnel, directors, or its stockholders. 
 

The Parent Company has a Board-approved Material Related Party Transactions (Material RPTs) Policy 
defining Material RPTs and setting forth the approval procedure for the same in compliance with the requirements 
of Revised SRC Rule 68 and SEC Memorandum Circular 10, series of 2019. 
 

Under the said policy, Material RPTs, that is, transactions which, either individually, or in aggregate over a 
twelve (12)-month period with the same related party, amount to at least ten percent (10%) of the Company's 
consolidated total assets based on its latest audited financial statements, need to be approved by at least a two-thirds 
(2/3) vote of the board of directors prior to execution.  
 

Intercompany transactions are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.  The Group’s related 
party transactions, which are under terms that are no less favorable than those arranged with third parties, are as 
follows: 

 2020 

 
Amount/ 
Volume 

Outstanding 
Balance Terms Conditions 

Subsidiaries     
Receivables     

DDCP P=74,955 P=129,932 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash 

Unsecured, no 
impairment, not 
guaranteed 

LIDC 146 89,867 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash 

Unsecured, no 
impairment, not 
guaranteed 

FSGRI 2,566 685 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash 

Unsecured, no 
impairment, not 
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 2020 

 
Amount/ 
Volume 

Outstanding 
Balance Terms Conditions 

guaranteed 
Advances     

FSGRI – 94,140 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash 

Unsecured, no 
impairment, not 
guaranteed 

Payables     

SI 16,417 (163,768) 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash 

Unsecured, not 
guaranteed 

MMC 25,512 (25,512) 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash 

Unsecured, not 
guaranteed 

Rental     

FSGRI 2,274 – 
Noninterest-bearing and normally 
settled on 30-day term 

Unsecured, not 
guaranteed 

Services     

DDCP 36,227 – 
Noninterest-bearing and normally 
settled on 30-day term 

Unsecured, not 
guaranteed 

SI 16,380 – 
Noninterest-bearing and normally 
settled on 30-day term 

Unsecured, not 
guaranteed 

 2019 

 
Amount/ 
Volume 

Outstanding 
Balance Terms Conditions 

Subsidiaries     
Receivables     

DDCP P=– P=144,695 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash 

Unsecured, no impairment, not 
guaranteed 

LIDC 225 89,721 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash 

Unsecured, no impairment, not 
guaranteed 

Advances     

FSGRI – 94,140 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash 

Unsecured, no impairment, not 
guaranteed 

Payables     

DDCP – – 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash Unsecured, not guaranteed 

SI 15,381 (166,585) 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash Unsecured, not guaranteed 

FSGRI 2,749 (1,344) 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash Unsecured, not guaranteed 

Rental     

FSGRI 2,274 – 
Noninterest-bearing and normally 
settled on 30-day term Unsecured, not guaranteed 

Services     

SI 2,664 – 
Noninterest-bearing and normally 
settled on 30-day term Unsecured, not guaranteed 

 
a. In the normal course of business, the Group grants and receives advances to and from its  
 associates and stockholders, which are considered related parties. 
The corresponding receivables and payables arising from the said transactions, including operational support as 

at December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 2020 

 
Amount/ 
Volume 

Outstanding 
Balance Terms Conditions 

Associates     
Receivable:      

DMTC P=139 P=1,861 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash 

Unsecured, no 
impairment, not 
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guaranteed 
Payables:     

DMTC (Note 13) – (15,132) 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash 

Unsecured, no 
impairment, not 
guaranteed 

MMC (Note 13) 36,030 (38,163) 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash 

Unsecured, no 
impairment, not 
guaranteed 

Stockholders     
Payables:     

Various  
(Note 13) – (56,083) 

Noninterest-bearing and 
are normally settled in cash 
on 30-day term 

Unsecured, 
no guarantee 

 2019 

 
Amount/ 
Volume 

Outstanding 
Balance Terms Conditions 

Associates     
Receivable:      

DMTC P=3,254 P=3,254 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash 

Unsecured, no impairment, 
not guaranteed 

Payables:     

DMTC (Note 13) 1,198 (16,606) 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash 

Unsecured, no impairment, 
not guaranteed 

MMC (Note 13) – (31,218) 
On demand; noninterest-bearing 
and collectible in cash 

Unsecured, no impairment, 
not guaranteed 

Advances:     

MMC (Note 11) 6,426 4,874 
Noninterest-bearing and normally 
settled on 30-day term 

Unsecured, no impairment, 
not guaranteed 

Stockholders     
Payables:     

Various  
(Note 13) – (56,083) 

Noninterest-bearing and 
are normally settled in cash 
on 30-day term 

Unsecured, 
no guarantee 

 

b. On April 17, 2000, the Parent Company entered into a Trust Agreement with LIDC for the latter to serve as 
a second trustee for the Parent Company’s retirement fund. 

 
On March 31, 2003, the Parent Company entered into a separate Trust Agreement with LIDC whereby the latter 

ceased to be the second trustee of the Plans and instead to become the principal trustee.  Prior to the Trust 
Agreement, the actual disbursements of the fund for the Plans, or payments to the retiree or beneficiaries, had been 
the responsibility of a local bank as the principal trustee.  The Parent Company has decided to terminate the services 
of the local bank and consolidated to LIDC the administration of the Plans. 
 

The carrying amount and fair value of the retirement fund amounted to P=550,755 and P=478,881 as at December 
31, 2020 and 2019, respectively (see Note 17). 

 
The retirement fund consists of cash in banks, short-term investments, investments in quoted and unquoted 

equity securities which accounts for 0.28% and 86.25% and 13.44% and 0.03% of the trust fund, respectively, as at 
December 31, 2020 (see Note 17). 
 

The voting rights on the shares of stock rest on the trustees of the retirement fund, who are also the key 
management personnel of the Parent Company. 
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The Group made contributions to the trust fund amounting to P=49,720 and P=72,399 in 2020 and 2019, 
respectively (see Note 17). 
 

c. Compensation of key management personnel are as follows: 
 

 2020 2019 2018 
Short-term benefits P=51,100 P=51,100 P=51,100 
Post-employment benefits 13,200 13,200 13,200 
 P=64,300 P=64,300 P=64,300 

 
Summary Compensation Table  
 

Board of Directors per diem: 
 

Year 
2021 

Year 
2020 

Year 
2019 

Felipe U. Yap none 40,000 120,000 
Bryan U. Yap none 40,000 120,000 
Marilyn V. Aquino none 30,000 80,000 
Ray C. Espinosa none 10,000 105,000 
Ethelwoldo E. Fernandez none 30,000 155,000 
Douglas John Kirwin none 20,000 80,000 
Regis V. Puno  none 20,000 80,000 
Val Antonio B. Suarez none 20,000 100,000 
Cresencio C. Yap none 20,000 120,000 
 2019 Total 

(All Cash) 
    

Basic Salary 
Bonus 

(13th month) 
 

Felipe U. Yap, Chairman       
Bryan U. Yap, President        
Ramon T. Diokno,  CFO        
Ma. Lourdes B. Tuason, Vice  
   Pres./Treasurer         
Rene F. Chanyungco, Vice President        

 
   P34.6 million 

 
  P31.9 million 

 
    P2.7 million 

All officers and directors    P51.2 million   P45.3 million     P5.9 million 
     2020 (Total)   
 

Felipe U. Yap, Chairman        
Bryan U. Yap, President         
Ramon T. Diokno,  CFO      
Ma. Lourdes B. Tuason, Vice  
   Pres./Treasurer        
Rene F. Chanyungco, Vice President        

 
   P34.6 million 

 
  P31.9 million 

 
    P2.7 million 

All officers and directors    P51.2 million   P45.3 million     P5.9 million 
   2021 (Estimate)   
 

Felipe U. Yap, Chairman        
Bryan U. Yap, President         
Ramon T. Diokno,  CFO      
Ma. Lourdes B. Tuason, Vice  
   Pres./Treasurer      
Rene F. Chanyungco, Vice President   

 
   P34.6 million 

 
  P31.9 million 

 
    P2.7 million 

All officers and directors    P51.2 million   P45.3 million     P5.9 million 
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Compensation of Directors/Committee Members 
 

Directors are paid a per diem of P10,000.00 each for attendance of every regular or special meeting in 
accordance with the Corporation’s By-Laws. For committee meetings attended, non-executive member-directors are 
paid a per diem of P5,000.00 to P10,000.00 each. 

 
Contracts with Officers/ Employees 
 
 The Company has no contracts or special arrangements with any of its officers or employees with respect to 
the terms of employment. 
 
Pension Plan 
 
 The Parent Company has a funded, noncontributory, defined benefit retirement plans covering substantially 
all regular employees while DDCP and Shipside, Inc. have unfunded benefit retirement plans. Benefits are 
dependent on the years of service and the respective employee’s compensation. The defined retirement benefit 
obligation is determined using the projected unit credit method. There was no plan termination, curtailment or 
settlement for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. 
 

Warrants, Options, Compensation Plans, Issuance or Modification of Securities 
  
 Under the share-based plan, the Company’s officers and employees and those of its subsidiaries may be 
granted options to purchase shares of stock of the Company. The aggregate number of shares to be granted under the 
plan should not exceed five percent (5%) of the total number of shares of the Company’s outstanding capital stock.  
 

An individual may be granted an option to purchase not more than five percent (5%) of the total number of 
shares set aside at the date of the grant and may exercise the option up to a maximum of twenty percent (20%) of the 
total number of option shares granted per year. Options are valid for five (5) years and are exercisable from the date 
of the approval of the grant by the SEC.   
 
  The last award, the 17th Stock Option Award, expired on January 30, 2013.   
 
Authorization or Issuance of Securities Other than for Exchange 
 
 The following table illustrates the proposed authorized capital stock (“ACS”) or the number of common 
shares after the proposed increase in ACS is approved and implemented. 
 

AUTHORIZED CAPITAL STOCK 

Type of “Common” 

Shares 

Before the Increase 

in ACS 

Increase in ACS After the 

Increased in ACS 

Amount (Php) 

“A” 39,840,000,000 32,160,000,000 72,000,000,000   7,200,000,000.00 

“B” 26,560,000,000 21,440,000,000 48,000,000,000   4,800,000,000.00 

Total 66,400,000,000 53,600,000,000 120,000,000,000 12,000,000,000.00 

 

Pursuant to the Revised Corporation Code, at least 25% of the increase in ACS, amounting P1.34 billion 
shall be subscribed, of which at least 25% will be paid-up. There will be no changes in the voting, dividend, or 
preemption rights of stockholders in connection with the issuance of additional shares. 

 
Class “A” and Class “B” shares enjoy the same rights and privileges. The only distinction between Class 

“A” and Class “B” shares is the former are available only to Filipino citizens, while the latter are available to all 
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nationalities. Every share can vote for as many nominees as there are directors to be elected (nine for this Company) 
and the votes may be cumulated in favor of one, or a few candidates, or distributed among as many candidates as the 
shareholder may wish.  Under the first paragraph of Article VII of the Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation, “No 
stockholder of this corporation shall have any pre-emptive or preferential right to subscribe for any increase thereof 
that may be lawfully authorized, in proportion to his respective holding at the time such increase is so authorized.” 

 
 

Modification or Exchange of Securities 
 
 No action is to be taken by the Company with respect to the modification of any class of securities of the 
Company or the issuance or authorization for issuance of one class of securities of the Company in exchange for 
outstanding securities of another class. 
 
Independent Public Accountant 
 
 In October 2006, Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co. (“SGV”) was designated by the Board as the Company’s 
independent public accountant. There has not been any disagreement between the Company and said accounting 
firm with regard to any matter relating to accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or 
auditing scope or procedure. Mr. Jaime F. del Rosario was the certifying partner from 2007 to 2011 and 2014-2017.  
Ms. Eleanore A. Layug was the certifying partner in 2012 and 2013, and again for the 2018 to 2020 financial 
statements. 
 
  Representatives of SGV will be present at the Annual Meeting on September 20, 2021 to give statements in 
response to queries on issues they can shed light on. 
 
 SGV is being recommended for re-appointment as external auditor of the Company. 
 
Audit Fees 

 For the audit of the financial statements for the year 2019, SGV & Co. billed the Company the sum of 
P2,460,000.  The same amount was agreed for the audit of the 2020 financial statements.  

 
Tax Fees 
 

No professional services in relation to taxes were rendered by SGV to the Company in the last three years. 
 
All Other Fees 

SGV & Co. was engaged to review the utilization of the proceeds of the Company’s 1:4.685 SRO in 2017 
pursuant to the PSE’s conditions for listing. They were paid P40,000 for the engagement.  No other non-audit  
services were rendered by SGV to the Company in the last two years.  
 
Audit Committee’s Approval Policies and Procedures 
 
 Prior to the commencement of audit services, the external auditors submit their Audit Plan to the Audit 
Committee, indicating the applicable accounting standards, audit objectives, scope, approvals, methodology, needs and 
expectations and timetable, among others. A presentation on the same Plan is made by the external auditors before all 
the members of the Committee. All the items in the Plan are considered by the Committee, along with industry 
standards, in approving the services and fees of the external auditors. The Audit Committee is composed of: Atty. Ray 
C. Espinosa, Committee Chairman and an independent director; Atty. Ethelwoldo E. Fernandez and Mr. Cresencio C. 
Yap, members.   
 
 The Committee revised its charter in 2012 to conform to SEC Memorandum Circular No. 4, Series of 
2012. 
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FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION 

 
Action with Respect to Reports 
 

At the last Annual Stockholders Meeting held on July 27, 2020 conducted virtually via remote access 
communications, the Chairman and CEO reported to the stockholders of the Company the operational and financial 
performance in 2019 while the President and COO updated the stockholders on the operations for the first quarter of 
2020 and Outlook for the rest of the year. Thereafter, the Chairman opened the floor for clarificatory questions. 
There were no questions from the floor.  
 

The following were the matters discussed and the voting results for each item: 
 

ABSTAIN

No. of Shares % No. of Shares %

44,756,357,115    67.71    0 0 0

44,756,357,115    67.71    0 0 0

44,756,357,115    67.71    0 0 0

DOUGLAS JOHN KIRWIN

RAY C. ESPINOSA

44,926,119,615

44,926,119,615

44,926,119,615

44,926,119,615

44,926,119,615

44,926,119,615

44,926,119,615 67.71%

67.71%

67.71%

44,926,119,615

44,926,119,615

67.71%

67.71%

67.71%

67.71%

67.71%

Approval of the Minutes of 

the Annual Meeting held on 

April 15, 2019

Approval of the Annual Report

Appointment of Sycip, Gorres, 

Velayo and Co., as External 

Auditor

FELIPE U. YAP 

IN FAVOR
Election of Directors

No. of Shares %

67.71%

AGAINST

REGIS V. PUNO

VAL ANTONIO B. SUAREZ

AGENDA ITEM
IN FAVOR

BRYAN U. YAP

CRESENCIO C. YAP

ETHELWOLDO E. FERNANDEZ

MARILYN V. AQUINO

 
 

The following were the Board of Directors present via remote communication: 
 

1. FELIPE U. YAP     
2. BRYAN U. YAP     
3. CRESENCIO C. YAP    
4. ETHELWOLDO E. FERNANDEZ  
5. MARILYN V. AQUINO   
6. DOUGLAS JOHN KIRWIN 
7. REGIS V. PUNO  
8. RAY C. ESPINOSA    
9. VAL ANTONIO B. SUAREZ   

 
The following were the Officers present via remote communication: 
 

1. Mr. Ramon T. Diokno  –  Chief Finance Officer 
2. Ms. Ma. Lourdes B. Tuason–  Vice President-Treasurer 
3. Atty. Odette Javier   –  Vice President and Asst. Corporate Secretary 
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4. Atty. Pablo Ayson   –  Vice President for Mining Claims 
5. Mr. Knestor Godino  –  Vice President for Human Resource 
6. Cherry H. Tan - Asst. Vice President - Purchasing 

 

Stockholders in attendance or represented at the meeting represented 44,756,357,115 shares constituting 
67.45% of the outstanding shares of the Company.  

 

Material Information on the current stockholders and their voting rights 
 

 For the Annual Stockholders Meeting scheduled on September 20, 2021, the Chairman will report on the 
operational and financial performance of the Company in 2020 while the President will report on the operations in 
the second quarter of 2021 and Outlook for the rest of 2021. 
 

The Company will submit to the shareholders for approval the following: 
 

1. Call to Order 
2. Proof of due notice of the meeting and determination of quorum 
3. Approval of the Minutes of the Annual Meeting held on July 27, 2020 
4. Approval of the Annual Report 
5. Retention of Messrs. Ray C. Espinosa and Val Antonio B. Suarez for two more years  as independent 

directors 
6. Election of Directors 
7. Amendment of Article VII of the Articles of Incorporation to increase the authorized capital stock 

from P6.64 Billion to P12.00 Billion to read: 
 

*Seventh: –That the capital stock of said corporation is TWELVE BILLION PESOS 
(P12,000,000,000.00), Philippine Currency, and said capital stock is divided into SEVENTY 
TWO BILLION (72,000,000,000) shares of Class “A” Common Stock and FORTY EIGHT 
BILLION (48,000,000,000) shares of Class “B” Common Stock, both classes of shares being 
of the par value of Ten Centavos (P0.10) each.  All shares of stock of the corporation shall 
enjoy the same rights and privileges except only as herein otherwise provided. The shares of 
capital stock of this corporation may be issued from time to time for not less than par; and all 
issued shares of the capital stock of this corporation shall be deemed fully paid and non-
assessable and the holder of such shares shall not be liable thereunder to this corporation or its 
creditors.   

 
8. Appointment of External Auditor 
 

Reason and Effect of the Amendment 
 
             The Company’s ACS of P6.64 billion is almost fully subscribed. Increasing the ACS to P12.0 billion will 
enable the Company to raise capital to fund its  exploration and development projects as well as settle debts.  

 
Voting Procedures 
 

 Items 1 to 5 above will require the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of the Company present or 
represented and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. Likewise, directors shall be elected upon the majority vote of 
the shares present or represented and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting.  Item 7 will need the affirmative vote of 
stockholders representing 2/3 of the outstanding capital of the Company. The Voting Procedure is set forth in the 
Requirements and Procedure for Voting and Participating in the 2021 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting attached hereto 
as Annex “B”.  

 
 





18 

 

ANNUAL REPORT TO SECURITY HOLDERS 
 
 
General Nature and Scope of Business 
 

Lepanto Consolidated Mining Company is a Filipino primary gold producer. Lepanto has been a proud 
corporate resident of Mankayan, Benguet for 82 years since 1936.  

 
 From 1948 to 1996, Lepanto’s Enargite operations produced 1.58 billion pounds of copper, 2.9 million oz 
of gold and 12.0 million oz of silver, recovered from 34.4 Mt of ore averaging 2.2% Cu and 3.5 g/t Au. Lepanto 
resumed copper operations in 2008, which it suspended in the fourth quarter of that year due to the sharp decline in 
copper prices. 
          
 Lepanto continues to produce gold from its Victoria and Teresa operations in Mankayan, Benguet. The 
Victoria Project has produced over 1,400,000 ounces gold from 1997 to 2020.  
 

Lepanto has three wholly-owned subsidiaries, to wit: 
 
SHIPSIDE, INC., based in San Fernando, La Union, is engaged principally in the hauling business. It also 

has a sawmill in La Union. 
 
DIAMOND DRILLING CORPORATION OF THE PHILIPPINES is in the diamond drilling business. 

Itservices mostly mining companies. 
 
LEPANTO INVESTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (LIDC) is in the insurance 

business.  
 
Lepanto owns 60% of FAR SOUTHEAST GOLD RESOURCES, INC., another mining company with 

resources in Mankayan, Benguet. 
 

 
Plan of Operation for 2021   
 

Lepanto will continue producing gold and silver dore from its Victoria and Teresa deposits.  Exploration 
drilling is ongoing targeting extensions of the said deposits. The rehabilitation of the carbon-in-pulp plant continues, 
a project that started last year and which has been showing positive results.  The Copper/Gold resources are being 
reviewed with a view to resuming copper production in the near future.   
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the First and 
Second Quarters ended March 31 and June 30, 2021, respectively and for the years 2020, 2019 and 2018  
 
 
As of 30 June 2021  

 
Consolidated revenues for the second quarter of 2021 amounted to P389.5 million compared with P273.9 million in 
2020. Consolidated net loss decreased to P100.1 million versus P242.6 million the previous year. 

 
For the first half of 2021, combined revenues reached P797.1 million compared with  P725.6 million for the same 
period in 2020. Consolidated net loss significantly decreased to P163.3 million, better than last year’s loss of P457.0 
million. 
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Mining Operations 
 

April – June 2021 versus April – June 2020  
 

Dore production contained 4,146 ounces of gold and 11,016 ounces of silver versus last year’s  3,228 ounces and 
9,375 ounces, respectively.  

 
Metal sales went up by P121.5 million to P382.3 million because of the higher production and better metal prices. 
Net loss totaled P104.2 million compared with last year’s P210.0 million. 

 
Gold price averaged US$1,815.5 versus US$1,737.3/oz while silver price averaged US$26.54/oz. versus 
US$17.37/oz. the preceding year. The P/US$ exchange rate averaged P48.17/US$1 compared with P50.40/US$1 last 
year. 

 
Tonnage milled increased by 15,810 tonnes to 113,572 tonnes as last year’s production was affected by the 
prolonged lockdown. Milling cost went down from P83.3 million to P81.9 million; depletion and depreciation 
increased by a total of P 5.0 million to P102.8 million on account of the higher production and the acquisition of 
additional equipment, respectively.  

 
January – June 2021 versus January – June 2020  

 
Metal production  in the form of dore  consisted of 8,649 oz of gold and 34,100 oz of silver. Last year’s metal 
production included gold copper concentrates (suspended in March 2020)  and totaled 7,861 oz. of gold; 20,733 oz. 
of silver; and  618,442 lbs. of copper.  

 
The higher production and metal prices caused  metal revenue to increase  from P682.99 million to P788.22 million; 
and combined with the lower costs, contributed to the 65% decrease in net loss from P454.6 million to P158.7 
million.  

 
Gold price averaged US$1,796.56/oz. versus US$1,630.64/oz. last year, while silver price averaged US$26.30/oz. 
versus US$17.41/oz. Copper price averaged US$2.71/lb last year. The P/US$ exchange rate averaged P48.23/US$1 
compared with P50.66/US$1 last year. 

 
Largely due to the suspension of copper operations, total cost and expenses decreased by 14% to P951.5 million 
from P1,105.4 million on account of: 56,375 tonne- drop in the tonnes broken  causing an 11% reduction in mining 
cost; decrease of milling tonnage  to 195,884 tonnes from 222,496 tonnes and of  milling cost  from P181.21 million 
to P165.16 million; reduction in depletion and depreciation from P219.2 million to P206.2 million; and  overhead 
and administrative costs from P257.7 million to P213.9 million.  

 
 

BALANCE SHEET MOVEMENTS 
 

June 30, 2021 versus December 31, 2020 
 

Cash and cash equivalents increased by P89.4 million due mainly to timing of disbursements for operational and 
capital spending. Receivables increased by P13.2 million representing the unpaid portion of a dore shipment. The 
increase in advances to suppliers and contractors of P98.2 million represent outstanding deliverables from various 
suppliers. Other current assets increased by P47.4 million resulting from unamortized operating development 
expenses.  

 
Trade and other payables increased by P371.6 million due to mine development, mill upgrade and exploration 
expenditures. 

 
Deficit increased by P163.2 million representing the net loss from operations during the period.  
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES  
 

Capital expenditures for the quarter totaled P96.7 million, of which P35.6 million went to exploration; P53.1 million 
to machinery and equipment; P3.8 million to mine development; and P4.1 million to maintenance of tailings storage 
facility 5A. 

 
For the first semester, total capital expenditures amounted to P164.8 million; of which P59.3 million went to 
exploration; P85.0 million to machinery and equipment; P14.0 million to mine development; and P6.4 million to 
maintenance of tailings storage facility 5A. 
 
 
OUTLOOK FOR THE YEAR 

 
Lepanto is presently focusing on gold dore production from its Victoria and Teresa deposits.  Exploration drilling is 
concentrated on targeting extensions of the said deposits. Meantime, the mill plant and CIP are undergoing 
rehabilitation to improve gold and silver recoveries and increase throughput. There are no plans for any significant 
changes in the number of employees or purchase of significant equipment. Raising of capital may be resorted to 
support operations, further exploration (including of copper areas), and development.   

 
 

SUBSIDIARIES  
  

The key performance indicator used for the subsidiaries is net income for the six months ended June 2021 versus the 
same period the previous year. 

 
Diamond Drilling Corporation of the Philippines reported a net loss of P7.9 million this year versus P6.6 million net 
income last year. Lepanto Investment and Development Corporation reported a net income of P6.2 million 
compared with last year’s net loss of P53.7 thousand. Shipside, Incorporated registered a net loss of P572 thousand 
against last year’s net income of P0.26 million. 

 
 
* - KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS-LCMC 
 
Tonnes Milled which indicate the amount of ore taken for processing, Milled Head is the amount of gold 

per ton milled and Gold production which is the final product of the operations. Metal sales, Cost and Expenses and 
Net Income round up the review process on how the company is performing vis-à-vis the performance of the same 
period last year. Average Gold price for the period adds another parameter that needs watching notwithstanding that 
the company has no direct influence on its movement.  
 
 
As of 31 March 2021 
 
Consolidated revenues for the first quarter of 2021 amounted to P407.6 million compared with P451.7 million in 
2020. Consolidated net loss decreased to P63.2 million versus P214.4 million the previous year. 
 
Mining Operations  
 
Metal production in the form of bullion consisted of 4,503 oz of gold and 23,084 oz of silver. Until March 2020 
when copper operations were suspended,  metal production in the form of dore and  gold-copper concentrate totaled 
4,633 oz. of gold; 11,358 oz. of silver; and  618,442 lbs. of copper. Thus, metal revenue this year went down from 
P422.2 million to P405.94 million.  
 
Gold price averaged US$1,778.96/oz. versus US$1,559.43/oz. last year, while silver price averaged US$26.18/oz. 
versus US$17.44/oz. Copper price averaged US$2.71/lb last year. The P/US$ exchange rate averaged P48.29/US$1 
compared with P50.82/US$1 last year. 



21 

 

 
Largely due to the suspension of copper operations, total cost and expenses decreased by 28% to P465.5 million 
from P643.8 million as the tonnes broken decreased by 56,355 tonnes to 111,776 tonnes, translating to a 29% 
reduction in mining cost. Accordingly, milling tonnage decreased to 104,628 tonnes from 150,090 tonnes in 2020, 
and  milling cost  from P97.8 million to P83.2 million; depletion and depreciation from P121.4 million to P103.4 
million; and  overhead and administrative costs from P137.9 million to P105 million.  
 
 
BALANCE SHEET MOVEMENTS 
 
Cash and cash equivalents increased by P30.6 million due mainly to timing of disbursements for operational and 
capital spending. Receivables increased by P2.6 million representing the unpaid portion of a dore shipment. The 
increase in advances to suppliers and contractors of P17.5 million represent outstanding deliverables from various 
suppliers. 
 
Deficit increased by P63.1 million representing the net loss from operations during the period.  
   
 
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES  
 
Capital expenditures for the quarter totaled P68.1 million, of which P23.7 million went to exploration; P31.9 million 
to machinery and equipment; P10.2 million to mine development; and, P2.3 million to maintenance of tailings 
storage facility 5A. 
 
 
OUTLOOK FOR THE YEAR 
 
Lepanto is presently focusing on gold dore production from its Victoria and Teresa deposits.  Exploration drilling 
continues, targeting extensions of the said deposits. Meantime, the carbon-in-pulp plant is undergoing rehabilitation 
to improve gold and silver recoveries and increase production. There are no plans for any significant changes in the 
number of employees or purchase/sale of any plant or significant equipment. Raising of capital may be resorted to 
support operations, further exploration (including of copper areas), and development.   
 
 
SUBSIDIARIES  
  
The key performance indicator used for the subsidiaries is net income for the three months ended March 2021 versus 
the same period the previous year. 
 
Diamond Drilling Corporation of the Philippines reported a net loss of P5.2 million this year versus P6.6 million net 
income last year. Lepanto Investment and Development Corporation reported a net loss of P79.9 thousand compared 
with last year’s net loss of P53.7 thousand. Shipside, Incorporated registered a net loss of P1.3 million against last 
year’s net income of P.26 million. 
 
 
* - KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS-LCMC 
 

Tonnes Milled which indicate the amount of ore taken for processing, Milled Head is the amount of gold 
per ton milled and Gold production which is the final product of the operations. Metal sales, Cost and Expenses and 
Net Income round up the review process on how the company is performing vis-à-vis the performance of the same 
period last year. Average Gold price for the period adds another parameter that needs watching notwithstanding that 
the company has no direct influence on its movement.  
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2020 
 
Consolidated revenues for the year 2020 amounted to P1,473 million compared with P2,047.4 million in 2019. Net 
loss declined from P1,056.7 million to P747.7 million or 29%.   
 
 
Mining Operations 
  
 Production in 2020 was lower than the previous year’s largely on account of the operational disruptions 
caused by COVID-19 related safety protocols, affecting the availability of spare parts and supplies and delaying 
their deliveries to the minesite, and presenting the Company from operating at full capacity. The suspension of 
copper concentrate production also contributed to the lower metal production.  
 

The dore production contained 13,314 oz. of gold and 43,007 oz.  of silver compared with 6,032 oz. of gold 
and 1,423 oz. of silver last year. 

 
Copper concentrate production was suspended in March 2020 after producing 618,442 lbs. of copper, 2,744 

oz.  of gold, and 10,827 oz. of silver contained in 2,173 DMT copper-gold concentrate.  Last year’s copper 
concentrate production totaled 7,335 DMT and contained 2,912,623 lbs. of copper, 19,926 oz.  of gold, and 85,469 
oz. of silver.   

 
For the reasons cited above,  revenues and costs dropped from 2019 levels.   Metal sales went down by 

28% from P2039.0 million to P1,460.3 million. Net loss decreased by 19% from P872.9 million to P705.6 million 
this year.  

 
Gold price averaged US$1,763.4/oz. versus US$1,382.21/oz. while silver price averaged US$21.72/oz. 

versus US$16.1/oz. last year. The P/US$ exchange rate averaged P49.6/US$1 compared with P51.8/US$1 last year. 
 
Costs declined across the board as mine deliveries and milling tonnage dropped by 38% and 33%, 

respectively. Total cost and expenses decreased by 29% to P2,166 million.  Mining cost decreased to P716.6 million 
from P802.9 million while milling cost went down by P109.6 million to P346.7 million. Depletion and depreciation 
decreased by P368.7 million to P261.6 million. 
 

Production tax decreased by 30% to P57.3 million due to lower production.  Finance cost decreased to 
P66.9 million from P99.4 last year due to repayment of loans. Other income totaled P13.3 million, much lower than 
last year’s P33.1 million which came from the sale of shares of stock.  
 
 
BALANCE SHEET MOVEMENTS 
 

December 31, 2020 versus December 31, 2019 
 

Cash and cash equivalents decreased by P31.1 million on account of disbursements for operations. 
Receivables increased by P8.3 million representing the unpaid portion of a dore shipment. The decrease in other 
current assets of P59.1 million was due to the amortization of development cost and decrease in creditable input vat. 
 

Trade payables increased by P521.8 million while short term borrowings decreased by P16.5 million due to 
repayment of loans. 
 

Deficit increased by P750.9 million representing the net loss from operations during the period.  
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES  
 
 Capital expenditures for the year totaled P326.4 million, of which P165 million went to exploration; P113 
million to machinery and equipment; P32.6 million to mine development; and P15.8 million to maintenance of 
tailings storage facility 5A. 
 
 
SUBSIDIARIES  
 
 The key performance indicator used for the subsidiaries is net income for the first nine months of the year 
versus the same period the previous year. 
 

Diamond Drilling Corporation of the Philippines reported a net loss of P29.1 million compared with P45.1 
million net loss last year. Lepanto Investment and Development Corporation reported a net loss of P14.8 million 
compared with last year’s net loss of P161.9 thousand. Shipside, Incorporated registered a net loss of P4.5 million 
against last year’s net income of P3.3 million. 
 
 
* - KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS-LCMC 
 
Tonnes Milled which indicate the amount of ore taken for processing, Milled Head is the amount of gold per ton 
milled and Gold production which is the final product of the operations. Metal sales, Cost and Expenses and Net 
Income round up the review process on how the company is performing vis-à-vis the performance of the same 
period last year. Average Gold price for the period adds another parameter that needs watching notwithstanding 
that the company has no direct influence on its movement.  
 
 
2019 
 
Consolidated revenues decreased by 3% from ₱2.12 billion in 2018 to ₱2.05 billion. Consolidated net loss was 
₱1,027 billion versus last year’s loss of ₱775.0 million as explained below. 
 
MINING OPERATIONS 

Metal sales decreased slightly from ₱2.1 billion  to ₱2.04 billion this year. Gold production decreased to  25,958 oz. 
from  last year’s 28,147 oz. due to the lower gold grade, 1.68 g/t vs. 2.03 g/t.  Silver production decreased to 86,888 
oz. from 87,365 oz. Copper production decreased from 3,171,060 lbs to 2,912,623 lbs.  Average gold price went up 
from US$1,261.59/oz. to US$1,381.21/oz. and silver price, from US$15.65/oz.  to US$16.05/oz. Average copper 
price dropped from US$2.96/lb to US$2.72/lb. The Peso was stronger vs. the US$, ₱51.84/  US$1 compared with 
last year’s P52.72/ US$1. 
 
Mine deliveries increased from 564,601 tonnes to 685,779 tonnes; total mine cost however decreased by ₱102.8 
million as the development cost (which in prior years was immediately expensed) was amortized. Milling cost 
increased by ₱35.0 million as  milled tonnage increased by 18%. Production tax decreased by P3 million due to the 
lower gold production.   Depreciation rose  by ₱6.1 million due to the mill retrofit project. Marketing expenses 
increased by ₱0.93 million in relation to the marketing, handling and assaying of copper – gold concentrate. 
 
Administration costs remained flat at ₱ 166.0 million. 
 
Other income totaled ₱4.0 million from sale of by - products, compared with  last year’s ₱5.0 million representing 
sale of scrap. 
 
Net loss amounted to ₱977.8 million against last year’s net loss of ₱800 million. 
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BALANCE SHEET MOVEMENTS 

Cash on hand and in banks decreased to ₱62.6 million from ₱123.6 million on account of capital expenditures and 
exploration and payment of borrowings. Receivables went up to ₱71.1 million from ₱42.3 million. Parts and 
supplies inventories decreased to ₱524.5 million from ₱585.9 million due to decrease in materials and supplies 
requirement and the increase in allowance for obsolescence of a subsidiary. Advances to suppliers and contractors 
went up to ₱225.9 million from ₱206.0 million. 
 
Assets-For-Sale (AFS) decreased to ₱161.9 million from ₱212.0 million mainly due to disposal of financial assets. 
Other current assets increased to ₱938.4 million from ₱780.3 due to prepaid and unamortized development cost. 
 
Trade Payables and Accrued Expenses increased to ₱1,780.0 million from ₱1,382.1 million on account of materials 
and supplies purchased.  Short-term and long-term borrowings decreased by ₱40.0 million and ₱14.2 million, 
respectively, due to loan settlements. Income tax payable increased to P0.6 million from P0.4 million in relation to 
income earned by a subsidiary. 
 
Retirement benefit liability went up by ₱0.79 million to ₱1,205.8 million following a re-measurement of the 
retirement liability.   
 
Re-measurement loss on retirement liability was ₱4.7 million compared with a gain of ₱41.0 million last year due to 
a change in actuarial assumption pursuant to Philippine Accounting Standards 19.  Unrealized gain on AFS financial 
assets decreased to ₱58.6 million from ₱61.3 million due to the sale of a financial asset. A gain of ₱23.0 million 
from the sale of AFS was recognized in the Retained Earnings pursuant to PFRS 9 on Financial Instruments. Deficit 
climbed to ₱5.17 billion from ₱4.18 billion on account of the consolidated loss for the year. 
 
 
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 

Total capital expenditures for the year reached ₱873.4 million consisting of:  mine development, ₱287.5 million; 
mine exploration, ₱310.6 million; TSF 5A maintenance, ₱7.7 million; and machineries, equipment and other 
depreciable assets, ₱267.6 million. 
 
 
SUBSIDIARIES 

Net Income is the key performance indicator used for the subsidiaries. 

DIAMOND DRILLING CORPORATION OF THE PHILIPPINES (DDCP)  

Gross revenue decreased by 92.1% to ₱12.9 million as there were no drilling projects during the first three quarters 
of 2019. A net loss of ₱47.5 million was incurred versus last year’s net income of ₱25.2. 

 
 

LEPANTO INVESTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (LIDC) 
 
Lepanto Investment and Development Corporation reported a net loss of P0.16 million compared with last year’s net 
loss of P0.31 million. 
 
 
SHIPSIDE, INCORPORATED (SSI) 
 
Total revenue increased to ₱37.1 million from ₱35.9 million last year. SSI posted a net income of ₱3.3 million, up 
from last year’s P2.9 million.    
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FAR SOUTHEAST GOLD RESOURCES, INC. (FSGRI) 
 
This year’s net income amounted to ₱0.68 million compared to last year’s ₱4.2 million on account of scrap sales. 
 
 
2018 
 
Consolidated revenues rose 31% to P2.12 billion from P1.62 billion in 2017. Net loss was P774.97 million versus 
last year’s loss of P948.61 million as explained below. 
 
 
MINING OPERATIONS 
 
Metal sales improved by 34% to ₱2.1 billion from the previous year’s ₱1.6 billion. Gold production increased to 
28,147 ounces (oz.) from 23,290 oz. the previous year. Silver production increased to 87,365 oz. from 54,649 oz. 
Copper production increased to 3,171,060 lbs from 1,390,025 lbs.  Average gold price went down from 
US$1,263.13/oz. last year to US$1,261.59/oz. and silver price dropped from US$16.97/oz. to US$15.65/oz.  
Average copper price dropped from US$3.04/lb to US$2.96/lb. The Peso weakened vs. the US$, ₱52.72 to US$1 
compared with last year’s P50.52 to US$1. 
Due to the higher tonnage delivered and processed, major cost items increased:  mining cost by P164.8 million, 
milling cost by P168.6 million, depreciation cost by P5.1 million, depletion cost by P6.3 million. Marketing 
expenses rose to P35.2 million in relation to the marketing, handling and assaying of cooper-gold concentrate.  
Production tax increased by P52.1 million on account of the higher revenue and doubling of the excise tax rate. 
 
Administration costs went down by P6.3 million due to lower taxes and fees. Overhead decreased by P10.0 million. 
Other income totaled P5.0 million representing sale of scrap, compared with last year’s P4.9 million from the sale of 
old equipment. 
 
Net loss amounted to P820.5 million against last year’s net loss of P875.3 million. 
 
BALANCE SHEET MOVEMENTS 
 
Cash on hand and in banks decreased to P123.6 million from P266.1 million on account of capital expenditures and 
exploration. Receivables went down to P42.3 million from P89.0 million on account of collections. Parts and 
supplies inventories increased to P585.9 million from P536.8 million due to increased materials and supplies 
requirements of operations. Advances to suppliers and contractors went up to P206.0 million from P154.8 million. 
 
AFS financial assets increased to P212.0 million from P197.9 million mainly due to revaluation. Other current assets 
increased to P780.3 million from P 711.5 due mainly to the increase in Input Value-Added-Tax and importations.   
 
Trade Payables and Accrued Expenses increased to P1,382.1 million from P1,263.1 million on account of materials 
and supplies purchased.  Short-term borrowing increased by P29 million and long-term borrowing decreased by 
P116.3 million, due to loan settlements and re-classification from long-term borrowing. Income tax payable 
increased to P0.4 million from P0.3 million in relation to income earned by a subsidiary. 
 
Retirement benefit liability went down by P426.2 million to P1,104.8 million following a re-measurement of the 
retirement liability.   
 
The actuarial revaluation pursuant to Philippine Accounting Standards 19 resulted in a re-measurement gain of 
P41.0 million compared to a loss of P297.1 million the previous year.  Unrealized gain on AFS financial assets 
increased to P61.3 million from P47.9 million due to the improvement in the market value of other AFS 
investments. Deficit climbed to P4.18 billion from P3.40 billion on account of the consolidated loss for the year. 
 
Capital stock increased by P802.3 million on account of stock subscriptions. 
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 
 
Total capital expenditures for the year reached P667.4 million, consisting of:  mine development, P234.6 million; 
mine exploration and diamond drilling, P241.4 million; TSF 5A maintenance, P8.6 million; and machineries, 
equipment and other depreciable assets, P182.8 million. 
 
 
SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Net Income is the key performance indicator used for the subsidiaries. 
 
 
DIAMOND DRILLING CORPORATION OF THE PHILIPPINES (DDCP) 
 
Gross revenue decreased by 43.6% to P164.3 million due to lower drilling output in projects for Lepanto. DDCP 
reported a net income of P25.2 million versus last year’s net loss of P25.9 million on account of minimized costs. 
 
 
LEPANTO INVESTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (LIDC) 
 
The company had no revenue-generating activities in 2018. Lepanto Investment and Development Corporation 
reported a net loss of P0.1 million compared with last year’s net loss of P0.2 million. 
 
 
SHIPSIDE, INCORPORATED (SSI) 
 
Total revenue increased to P35.9 million from P32.8 million last year. SSI posted a net income of P4.6 million, up 
from last year’s P2.9 million.    
 
FAR SOUTHEAST GOLD RESOURCES, INC. (FSGRI) 
 
This year’s net income amounted to P4.4 million on account of scrap sales compared with last year’s loss of P45.2 
million which arose from foreign exchange losses in connection with the revaluation of a foreign currency-
denominated financial asset. 
 
  

 * - KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS-LCMC   (applicable to the period 2018-2020) 

Tonnes Milled which indicate the amount of ore taken for processing, Milled Head is the amount of gold per ton 

milled and Gold production which is the final product of the operations. Metal sales, Cost and Expenses and Net 

Income round up the review process on how the company is performing vis-à-vis the performance of the same 

period last year. Average Gold price for the period adds another parameter that needs watching notwithstanding 

that the company has no direct influence on its movement.  

 

Securities and Shareholders: 
 

The Company had 27,717 stockholders as of 15 August 2021. Holders of common “A” and common “B” 
shares number 22,496 and 5,221, respectively.  
 

The Company’s securities are listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange. Following are the average quarterly 
prices for the past two years: 
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Lepanto “A” (P/share) 
 
 1Q19 2Q19 3Q19 4Q19  1Q20 2Q20 3Q20 4Q20  1Q21 2Q21  20 August 2021 

Low 0.120 0.115 0.105 0.091 0.0710 0.0890 0.1270 0.1510  0.1290   0.1540 0.136 

High 0.122 0.120 0.108 0.097 0.0710 0.0920 0.1320 0.1600  0.1340    0.1570 0.140 
 
Lepanto “B” (P/share) 
 
 1Q19 2Q19 3Q19 4Q19 1Q20 2Q20 3Q20 4Q20 1Q21 2Q21   20 August 2021 

Low 0.153 0.127 0.111 0.113  0.0800 0.0950 0.1290 0.1560 0.1200    0.1570  0.141  

High 0.118 0.129 0.110 0.101  0.0820 0.0980 0.1300 0.1600 0.1390    0.1590   0.141 

 

Top 20 “A” and “B" Stockholders of the Company (as of August 15, 2021) 

 
 
 

Name of Stockholder Class "A" % 
 

1 F. Yap Securities, Inc. 13,592,362,044 34.14 
2 First Metro Investment Corp. 2,550,682,926 6.41 
3 Philex Mining Corporation  2,164,240,810 5.43 
4 F. Yap Sec., Inc. A/C #CPHC-2 362,240,169 0.91 
5 F. Yap Sec., Inc. A/C #CPHC-3 337,989,616 0.85 
6 Felcris Hotels & Resorts 310,000,000 0.78 
7 F. Yap Sec., Inc. A/C #CPHC-1 301,859,763 0.76 
8 Coronet Property Holdings Corp 277,556,566 0.70 
9 Emma Yap 242,838,706 0.61 

10 Bryan Yap 175,915,571 0.44 
11 First Metro Investment Corp. 169,762,500 0.43 
12 Paulino Yap 155,062,032 0.43 
13 Pacita K. Yap 117,176,650 0.29 
14 Christine Yap 116,620,522 0.29 
15 Felipe U. Yap 86,063,611 0.22 
16 Manila Mining Corporation 65,870,000 0.17 
17 Arlene King Yap 40,000,000 0.10 
18 
19 

Christine Karen Uy Yap 
Fausto R. Preysler Jr. 

40,000,000 
38,222,363 

0.10 
0.10 

20 F. Yap Securities, Inc. A/C No. PKY-89 30,942,477 0.08 
 
 

 Name of Stockholder Class "B" % 
 

1 F. Yap Securities, Inc. 8,326,090,030  31.38 
2 F. Yap Securities, Inc. 3,761,979,349 14.18 
3 F. Yap Securities, Inc. A/C 521 1,343,773,000 5.06 
4 F. Yap Securities, Inc. A/C 1411 1,129,238,161 4.26 
5 F. Yap Securities, Inc. A/C 5217 1,020,000,000 3.84 
6 First Metro Investment Corp. 799,642,268 3.01 
7 F. Yap Securities, Inc. A/C 5218 669,905,750 2.64 
8 Coronet Property Holdings Corp  447,665,860 1.69 
9 F. Yap Securities A. S 218,404,905 0.82 

10 YHS Holdings Corporation  87,758,339 0.33 
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11 Felipe U. Yap  54,643,386 0.21 
12 Chase Leonard So Yap 50,000,000 0.19 
13 David Go Securities Corp. 45,604,103 0.17 
14 Luis L. and Teresa M. Oh, Trustees Luis Oh     

       and Teresa Oh Trust Oh 
24,365,714 

 
0.09 

 
15 Emma Yap 24,313,091 0.09 
16 F. Yap Sec., Inc. A/C No. 87-EU 23,014,545 0.09 
17 Kathy Sue Trout 22,619,631 0.09 
18 F. Yap Sec., Inc. A/C #PKY-89 20,577,792 0.08 
19 F. Yap Sec., Inc. A/C #BSUY 20,302,971 0.08 
20 Felcris Realty Investment Corp. 19,769,688 0.07 

 

Recent Sales of Unregistered or Exempt Securities 
   

On July 17, 2017, the parent company’s Board of Directors approved the offer of 7,007,384,282 Class “A” 
shares and 4,671,583,606 Class “B” shares, or 1 share for every 4.685 shares held by shareholders as at November 6, 
2017 from the parent company’s unissued capital stock at the offer price of P=0.15 per share.  The offer of shares was 
exempt from registration.  A total of 11,678,967,888 shares were sold during the Offer Period, December 4 to 8, 
2017, in connection with the said offer. 
  

Dividends Policy 
 
 Dividends may be declared out of the unrestricted retained earnings of the Company, which may be in the 
form of cash or stock to all stockholders on the basis of outstanding shares held by them as of the record date fixed 
by the Company in accordance with existing laws and rules. Any cash dividends due on delinquent stock shall first 
be applied to the unpaid balance on the subscription plus costs and expenses, while stock dividends shall be withheld 
from the delinquent stockholder until his unpaid subscription is fully paid: Provided, That no stock dividends shall 
be issued without the approval of stockholders representing not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital 
stock at a regular or special meeting duly called for the purpose. (Section 42, Revised Corporation Code). 
 
 Due to operational losses, there have been no dividends declared in the last two years.   

 
 
Compliance with Leading Practices on Corporate Governance 
 

Lepanto has revised its Corporate Governance Manual to comply with SEC regulations and institutionalize 
the principles of good governance in the entire organization. Pursuant to the said Revised Manual, the Company’s 
Board of Directors have constituted the following committees: Audit Committee; Compensation and Remuneration 
Committee and the Nomination Committee. The Board of Directors is composed of highly qualified and competent 
individuals who excel in their respective fields. The members of the Board assess the Board’s performance pursuant 
to good corporate governance principles.  

 
 The performance and qualifications of nominees are reviewed by the Nomination Committee. All directors 
and senior officers regularly attend seminars on corporate governance. The Company’s Board of Directors 
formalized existing good governance practices by approving in 2014 various policies/codes, namely: Conflict of 
Interest Policy; Related Party Transactions Policy; Insider Trading Policy; Health Policy; and Whistleblower Policy. 

  
 Through regular board and committee meetings, compliance with the principles of good governance are 
monitored. Furthermore, the Audit Committee Charter has been revised to comply with SEC Memorandum Circular 
No. 4, Series of 1990, pursuant to which the performance of the Committee shall be regularly reviewed.   

 
The performance of managers is also reviewed periodically and senior officers report to the Board of 

Directors. Regular meetings are held in the head office and in the mine to keep concerned officers apprised of any 
developments concerning production, finances, safety programs, community relations and environmental programs, 
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and good governance, marketing, legal and human resource matters as well as of the company’s compliance with 
pertinent regulations.   
 
 No deviation from the Company’s Manual on Corporate Governance has been noted by the Company.  

 
 
 

 
The Company undertakes to send a copy of its Annual Report on Form 17-A free of charge 

to any stockholder who makes a written request for it. The request should be addressed to the 
Corporate Secretary, 21st Floor, Lepanto Building, Paseo de Roxas, Makati City, Philippines.  
 









56. Metro Pacific Holdings, Inc. – Director 
57. Metro Pacific Investments Corporation - Director 
58. Metro Pacific Resources, Inc. – Director 
59. MPG Holdings Philippines, Inc. – Chairman of the Board 
60. MPG Mauban LP Corporation – Chairman of the Board 
61. M Pioneer Insurance, Inc.  – Chairman of the Board 
62. MRail Inc. – Chairman of the Board 
63. MSpectrum, Inc. – Chairman of the Board 
64. Multipay Corporation – Director 
65. Multisys Technologies Corporation – Director  
66. Multi Technology Investments Holdings, Inc. – Co-Chairman of the Board 
67. MVP Rewards and Loyalty Solutions Inc. – Director   
68. Nation Broadcasting Corp. – Chairman of the Board 
69. New Century Telecoms, Inc. –Co-Chairman of the Board 
70. One Meralco Foundation, Inc. –Vice Chairman and Trustee 
71. Pacific Aurora Plantation Corp. – Vice Chairman of the Board 
72. Pacific Global One Aviation Company, Inc. – Director 
73. Pacific Light Power PTE LTD – Chairman of the Board 
74. Paragon Vertical Corporation – Chairman of the Board 
75. Perchpoint Holdings, Inc. – Co-Chairman of the Board 
76. Perihelion, Inc. – Director  
77. PH Broadband Networks Holdings, Inc.– Co-Chairman of the Board 
78. PH Communications Holdings Corporation – Director  
79. Philippine Telecommunications Investment Corp. – Director and Corporate Secretary 
80. Philstar Daily, Inc. – Chairman of the Board 
81. Philstar Global Corporation – Chairman of the Board 
82. Pilipinas Global Network Limited – Director 
83. Pilipinas Natural Resources Holdings, Inc. – President and Director 
84. Pilipinas Pacific Enterprise Holdings, Inc. – President and Director 
85. Pilipina Pacific Natural Resources Holdings Inc. – President and Director 
86. Pilipinas Pacific Telecom Holdings, Inc. – Asst. Corporate Secretary 
87. Pilipino Star Ngayon, Inc. – Chairman of the Board  
88. Pilipino Star Printing Company, Inc. – Chairman of the Board 
89. PLDT, Inc. – Director  
90. PLDT - Beneficial Trust Fund - Vice Chairman and Trustee 
91. PLDT Capital PTE Ltd. – Director  
92. PLDT Capital Investments PTE Ltd – Director 
93. PLDT Communications and Energy Ventures, Inc - Director 
94. PLDT Digital Investments PTE Ltd – Director 
95. PLDT Global Corporation – Director  
96. PLDT Global Investments Corporation – Director 
97. PLDT Global Investments Holdings Inc. – Director 
98. PLDT Online Investments PTE Ltd - Director 
99. PLDT - Smart Foundation – Trustee 
100. Power Smart Capital Ltd. – Director 
101. Radius Telecoms, Inc. – Chairman of the Board 
102. Redondo Peninsula Energy, Inc.  –  Chairman of the Board 
103. Roxas Holdings Inc. – Director 
104. Roxas Power Corporation – Director 
105. Sari Sari Network Inc. – Co-Chairman of the Board 
106. SatVentures, Inc. – Director  
107. Skyphone Logistics, Inc. – Co-Chairman of the Board 
108. Somete Logistics & Development Corporation – Co-Chairman of the Board 
109. Smart Communications, Inc. - Director 
110. Stargate Media Corporation ( People Asia) – Chairman of the Board 
111. Straight Shooters Media, Inc. -  Vice Chairman of the Board 
112. Studio5, Inc. – Chairman of the Board  
113. Talas Data Intelligence Inc. – Director  



114. Telecommunication Technologies Philippines, Inc. –Co-President and Co-Chairman of the Board 
115. Telemedia Business Ventures, Inc. – Chairman of the Board 
116. Tori Spectrum Telecom, Inc. –Co-Chairman of the Board 
117. Trans Digital Excel Inc. – Director  
118. Two Cassandra - CCI Conglomerate, Inc. – Co-Chairman of the Board  
119. Two Rivers Pacific Holdings Corporation – Director 
120. TV5 Network Inc. – Director  
121. UxS Inc. (formerly Unitel Production, Inc.) – Vice Chairman of the Board 
122. Upbeam Investments, Inc. – Chairman of the Board  
123. Vega Telecom, Inc. – Co-Chairman 
124. Wolfpac Mobile Inc. – Director  
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INDEPE,'lDENT AL"OITOK'S REPORT 

T11e Uonrd of Dircc~ors and Srockholder.l 
Lcpunto CoosolidaK'<I Mining ComJ'311y 
21st floor, Leran~o Building 
P11S<.'O de Ro.us, Makati City 

Opinion 

Te· f(U})$8C'; ~·:101 
Fa,. fGVHI61VOSO 
t. y-('.Om41'' 

eo.\.1-""RI,..J«lg "'o. OOG·r. 
~-4. 2016 .. -;o.W,~Aug~tt.,... 2f..!~ 

SI:C/u.('.r~- he! tlOt:t-,.R-S(Qe'..).>Al. 
r.~~ (; WHl ve\or] un•11 NoV(.•"Mbt'lt' ~. '1-a1 

We bn'C audited the cxmsolidatcd fm>ncial staten~ents of l<:punro Consolidoted Mining Comp.>uy ;mel ir. 
Subsidiaries (the Group). which comprise the consolidated ~tatcmcul> of fmancial ~itiou a< at 
Dccemb<:r 31, 2020 and 2019, and the coru.olidatcd statements of comprehensive income, consolidated 
statements of cltangc.5 in equity and consolidated statements of ca.•b llows lor each of the three ~·rs in 
tbc period ended December 31.2020, and ootcs to the COIIS<>Iidatcd financial stotements, including a 
sununary of significant accuunting pol ides. 

In OUT opinion, tbc accompanying consolidated financial statements present f.1irly. in all material rcspccts. 
the consolidated fmancial position of the Group a:. at DeccmJ>e.- 31, 2020 :md 2019. and iL< consotidatcd 
financial performance 31td its consolidotcd cush flows for each of the thn::" years in the period ended 
Decem her 31 . 2020, iu a"cordallce with Philippine Fimncial Reporting St•ndards (PFRSs). 

Ra.is for Opinion 

We conducled our audit• in nccordonce wirh l' hilippine SUtndards on Auditing (PSAs). Our 
responsibilities under t~ standJrds an: t\uthcr dcicribcd in rbcAmliwr's Rl'SfJOn<ibilitict jhr tllt' Audit 
of the Cr>II.<Oiidaf"<l Fhumci<~l St(Jtements section of our report. We are indep.ndcnt of the Group in 
accordance with the Code of l:thics for Profes:.iooal Accouotont> in the Philippines (Code of Ethic.) 
togctbcr with tbc ethical rcquircntcnts rllat ore rckvantto our nudit of the consolidated fin:mci.1l 
statements in the Pllilippincs, and we have fuUiUcd oor Olhc.T ethical responsibilities in ~~ecordance with 
thcsc requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we ha"e obtained i> 
sufiicicnt anti oppropriare to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Kry Audil M:otlers 

Key oudil matters are those 1mmers that., in OUI' profcssion.al judgment, were oflll:ost significance in our 
audit oftbc consolidated financial Sllltemtnt5 of the current period. Tbtlle matter. were addressed in the 
comext of our audit of the con;nlldatcd linanciul starcmcnts as a whole. and in forming our opinion 
thereon. and we do not Jl<O''ide a sepano1e opinion oo these maners. For each matrer below, our 
description of how our audit addressed the ma11er is provided in thnt context. 

We ""''c fulfilled tbc =poosibiliues described in the Auditllr ·.r Resp<msibi/it;e.• for the Amlit of lhr 
Con:mlidated Fitumdol Stcucnumt.< S<.'Ction of our report. including in rel•rion to these maners. 
1\ccordingly, our audit iocludcd the perfonmmcc of procedures designed to respond to 011r assessment of 
the risk.. of material misstatement of the consolidated fmancial stotements. The results of our audit 
pro.x.'edu= includmg the procedures performed to llddres.< the tnancrs below. provide the b<Jsis for our 
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidttted tiuaneial statements.. 
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The Group incurred Detlos.ses of¥751.0 million, 1'1,027.4 million and P775.0 million in 2020, 2019 nod 
2018. respectively, resulting in deficit of P5.924.1 million and P5.173.2 million as of December 31. 2020 
and 2019, rcspccli,·cly. As of Decctnher 31 , 20!0 and 2019, the Group's current liabilities exca:ded il• 
tollll assets by l'<i53.2 million and 1'149.7 ruillioG, respe<:tively. 

ll•e cousolidate<.l financial slntcmeuls have been prepared on a going concc:m ba.'is. The availahiliry of 
sufficient funding and management's a~"11lt-n1 of ">bctbcr 01e Gmup will he able to cootinue meeting 
it> currently ma turing obligations arc largely ba...U on tbc expectations of, and the estimates uwde hy 
management. The expectation> and estimate> can be influenced by subjccti>·e element• such as estimated 
future cash nows, foroct1Stcd rcsulro and margins trom operations. tb31 are subject to higher level of 
esrimati<Jn uncertainty. and tbc feasibility of the Group's financing ac1ivi1i~-s. As the going coocem 
asscssmcna is a significant aspl.!ct of our audjt. we bavc idcntifi"~ lhls as a key audit matter. 

The Group's disclosures ou tlw goiug concen> asse<smcm arc included in :-lotcs I and 3 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Audit Resporu~ 

\Ve obtained an understanding of management's gmng concern o=smen1, taking into consideration rt... 
cum:nt buj;iness environment ~•nd rhe Gruup•s recovery plfans. \Vc c:.'·aJuated tbc key assumptions. such 
as the foreca<tcd rev~n= and ~rating CO.<Ii. !hat .. = u.ed by manogcmcnt in the Gnlllp'S cash no ... -s 
foroc11»1 for the next twelve montlt~ fn>~n reporting p"riod. We evaluated these lcey a>.<Umptions by 
rcfcrcoc:e to historical informati<ln and <ltperience. idormation up to report d>te, and rck>;ml market data 
and by taking into consid~o.*T(ttjon the ac.Tinn!l undertaken aud the planned strategies by Jnanagemtnl in 
relation to the Group's operating activities. We obtU!ed and revi;,wed documents, such as minutes of 
meeting.,, letters :Jnd cnrrcspondence \\'ilh cxlc mal pnrties. on rnanagcmcot•s actions to raise caphal 
through loMs. private plao:ements :mdlor stock rigbts ~ffering, and deferral of pa)'lllt,.,tS on cum.'"! 
liabilnics. We reviewed events that tmnspir·,-d up In d ue of our report which may have an intpact on tbc 
Group's tinao.:iog aclivitios. We also liS~ the adequacy of the related disclosures in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

R.eroverobility oj'Pmpcny. Plant and Eqttipmcnf 

The Grottp bas property, plant and equipment amouuti11g to 1'6. 7 billion, which includes mine and mimng 
propenics ofP5.3 billion as at Dcc~nber 31, 2020. COO'prising about4"'. of the Group's consolidoted 
total ar..~ls. The Group ha.oc been incurring net JOS!o.eS W.1ich is: nn impainnent indicator requiring ao 
assessment of the recoverable nmoon1 of property. plant and equipment We considered this ns a Jcey 
audit mauer bccaosc of the materiality of the nmc>tmt involved, oud t11c imp:oim>ent as.sessrnenr requires 
sig.oitkantjudgmcnt ar1cl involves esrintatioo and assum?tions •bout fulllrc production levels and costs. as 
well as external input.' such as commodity price•, dis001m1 mte, and foreign currency exchange rate. 
Hence. such nsscssrneut is a key audit matter in our audiL The Group ·s disclosures in relation 10 
property, plant and equipmcru ""' included in Note 9 to the consolidated financial Sto!Clncuts. 

A....-IIC" ..... •ti'. ·,.. ,.\',_..G, .. l_,. 
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We involved 0<1t internal specialists in evaluating the methodology and the assumptions used in 
de1cnnining the valuc-in-u.,e, ~11ch as future pmducrion k vels and costs. a, well a. ec.ternol inputs such as 
oouunodily prices. discoom tate and foreign curreocy exchange rJre. For the external inputs. we 
compan:d the key liSSumptions used against cxte:nal data such as analysts' reports and indUSil)' 
benchmarks. We teslcd the parnmcters used in the dc-rennination oftl1e discount rate against marker dam. 
fO£ the internal inpuL<. we cO£nparcd the ore rescvcs a.'®mpliOO:< used in the cash flow projection to the 
ore reserves assessed hy the variou., ex pens employed by the Group to produce the estimates of proven 
and probable~ as at December 31. 2020. We also assessed the objectivity, competence and 
capahilitie>. of those various expert$, and obtained an Understanding of the scope ofthcirwork. We 
compared the operating ctpcnsc forecast> to the historical opcratinS cxpc.,-,scs and tl>e production nod 
sales forecasts agains1 historical data and mine plans. We compared the capital expenditure projections to 
existing capital dcvelopmeot work plans~ to exttact the mioe3ble ore reserves. We also 
n:-.~ the Group ·s disclooures aboul those assumptions to which the outcome of tile impainncnt tcSI d 
most sensitive: <pccifically, those thnt have the most ~ignifieant efll:ct on the detcnninatjon of the 
recoverable amount of property. plant and equipment. 

RL~o•oerobillty of Mine E.vpk>mtioo Co.<ts 

As at December 31 . 2020. the canying • •luc or the Group's mine exploration costs amounted to 
P6.8 billion, which mainly pcnain to the expeoditures iDCUm:d hy the Group 10< ~.c far Soutbcasl 
Project. I <ndcr PFnS 6,EJ.p/ormlan jor and Evo/uaitm of Mineral Re>Ymrres. these ntincexploralion 
costs shall be asscssc:d for impairment wheu faru and 6rcumslllnces suggest that the '"'rryiog amount 
exceeds the re<x>Ver:lblo amount Tile ahility of the Group to reenvcr it> mine cxplor..rion cost> would 
depend on the di>covery of cornmcrcially viobk qua:uities of mineral resources and of e~tradiug dtc 
resulting ore fl'SJCI'VCS. We considered this as a key audit man<r be-cause of the materiality of the amounl 
involved. tlnd the signi ficant management judgment required in assessing whc:rhcr there is any indication 
of impairment The Group ·s disclosures about mine exploration cost< are include<.! in Note 12 to tbc 
consolida1ed fin~1ncit1f .statements. 

A ucli1 Re:spo'"" 

We obl:tined tbe schedule of explonllion expenses by project, perfom>cd an understanding ofthc Slag<: of 
the >'Cia ted project aud the type of expense'S incurre<.l. We obtained DI31Uigemeot's aSS<.'Ssment on whether 
thc:e is any indicalioo that mine exploration COSIS may be impaired. We reviewe-d contrJCIS and 
asrcement~, and budget for exploration and development costs. We in:lpceted all the liccnseslpcnnil.l of 
e-Jcll of the exploration proj«l•to determine that the period for which the Group bas the right ro explore 
in the specific area has nor expired. will not expire in the near flrturc, and will he reocwcd O£ ha•-c been 
applied for rcnewnlaocotdingly, and compared these lkerues and pc>nnits with dtc disclo•nrcs of 
rr:sulatOI)' agencies. We abo inquired aboot the exi.rino,: mining areas that are c<pcctcd to be abandoned 
or any exploration activities thai are pJnnncd to be discontinued in those areas. 
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Other Information 

Managcmcm is n.~nsible rnr the other inrnmtction. The other information comrrises the inJOnnation 
included in tlte SEC f'onn 2()-IS (Definitive Information Statement). SEC Fonn 17-A and Annual Report 
for tbc )'cor ended December 31 , 2020 hut docs not include the consolidated financial stntemeniS and oor 
auditor"s rcpmi thcroon. The SEC Fonn 20-IS (Definitive Information Sl:ltement). SEC fomt 17-... and 
Aooual Repon for the year ended Det.·ember 31. 2020 arc expected to be made available to ttS al\er the 
date of this auditor' s report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated f=nciJJI s1.1temen1S does 001 co'-cr !he other infonnation and we will not 
cxpl'css any form of assurance conclusion thcreorL 

In connection with our audit~ or the consoli<L1ted financial <tatcmcnts, our re~>"JlOD.'ibility is to read the 
other intormation identified above when it becom<s available and, in doing so. considtt whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the con;olidated financial stntemcnts or our knowledge 
obtained in the nudirs, or otherwise appears to be noalerU!Jiy misstated. 

Responsibilitil'S of \fanag•m•nt and Those CltafJled witlt Go,·ernancc for tbe Consolidated 
Fin~nciol Statements 

Manngemcnt is responsible lc>r the prepamtion a11d :itir presentation of the consolidated financial 
Sl3tements in acxonboc..-e wilh PFRSs. and for such .ntern:tl control :tf: m:m.:agemcnt dclcnnines is 
necessary to t'Tl..-ble a he preJ)QIIiUioo of consolidated iinancial St:ltemerns that are tree from material 
misstntcmcnt. whether due to fraud or error. 

111 pn.'J)aring rite consolidated financial statctncnts. management is responsible for a.<Se><ing the Group "s 
ability to cootinue as a going cunccm. disclosing, :>s afJPticable. matters related to going concern and 
using the going cooccm basis of accounting unle<>s management either intends to liquidate the Group or to 
cease opcraliou:-;, or has no realistic nHcruati-vc bul rodo so. 

'Those cbargt'<l with go,·cntancc nrc re.ponsiblc for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Re5p011sihilities for the Audit oflbe Con•olidated Financial Stuttmcots 

Our ohjectiv"' are to ob1.1in re.bOoablc assurance about whether U•e consolidated futaucial •tmcntcnts as a 
wbole are frel: from material mi•st:atemcnt, whether dt.e to fraud or error. and to issue an auditor's report 

lhal includes our opinion. Reasonable assurnnce is a high level or as..-rurance, btu is nOl a gu:~ramec dtal au 
audit conducted in accordance with r5As will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstalorncnts can arise f1·om frat1d or eJTOr and are coMidcred maLe rial if, individually or in 1bc 
nggrcg;uc. tbey could n::~sonably be expected to inOucncc tbe economic decisions or users token on the 
basis oftbcse con.o;olidatccl financial statCITJCnts. 
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As parr of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we c'crcise professional judgment and rnain~ain 
profcs<ional skcptici~m througltout I he audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of mMcriAl mi~statemcn1 of th~ consolid:tted Jinaudal Slatenu..-nts~ 
whether due to lraud or em>r, dc,~ign aod puform audit procedun.>s responsive to I hose risks, and 
obtain nudil evidence 1har is sufficieut and oppmpriatc to provide a basis lor our opinion, Tbc risk of 
not detecting a material misstaterncnt rcsuUmg from fraud is higher lhMl fC)r one resulting from error, 
as ffaud may involve collusiou, Jbrg,cry. intentional ontissio~~ misrc~ntations, or the0\1CTTidc of 
iotemal comroL 

• Obtain an understanding-of intemal t:ontrol 1elcvnnt 10 the nudir in mder ro dc~igu audit proccdun::.~ 
tbat are appn>priatc in the circUJn<tanccs, but 004 for the pulJlOl<c of cxpn.'Ssiug an opinion on the 
cf!'cctiveness of the Group's intemal controL 

• EvnfuaiC· the npproprialcness of l"Ccnunting pJiicics ust-d and the rea~mablcn~s of ncooonting 
estimates and related disclosures made by rnsnogement. 

• Conclude on I he :tJ)pmpriatcness of mnnagctncnt 's use of lite going concern basis of accounting and, 
basL"d on the audil evidence obtained, whether a mah.:rial uncertainty exists relo1ed to events or 
conditions thntmny cas1 significant doubt on the Group's abi lity to continue as a going concern, If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists. we are n."quin.--d to dntw m1e-mion in our auditor's report 10 
the related disclosures in the cousnlidaled Jinaucial statements or, ifsoch diselosuro;,~ are inadcqualc. 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusiou:'l ore bllsed ou the \lUdic ev1deuce obtainod up to the date of our 
auditor•s repurt. H(nvcver, future e\'t'uls or condition!\ may cat.L~ dK: Group to cease to continue as 11 

going concern. 

• Ev31uatc the overall prc~emutiou. stn1cnrrc and content of the-consolidmcd financial statcmeni.S. 
including the disclosun.>s, and wbclher the con;olidated financial smtcment< represent the undorlyiug 
transacrions and cvem~ in a manner thnt achie\·cs fair presentation. 

• Oht<Jin <Ufficicnt appropriate audit evidence refnrdin& the fu1ancial information of rhc en lilies or 
business activities within 1bc Group to express"' opinion un !he consolidllled financial stutemcnrs, 
We arc responsible 1(,. the direction, supervision and pcrionnance of I he audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We comnnmica1e with I hose charged wilh govcrnan'c regarding. among other matters, the platlll<.'d scope 
and timing ot'lhc audit and significant audit fmding!-. including any significant deficiencies in interuaJ 
com1·of that we identify dut ing our audit. 

We also provide those chargtd wllh governance ~ith a stntl.meut thnt we have complied with refevant 
ethical rcqtJitcJllcnts rcgardjng indepcndeJacc. n1ad to com1nunit.:-ute with (hem all relationships nud other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on otr independence. and where applicable, related 
safegual'dS. 
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From the mancc< communiCIIIcd with those clwrged with govcman<:e, we dctenninc those muners that 
were of most significance in the nudit of the con.wlidated finnncinl statement..:: of the current period and 
m'C thcrefot'C the key audit mutters. \Vc de~ribe these matters in our uuditor~s rcpor1 unless lnw or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about tlto nJatter or when, in extremdy rare circurnstaoces, we 
determine that a matter should nol he oommunicat.ed in our rcpor( hecouse the advel'se consarueuccs of 
doing so wnttld reasnnably be expected to nut weigh tbc public intcre.t benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partner on the audit rc,;ulling in !his indcpendem auditor's repo11 is Eleanore 1\. Luyug. 

SYCil' GORRJ.iS VELA YO & CO. 

,~.J.......... 
ElcMure A. Layug- o· 0 
Parrner 
CI'A Ccrtiticarc r-io. 0100794 
SEC Accreditation ~o. 1250-AR-2 (Group A), 

February 28, 2019, vnlid until l'cbnuuy 27, 20~2 
Tax Identification J-.o. 163-069-453 
BIR .-\ccrcditation No. 08-001998-097-2020, 

i\'nvenlher l7, 2020, valit.l until ~~ovember 26. ~023 
PTR No. 853430R •. Ianum)•4, 2.021, Makati City 

June 7, 2021 



LEPANTO CONSOLIDATED M.INING COMPANY k'IU SUBSTOIAIUES 
CONSOLTDA TED ST ATE1\IENTS OF ll'lNMiCIAL POSITIOI'i 
(Am ounts in Thousands) 

A.'iSl'TS 

CUI't'CUt t\SSt'L') 

Ca.h fMb=~) 
R(,-ceivl•bles (Note 5) 
Contrac:l as><l• (Nocc 5) 
ln\'enlurics (Note 6) 
Adv:m«>; to •uppli<Nand coolr.lL1oo< ('lore 7) 
Other current JtSSeh (Note 8) 
Tobtl Current As.ltl'i 

NoncuJTent Assets 
J'rorx:cl}'. plmll ar.d equipment- ne1 (Noce 9) 
Mine cxplom1ion oosts (Nu1c 12) 
financf.tll asscB dcs&g.natc<l at fair \a{ue Lhrous,h otberroa.prthcmi"'c:: i:no.'lnle 

(IVOCI; N01e 10) 
ln\'CSimcnls innnd ad\'ancc:s to a11~iah:s (Note (I) 
Ocfem:d ,._, .-·net (N<Xe I R) 
0 1hcr II(HlCUI'I\.'tlf asse ls 

Total Non<Urrtnt A\:sets 

TOTAl. AS~KI'S 

t,IAilii.ITIES .\.1110 J::OUI'I'\' 

CurTrttt Llahilitit'S 
Tr.Wc and other p;aynblcs (!'!<Itt 13) 
Cumnl pottion ofJung-t:.:nn borrowing$ (:'IJolc 14) 
t 'urn::utJlOrfion of lcn~c liobililics (Note JOg) 
l f'liiXXnc L1X payabk 
Tolill <.:urn:nt Lhebllltit~ 

Nonnrre-nt Llabilirlts 
Ad'o'iln<.'CS fr<1111 For Southcust Sci'\• ices Limlk.-d {FSE; Note J()ll:) 
LOns-e<nn b"'""'ing< (Nooe I~J 
Lease lk1bililic.s - net of curre-nt porti(m (Nmc JOg) 
U••bihly for mine rehub{!it.alion cu,;;l (l\'<Jtc J 6) 
Rcti(emcnt be_ncfil.,. li:lbilily C"o(c r?) 
Ocfer,...ltax ~llbilitic:s · net (N(I(c 18) 
Vepo:dl for fiJture xub.t;criptiortt> 
TotaJ NonC11rrt n t U:~~bilitin 
Totall.b bi111it'S 

Jo~quhy AttributabJt> to dH' £quit)· lloldtrS of the Yart:nt (.Ampanr 
Cnpit'l (No•e 19) 
Acklilional paid-in oopilal (A PIC) 
R~,.-mC'3Surcnlel11 JosR on re1ircmeu1 bcnel'ils Ji~al;J i li ly 
,..oir value n:scrve of Huancial assCl'\ dcsig.natcd at fVOCl (~t lO) 
O.:flcil 

Total t;guirv 

'rOT AL LIAIIILrrt ES t\J\'0 EQIJlTY 

.~ f.lerQmporryiug Notes fO G1mOJidntf(/ Fi11<1iN:ial S'falemt..'IU\'. 

2020 

.. 31,446 
79.4.!8 

550,965 
298,6~9 
879J74 

1,839,882 

6,656,554 
6,827.286 

67,91 5 
557,3.17 
374,890 
86,035 

14.570,527 

1'16;116.409 

1'2,.101,506 
l 85,9H4 

5,594 
7 

1,493,091 

6,131.77'1 
422 
861 

llt9,34Y 
1.547,663 

211,918 
69.200 

8.131,185 
10.624.276 

M3S,685 
5,077',0J3 
(206,924) 
(JS390) 

(5,924,109) 
5.'146.29~ 

239,83M 
5,786.133 

~16.410,40'1 

D~·('tmbt•r 31 

2019 

Pl>2,623 
71.073 
18.732 

524,47i 
225.81>9 
93&434 

1.841.208 

6.858,669 
6,744.644 

16 1.937 
51i4.256 
293.071 
89.79l 

14,714 371 

1'16.SS~ 579 

P1,779,991 
202,542 

7,714 
649 

1.990.89(, 

6,074,6$7 

4,108 
159.!174 

1,10;,852 
2fS.S47 
69.200 

7 729 33R 
~.720.234 

6,6.15.6115 
$.077,033 

(4.729) 
58,603 

(5,1?3,1()6) 
6,S93,426 

241.919 
6.835,345 

p 16.555,579 



LEPANTO CO~SOLIDATEO l\fiNil\'G COMPA.W AND SUIJSIDLARI ES 
CONSOLI OA TEO STATEME!Iii'S OF COMPREHENSIVE I NCOME 
(Amounb iu 'J'Iwusnuds, l:;xccpt Loss per Share) 

Year" t: nd4.'t1 llen·m htr 31 
21120 2019 2018 

REVE:-'l:ES (No<< 29) f1 ,472,971! Pl,IW7.384 P2. 120,642 

COST OFSAL.:S(N"c 22) ( I, 907 .58li) (2,@,tm) (2,42>,246) 

CO!\"fOFSERVICES (Nok 2J) (32.!135) (25.,39) (149,6~9) 

or~R.\ TING Jl:XPJ;NS£S (Nolc 24) (225,492) (3 Jl.O.ll) ('23;.802) 

f'INANCE COSTS (N01e 27) (6{,892) ('IYJ?S) (107,731) 

SIIARE IN NE'l LOSSF.S Of' ASSOClATK~ (Kc.c II) (1.875) (2,!112) (2, 11!4'1 

FO Rl:IGS ·~'I:CIIA~G£ (; ;\IllS (LOSSES) · "" 834 5,)2(• 717 

O'I'HEII 1:\'CO\IE -net j!i01c 28) 13,317 33,149 121502 

LOSS BEFORE INCOMt TAX (!oi7,6SI! (I,Ol<>, 740) 1786.71 t) 

I'JW VtSJOS FOil (BEI'iEFIT ~'RO~I) 1;\'CI).\1[ TAX (:\eve 18) 
Cunent 
Dcrcm:d 

NEl'l.OSS p~.~ (1.027.3M! !714,970! 

(Yrtll\K CO~II'REHEI'iSIVE INCOME:. NET OF T AX 
/tom thai will not k recklssijif!IIIO profit or loss in 

,otbJYllfllt>lf/ p~·rinds: 

Ch:lngcs U. fan v.tltaes o( linanci:ll asstbo desiyraeed a 
FVOCJ (Note 10) (1'93,993) P26.801 P13,432 

Rcmcasurcmenl gBiu (h~t$) on rctll\'mcnc 
hc:Mru tiabilifl• 0t1 ofta' ~ole 1 7~ Q01,24J! (45.;)5) 338.610 

Q93.~ (111.914) 352,04l 

TOTAL COMJ>R£11 E~SI VE LOSS (P1.049,212) (Pt 11W6.2~) (P422.928) 

1\'t•llnconlt (loss) 1111rilmlabl.:• to: 
r.quly ~"' nftbe V:areut c·~ny (1'750,943) ('P1,027,391) ('P776.72•)) 
I\'(' I fl\cJIC 20) (33! 27 1.759 

(1'7~0.976) (J>J.027,)64J IP774.970) 

Toe at t"'Oll)r~hen.t\ r in(•ome 001ro11) aflrlllufaiJll· to: 
&tuity holders orchc r<~rcnl Comp:uly (P J,047.1Jl) (Pl.ll46.30SJ IP425,2~8J 

NCH'I\.0< 20j (l.ORI! 27 2,330 

(ltl,~9.112) (!1 ,04-6.278) (P422.92K) 

B,\SJClOll.UTt:JJ LOSS P£R SIIAI<I',(Nolc 21) (1'11.8113! (PO.nJ55t jP0.0122! 

Se(• ucoompfll{'l-iniJ Not€1/u (Jmwlidait•,/ FintHK•inl ShiWJN>I/0. 



LEPA.I'ITO CO~SOLLDATED MINlSG COMPANY Af\1) SUBSIDIARIES 
CO~SOLJ OA T ED STAT EMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(Amounts in Thousands) 

CASH FLOWS FR0 .\1 OPl':HATI:-iG ACTIVITIES 
l,.os.s before itlCIOfDe tax 
Adj U.'itml'Jlls for: 

D<:plclion, <.lcpre<:iati(ln :ux.J amotti:t.ation 
fio_ .. ..,...(Nooe27) 
rro\'i~oio•l fur im(Xlinm:m ofinvc:sunent 1n assuci111~ (N<:IC 28) 
Ciaiu (luss) ou t!Lo;f"'':ll ~•f propc.'l't)'. pl.~tll and equipn1e~il ~ 2in 
Share in nc.1 kKscs cl MSOCiltOi: ~(II~ II) 
M~wcmen( in rctirtmc:rlllx-ncfiiS Ji~•biliry 
Unn:.alized foreign e.x.cllan~ l.o5scs (pins) . net 
.......... ;""""'" ()\01<: :!8) 

0 pL"111ting inoouu: {loss) bcf~)I'C wo•i<ing cupiral dumgcs 
[km::ase (incrc-.l!k:} in: 

Receivables aniJ cmU:te'l lli:SCI:t 
Juvci110ties 
Ath·..-.ccstOMij:'f:ll~ andcun:~ 

OlhCI' L"'J1l'Cl111WICIS 

lnt..'lt'.'ISC in trade unci oth<.>r p:t•;:.bfl"l!> 
C.o.h gcner .. a:l fi'ora Of\.""''Jtiom 
l_n1ete:;.1 roetivcd 
Income t:1:<cs paid 

CASH fLOWS FROM IKV~IIN<; ACTIVITII'-S 
Additioos to: 

Propc.ny, plun' and L'<fUIJ)lll::nt 
M.iue f:'plor-.Jiilln ~ 

PnlCCCds from dj~:.ll or 1nv~o~ <lesiJ,-nlltcd al FVOCJ (i\mc 10) 
Prcx:ccd$ from dilij'X).'IId Of prupcn y, plum (IUd CC[lli pmmt 
Poy..- or.uboctiption po)'(lblc {:-:.<< Ul) 
In~ in otb~ nl'IOCUITCJ" asset-: 
J!):tcnsion clf advalli.'C'.S IU llf'lll.~iuk: 

(;ASII fLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITI[S 
Adv....,. from FSE (Nalc 30>1 
Av11ilme11t (If Joan ... 
P~tymcnl.'l nf: 

lkwrowin~ (''«e 2(,) 
lntcrc:.l 

rn.c~p<l """''"' oi 1..,. liabOhty (Nut~: JO!:! 
Pr'c.'lreeck fl'OIU i._o;"liJintt- of sMn:s of SIO...:k!' 

CASH A1' Btcli\NING OF YEA It 

H 'n:cTOF EXCIIANCf.ltATE <':HMW:rs ON CASII 

CASU ,\'r 11:-ill Of' YEAR (N<Mc 4) 

2020 

(ll7f7,6S1) 

460;116 
61,1192 
7.159 

(7,)17) 
1lt75 

(1,577) 
(8341 
(102) 

(220,Y39) 

9,999 
(26.488) 
(72,790) 
S8.R7J 

Sl!!,li46 
267.101 

101 
(IJOl) 

265,501 

(267.015) 
(61,6J4) 

9,0R7 

1,839 
(!.694) 

(325,417) 

57,115 
I,O·U 

(14,436) 
(2,666) 
('1,418) 

31,6.17 

(28.179) 

62,613 

(2,8911) 

i'JI ,4·" 

\'ttrs Endtd O«tftlbcr 31 
21119 201~ 

(PI.056,740) (P78(o,71 I) 

81l0,462 783,730 
99,37R 107,73 1 

(13.3'72) rn 
2.9n 2.104 

(}925X) (22J30) 
(5.325) (720) 
(2 .. 324) (214j 

(1'\4207) 84.269 

(2R,363) 34,252 
6 1.3').1 (49,021) 

(19,8311) (51,217) 
(158.299) (68.825) 
391.324 119JJ91t 
11R.OJJ 6li.5Sn 

2,324 274 
I' 417) (5,375) 

117,910 63 441) 

(197,.154) (S%,278) 
(4(1,813) (336,0(•61 
77, 135 
2l, l26 6.976 

(I 1,443) 
(5, 519) (9,527) 
(2JJ4t (l.l) 

(159,202) (934.9()X) 

54,105 37,123 

(51,5941 (90.63)) 
{12.130) (18.947) 
(8.66RJ 

802,299 
(11\.487) 730.442 

(59,7•9) (141,017) 

12>,597 266,11 7 

(1,205) (1.50.1) 

P62.6l.l Pl23.597 



LE.PAI\'1'0 CONSOLIDAT ED MIN~G COl\U'A.l'\'Y A.l'llD SUBSIDiARIES 
CONSOLJl)ATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES L.~ EQUHY 
FOR THE YEARS J::Nl)ED DECEMBER 31, 2020,2019 AND 2018 
(Anlounls in ·Thousands) 

J\ltribllbhlt!!!_ F.qulh Ho.l!l_tN Qf _ _th(' l_~tnt ~.!IIJiflt•~· 

Fab\'.._ 
Rtlltt'.lttlh',.('"' l=lt$~'"'·e\ or 

Cs l• (lA~· ue f'h!ucUI J\15tt 
krtl~nn t~fc,.•tl'fl at 

Oct~\'lju 1 Utbil lty r\'OCl Csplllol ~t(uik<}'t~l<l !91 ................. S."-'.W APIC ~1'7• IN!:ItciOl _fWiicit ~oot~>L _Sc"1~-:~n _ 'I_.ul 

Rida~ •J!II!!!)I•l!l! II!:.JM.-,. .. ,......... !6.,!.1"-'8..' J>Ml71J.\1 lPJ.,'t~ f13A:!l (fS.IP.IM.l h .!!).,!U tl'*J.tlt H..slf...US 
Net l.' }' (7,,•'\,Y'Il) (7~.9<11) Ill) (1((1,97fij 
.. ~"'*"fldloaill!ih'C ilrl«tnt(~ 

I'll"! (•fun <i'!l. l!)$) l!n.99~l (l9!'·.1~) a.Nl!l g~ 236) 
[ <'01 2Y[P!hmWe lt::can-.o i~} • ( ''U:UIMt ( 9, (JIIJi {1~1,9:H l (! fi:)Z I H \ <~.():'1 1 o 1 I I)<IU,_112t 

AtbJK"" .._ Deetllllx'r .1i,lt»Cl IIS.,LU.$••11. f' l.".-JM'I t'.toJU$~ k!Jt'!JAH (P'.lllto..~z,&) {JIJ5,l9t) (lt.S .... JA,1119} fi5--~4-46.Jt!l tl l39A'8 •s.'i~I)J 

~athll•arrl.l01t !?.I"---~' Pl...,9.1i'f PU JM!:5 -S.47!,1JJ '"'-'~ NI.JIS f~,J 7~61l P1,!:Jt.1.H l'l•tl,!'!l I'JMIAU 
:o.;e~ IV!Il - ~ - ( lJ)%?..!91. (t.0:1,>9l) ~1 I IJ)Z{Jf"*) 
Ot!tc.:•'f'!l:ll'~h.~-eti'IC:Q!III!.I~:ta(IIIJ. ( .JS.!' J~l 26.11/IJ (!1!.91<1) (1!#14) 
TM!IIw•*iiitbon•c~(~ l <~ <t.:Ui ~~ \U:i,\y}) (l.tw.JOSJ :n (t.O.a&.ll!) 
Tr:m•(« 11r r~r, 'alec to:;ICT\'<l o.'J' Ii"~""'l!il 
~~ .. n:oo 
(NIII:" )(l) {lQ .A!!{.) 29.4 lt!i 

U11htt>«1 lit Orlln11brt' ~ I, lll 1• IIT)I,l4>.5!M PlrliHI,O~O P!o.6,5filt~ 1t..~.OJ1JUJ !1':4,7191 .. 58,ff' {!f.l!·'·l66l 116~~tM2~ "l4J,fl~ f'(l,33fr\.t5 

KAI!!o:e' M!.:NJ~:v I 1f•18 P5. 1 !'1• .~911 t rl•6.??1l P.~.3JJ.lll6 li5,tl1,!1J <Pl?MISJt • ·f MM <!>l.J9ft .. ~.m P7Jt.l.6tQ t lJ9S91 JIM 02.1U 

~"""' - - - (7"'~7191 (176..:1'9) '·'" ( ' ':<t..fm) 
tJ!hccwprdlft•-..~•n..:oxne n~ro9 U.:!'~ 1\1.411 511 Js.uw:z 
Ttlliii<:~PI~fld'"'~ ir!O'w'l-.=(bc,c) )J11.ID9 !'MJl Fi6.i'2')) (-'ll-\.2S8\ UJ(l H.ll.t:'JS) 
lpr.:mcx:: ~R"m (l(zh:n,t 110:.m SOl. "99 - f!)l.Nt ;;v;UI)I} 
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LI~PA~TO CONSOLIDATED ~fiNI.'lG COMPANY AND SUBSIOIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FTNA."'ClAL STATEMENTS 
(Amount• in Tlouusaruls, Except Amounts 11or Unit and Number llfSh•n·cs) 

1. C4rporatc lnfonnation and Autlwri,..lioo for h>uancr of the Consolidall'<l Financial Statcmcub 

koamo Consolidated -"lining Comuruw 
Lepanto Consolidated Mining Comrany (l'arent Cnmpany) was incnrporatcd in the Philippines and 
registered with the l'hilippinc Securities and Exchange (',onunis.,ion (SEC) on Scprembcr8, 193(>, 
primurily ro engage in the expk>ration and mming of gold, silver, copper, lead, zinc and all kinds nf 
ores, Jlll:tals. 1ninemls, oil, gas and coal and their rclared by~producrs. Ou Jonua.l)• 29, 19M5, tbe 
Philippine SEC approved the cxteusion ofthr Parent Company's corpor.lte term for am• her SO years 
after the expiration of its original te1m on September K, 1986. 

The Parent Company's sham< are Ji,ted and traded on the J'hilippine Stock Exchange (I'S£). 

On January 14, 1997, thc Parent Company wts nogistercd ,.;th tho Roord oflnve~tments (BOI)undcr 
ExCC\tlivc Order (EO) 1\o. 226 as a new export pruducerof'gold bullion on a prefC1Tcd nOn·pionctr 
status. This registration entitled the Parent Ccmpany to a fonr-yc.1r income tax holiday (ITII), which 
can be further c.<~eoded for another duro )OC<11'< suhject to compliance with e<main conditions, and lower 
taritT rntcs on ncquisition of copilal equipment. It is requlrcd to mointain o bw;e equi ty of ut least 25% 
os one of til<: L'<>nditions ofd1c regjstralioo. 

On April I. 1997, the Parent Company strutocl tbc «>nunercial operlllions of iis gold mine (Victoria 
l'rojo.:ct) located in Mankayru>. lleoguct. Philippines and suspended irs eora>er mining, opcmtions. 
Corucc.1ucntly, iu O~,;tuhcr J997. the 11arcnt l :on1pany tC'mpOmriJy coosed operariug its roasting plum 
facilities in Isabel, Leytc, Philippines for an indelinire pL"rind. lhc roasting plaru fociliry w-.1.< registered 
with the Philippine Economic Zone Authority tl'El./1) on l)cccmbcr 17, 1985 pursuant to the provisions 
of Presidential Decreo No. 66. as amended, an( EO :-<o. 567 as a znne expmt eUIL'I'JII'ise to operate a 
ro:Niog plant for the nlrutulaCIUre or copper ca.cinc at the ., .. he) Special Expon Pro<x.-ssing Zone. 

On Mareh 30, 2000, the Parem Company rcgjs~;Jr<'ti its cower flouuion projL'ct with the DOl as a new 
producer of copper concentrntes on a preferred 1on-pinneer ' ""'1s. This regiMration entitled !he Pnr.m1 
Compml)' to a tour (4) year JTH, subject to compliance with certain condi1ions, simplifie-d customs 
prOCl-dur~ additional deduction for labor expctiSC and unreslricted use of consittned equipmem fc>r a 
period of ten (I 0) years. I! is nlquircd to maintain a base equity of nt le:J.st 25% as one of 1hc cond itions 
of the registration. The copper flotation projc<1 was suspended at the end of2001; the BOI regi<;~rnrioo 
was cancelled ••>July II, 2006. 

Oo Jan!Ul!)' 5. 2004, the Parent Company was registered with the ROI tmder £0 No. 226 os new export 
producer of gold bullion on a non-pioneer srnn1s fi>r irs Vic-roria II (renamed Tetl\<ll) Projcc1 located also 
in Mmlkayan, 8enguct, Philippine'S. n1is rcgl<tmtion entitle.• the J>an_-nt Company ro ITH with the 
same il>eenti,·c.• that were granted on their regist:ation "ith DOl on January 14, 1997. The Teresa 
l,rqjecr cummenccd its comnJcrcial operations i.u Arwil 2004. 

On November 2 1, 2006, the l'nrent Company was registered with the UOI under EO No. 226 as new 
export producer of copper-gold concentrate on a onll·pionccr statU> tO.. irs L1>pper-gnld Ooratioo project 
located 3lso in Mankaynn, Bcnguet, Philippines. This registr•tion entitles the Parent Comp1my to ITH 
for foul' (4) ycors, which c,,, be iu1tber exre11dcd l(lf nnother llll'l.'<: (3) years 8t1bjc.;1 to compliance with 
<'Crtain conditions. and duty-fn.-e importation of eluipment, spare puns and accessories for r,, •• (5) 
years. 1,tccopper·gold flota~ion opcl'nlion~ weresu:-~pcnded in 2009 in view oftbe sharp dacline in 
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copper prices, of which the BOJ was notir.ed In Augu." 2017, !be Parent Company notifJC<I the ROJ 
that it will reswne ooppc:r-gold Ooollion oper.1tioos in the f< .. nh quarwor2017. 

The registrAtions mcnt·icmed above cnahlc the Parent Company to avail uf the rights, privileges and 
im:cnti vcs granted tu all registered cntcrrrises. 

The Parent Comp:111y continues to operate the Victoria Project from which it prodnc~-s gold dore. It 
commenced commercial operation oftl>e Ccpper.Cold Project, producing copper-gold concentrate, in 
Octobcr2017. 

The Pnrent Company has two Mineral l'roducrion Sharing Agreemc"" (MPSA), n:fcrr<'tl to as I\-1PSA 
No. ()()1.090-CAR and MPSA No. 151-20()(U;AR, both in Mankay01~ lk:nguet. 

MPSA No. 001-090-CAR was jointly execm«< by the Parent Company and a subsidiary. Far Somheast 
Gold Resources, Inc. (FSGRI} on March 3, 1990 with tltc l'hilippinc Guvcnunent, through the 
Oepanmont of Environment and Natural KC>curccs. Thi.s MPSA has a rcnn of25 yca1·s. renewable lor 
another term not exceeding 25 years under tlt~ same terms and conditions. The Prucm Cornpany and 
I'SGRI filed an applielllion for its rcncw:ll on IOJle 4, 2014. The application for renewal of this MPSA 
is still pending approval as at Docember 31. 2020 r,.'ote 30c). 

The Parent Compuny has its principal ollicc al tbe 21st F'loor, Lepanto Building, Paseo de lluxa,, 
Mnkati City. 

Diamond Drilling Co!D(lration of the Pbilil>oi.tes !DDCCI 
DDCI, is n wholly owned subsidiary of the P:~rent Company and was incorporated and registered \Vith 
the t'llihppinc SRC on August 8. 1971, primarily to pl'ovide technical, engineering and manngemem 
services for the purpose of engaging in mining, lllincrul or oil exploration, constructior1 nr mher 
businc'" activity, particularly but nOI limited to drilling, boring and sinking holes for the purposo; of 
mineral exploration. 

l.n 1994, DOCP's Articles of Incorporation w's amended tu include in Article II the following 
seoondfll'y purpose: to engngc in the busincs!> of cxplorm ion, den~lopmcnt, proces:sing and markeling 
of mincr.als that may be fhund anywht.:rc in the PhiHppinc.'i either by originul ac-quisition, joinl venture 
or opcr•ting agreements with other boldl"fl< of existing mining righlll. On April 21, 2008, the 
stockholders of the DOCP pass.."<! a resolution aulhori1in~; it to engage directly in the business of 
mining or otherv.:isc 1nukc invesmlenb in mining projocht 

DDCP primari ly provides drilling set·viccs to lite Parent Company and Mnnila Mining Corporation 
(MMC}. au associate. 

ODCJ''s principal office was prc,•iously located at344 Somb Supcrhishwny, Btg)'· Sun Valley, 
Pamilaqne City. Starting 2020, DDCI''s registered oflicc. which is also it.< principal oflicc, is 20'' 
Floor, L<:panto Building, Pasco de Roxns, Makati City. The amendments of its Articles of 
lncorporatiou to change its principal office was approved by Bo..U of Directors (DOD) and 
shareholders of the C<>rp<>rlllion on Janum)' 20,2020 arxJ by the SEC on April 7. 2020 

jihi(!sidc. lncomorntcd (SJJ 
Sl, a Cnmpany existing and incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on 
Novc111bcr 13, 1958, is a wholly owuOO !lubsidiary of the Par(11l Company and was orisinally organiT.cd 
to engage in handling all kinds of materials. products and m1pplies in bulk ond maimaining arxJ 
opcr•ting tenninal facilities sucb as pier and warehouses. 
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In 1985. Sl included in its activities the leas.ng of its propenics which include apanmentslgucsthot"es 
nnd wnrchousc.~. Pjer-rclated activities cont:nucd to be Jimitl!d to handling materials and supplies. 

On July 18, 2008, rlte Philippine SEC appro·;cd the extension ofSI's corpurate tc11n for another SO 
years after the expiration of its original tenn on NoY<.Tnller 13, 20011. 

Sl's pt·incipal office i.< located at 21st Floor. Lepanto Bu ilding, Pusco de Roxa;. Makati City. 

Lepanto lnvc.<tment & IJcyclopmcnt Corrorotion (LIDC) 
LlDC, n wholly owned subsidiary of the Parent Company. ,..., incorporuted and registered \\ith the 
Philippine SEC on April 8, 1969, primarily to act us a genora) agent, b1·okcr or factor of any insurance 
cumpl'ltly, whether domestic or tOreigtl, or ns a commercial broker, real estate denlt-ror broker, ag<."nt 
or fa<~or of any persoo, pannership, corporation or associution engaged in any lawful business. 
industry or en terprise. 

LlDC's principal ollice is located at 21st Floor, Lc1>amo Auilding. PaM:o de Rnxas, Makoti City. 

Ear Southeast Gold K<=urws. Inc. II he Proicct) 
PSGRI was incorporared and registered wi1h rbc Philippine sue em Fcbmaty 2. 1989, primarily to 
operate mine> and prospect. explore, mine nnd deal wiib all kinds of on:><, meta!. and mincmls. 

FSGlU, a (>()%-owned suhs idiary of the Parent Company and 40%-owned by Gold Fields Switzerland 
Holding AG (GFS), a company incorporat~-d n Switzerland. 

The Parent Company continues to provide (mlncial and administmtivc suppon tO FSGRJ. As at 
Oerembe!' 31 , 2020, FSGKI is still in the prc-•p.,.,.rins stasc. 

IJclened c.•ploratiou cost' incurred for all exFiorntion projects are e~pccted to be recoven.'d upOn the 
start nf commercial operations. Despite tcchn.cal difliculties in developing Ute Ot'e body. the current 
improving trend in metal prices and inreg,mlion of recent breakthroughs in both mining and milling 
technologies enhance the cwnomic feasibility of tho Pmjccr. ntiS project is considered one oflhe 
priori1y mining projects of the Philippine Goverruncnt. 

FSGRI's principal ollice is located nt 19th Floor, LepMto Building.l'ascn de R<>XOS, Bamngay 
Bel-Ail'. Makati City. 

f>iamMt Manuf.1cturing and Trading Comornibn <DM'I'Cl 
Ol\1TC. wbi<h was incorpor .. ted and registered with the Philippine SEC"" September 7, 1972, is 
primarily engaged in manufiu;turiug, distributing, selling oud buying mnchinety nnc.l equipmenl of all 
kinds and descriptions. gencrnl mcrchandi><e nn-j articles of every nature. particularly but not limited 
10 diamond core and non--core bits, reamer ~hc1ls, ..:asing bi1.;. diamnnd circular st:gmental and 
diamond gang saws. ttthular and other products allied to the diamond core drill ing industry. 

On June 26, 21J 12, the Philippine SUC approved the Complttty's application lbr change in name fmm 
IJiamnJll Boar·t Philippine$, Inc. to Diamant Maoufhcturing and Trading Corporntion. 

On August II . 2017, the Philippine SEC approved the Company's npplication on January II . 2017 
for the de<-rease in par value of its shares rrom 1'1 00 to 1'30 de<'fCasing the autltorized capital shares 
from P36.0 million tn Pl0.8million. f\uthcr, tlte Philippine SEC approved the increase in number of 
outhorizcd capital shares from P l 0.8 million divided into 360,000 shares to I' 120 million divided into 
4,000.000 shares or an increase or3,640,000 shares. IJMTC entered into a sttbscril>tion agt'C(1ncnl wilh 
Cnlipet' Corpurntion on March 20, 2017 for the latter 10 Sltb>cribe to 910,000 common sb,~cs of capital 
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srock ot the par value of ¥30. Totnl price oflhc subscription muotmts to 1'27.3 million. wherein 25% 
has bc<:n 1\tlly paid on March 20.2017. The remaining sube<cription or75% is to be paid upon nelice or 
demand fn•n dt~ l.lo3rd ofDil'l:dors. 

As of August II. 2017, DMTC: iscllectively 74.56% owned by Caliper and 25.44% by U DC. a 
wholly owned sub>idiary of the Parent Comp.1ny. On Oeeember 10. 2020, DM1(' t"llgaged 
Knowledge Lab, Inc. to perfonn the Deccmb::r 31, 2020 year end audit 

OMTC'> principal ollice was previously locnted at Km. 14 344 West Service. Bt·gy. Sun 
Valley. Parailaque <:ity. Starting 2020, DMTC's regi•tcred oflkc, which is also irs principal ofrK.-c. is 
20th Floor, l.qJ<1nto Building, Pasco de Roxa<, Makati Ciry. The amendments of its Aniclcs of 
lucorpornrion to change its principal office wtts approved hy Bonrd uf Directors (ROD) and 
shareholders on Janwuy 9, 20211 nnd by the SEC on Fcbl1tOJ'Y 6, 2020. 

The Group's Abilirv Jo Cominuc jl$ a Goiny Concern 
TI1e Grottp incurred net losses uf'P75LO million, 1'1,027.4 million ~nd 1'775.0 million in 2020.2019 
and 2018. rcspectivcl)'. resulting in deficit ofP5,924.1 mi llion and 1'5, 173.2 million as of 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, rcspct1ively. And. as of December 31 , 2020 and 2019, dlC Gnx•p's 
cu!l'el'lt liabilities exceeded iL' total asscL' by P653.2 million and 1'149. 7 million. n:spcclively. 

In rcspousc to these mtlfLcrs. the Uroup c.amc ur wlth (he fhllowing actions: 
o raise capital through loans. private placerlcnl'l, andior stuck rights offering to address li~uidity 

gap 
• resta·ucturing oft be Group's loans 
• manfi(!C expenditures for ir~ tby-ln-d~y ncrlvities 
o negotiate deferral of payment'$ of related pany and third-party liabilities 
o improve efficiency :md production level elf mine op..-rntions through capital developmc'Tl!S ro 

increase cash inflows gcucmced 

Management ha~ detcnnincd tbat the actions above are sullicieot to raise fmanci31 resources for at 
leasr dte next twelve mondts from O¢cembcr 31,2020 and has therefore prepared the linancinl 
reporting on a g_olng concern basis. 

Authorization for l:;;;uc of the Consolidated fjpaucial Statement' 
The consolidated fmancial statements of the G-,up as at December 31. 2020 and 2019 and for each of 
the. three years in tlte period ended December 21, 2020 wore autborit.ed for issuo hy the l.lOD on 
June 7, 2021. 

2. Basis of rrcparation, Statement of ComJJIIRIICe and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
und Ffo:wcial Rcpul'1ing J)olitics 

Basis of Preparnlion 
1lte consnlidated financial starcrncnts oftbc Gm11p have hccn prepared on a historical cost hasis. except 
ft>r financial tL<Sets d.:;.ignated at I'VOCI that huv~ been mcusured at lair value in the consolidated 
statenKOnl>< of fmancial position. Oi.sclosurcs hnvr not hcc11 illustrated for standards dmt are eitl1cr not 
rele,'alltto the Group'• consolidated fmancial itlSlnunent< nnd are not applicable to d1e Group's 
circwnsranccs. The consnlidated fimmcial sta(-.::nrnts are presented in l,hilippine l'cw~ the Group's 
timctionalnnd prcsenlution C<UTcncy. All vulucs ore rounded to the ne~rcstlhousand (POOO), except 
when otlu:rv;ise iodicutcd. 
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Statentent ofCompljnncc 
The consolidated financial statements ofth~ Group hove bct1l prepared in accortlance witll PFRSs. 

Ba;is of Consolidation 
The consolidated financia1 swtcmc.nts compri~c the finnncial st..1temcnts of the Omup as at 
Deocmhcr 31, 20211 and 2019. nte tinaneiul statements of the suhsidinrit-s are prep:u-cd tor the same 
reponing ycur as the ~':!rent Company using C(lOSistenl at-counting p<>licies. 

C<mtrul exists when the Group is exposed, ut· has rights, to variahle rcmrns fro1n irs involvcmem with 
the invcstce aud has the ability to affect those t'etlttus through it'> pnwer over the investcc. 

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if. and only if. the Group has all of the following; 
• Power over (he investec (i.e. exisring rights that give it rhc curront abiJity to direct the l'e l ~>v£mt 

actjvi tics of tltc in vestee); 
• Exposure, or right&, to vnriabJe returns from its involvement with I he invest~ and 
• ·n1c ability to U).C its power over the iuvc-;ree to affccr its rctums. 

\"ihen the Group has Jess thou o rnujority of the voting or ~im i lar rlghts of an iuvcstee) the Group 
considers all relevant focts and circumstances in asscs~ng whether it has power over an in vestee, 
including: 
• The contractual nrrangement(s) \Vith the otht.T vote holders ofth~ in vestee; 
• Rights o.rislng from other cuntractual armnget:ncnh;; nnd 
• The Gro11p's voting rigb!s and potentiai>Otingright~. 

The relevtmt acrivHic.~ nrc those which signiti~•mtly aOCct the subsidiary's rerurns. The abili ty to 
:1pprovc the opcruti••g l1nd ..:apitul l•udgt:t ul'a subsidiary und the ab1l tl)' to appoint key mana~cmenl 
personnel are decisioJL< that demonstrate that !he Gr0<1p hax the exi.<ting rights to direct tbe relevant 
activities of a subsidinry. 

The Group rc-asscs~cs whether or not ll contr·ols nn in vestee if 13cts ond circumslttnccs indicate that 
the-re are changes 10 one or more of the thn:c dc'Olents of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary 
begin• when the Gmup obtains control o•·cr tte subsidiory and cca<es when the Oroup losses control 
of the suhsidiary. Assets, liabili1ics, income a:1d expcJt."C!\ of a subsidinry acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidntcd Jlnancial stakments from the dale lhc Group gHins 
comrol until the date the Group ceases to conttolthc subsidiary. Where the Group's interest is less 
than 100%. the intcn.-.t attributable 10 out;-illc >harebolllcrs is reflected in Non-<:<>ntrolling lnlcrest 
(NCI). 

Profit or loss and each component of other cn•~preht.'nsivc income (OCI) are auributed to the equiry 
holders of the Parent Company oft he Gro11p and to the NC.:I, e••en ifthi< results in the NCI huving a 
dcficil balan~.:c. \Vhen necessary, o.djustmeniS l rc made 10 the financial statements nfsubsidinric." to 
bring chci1· uccounting pol icies inln line with I he Group'." occounting policies. All intra-group assets 
and liabililics, equily, income, expenses and cu'\h flows relating co tran.;actions bc1weeo wcmhcrs of 
the Gr0<1p an: eliminated in full on consolidarion. 

A chaug.; in the ownership interest nf a subs idinry. wid1out a loss of control, is uccnunted for us an 
equity tran~1ction. 

If tho Group loses control over a subsidiary, it ccrecogni?os lho related assets (including goodwill), 
li:tbilitic:.. NCI and other components of equicy, whilenny resulting guin or ross is rccognizcJ in 
profil o1· loss. Any in \'CStmenl rctnined is rccognlzed at tr&ir value. 
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Subsidiaries ore decomolidated fmm the date oo which conlrol ceases. 

Suh~idiuric.•s 

Subsidiaries arc entities over which the Pan:nr Company hns control. 

NCI 
Where the uw11crship of n subsidiary is less thnn I 00%. and therefore an NCI exists, any losses of thm 
subsidiary arc uuributed to the Nt:l even if that resulls inn def~eit b:llnncc. 

A t.:hange in the mvnnxhip interest of n subsidiary, without a loss of control~ is accounted (hr as an 
equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary. it: 
• Dcrecogniw; the as;ct< (including goodwill) and liahiliti"" oftlte subsidiary; 
• Dcn."t'ognjzes the corry ing amount nf any NCr: 
• Dcrecognizcs dte cumulotlvc trnnslation din-"en.·•nccs. recognized in equity: 
• Rccogni~es the fair value of the considerution received: 
• ReCO!,'lli7.cs I he fair vnluc of any invcstm~nt retained; 
• Rccogni~c:-: any sutpfus or dclicit in profit or Joss; •and 
• Reclassifies the Parent Company's share of components previously recognized in 0\l to profit 0<' 

loss or re1ainl.'t! earnings;, as appn)flriate. 

The (ons.olidatcd financial statements includ<.: :he account~ oftht:' Parcm Company and the fOilo\.,ing 
t\UbSidiarics: 

Subsidiaric:1< 
OOCI' 
Sl 
LIDC 
!'SURf • 
'f't'l' O,?f'.>U#Ir.: .flfl\\((flr,ry 

Naturo of 
Busiocs~ 

Se-rvice 
Service 

Investment 
Mining 

£llimgcs in Accountjng Policies 

2010 

Direct 
100 
100 
100 
60 

2019 
~·· ofOwnershjp 

Oircd 
100 
100 
100 
60 

The accounting policies ndoptcd are consistent with tbos¢ of d1e prcvinus finFt.ncial year, except for 
tho odnrtion of new standards cllcctive ns at.lnnunry I. 2020. The Gmur has not early adopted any 
stnnu• rd, interpretation or amendment that has been issued btu b not yet effective. 

Un1c~~ otherwise ludicatcd. adoption of rhc~e new standards did no1 hftvc an impact on dl¢ 
consolidated finuncial statements of the Group 

• Amendments to PFRS 3. Busine.tt Cumbinations, D~finition f?{tl Bu.tiness 

The amendment• to PFRS 3 claritic.; that to be considered a business, an integrated set of 
activities and assets must include, ftt a minimum, an input and a suhsrantivc process that together 
>ignificantly comributc to the ability 10 creme output. l'urthomtoro, it ctm·ifies tltat a business cnn 
exist withoUI including tlll of the inputs and rwoc·~ses needed tu create outputs. TI1c~c 

ameudmcnrx may impact future periods shoJid the Group enter into any business combinations. 
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• Amendments to PJ'RS 7. Financial ln:rrument~: Dbu:losure.r and PFRS 9. Financial h1stnouents, 
lnte,·esJ Rate Benchmark Re:fonn 

The amendment. to PFRS 9 provide a aunbc.T of reliefs. which a(lllly to all hedging relationship.• 
that are dtrcctly aO"ccted by the interest mte benchmork rclhmt. A hedging relationship is 
affcct.ed if 1 he refonn gives rise 1o uncerhlinlies about the tiJn ing (tlld or amount of benchmark­
based cash flows of the hedged item or the hedging itt<lrumenl. 

• Amendments to PAS I, Prescmtmion afFimmdal Swtcmu:ms, \tnd PAS 8. Accounting Po/ir.ies. 
Changes in Accounting Eslimalf!S and J:.'r·rm'S, Dejiuilirm ofklatf•rial 

The amendment" provide a new definition of materi:.1l that sL1tes ... infonutlfinn ls material if 
omitting. misstatiny or obscuring ic could reasonably be cxpccred to influence decisions that thl;) 
plimmy users of general purpose financial ~aatemcms make on the basis of those financial 
statements. which provide financial inforlllation about a specific reponing entity."" 

The amcndmem.s clurif): that materiality will depend on £he nahu·e or magnintdc of information, 
either illdi,.·iduaUy or in combinution widt other iufumlation, in the context of the tinnncial 
statements. A misstatement of information i> material if it CO\tld reasonably be expected to 
influence decisions made by the primary users. 

• Conceptual Framework tor Financial Reponing i;socd on Man:h 29. 20 I K 

The Cnncep1lta1 Framework is not a standnrd, and none of the COttccpts cotttained tbt:rcin override 
the conce-pts or requirements in nny staudu·d. The purpose of the Cnnc:t•prnnl Fr.,.mcwork is to 
assist the srandard·senen~ in developing standards, to help preparco; de•-elop consistent 
accowtting policies where there is no appticablc standArd in place •nd to assist all parties to 
understattd und interpn:t the sti1ndnrds. 

The n..'".i<Cd Conccprual l'r.lmeworl< includes new concepts, provides updated definitions and 
recognition criteria thr assets and liabilities and clarities some important concepts. 

• AmcndmetUs to I'FRS 16, COVJ[).J9.relc~ed Rent Cuncession.Y 

The amendments provide relief to lessees from applying ~le I'FRS 16 requirement on loasc 
modilications to rent concessions arising ns n diR'Ct consequence of the COVID· I9 pandemic. A 
lessee may eJect not to assess whether a rent concc.'losion from a lessor is a lease modification lf i1 
tnc-cL< all of the following criteria: 
• The rC>tt concession is a direct consequence of COV ID· I9; 
• The t:hanse iu lcasc paymc11ts results inn revised lease consideration that is subsml,tially the 

same as. or less than. the lease considetntion inuuediately preceding the change: 
• Any rcduClion in lease paymcnrs alicct; only paymems originally due on or before 

June 30, 2021; and 
• There is no suhstanrivc chnngo to other h!rms aod conditions of the lensc. 

A lessee lh;n applil-s lhis practical expeclicn1 wilr accnuna for any change in J ca.~e payments 
resulting lhnn the C0\'10·19 re lated rent concession in the same wny it would accuunl for a 
change thal is not a Jell.~ modification, i.e., us a variable lease payment. 

The amcndmen(s arc effective fc11' onnual rcpor1ing periods beginning on or nf1cr June I, 2020. 
t;.nrly adoplion is penniucd. These amendment~ do not have any jmpnc1 on the consolidated 
financial statemenl< of the Group ns !he Group docs not have COVII). l9·reloted rent 
C."'ncessiomc. 
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Standnrds and Interpretations Issued but ner vet Effective 
l'ronounccmcnts issued but not yet cffecti\'ll arc listed below. Unless otherwise indi.,.tcd, tbe Group 
does not ex~t thallhc fururc adoption of the said pronouncements to buvc a significant impoct on its 
consolidated financinr statemcnt:'i. The G1·oup imcnds to adopt tlJI.) following pronoWlcemrnts when 
they be«Jme effective. 

E.b'ec.:tlw! beghmiuJ: un or <tfter Janu11ry J. ~011 
• Amendmellts to PFRS 9. PFRS 7, PFRS 4 and I' FRS 16,/mrre.</ Rail' Bend wwrk Reform 

Phnse 2 

E.ffi-ctlw beginning mt or a.f/c'r JaniiCitJ• I. 2?22 
• Amendments to I'FRS 3, Refenmce tu tke Conceptual Frcun<'l••ork 
• Amendments to PAS 16. Plalll 1md F.q11!pmenr: Pmceedr h~fure /mended U>·e 
• Amendments to r AS 37, Onernus C:m11wctr Lost.< of Fit!/illing a Contract 
• Anmta//rnpro>-emcms to PFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle 

• /\ mendmcnts to PI'RS I, F/r.<t-tlmu .4dop/ion of f.'hilippines Financial Reporliltf( !:.'lantlartl.<, 
Suh.<idiury llf ufir.<t·time odopler 

• Amendments 10 PFRS 9, Finrmclal !nslruments, Fees inrhe 'J(J per c·ent' test for 
tlenxogniliun f~/financialliabililit':,' 

• Amendment." to PAS 4 J ~ AgriCtlltm-e, Tm·mion irt.fi1ir value mea.wremcmtr 

Ejji!ctive beginning on or ajler Ja111wry /, 2023 
• Ameudmcll1s to PAS L Clasyffirmiun q{Uflhfllties a.r Currelll or }/on-current 
• PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts 

Dt-~/erred P,[/i't·th:ity 
• Amendments to I' F'RS I 0. Cunsoliduted Finanl'ial Stotemenu. and PAS 21!, Sole or Contrihlllion 

of AMeJ.f hetM'(.<:ett an Jmoc.fUOr and its A.t.tocial~ or Juint Venture 

Summary of Signifi~unr Accpunting Policies 

!'rcscntntion of Consolidated Financial Swtenll.'nt< 
The v rnup ba.< elected to pl\..,.,nt all items of v.cogni7.od income snd expense in ()nc single 
C{)nsolidaLcd Stl\lcment ofco1nprchonsivc income. 

Ctlrrent versu~ Noncyrren1 CJassiticmion 
·n,e Group prt'Scnts assets m1d liabilities inthccousolidated statement of financial position based on 
current or n~>ncurrcnr clas~ification. 

An asset as current when it is: 
• Exrected to be realized or imendcd 10 be sc.Jd ur consumed in the nonnal operating cycle 
• Bcld prim3rily fo•· the purposes of tmding 
• Expected to be re31izcd within 12 months a.'icr the reporting 1>eriod or 
• Cash or cash equivalent unless rcsn-icted from hcing exchanged or lL\Cd to sct11e a li•hili1y f'o•· at 

least 12 montbs alier tbc rcpotting period 

AIJ othct' assets are clnssificd ilS noncurrent 

A liability is current whc11: 
• It i• expce1ed 10 be senlcd in the nom>:~ I Op.:!llting cycle 
• It is held primarily li1r the purpose oftrndin~ 
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• II is due 10 be seulcd within 12 mo111hs aflcr the reporting period or 
• TI1ere is no uncoudilionul ,·ighl to dclbr rJ·,e sculcmcut of the linbilily lor aL lens! 12 months nfler 

the reporting period 
'll>e Group clas.<ilics all other liabilitie~ as noncurrent. 

Deferred tax :s~."cts and Jiabili1ies arc classifie~ as noncu1·rem assets ond liabilities . 

.I,&,W 
Cash includes cnsb on hand and in banks. Cash in banks i• slated al face wilue and earns interest at 
respective bank deposit rates. 

fjnnncial lnstnuuenrs . lnjrjnl Rccogniljon nnd SubsecmQnt Measurement 
FinMcial instrumenrs arc rooognized when the Group bccon>es a party 10 the contrncrual prnvi~ions of 
lhc ins:rn1meu1. 

Initial recognllion tmd mc-ntttrt?flu~nt 

Financial assets are classilicd, at initial rccogt~tion, and subsequently measured alomorrizcd cost, 
I VOCI and I· VPL 

Titc classification of flllaucial assets at initio 1 recognitinn depcm.h; on the financial nsset 's contmctual 
CW\h now cburactcrist{cs and the Group'~ hus iness mot.lcl for managing rhem. With the exccptiuu of 
trnde rttclvablcs that do not contain a significant tinaocing c<,mponent or fOr which the Group bas 
upplied the pr3dical expedient. tbe Group initidly meo~~ures a financial a=t at il$ f.1ir value plus, 
in the case of fair value through profit or loss, l'ansacli'm costs. Trt-uJc receivable..~ thm do not contain 
o signi lica.nt Jinoucing componl:nt or fnr whic·h the Group has applied the prMtical uxpcdicnt ore 
mcnstul!d at ~•c t~·ansactiun pl'ice detcnnincd und<r PFRS 15. 

In order for • fUiancial asse110 be classified anc measun.'<l at amortized cost or FVOCI, it needs to 
give rise 10 c .. , h flows that arc solely paymcmsofprincipal and interest (SI' Pl) un the principal 
omount outstanding. This nsscssment is rcfc1Tcd to as the SPPl tesc and is pe1formcd at an instrument 
level. 

1'hc Group's business model for managing finatcial aS).Cts refers to how it managt,;;.o,. it~ financial 
assets in order ro gc1u~ratc cnsh flows. Tite businc~s model dctcm1ine~ whether cash flow~ will result 
lrom collecting conrractual cosh flows, selling the linanciol asset<. or both. 

Purchase-s or soles of fmancial asscL' that require delivery of assets within a time fmrnc established by 
regulation or convention in the ma.rl<etplacc (reg:Jiar wuy ITad~) arc recognized on the trade date, i.e., 
the dille that the Gmup commits to purchnso or sell the nssct. 

Subsequent meo.r:t~remelll 
For purposes of subsequent mc.,.uremenl, linancialasSCIS are classified in four categories: 
• Financi:tJ asse1s ac amonjzed cost (debt iustrumencs) 
• FVOCI with recycling ufcumulmivc gnins ol d lu,;cs (debt instrumcms) 
• Financia l assets designated at FVOCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon 

dcrccognition (equity instnunenl!.) 
• Financial a>.\Ct< at FVI'L 
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Fintmcia/ l~Ssc!ls at amurtized cost 
The Group measures financial assc'" at amoni•cd cost ifboth of the following condition; arc met: 
• The financial as~ct is held within a business model wilh the oQjec1ivc to hold financiol assets in 

order to collect contractual cash llows; ~nd 
• The cootmctual tenns or the financial asset give rise'"' specifie-d dates 10 ca<h flows tho I are 

SPI'l on the principal nmuunl outstanding. 

Financial as.cts at amort ired cost are subscquclllly measured using the ElR method and are subjcctro 
impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in the eo<IS<>Iidatcd s1atcmen1 of comprebcn,ivc income 
whenlhe a"ot is dercco&nized, modified or impaired. 

The Group ·s financial assets at amorti:red c061 include 118dc receivables (not suhject1o pn>visiooal 
pricing), oontmde rcceivnbles and advances :o onicers and employees. 

Financial as..W!I.f at FVPL 
Fiuancial assers a1 FVPI. include fmancial355¢1S held for trading. financial asset.< designnled upon 
initial recognirion at fair value Lhrough profit or los.. .... or financial assers mandnlorily required robe 
mt:•1sured at fUir value. Financial t-t.I\SCts arc- clnssi ficd t-ts hcfd for trodiug ifLhcy nre acquired for the 
purpose of selling or repurchasing in lhc nem ICrm. Derivalivcs, including sepamtcd embedded 
dcrivali\-e•. a.re also classified a• held for trading unless 1hey arc designated as ctrccti\•e hedging 
inx1n1ments. Financial a~sets \Vith cnsh flow~ that arc not SJ'PI arc clnssificd nnd mL'afiurcd at FVPL, 
irrespective of the business model. Notwid1s·.nnding tho criteria for dcht instruments 10 be classified 
at amortizc-d cosr or at FVOCI, as described above, debt inSirumenls may he designaled ar fair value 
thnMJgh profit or Joss on initial rcccJgnition if doing ~o eliminates, or significantly reduces, an 
accounting. 1nismatch. 

Financial assciS at FVI'L arc carried in the co~~.<olidated s~"emenl of financial posi1ioo al fair value 
with net changes in fhir vufuc recognized in prufit or loss in the conxnlidated stuu:ment of' 
comprehensive income. 

A deri•-.tive embedded in • hybrid contract w.th a financial liability or non-financial bosl, 
is scpMatcd fi'Om the host and accounted fOr ns A scparnte derivative if: the economic chnractcristics 
fUid ri~ks arc nntclosely rcl:ued to the host; u ~cpnratc in.~munent w·ith the sart1c terms as the 
embedded d<:rivativc would mee11hc dcfinilioa of a derivative; and dte hybrid contrncl is IK>t 
meosured at foir value 1hrongh profi1 or loss. l!mbcdded derivatives nrc measured at f.1ir value with 
changes in fair vnlue rc~,;oyuized in profit or Ju,;s. Reassc.~smem only occurs if'rhcre is either n change 
in the tcnns of the contract that significantly ulOdilies tl1e ca>h flows thai would otherwise he requited 
or a reclassification of a financialasser ou1 ofd1e fVPl.lossca1cgmy. 

1\s i'JIRS 9 now has 1he Si'PI tc~~ for Jlnancial osscm, 1he requirements rclatin~ lo the separation of 
embedded dcrivalivcs is no longer needed lor fmancialassers. An embedded deri•-.ti>-c will often 
mukc a fioaocial assel fail the solely for paymt.'lliS of principal and interesttcsl lhereby requiring the 
insrrumcn1 to l>e mca,urod m FVPL in its cntirl!ty. 11>is is applicable lo the Group's trade •·cccivablcs 
subject w pmvisional pricing. These receivables relate to sales t:ontracls where rhe selling price i~ 
dctcnnined aficr delivery 10 1he cu!>lomer, based onlhc market price 011be rclcvam quolarional period 
(QI') Slipulated in the com met. TI1is exposure 1) the commodity price causes such trade receivables 
to fili i the SPPI tesr. As n result, these reccivab.cs arc measured al FVPL Jrom the dale of recognition 
or the corresponding sak, wirb subscqueul mm'l:meniS being recogni1ed in mark-1o-markc1 gnh>S 
(IOSSCi) in the consolidated Slalcment of comprehensive income. 
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Finoncu•l arsct.< at FVOCI 
Upon initial n.'cngnition, 01c Group cau clccr to classiFy in·evocably i1s equil)' invcs1mems as cquil)' 
instrumcn1s designa1ed at FVOCI when they mce1 1he dclini1ion ofC<JUi1y under I' AS 32, Financi(l/ 
Instruments: Presenla!lon, and nre nul held fortr.Jding. The classifictuion is determined on an 
imumment-by-instrumenl tx1sis. 

Onins and losses on these linnncial assets tlf) never recycl!!d to pro fir or Joss. Dividl.)nds arc 
n.:cognized a:; other inco111c in the consulidarcd statement of comprehensive income when lhc right of 
p11ymcn1 has ~n cslablishcd, Cx<>!pt when .he Group benefits from such proceeds a.> a recovel)' of 
Jl'ltl of1he cost of !he fiooncinla'-«1. in whirh case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equil}' 
insnumcnts designated at FVOCI arc not subject to impainncn1 assessment. 

The Group elec1cd 10 classify irrcvncably i L~ non-listed equity investmonts under this catego1y . 

.Qe:re<:ogni1ion 
A financial asset (or. where Applicable, a par. of a fiuanehtl asser or purl nf a group of similar 
financial a:-:scts) is primarily dl)rccognized (i .~J., removed from the consolidated statement of fiunucial 
po,,irion) when: 
• The rights U> receive cash flows from 1heasset have expired; 0< 

• The Gmup has transferred its tig}us to receive c.~sb flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation1n pay rhe toccived cash flows in full wilhout material delay 10 a third party undct a 
'pass-through' arrangement-and either (i 1 the Group has 1Tansfom:d substnmiolly all the risks and 
rewards of the a>sct, or (b) the Group has neither tra~<~fcrred nor rc~aincd substanlially all the 
risks and rewards ofthe asset, bu1 has 1rnnsfcrrcd control of 1he asset 

\Vhcn the Group ltns transfen•f:ti its right$ (O 1-c<.•civc cnsh Oowf; from (Ul u:>:ict or lws entered into o 
pn.ssth.ro-ugh ari'Ongemcnt, it evnluatcs if, and to what exrem, it has retained the risks and rewards of 
ownership. Whc" it has neither transferred oor retained substantially all of the risk> and rewards of 
tbe asset. nor 1ransfcrrcd cornrol of me asset, d1e Group continues to recognize tbe trunsfimed asset to 
I he extent or iL~ continuing involvement In tlat case, the Croup also recognizes an nssociatcd 
liabiliJy. The trunsferred asset and the nssocinted liability are mea>urcd on o basis th(J1 reflects the 
rights and obliga1ions 1hat the Group has re1aiuod. 

Con1inuing iii\·Ofvcment thai takes the fom1 of' a guarantoc over the tnmsferred asset is mea.sul'\.'\1 at 
the lowt."r of the original can·yh1g amoun1 of d.:! assc1 and rhc maximum amount of considcmtion chnt 
the G•·oup could he required 10 repay. 

lmooim"Jent of financial assets 
The Group n:cogniz.es an allowance for cxreet~d credit loss (E.CL) li>r all debt in"rumen1s not held a1 

FVPL. ECL arc hased on the difference bc1wcen the cnntrttclllal ca.<h flows due in acco•·dance with 
the contr.tct and all the cash flows that the Gr(up expects to receive, discounted at an approximation 
of the original El R. Tbe expc<:1ed cash flows will inclooc cash flows from the sale of collatcr•l held 
0< other credit cnhat~cemems 1hat are intcgr-•1 to 1he conmtc1ual tenn.,. 

ECL:-; me recognized in two .~tnges. J:or t:I'Cdi t exposun.:.s fOr which Lhcrc has not been tt significant 
incrta.'ic in credit risk since initial recognidon. ECLs arc pmvided for crcdit losse.s that result from 
defnuh evcn1s tha1ruc JXI".'ible ~>ithin the next 12-mnodiS (a 12-mood• LCL). For those credit 
exposures for which then: bas heen a signific>nr iucrea."' in credit risk <ince initial recognitio1~ • loss 
nllowance is required for ct·edit Jos...;ces exp<:ctcd over the remaining life nr the exposurt:, inespectivc 
ufthe thning of th~ default (u lifelirnc ECI.). 
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For any other financial assets cru·ricd ut arn)rlii':cd cost (which arc due in more than 12 months), the 
IJCL is based on tho 12-ruonth ECL The U-momb IJCL is !he proponion of lifetime expected cretlit 
losses thar resull" from dcf.1uh events on a =iuancial ioslnuncnt tbnt are pos!tible within 12 momh~ 
aner rhc ,·cporthlg date. However, when there hos been n signili~uu increase in credit lisk since 
origination. rl1e allowance will be ba.<cd on the lifetime F.CL. When detcrmilung wbetha-the credit 
risk of • linaociol asset has incrcoscd signifc•uuly since initial recognition und when c.«imating ECL. 
the Group considers re-.asunuble and supportable infcmmuion that is rl'lcvant imd avoiloblc \Vjthout 
undue cost or etTol'l. This includes both quwtiwtive and qualitative infom1ation and nual)'sis, based 
on !he Group's historical expt.'ricnce and infonned credit a<scssment including forwanl-lookinu 
infonnation. 

F'or cash, the Group applies the low credit ri.k simplillcarion. At "''lli'Y reponing date, the Group 
evaluates whether the debt imtmment is considered to have low credit risk u~ing all re~sonablc 011d 
supportahfe infunnation thlll is availnbJc wit:1ou1 um.lue cost urefTort. Jn moking that evaluation. the 
Group n:assesscs the imemul credit rating of the debt instrument. 

For trade receivables (not ~ubjcct to provisionnl pricing) nntf contract assets, the Group applies a 
simplilicd approach in calculnting ECLs. Therefore, the Group docs not track change$ in credit risk. 
but instead recogni'l.cs a los.< allowruK.-c based on lifetime ECu at eacb n:poning date. The Group 
has established a provision matrix that is based on its hiswricaJ cn:dit loss experience. ud,iustOO fOr 
furv.•ard-lnoking li.1ctors specific to the debtm:-; nnd lhc economic environment 

Jn addition. the Group considers that there ha; been a significant increase i 11 credit risk when 
contractual pnymcnt.s ore mMe than 30 dnys r.ast due. 

11.e Group considers a financial asset in default when oontracntal puyments uro 90 days past due. 
No\vevcr. in cen~<t in cases, the Group mny also consider n tinancio l asset to be in defhult when 
internal or cxtemal information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive tbeoul$tanding 
conln!cnml amounts in full before taking it into account any credit ~-nhancemcnts held hy rbt Group. 
A financin1 asset is wriltcn offwhc.n there is n~ rc:tsonablc L·xpectaliun ofreC\lvcring the coutnu.:hml 
Cil.<~h flo\VS und usu::.lly occun; when past due for more than one yew· and not subject to enforcement 
activiay. 

At each rcpmtiog date, the Cmup assesses whether financial asset~ carried al omortizcd cost arc 
credit-impnin."d. A financial asset is credit .. impaircd when one or more evenb that bavc a detrimcnral 
impact on the estimuted futuro cash llows of the financial asset have occurred. 

Financial Liabiliti~ 
/nititlll~llilion ond meas11renumt 
J'inancinl liahilities l1rc d assilicd. at iuitial recognition, as financial linbili(ics or FVPI ') loans and 
borrowings. payables) or as derivati\·es designarcd as hedging instn1mcnts iu on ctTectivc hedge. us 
appropriate. 

All Jinancinl liahil itics arc recogni7.cd initially H ltlir value und. in tho case of loans and horrowingl' 
and other linancial liabilitic.' 1t<:t of directly athibutablc tmnsaction oosts. 

The Group 's financial Jiahili1ics includo payablcs and lomas und bom>wings. 
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SubselJttent mt'ttsuremcnl 
Poyabl£-s a11d lomu a11d bo"o>~i>'IIS 
A0c..T initial recognition. interest-bcoring loans and bomw.·ings nrc .~ubsequcntly llleasurcd at 
amortized cost using the EIR method. GaiJJS and losses are recogui.c'tl in the profi t or lo.s.1 when the 
liabilities are derel'ognized as well as throullt the f-IR amorti7.ation process. 

Amorlized co~f is calculated by tnking into account <~ny discount or rrcm.ium on acquisition <md fees 
or costs that are an integral part ofthe EIR. The EIR amott ization is included as linance cos" in rh<! 
consolidated ,t:uemem of compn.-11<-nsive in;ome. 

This category generally Dpplies to 1rt1dc and other payablcs and bon·uwings aud other imcrcst-bearing 
liabilitk,;. 

DereCOf!.Jiitiull 
A financial liability is derccognized when tb) obligation undcrthe lhlbiliry is discharged or cancelled 
or expires. When au exi"ing fmancialliabilty is replac<'tl by another from lhr: same !coder on 
substantially diffcrentrerms, or tl1c terms of an existing liabiliry arc substa!llially modified, such an 
exchange or modilieation is treated ns the de:ocognirion of t he originalliabiliry 1md the I'CCOgnition of 
a new 1 iability. The diflbrcnce hi the respective carrying amounts is recogniLcd in rhe con.~lidatct.l 

s.raterncnt of comprehensive income. 

Rc('/aj·~·ijlcations ojji'ntu1(:ial instrument ... · 
The Group r..:cla~ i fies its financial mosets wh-..-r1, and onJy wheo, 1hcrc is a chrmgc in the btL~iness 
model for managing the financial assets. Reclassi fications shall be applied prospectively b)' the 
Group and any previously reco!."' ized gHins, losses or inte1-est shall not be rcsrnred. The Group dnes 
not reclassify its financial liabilities . 

The Group does not reclassify il• financial as.-ers when: 
• A finaucia1 asset that wns previously a dcsignate.d aw.l effective hedging instnuneu( in a cash flow 

hedge or net investment hedge uo longer qualities as such~ 
• A financial asset becomes a dc~isnated and effccri"c hedging insmuncnt in a cash llnw hedge or 

ntt investment hedge~ and 
• There is n change in measurement on credit expo:-iun:s mca.o;urcd nr fair value rhrou.gh profit or 

loss. 

Financial !ittbilitie.\' 
A liMncialliuhiliry is ucr<X:ognizcd when the obligation under the li"biliry ha• cxpit·ed or i• 
discharged or has cancelkd. Where an eJ>:iSiin.; financial liabiliry is replaced by anOOiet fn>m the 
same lender on substantially difTerent tcnns. or the tcnns of an existing liabiliry are substantially 
modi lied, such un exchan!!C or modification ;,treated as a dcrecognilion ofrhc originalliahility and 
the r..:cognition of a new liability, and the diflbr~o.'llCe in the n:specrive <:>d11)'ing amounts i_s rceognized 
in the consolidtued statement of comprehensive income. 

Offsetting Fitlflncial fnstrumcnts 
Financial a.<;.sers and financialliabilirics tmdcrgo offs.'lling and, the ncr amounr reported in rhc 
con,.>lidated stotement of linancial pnsition ift.1cre is a cuJTently enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognized amounts and there _is nn intention IC~ settle on tt net basis, or to realize the asset f1nd settle 
the liability s imultaneous ly. The Group assc:;sts that it hns a currently enforceable right of offset if 
tbc rigbr is oot contingent on a fururc event and. is legally <-nforceablc in d1e normal cour>e nf 
business, event of dcfuult, and eve111 of insolvet.cy or bankruptcy of tho Group and all ofrhc 
cuunlOI'panics. 
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fair Value Mca,;uremt•nt 
Fnir \'aluc rclnlcd disclo~uros for fimuu.:inl insrmmcnls nnd non-JinancioJ assels thai are measun.:d nt 
flair vaJue or where fair v~1fucs are disclu:-.cd, are surnm:ui1.cd iu the thllowing ouh;:-.: 
• .Significant estimates and assumptions Not~!' l 
• financial assets at FVOCI Note 10 
• Financial insuumcnLs Note 3 1 

Fair value is tho price that would be received lo sell on tiSSt't or paid ro transfer n linbilil}' in an order!}' 
transaction between market partjcipants at tbemcasuremenr date. The fair \-alue measurement as 
based on the pw;umption th.11tbe lrllnsaction to sell the a~set or transfer the liability takes pia<-.: 
either: 
• in the principnl market fhr the assc1 ur linl;ility, or 
• in the absence nf a prim:ipul market, in the most ad\'3ntageous market fOr the aS.~Cl or liability. 

The principal or the most advantag">us marke. miL'<t be a=-ssiblc to by the Group. 11le fair value of 
an asset or a liability is measured using tl'e assumptions that market pnnicipant.~ would usc \Vhcn 
pricing the asscr or liabi lily assuming. that mntkct participants act in thcil' el·-onmnic best intcnl•H. 

A fair \'Slue mC3Sllremenl or 3 non-financial 3$C:t tak\.,•·inro accow1t a market participant's abilily to 
generate cwnomic bet~elit by using the "'set ir. its bighc.<t and best usc or by selling it to another 
market parlicipunt that would use the asset in ils high~::.t and hest usc. 

The Group uses voluationtectmiqucs that art:' appropriate in the circumstance~ tOr which adequate 
data are a\•ailablc to meawro fair value, maxirrizing the use of rclcvrun obstnable inputs and 
minimizing the use of unobservable inpU1S . 

.'\II m~sers and JiahihtJes tOr which talr vo luc is measured or disclosed in the financial statement arc 
catogurized within the fair valu~ hierarchy, dcs.:ribed as follows, hased on the loweSt level inputlhnt 
is significant ro rhe fair \'alue measurcmclll as a whole: 
• Level I - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for idcntic.1l as.ol< or liabilities 
• Level 2- Valuation techniques fOr which th:; lowes[ level input thnt is significont to the Htir value. 

mcasuremem is directly 0 1' indirectly obsen.ablc 
• Level 3 - Valuarion te-chniques for which the lowc.t Jcv·el ioputthut is siguifkuntto the fair value 

measurement is unobservable 

For assets and liabilitie-s that nrc rccogni?ecl in cbc consCllidnted Jinancial sfmemcnts on n recurriug 
bas is, the group determines wherher tr.m~fCrs have occurred berwccn levels in Lhc hicrnrchy by re­
assessing calcgorization (ba.<ed on the Jowc"t leYel input that is signilicmu 10 !he fair volue 
mc3Silromcnt ""'a whole) utthc cud of each rcpcrting j)l:riod. 

F'OI'the purpusc. of fair value disclosurt' s. 1hc Group has determined clusscs of assets and liabilities 
wilh the bas is nf'the narurc. characteristics uud risks of the asse< or liability and the level of the fuir 
value hierarchy as explained above. 

£lpcrating Scut!'C"! 
A business segmcm is a group of assets nnd oper:uions cngnged in pm\'iding producr·s Ol' services th:n 
are subjtttto risks nnd returns tlwt are di ll'crcnt from lh<""' of other business segmcnl<. 

A goographicaJ segment is engaged in providing pmducas or scn·iccs within a distinct economic 
cnvii'Onmem Lhat is subject to risks and J'Ulllm s that nre diJl"crcnt frocu those of segments opernring iu 
other economic cnvirnnments. 
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for management purposes, the Group is or~ized into three major operating segments (mining. 
scr\'ices and others) according ro ~>c nature of products and the services provided with each segment 
representing a straregio business unit that oObn; diiTcrent products and serves different markets. Tile 
Oroup I"{.'JlOTtS its primary segment infonnatiou based on business seg~nunts \~t·hich are the UH'lin 

revenu\! gL..·ncrating activitic,s. financial infcnnation on hu.siness segments i!-. presented in Note 33. 

Jnvcnturics 
Mine product' inventory, which consist of copper con<'t:nrrates containing coppc.T. gold and silver. nrc 
•rated lower of cost or net realizable v-alue (1\RV). Pans and supplies arc ••alued a\ the lower of oost 
and l'\RV. 

NRV for mine products inventory is the selling price in the ordinary course of business. less the 
cstimutcd costs of con1plcLion nnd estimmcd costs llCccssary to make the SJJic. In the case or parts nnd 
supplies, NRV is rhe current rcplacemem con. In determining the NRV. the Group considers any 
ndjustrncnts necessary for obsulc«:ence. Provision li>r obsolescence is determined by reference tu 
specific irems of stock. 

Cosr> of parts and supplies comprise all cost! of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the 
1n::ttcrials nnd supplies tn their presentJoc.:uicnl and condition. 11tc purchase cosr is detcnnincd on :.'1 

moving average basis. POI'll'i and supplies in-:rtmsil is v~tlued at invoke t:osl. 

Adynnccs to Suppliers and Commctors 
Advances to suppliers and controctors are uoo- linuncial nssers arising from fl"yments made by the 
Group ro its suppliers and contracturs before good> or services have been '"""i\'ed or rendered. 'll>ese 
are: eiMsificd a.-.; current since il follow's the fiJal class.ilication ofd1e assearn whir.h thr. :vl\~tlCf"S. 
pcrtllin to and are recognized in rhe books at w>oun~< initially paid. 

Other Currcnl Assets 
The Group:s other cuncnl assets include various prepnymonts, dcfCrrcd costs nnd cxc~ss input vnluc· 
added tux (VAT). These nrc dassilied as cuncnt since the Group expects to realize or consume the 
assets within 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

lnptll VAT 
Revenues, expense.. and assets nre rerogJJizcd ncr ofrhe amount of VAT, if applicable. 

When VAT from sales of goods anwor services (outplll VAT) exceeds VAT I>OSSed on !Tom purchases 
of goods or services (input VAT), rhe excess is recognized as payable in the stnrcmcut of linaneial 
position. \\-1ren VAT passed on from pnrcha.<csufgoods or services (input VAT) exceeds VAT fmm 
•aiL-s of goods and! or service.< (output VAT), tl~e cxc('-'< is recogniz<>d a• an ""'ct in the consolidated 
smtcmem of linaocial poi\ it ion to the extent oft1e recoverable 8m0Wlt. 

Input VAT represents the VAT p.1id oo pureb....,. of applicable goods and sc.TVices, net of output lax. 
which can be claimed for refund <>r recovered m rnx credit against future tax liability of me Group up()Jo 
appn:oval by the Philippine Rurcau oflmcmal R"cnue (BIR) auwor tl>c Philippine Oureau ofCustoons 
CllOC). 

Input VAT on capirali7.ed goods exceeding P I nillion is subjcetro amoo1iZMion aud lmy excess may be 
utilized against output VAT, if any, beyond 12 ononth.< from the reponing period or can be claime-d fi>r 
refund or as tax credits with the Philippine Oep<nment of Finance. l1le cum:nr ponion i< preseured liS 

fl"R of"Odrer cum:nt assets" and the noncurrcn: ponion under "Other noncurrcm assets" in the 
consolidated statement oflinancial position and stated at its estimated NRV. 
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Jnvcsrments in and Advancss 1o Associate~ 

'J11c Group's invcsttnenls in OS!.Ociates arc 3ccounred for using the equity method. These are elllities 
in which the GI'Oup has significt~m innUt:mce and, which nre ncil.hcr subsidiaries nor joint ventures of 
the Group. 

Under the equity method. the investmenL' ir =ociat<-s ore carried in the coosoliduted statement of 
financial position at cos1 plus post-acquisition changes in the Group's .)hare ofnel o~scts oft he 
associates. less t10y allowance for impn inncnt losses. Goodwill relating to an associtHc included in 
the carrying amount ofth~ investment and is nor tcshxl for impaim1cnt individually. 

·nte carrying amount of an invt~tmeot in as~iaEes also includes other lnng-tenn interests in an 
nssociatc, such ns loans and :.dvaucc.~. Advances and Jonns granted by the Gmup are within the 
nuture of ca:,h udvances or expenses paid hy the Group on behalf of its associates. These are based on 
normal creditlcnns, un..securcd, interest~rroc and are recognized aud CClnicd at original amowlls 
advanced. 

The C·Ottsolidmcd swtemeuts or comprehensive income t'dlcctthe Gmup ·s shnre of the result~ of 
opt: rations of lhtj associates. Where ther¢ hi1s he.en n change recognized directly iu dtt tquity of tht 
associates, the Group recognizes its share nf JtlY changes. Profits und losses resulting from 
transactiotlS between the Group and the a<.«><iates are eliminated to UlC extent of tit~ interest in the 
associates. 

The f'ollo,,_·ing urc the Group's associalcs with the corrc:.pondiog pcrccnrage of ownership: 

MMC 
DMTC 

Pcrcenta~c of Ownership 
2010 2019 

IY.60'Y• 
25.44 % 

19.60%. 
25.44% 

Tite fmaucial statements of the associate; are pn.'J'orcd lot the same linancial n.'JX>rtins period of the 
Gl'oup. \Vhcrc necessary, ~-tdjustrnents arc mnOO, bringiuJ:; the accounting polkies Ln line with d1osc nf 
the Group. 

TI>e Group discontinues the u.<e of equity nlCth«< frorn the date when the investment cca<es to be an 
assnciate1 such as: 
a) when tl1e investment llCCOltlts a subsidiary. 
b) If the retai11cd interest in lhc tbrmer assucirte or joint vcnrure isH linancial asset lhc Group shall 

measure the retained inten..."ii at fair \-aluc The fair value of tbe retained interest $hall be regarded 
as it..; fuir value on initial recognition. as a f:nanciai3Ssel in accordance with the relevant sl3ndards. 

The Group shrill recognize the profit or loss the diffe,·cnce in: 
l. the fhi r value of any retai.nod interest nrKI any proceeds from disposing or a pun interest in the 

a~"iiCi:atc: nod 
ii. tbe carrying amount of the investment a d>e date the equity method was di~continucd. 

c) The Group shall account lh1' nU atJlounL~ previously rcC()gnized in OC'I in relation to thor invcslrncnt 
un the same b1L,is as would have been required if the invcstcc had din:etl)· disposed of the related 
assets. 

liUIII~I'lllli~IIR\MIImiMmnlf 
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Prope1w . Plant attd Cuuipmenl 
Property, plant aud equipment, except land, are carried at coot ks.> accumulated depletion, 
deprL-ci:uion, amorti7ation, and impaim-.enl in va1ue, if any. 

The inicial cost of property, plane and equip.,cnr comprises its purchase price orconslruction cost, 
any directly attributable coots of bringing lh;: asset inlo operation, tho initial e>timate of the 
rehabilitation oblig>tion, and. forqualifyingasscl• (where relevant), borrowing costs. The purchase 
prk:e or construction cost is aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other considero1 ion given 
to acquire the asset. Such cos! includes the cost of replacing part of such propel"ty, plant and 
equipment when tl•at cost is incurred if the r!Cognition criteria are met. Expeuditurcs ioctUTl'd after 
the property. plant and equipment haw b<.'Cn put into opemtions, such as r.:pairs and maintenance, are 
normally charged to expense in the period "~en the e<>sts Me incun-cd. 

ln $ituations where it can be clearly demon~trated that the expenditures have rcMihed in an increase in 
tbe future economic hcnefits Cllfl'Xled to he obtained !Tom tl1e usc of an item of property, plant and 
equipment heyond iu. miginally u.~sessed standnrd ofpc1fonnancct the expenditures arc capiralized a:-; 
additionnf costs of pr'Opcrty. plonr find equipr"lc.:nt. ~·laj(JI' maintenance and major overhaul costs that 
are capitali?.ed as P•"l of properly, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
the shoncr of their C>timated uscfulli\<es, lyrically the period until the next major maintenance or 
inspection, and the estimated usofullives of the related propel'ly, plant and cqui1>ment. 

l.and is Mated at cost, less any impairment in value. 

The Group classifY its right-of-USA) assets as pun of property, plant and equipment. The Gruur 
recognizes right-of-usc assets aL the cornmcnccmcnl dare of the lcusc (i.l) .• the clnre of the underlying 
ass.ers ls available for usc). IUght-nt:use as)CLo;; are initially measured nt cost, le~~ nny accumulared 
depJCciation and irnpainnent losses, and adjugcd for any remcasurernent of 1e<>se liabilities. The 
initial cos.t nfright-usc-a.ssets includes the amllunts of lease liabilitic~ J'ecognizcd, initial direct costs 
incuned, lease paymCJtts made at or befOre th..: ccmnnencemcnt datu lc~s any knsc incenri\'CS received 
and c:-;timate of costs to be lneun·ed by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlyit•g ~tssct, 
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by 
the tenns and conditions of the lease, unless those cost~ urc inctJrred rn produce inventories. 

Unless the Group is reasonably cctt.nin to obta n owncrl.\hip of the leased asset at che end of the le-ase 
tcnn, the rocogniT.ed right-of-use assets are dcpn.'ciated un a <ttaigbt-linc basis over the sboncr of 
cbcir estimated uscfi1l life and lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impaim1cnt. 

Borrowing costs incun·cd for the construction of any qualifying asseb nrc capltolizcd dur llig the 
period which is required to complete and prepare the asset for it' intend<.-d use. Other borrowing costs 
are charged to expcn>e. 

Constn1ction in-progress is recorded nr cost nnd tht related depreciation starts upon tran:o:h!l' to the 
appropriate :tcconnl or the completed project. 

Mine and mining properties also consist of the .Aair value atlrihutabJc to minen1l reserves aud the 
portion of mineral r..:snurces con!tidcred to be: probable of economic cxtmcrion at t·hc time or an 
acquisition. When a mine conslruelion project 'llnves into the production phase. the capitali7ation of 
et..~in mine COn.<;;:truction costs ceases, and cosB are eidler regarded os pan of the cosl of iuvcntOJ)' or 
expensed, except JOr cnsts which qualify fur cnpitalization relacing to mining asset ndditions, 
improvement~ or new developments, underground mine development or mineable I'C.'~crve 

development. 
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Oeprccim ion on assets arc calculated using the straight-line method to allocnle the cost of each 
propct1y, plant and equipment less its t·csidaal value, if any, over its estimated useful life, as thllows: 

Tvpe of asset 
Buildings and improvements 
Plalll machinery and equipment 
Ollice furniture and tixtures 

~slim:lted uscliJl 
lite in vcarl'i 

2- 15 
2-20 
3-5 

Mine exploration and de-.'Cio)llnent <"<ts of mineral properties already in opcr.ltiOJlS arc capitali<Cd as 
mine and 1niuing lli'Operty and are im:luded ir "Jlroperty1 Jllnn1 anc.l cquipmcnf' nccount. 

Depletion of mine and mining properties is C«ltputed b:!sed on ore extraction over the estimated ' 'olumc 
of prov~-d and pmbable on: reserves as cstimacd by the P;u·em Company's mining engineer or geologist 
und ce11iJicd by a Clm1peteut person. 

The estimated reoovcrnble n."l<crves, depreciation and d(.l'lction methods applied are reviewed at the end 
of reporting period In en sur..: th:1t the estimated recoverable reserves. depreciation and depletion 
methods nrc in line with expected pa11ern ofcooStunptioo of the future economic benefits from property 
plant and equipment. lfthcrc has been significant change, the me1hod shall be changed to reOectthe 
changed pltllem. 

The property. plalll and equipment's n.'1!idual values, if any, and useful lives are reviewed and 
adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of the rcpotting period. An asset'; canying nmnunr is written 
clown immediately toiL~ recovtrable amount if the pmpet1}', plant and equipment's carrying amount is 
ArC'atcr thtln ifs estimated rrf't\verabiC' ~mOWlt. 

\VJu .. 11 ossets are sold or retired, the cost and related accumulated depletion, omorti7.atiou, and 
depreciation, and accumulated impairment in -..·ahJc are removed from the accounts. Gains and IOSSl""S 
on disp<,.als are determined hy comparing the di,posal proceeds with carrying amount and arc 
included ilt the cousolidated SU1tcment of compl'chcnsive income. 

rully dcpreeiaK'tl pl'operly, plant and equipmc11 are maintained in the accounu until these arc no 
longer in use. 

~tine Exploration Costs 
l're-licc"\C costs incurred before the Group has obtained legal rigltts to explore in a specific area arc 
expensed in the period in which they ru·c incurn.>d. Once the.: legal right tn explore has bct!:n acquired, 
explnration and evaluation expenditure L~ dcferr.d as asset when future <=nomic benefit is more likrly 
dtan not to be reulized. Tb= costs include mat:rials and fuels used, surveying costs, drilling coMs and 
payments made to contractors. The Group capjmli:tcs aoy further evnluation costs incurred to 
exploration and cvalumion assets up to tlh! point wh~n a conuncrcinl reserve is established. 

ln evaluating whether cxpendirurc." meer the cdteria to be CSlpitalized, several di0L.'11..'11t sources of 
infom1ation arc utilized. Tile infommtion that is used to det¢mtine tlte possibil ity of fultii'C bcnclirs 
de(l<.'nd.' on the extent of cxpiO<lltion and evaluattln that has been pcrfonncd. 

Once commercial reserves arc established .. cxplormion and evaluation assets ore tested for impairment 
and transti:rred to mine and mining prc>pertics. 'lo amorti7.ntion is charged during the cxplocation and 
evaluation phase. I fthe area is found to contain no conmtcn::.i31 res~.:rvcs. the :ICt."llmulntcd c.osts arc 
expensed. 
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Other Noncurrent As~cts 
Other noncurrent nssets of' the Groul) inclu<ic tho Mine Rehabilitation fund (MRF) and funds to 
•atisfy cnviroruncntal obligations, intangibb as.-.:ts.. defc-m:d cbarg<"S •nd various depo>ils. These are 
classified 8> noocutTCnt since lhc Group cxp~ts to utilize the assets beyond 12 months from the end 
of the reporting period. 

Mine Rchahilitatiun Fund 
MRF are funds der>ositcd in banks, which is stated at l::tcc value, and is allotted for usc in satisl)•ing 
the Group's envimnmeutal and rehabilitation ohligations. The furul"cam interest ba.s..x.l on the 
rcspecri vc hank deposit rate>. 

luttmglblt• asse/,\' 
Intangible assets acquired SC"l"'rately arc me~un:d on initial recognition at co~t. The cost of 
int.aogjb!c assets acquired in a husiness combinolinn is rbcir t3ir voJuc at the dnt~: of acquisition. 
Following initial recognition, int.angjblc assets tll'l: can·ied at cost Jess. any accumulated nmorti1.ntion 
nnd accumulated irnpnim~entlosses. Internally generated intongiblos, excluding capitalized 
dC\·eloprn~'Tit costs, arc not CJlpitalized and th~ related expenditure i> reflected in profit or loss in the 
period in which the expcndirun.:: is incurred. 

The usefulli•·es of intangible ••sets arc asses-,cd ""either finite or indclinite. Intangible asset.' with 
finite useful life nt'O flmmtized over the usctU: economic Jifl} and assessed l()r impainncnf whenever 
there is ::an lndication that the intangible asset may be impail'ed. n ·ac nmorliiation pt:riod and lhc 
amonization method for an intangible usset \\oith a fmire usclid life are reviewed ar least at lhe end of 
each reponing period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset ore consicJc1·ed to modif)· the :uno11ization period m 
method~ )I" :.ppropriatc, ;;.nd nrc tremt."<< o:;c cbaogc.~ in ~c.~o\utliug ~timates. 1 he amoc1itallon expense 
on intangjblc assets with finite lives is r~X:ogmzed in profit or loss in the amonizafion exp~nsc 
ctucgmy thnt is cnnsistent with the fUnction of the intangible assets. 

Gains or lo~scs arising from dCI'CCQgnition of an intangible asset are mea-.:urcd ns the difference 
berwccn the Ill}( diRposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and urc recogni~cd in pmlit or 
loss \vhcn the as.sut is derecogni7.ed, 

The Group's accounting software is calculated using the straight-line method over its cstimmet.luscful 
I i fe of fi vc yem~. 

Jmoaim"'cnt of Nonfinancial /\~sets 
Proper~y. Plant and Equipment cmd Other l\/uujinancial Assets 
Property! planr and equipment and other nonfu~'\ncial asse(S arc reviewed for impainnent whenever 
event"" or changes in eirrumsll'mccs indicate thai the canying amount of an a.\SCt may not be 
recoverable. Jf cmy such iudic:ttion exi!'IL'>. as when the carrying nmount e,lfan nssct excc<:t.ls its 
recoverable amount, the asset or cash-gcncratiLt unit (CGL:) is wrine-n c.lm"n lO its rccovernblc 
amount. 'I he recoverable amount is tbe highenfan asset's or CGU's fair value les> cost to sell nnd 
its value in use. The fhir value less cos11o self ~~ the amount obtoiunblc from the sale of an assel iu an 
um•'s -length rraosnction less the costs of disposnl while vnlue in use is the present va.lue of estimated 
future cash flows expected to nrisc from the cortinuing use of an asset and from its di•pos.'l at the end 
of ils useful life. The reco\·cr.:thle amount is de1cm1ined for an individual nssc1, unless 1hc asset docs 
nut genertliC cash inflo\vs that arc largely indepeLldcnt of rhos~ from orher a.'iScrs or groups of assets, 
in which case, the a.<set is tc .. cd as fl'ln of a lllrlfcr CGI.i I<> which it belongs. If the carrying amount 
of nn a.s.sct or CGU exceeds its recovcrJhle amoJnt. the a!tsct is considered imp11ired and is writ1cn 
down to its rccovemblc amount. Manngemcnt hns assessed its CGUs ns being individual mlnes, 
which is the lowest level for which rash inflow< ore largely independent oft bose of oth<T assets. 
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Jmp.tllnm.·nt losscs are recogn ized in protit or loss. Jn culculating vaJuc in usc, the esrimotcd future 
casb flows arc discOtmted ro their present vdue using a pre-tax discoum rare that reflects current 
marl<crassessm~nts oflhe rime '"'luc of money and the risks specific In d~e assetiCGU. In 
detennining fujr value lcs.~ costs of tli:-~posal, recent market transactions arc 1aken inlo account. If no 
such transactions con be idcntitied1 an appr(~)riate vnl uutinn model is used . These calculations are 
cormbormed by valuntion mulliptcs, quoted share pdccs for publicly u·nded compaub <ll' other 
available fair value indicators. The Group blses it> imiJ'Iinnent cak:ularion on detailed budgets and 
forecaSis, which are prepared separarcly for each oftbc Group's CGvs 10 which rhe individual as.o;e~s 
arc allocated based nn rhe life-ot~mine l>lans. Titc cslimaied cash flows are based on cxpoc.ted fulurc 
production, metal .s.cJling prices> upcmting costs and fhrccasr capital cxrcnditure, and ~~tsh flows 
bcyonU sh: years arc bused onlifc-ol:.minc plans. 

Value in use dol."' nol rcflecr fulurc cash flows associ .red wilh improving or enhancinl! an asset's 
pcrfonnance, wbercw. anricipaled cnhoncemems to "'>et< are include-d in fair value lc;; costs of 
dispo:.lll c:olcularions. 

An as1\cssment is rnuclc at ench rC'porting date to dt.:tcrn'linc whether there is :m indication that 
pre\'iou.,ly recognized impainnem los."'' may oo longer c.<i><t or may bnvc decreased. If such 
indicarion exisrs, lhc Gr0t1p estimateS rhe asStt's or CGU's recovcrJble amoum. A previously 
recogni?ed impainncnt loss is re\'cr..cd c>nly ifrherc has hccn a change in the assumprions used to 
detcnninc the asset ~s/CGU"s recover:1ble ammmt since the Jast impairmen t loss was recognized. The 
reversill is limited so that the carrying ommuu of the assct/CCrU does nO( uxcccd either its rucovcrable 
amount, or the carrying amount that would have bl."Cn determined, net uf' depreciation, hud no 
impainncnt loss been recognized for lhc a"""oCGU in prior years. Such a reversal is recognized in 
tbe consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

ln1pain11cnt losses of ~nntinuing opcrutions are rocogniM:d in profit or loss in those expense 
categories consistent whh the function or the impaired o.ssct. 

Jnvcstmcm.t ill wHI AtA·ances to A.ssuc:iotc.t 
1\ fter application oftbe equily method for investment ln associates. the Group detcm1ines whether it 
is ncce;ssnry to tl)Cogui?.c an additional impairment Joss of the Grour's invcsnnents in its associates, 
including long-tem1 in tcn.\'it~~ that, in sub:.tancc, form pnrt of the Group's net investmenr in 
associates. The Group determines at lhe end d the reponing pcrind whether there is any objective 
evidence rhnttbc in..,.m1enr and advonccs in ~sociarc i~ impaired. If this is ibe ca><; the Group 
calculate> the amount of impaim>ellt as being rhe difference between the reco>·crablc amounl of O•c 
associnte and the acquisition cost and l'ecognizcs the nmount in the consofidmed statL·mcnt of 
comprehensive ineumc. Recovtrahlc nmount is delcnnincd os the highc1· hctweeu fair value less cost 
of dispnsol and value in u~e. 

Mi11c F-Aploration Co.rt.r 
An imp•inncnt review is performed, either individuolly or at the CGU level, when there nrc 
indicatOI'S that the canying amount ofd1e ossets may exceed dlcir recoverable amounts. To the extent 
rhat thi~ occurs, rbc excess is t'hHy provided ng:ainst, in the financial p!!riuc.l in whi_ch this is 
detemlincd. Exploration a.~scts are reOS.'\{'Sscd on a regular basis and tilde costs are carried forward 
provided lhnt a1 lcasl one of the following cooditions i< met: 
• such cosTs are expect~'(! 10 be recouped in full through successful development and explomtion of 

the urea of interest or rtJtcmarivcly, by il<i sale; or 
• explorotlon and cv,tluorion activities wjthin Lhe area of interest have not yet reached u stage which 

pcm'lits a reasonable nssessment ol' thc cxi&ence or otherwise of econnmically recO\'Cf'Jblc 
rcscn•{-s. and acli\'C and significant opcratio115 in reltuion to the area are continuing or plaum:d in 
d>e f\•rure. 
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Provisions t~ I'C recognize-d wltcn the Group ,as a present dhligalion (legul and t.:onstnac!i\'C) as u 
resulr, of a past eveoll, io is prolxoblc thai an outflow of resources embodying economic benefils will 
be required to sel!le rh~ ohl igaoion Md a reliable es1ima1e can be made of 1he amount of the 
obligation. Where the Group expects some or aJJ provisions to be reimbursed, ohereimburserncni is 
n."'C<>gni2cd as a scpannc asset. but only when rl1e rcimbu~c..·mem is virntAily cenain. The cxpcm~e 
relating to any provision is presented in JWOiit or loss net of any rcimbu,·semcnt. J f' the cflCct of lhc 
tlme V{tlue of money is matL-rial, provision~ ne diM:ouotcd using a cum.:n1 pre-.tux rate lh:n refk.-c-t~ 
where appropoiate, the risks specific to ihe liability. \\~ocrc discounling is used. the increase in ohe 
provis ion due to the passage of time is reco~ized ns pan of finance costs in the consolidaled 
statement of comprehensive income. 

Liahilily for Mine Relwhililtllion 
Mine rebabilitntiun costs will be incurred by lhe Gmup either while operAting, or at lhe end of the 
operating life ur; the Oroup's lacilitics and rrine prnpenics. The Group a>:<esse< its liability for mine 
n.'habili1a1iou at eacb reponing date. The Gmup recognizes a liabolily for mine rchabilitalion where il 
has a legal and constmctive obligalion as a resuJt. ofpa.lit event~) and it is pmbablc that nn outflow Qf 
rc.,;ourccs will he required h> settle the oblig;uion, and a reliable Cl<limalc of tbc amoono of obligatioo 
can be made. 'l11c nalllrc of these reslnratiou activities includes: dismantling a11d rcmovingstn1ctures; 
rehabilitating min<"s nnd tailings dams; disma"ling operating lhcilitics; closing plant and waste silcs; 
and ref\toriny, reclaiming and revcgcrnting affected nn..~s. 

The obliga1ion generally arises when the asset is installed or, lhe groundienvirowncnt is disturbed at 
the mining opcration·s Jocali()n. \Vhe-n the li~bjJity iG inltinlly rccoglliL,t::tl1 lhc proscm vl'lUC ot the 
~stimn tod costs is capital ized by increasing the can·ying amount of the related mining as.'\ClS to the 
~xtcn1 I hal it was inctom-d as a rc$tolt, of I he dwelopmcnt/consmoction of 1hc mine. Any 
rehabili~1tion obligations thai arise through the production of invcnlory are recognized :os part of rbc 
rei a led inventory item. Additional dismrlxonas which ari:<c due to funh<'l' devclopmenVcotiSirUction 
at the mine are recognized as addit ions or c:hnrges to lhc corn.·sponding asset'> and rchnbilitation 
liability wlten they U<:Cur. Costs related lu rcstor.tlion of site damage (sul>sequcn1ly at the stan of the 
commercial production) that is creatccl on an n >going basi> during production arc provided for ot their 
net prc.sem values and 1·ecugnized in profi1 or Joss ns extraction prog.rc.o.;scs. 

Change; in the c.<timatccl timing of rchabilil«liNt or changes ro lloc estim:oled future costs :ore dealt 
witlt pmspecti vcly by o·ecognizing an adju.,tmentto the rclt:obilitation liabiliry and a corresponding 
adjusunent to the assclro which it rclares: if tilt! ini1ial estimate wa.~ original1y n:cognizcd as pmt of 
fin asset measured iu accordnJICC with PAS 16. 

Any rotluction in d1e rchabilillllion liohility ond, thcrcfore, :ony deduction fi·oou 1hc asset t'(l which it 
r'Ciates. may not exceed the c:an)•ing omouut of ;:hal m;set. If it docs, aoy excess over th-.: carrying 
Yllluc is lnkcn inuncdintely 10 the consolidnled statement of comprchcnsi,•c income. 

I f the change in C$tim:~tc results in an increase in the liabilily lOr mine rehabilitation cost &txl 
therefore. an addition 10 the cnrrying value of rhc assc1, the Group considers whether this i~ an 
indication of impairment of the asset und if so tests fnr imp~tinneuL If, for mature mii:M.--s. rhe c.slimatc 
for the revised mine as>ets net of liability of mine rchabili1a1ion exceeds rloc recovcmble value, !hat 
portion of the increase is charged directly to expense. 
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Over time, tltc discounted liability is increased lilt' the chnnge in present value based Ott the discount 
rates that reflect curr<'tll market assessmcnt;aO<I the risk• •reeific to tbe liuhility. n>e pt.'fiodic 
unwinding of1he di~count is rcc.ogni7cd jn the consoJiclmcd sta1emcnt nfcompreheusivc income as 
pan of finance costs. 

For closed sites, changes to estiJnatcd costs are recognized immediately in rhc consolidate-d Matemeut 
of comprehensive income. 

The Group rccogni7..eS neither the dcfet'l'cd tax asset in respect of tho temporary difference on the 
decommissiuning liability nor the correspon~ing deferred tax liability in respect of the tcmporory 
difference on a decommissioning asset 

Rehabilitation tntst hands conunlltcd tOr usc in stHisfying Cn'r·iroJuucntal obligatious an:: included 
witltin ''O!h<-r noocurrent a;.-.cU" in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

Stock Subscriptions Pnvnblc 
Stock subscrir<ioos payable pcnains to the Group's unpaid subscription to shares of stock of other 
entities. These me rc\!t)gnizc.....J Jllld carried in the books Ml 1he originof sub~cl'iption price in exchange 
of which, the shares of stock will be issued. 

Rev~nuc Reoounition 
Revenue is recognized tu the extent dull it is probable that the e<:ouon•ic b<'!lcfits aswc:iated with the 
tronsactiou "ill flow tO the Gmup and tl>e runrunr ofn;,.,nue can be reliably mca<urcd. The follo,,ing 
SpeCi fie recognition Criteria must OJSO bt.: 11let refc)rc J'eV(!JIUC is fC<.:ognized: 

Sa/P r{ M<!toL< 
Sale ofhul/ion (i.e .. Uolcl. Sin'Ct~ 
lncom<: is recosnized upon acnwl shipment of bullions. Net revenue is measured bas1.:d on shipment 
value price bas<.'<! on qu01cd n>eiRI price$ in the London Bullion Markc~ for both gold and silvc-r, weiglll 
and 0.\SilY COlli COl, ]es~ :~mel ring and trcatmem charges. Contmc( Lcnns for the Group's sale of sold and 
silver bullion allow for n price a<.ljushueul ba.-sed on final as.uy resuhs of the mc-ral in concenlralc by the 
ruston>er to dctenninc 1he content 

Pmvisional sltipmcnt up tu 98% of tolal \'OIIuc for gold and silver based on provisional prices is 
colk<:tcd upon shipment, white the remaining 2% for gold ruld silver is colteCicd upon I he delemtination 
nfthc lina1 shipment value bnset.l on final wcight tmd assay Jhr metul contem and prices cluriug tJ1e 
ltpplicoblc QP less applicable smelling and trcatncnt charge>. 

Sale l?f'Wppc'r r.nnt:eJttrate 
lucome from che sale of copper concentrate is re::ognizcd upon shipmcnL ~et revenue i.\ measun.-d 
based on shipment ' 'alue price based on qu01cd metal prices in the London Maricc1 F.xcl1ange, weight 
nnd .ass.ay contcnt.less smelting nnd trcutment charges. Contmct tcnns for l.l1c Group·~ sale or coppt.--r 
concentrate allow foro price adjustment based on final assay n:sults oft he n>etal in conccnrratc by the 
cus1omcr to dctcmlioc the con1cn1. 

Provi•ional shipment up to I 00% of total value for copper cottc<'lltmlc ba;ed on provisional price> is 
coUc.:red upon •hipnx:nl, while the final shipma• value is collected upon the dctcnninalion of the final 
weight nnd ossuy tor mctnl content and prices dltling the applicable QP less <~ppt icablo.<melting nnd 
lrcatntCnl charges. 



• 23-

The terms of metal sales contmctS with third par~ies conr...in pro,1sional pricing arr:ngemenL' whereby 
the sdling price is ba<cd on pn.-vailiog 'f'O' priL-c!< on a spceilicd future date ofter shipment to the 
customer (the "quotntion period"). Mark· tu-markCJ adjustm~nts to the sales price occur based on 
movements in quote-d market prices up to the date of final senlemcnr, and such adjusrntent> arc recorded 
as pan of revenue. The period hetwccn pro\~sion3l inVoicing and linal settlement can be lx,~wcco1 

one nnd six months. 

Comract as.'ict 
A commct asset is the right to considerntion in ¢,'(change l()r goods or serviCl!.~ transferred to the 
customer. If the Group pcrtbnns by rrnnsfcrriog goods or St-rvices to a customer before the 
Cu."i10mer pays considcn.'Hion or be foro ~ymcn1 is dutJ a comract nssct is recogni1.ed for the 
earned consideration thnt is conditionul. 

Bill and Hnltl Sale.< 
"f1tc Group recognized sole on deliveries cla&,ificd as bill and hold when thet·c is trnnsfer of risk and 
reward lrom lit" Group to the buyer due to the following: 
• 1t is probable that delivery will be mnde; 
• The item i" on hand. identilicd and ready for delivery to the buyer at the time the sale i• 

recognized; 
• "11tc huyer spccificnlly acknowledges the deferred delivery instructions; and 
• The usu11l pnymcn t tenus t~pply. 

Trade receivables 
A rcccivnblc represents the Urouj),S right to an amount uf considcrJtion thut is unconditionaJ (i.e., 
ooly the paSSfi!,"C oftitnc is required before pa:,rttwnt ofdu: considt..·r:llion W duo). 

s,~rv/('P Fees 
Service fees arc recognrtcd upon pcrfonnance •>fUlC services. 

lntcrc:.."t Income 
Interest income is recogni7.cd as it accrues u<in~ EJR method. 

Rental Income 
Rental income arising from operating lea.~ ot land is accounted for on a straight-line basis Ol·~-r tile 
fcase 1enns and included in revenue due 10 it~ c•pernting nnrure. 

Other Income 
Other income :It'\!' income and expenses which <~re not directly rclared to the Grour's t'egular t'OSlllts of 
opcrutions. ·n,cse htd ude intcrc~t income. rental incom~.·, s•lin (los.") ou disposal of assets, guin or 
loos from deconsolidated subsidiaries. and gain due to retrenehmellt. 

Cost and Expenses 
C05t and expen<es arc decreases in economic ba>Cfits during the accounting period in the form of 
outnows or dccl'easc of nsscts or jncuncncc of liabilities thO! re...,ul1 in dccrcnsc in cqui£y, other than 
those I'Ciatlng t(') distrihurions w equity participunts. Cost of sale.\, cost of services and operating 
expen:<c.< are f\!COgnizcd in the consolidated stattmcnt of comprehen•ive income itt U>e period these 
arc inct1rrcd. 
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Cooital Swclt and A PIC 
Common shares arc c!nssilied as equity. lncremenlal <"liStS directly allnbuL1ble to the is.<uc of new 
share-; or options arc shown in the conM,>lidaed statement:. of changes in equity a.o;; a deducrion from 
proceeds. The excess of proceeds from i s.~uancc nf shares over the pa1· value of shan.:• arc credited to 
APJC. 

Where the Parent Company purchases its owa shares (treasury shares), the considcrJJion p.1id including 
any diro::ll)• attri!Julllble incremental COStS is dcduc1ed fioom equity allnbUiable IO the Parc"l1 Company's 
stockholders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or di.<pnsed of. Where such shares are subscqucnlly 
sold u1· reissued) any t.>tlUsideratiou received, net of any directly att.ributnbk int.Tcmentnl l l'llnsnction 
costs and the related inoome tax effects, is included in equity attribut.1ble 10 the Parent C'.ompan)"s 
stockholders. 

Denosjt fin Futtn·e Subscrintions 
This p(:rtains to the om<)unt of cash and adva1ccs n·om stockholder~ as payment Jbr l1.1turc issuance of 
s(ocks. This is classi lied as an equity instnuuent \Vhun the (Troup \vill deliver a fixed number ur it:;; 
owu \."Quity instrumcnls in exchange for a lix·:d amoum of ca.\h or another financial asser. OrhtTwisc, 
it is classified under ootlCUITCnlliabilities. 

Defici l 
Defici( rcprc~cnts nccumul!ttcd losses of (hc Group. 1\ ';dt!ficiL" is not nn osset but a deduction from 
equir}'· 

OCJ 
OCJ comprises items of income and CXI)ense lincJudinu itelllC.. rn~vi()l l ... ly fU'('SE'll100 UJtcll.'r I he 
con solido ted statement uf changes ju !XInity) that nre not rccogni1.ed io the pro lit or loss for the yc.ar 
u1 accordance with I'J'KSs. 

Eamin&S (Loss) Per Share 
Basic camings (Joss) per share amounts arc calculated by dividing the net income (Ius•) ottribmablc 
1o (lrdi11a1y equity hnlde1·s of the l'arcnl Compflny by the weighred average number ofortlin:uy shares 
oul•tanding, adjusted for uny stock dividends declared and stock rights during the yenr. 

Diluted eamings (los.<) per share IUn<IUnl< are ealculated by dividing the net income (loss) attrihutable 
10 ordinary equil)' holders oftbe Parent Comp>oy by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
o-utstanding. adj u.\ted for nny stock dividends declared during the ycttr rlus weigh1cd avcmge number 
of ordinnl')' shares that would be issued nn the convcrsitm of all the dilul ivc ordiJHlry shon:s into 
ordinary shares. The <iroup has no dilulivc pcJ(entinl cornmon shares as at Dcc.cmber 31. 2020, 2019 
and 2018. 

Lcose~ lmior to adomjun ofPFRS 161 
Delel'mitwtion qf Whd hl!r an Arranp,emenl CtJillains tt Lflllle 
The dctcnniJUI(ion of \Vhother an anwtgcmcut is~ or contuins, a lease i!t bHscd on the substance of the 
arrangement at 'he date of inception. The ammgement is assessed to detenninc whether fblftlment i.s 
dependent on the use of a specific assets and the arrangement convey• • rigl11 10 usc the ossets, even if 
those il5SCES are not cxplicirly specified in an arrangement 111e Group is not a lessor iu nny 
trans3ctinns, it is onl)' h.:~.scc. A reassessment is made nflcr inception of t he Jcasc. on I}' if one of the 
following 11pplies: 
(a) There is a change in comractual tcmls, orber than a renewal or exh.:miion of the arrangement: 
(b) A renewal option is exercised~ or ex1ens:ion granted, unit~ that tcnn of the renewal or ex1en~ion 

was initially included in the lease tonn; 
(c) n>cre is a change in the detellllinolion ofwherber fultillmenl is dependent on n spocificd asset; or 

IIWJlllliWOIIII'~IJI1tft'Jfl'l 
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(d) There is a substantial change to rh~ assc1. 

\\/here a rca'iscssmcnt is made, lease accoun:iug shall commence or cease from the date \'t'hen the 
change in circumstances gave rise to the rca>Scssmcnt for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) above, and at the 
date of renewal or extension period for scenario (b). 

Operating L'~ase ~ Group as" Le.\':iee 
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownetship of the asset are 
cla..o.;sitied as operating lease. Operating lease payments arc recognized as an expense in the 
consolidated scatcrncnt of comprehensive iuoome. on a srraight-liue basis over (he lease term. 

Leases (upon adoption ofi'FRS 161 
Determination of Whether an Arrangement Contains u Lease 
The Group assesses at contract inccPLion, all arrangements to determine whether they are~ or contain, 
a le,.se. That is, ifrhe contract conveys 01e right of control the use of an identified asset for a period 
of time in exchange fOr cons ideration. 

/.edses - Group as a LesJee 
The Group applies a single recognition and rr,o;asurcmcnt approach fbr all leases, except for short­
tenn leases and leases oflow~valuc assets. T:le Group recognizes lease liabilities to make lease 
payments and right-ro-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

Lease Liabilities 
Atthe commencement date of the lease, the Group recognized lease liabilities measured the presem 
value of lease paylllents to be made over the lease lCml. The lease payments include. fixed payments 
(and in, some im:;tanccs, in-substance fixed payments) Jess any lease incentives receivable, variable 
lease payments that depend on an index M a ntc, and amounts expected to be paid under residual 
value guarantees. The lease paymems also indudc the cxc.n:isc price of a purchase option rensouably 
certain to be exercised by tl1e Group aud payJllents of penalties for rcnninating the lease, if the lease 
term ret1ects rhc Group exercising the option to tenninate. 

Jn calculming the present value of lease paymeurs, the Group uses its JBR at the lease commencement 
date if the interest rmc impliciL in the lease is not readily detenniuabfe. After the commencement 
date. the amount of leilSe liabj)ities is increased w reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the 
lease payments made. Jn addition. the can)·ing amount of lease liabilities is rcmcasurcd if there is a 
modification, a change in the lease tcnn, a change in the in~substance fi,.;ed lease payments or a 
change in the assc.ssmcnt of an option to purchase the underlying asset. 

Short~term Lease~· and Leascw of LoH'*\•aluc A::sets 
The Group applies d1e short-term lease recognition exemption t<> its shnrt-tenn leases of equipment 
(i.e.~ those leases that have- a lease tcm1 of 12 months or Jess from the commencement date and do not 
con~1iu a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recog11ition exemption to 
leases of office equipmem that are considered to bo low value. Lease payments on short-term leases 
and lease.<> uf low-value arc recognized a5 exp~nse on a stt'aigbt~Jine basis over the lc~-L~c tcnn. 

£!llnloyee Bene.fit 
The net defined retirement benefits liability or asset is the asgregate ofrhe present value oft he 
defined benefit obligation ar the end of the reporting period reduced by the f.1ir value of plan assets (if 
any). Hdjustcd for any effect of limiting a 11et defined benefir asset to the as..~ct ceiling. The asset 
ceiling is the prC.S(..11t value of any economic bet,efits available iu the fonn of refunds ll·om the plan or 
reductions in fulltre contributions to the plan. 

IWIIIIIIIIIIIImRIIImlllltmftltll'llltll 
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·n,c cost of providing benefits under the defined bcnclit plans is actuarially dctcm1ined using the 
projected unit credit method. 

Oclined bci>clit costs compri!e the followins: 
• Service co~t 
• Kct interest on the net defined retiremcrt benefits linbifity or ossct 
• Remc~L"'urcmcuts of net defined rctiremcm bcnctirs linbility or asset 

Service costs which include curran service costs. past set\· icc costs Bnd gains or los;c• on 
non-routine senJements are reoogni7..ccl as expense in prolil or loss. Pa~t scn:ice cof>h arc recognized 
when plan amendment ur curto ihncnt occui'S. These amounts arc calculmcd periodically by 
imJcpcndent quCtflticd act\tl'lrk.'\. 

Na interest on the net defined retirement benefits liabiliry or asset is the ch:lngc during the period in 
the net defUJcd retirement benefits liability or nsset that orises from the passage of time which i~ 
dcrcnnincd by Applying the discount ra te bns::U nn government bonds tu the net dctincd retirement 
benefits liability or asset. Net intcrc't on the net defined retirement benefits liability or asset is 
t<'Cognized as expense or inoome in prolit or loss. 

Remcasurcments comprising actuarial gains and losses, r<:tum on pJan n~scts, and any change in the 
cilccr of rhc ""''et ceiling (excluding net intcresr on defined J'Ctircmmt benefits liability) arc 
rccogniz.."<i immediately in OCI in the period in which they arise. l«:tncasurements arc 001 

rcclassifkd to profit or loss in subsequent periods. Rcmeasurcmeots rc•:ogni7.ed in OCI after the 
initial adoption of Revised P,\S 19 arc'"" clc•sed to any odler equity account and is shown as a 
scpar.ate item in equity Hllrll•r HR t:' lllNlSUI't.'lllCrt saio (lot~t:) 01\ retir~I11Cilt benefit$ liuhility". 

Plan assets arc assets that arc held by a long-tenn cmploy.:e benclit fund or qualil)>ing insur.mcc 
policies. Plan a:l.<cL<are not B\'ailable to the creditors of the Group, nor can they be poid directly to 
the Group. I' air value of plan assets is based on market Jll'icc infon11otion. When no market price is 
"vailable, the fi1ir value ofplnn assels is c:;tim:tted by discounting l'xpccted future cnsh Oows w~iug n 
discount rate that reflects both the risk associated with the plan asset> und the maturity or exp<...,tcd 
di-Sposal date of those a'sets (or, ifth..>y have m maturity, d>C expected period until the settlement of 
the related obligations). lfdlc fair value of the plan assets is higher thonthe prc.cnt value of the 
defined retirement benefits linbility. dle measurement of the resulting defined benclit ~1sset is limited 
to the pn..--scnt value of e.conomic benefits nvHilahle in tJJc funn of refund'\ (i·om the plun or reductions 
in f'ul\Jre conlributioo.s (0 the rlan. 

llle Group's right to he reimbursed of some or all of the expenditure required to senlc o defined 
ret ircment benefits liability is I'CCognizcd ns n separale •'ssct at J3ir value when and onfy when 
reimbursement is virtually c~.:rtnin . 

Trr,itmtion Btwt}it 
Tcm'lination bcuctits are emrloyee bendits ,..ro\'ided iu cxch(lnge ftJr the tenninatinn of au 
employee's employment as a J'CSult of either an entity's decision to h!t·minatc ao empJuyce's 
employment befOre 'he uonnal I'Ctirerm:nl drate Jr an employee's decision to accept an offC::r or 
lx:nclits in exchange for the tcrrninalion or cmf,i0)1ncnl. 

A liobmry and expense for a termimuion hcnefi! is reengnized at the eorlicr of when the entity can no 
longer withdrow the offer ofthnsc benefits nnd \Vheu the entity rec.ognir.cs l'elateU n::;n·ucturlng cnsts. 
Initial recognition and subsequent changes co termination benct1ts are measured in accordance with 
the narure of the employee benefit, as either posl-<:mploymclll benefits, shon-tL'Ol> employee benefits, 
or other long-tcnn employee benefits. 
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Employttt1 Leave E'ntitlemem 
Employee entitlements l<> annual leave are n:cognized as a liability when they are oeemed to the 
employee•. The undiscountcd liability lhr leave expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after 
the end of the annuol rcportiug period is r.,.;ugnized forscrvices rendered by cntployees up tu the end 
ufthe reporting period. 

Foreign Currency Tr.m~action . .; 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded using the exchange ratu ut the dmc of the 
tran:)action qualifies fbr recognition. tvhmcmt'}' assets and liabilities clcnominaced in fOreign 
currencies are transluted using the closing r:~e of c.<chunge at the end of the n:poning p<:riod. All 
different.'<.'< are taken tn the conM>Iidated M•tcmem of comprehcn•ive income. 

Non-monutal)' items that are mcusured at hi:-tnrical cost in a foreign cut·rency arc ti'OuslaktJ u~ing the 
exchange mtes at the dates ofdtc initial tran~aclion. Non-monetary items measured at fa.ir "-aluc in a 
foreign currency arc translated using the exchange rates :u the da.tc when the fair value was 
determi11Cc.l. 

Income Taxes 
Cmrellf lnrom(' Ta,· 
Current income tax w;.~c.ts and finbilities fur the current aud prior periods nrc measured a( the mnoum 
ex peeled to be recovet·cd from or paid to the lucnriou aulhority. The tnx rmes and ~1X laws u:;cd 10 

compute the amount nre those that have b.."Cn tnaeted or 6ttb.>tanti>1!ly enacted as at the t'lld of the 
reporting period. 

(:)lrn:~nr incornc tax r~lming to iHHH:1 recognized directly iu OCT vr ~I..J Uil)' i~ recognla 'd in Ot:l or 

equily and not in profit or los... Management periodically e•'llluatcs positions taken in the tax rerum• 
with respect to situations where applicable tax regulalion• are subject 10 imerpn:131ion and establishL·' 
provisions where • PI>ropriatc. 

Dejl!rretl Jm:ome Tax 
Defctred income tnx is provided, using the balance sheel mcUmd, on all temporary differences at the 
end ofth~o: rcportiug period between the hlx hrHcs of assets and Jiabi1i1ies and their conying amounts 
fhr finaucial rcpor1ing purposes. 

Deferred tax liabilities ore recogni>.ed fO<' all 13Xable tcmpomry diO<:rcnces, except: 

• When the defcn'l:d t1x liabi lity arises rrom the initial recognition of goodwill OL' an asset or 
liability in a trru•sactiou thal i~ not a businc"'s combinarion and, at the rime of the transaction. 
affects neith<.-r the accounting profit nor to>.able profit or loss: and 

• In respt.-cl of taxoblc temporary difference.~ assocjatcd with inv~.:~tments in suh!\idiaries. associateii 
and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can 
lx: comrollcd by the parent and it is probable that the temporary diflcrcnces will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 

Deferred tux assets arc reeognizod for nil deduct ble tcmp<muy dilli:rcnces, carry-fotwatd of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses, to the cxtenl doat it is proboblc thai sullicicnt furun: taxable prutit will lx: 
available agniost which the deductible ttrnpoml)' diffc'I'CIIetS, aod the carry-forward of unused true 
credits anti unused tax losses can bcmilizctl. except: 

• Where the deferred tax asset rcloling lo thcd"ductiblc ccmporary diOercncc arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or ljability in a tr.u\S.th:lion tbat is not a businc ... -s..~ combinalion an~ 81 the time 
ofthc tmnsaetion. affect!. ncidter the accoun6ng profit nor taxable profit or loSil; and 
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• ln r.;spec.r of deductible Lt:mpOI'fll')' c.lil'tCrcnccs axsocintcd with i nvestmcnr.s in subsidiariest 
associates and interests in joint venture;, deferre-d tax nssets are recognized only to the extent !hat 
it is probable tbatthc rempor.uy diffen."ll'CS will revcr.<e in the foreseeable future and taxable 
profit will bo available against which the rempormy difT,=>ces can be utilized. 

n1e cllfrying amount of deferred ra.x assets is reviewed at the end each reporting period and reduc..'d 
to !he extent !hat it is no longer probable thr>t sufficient future taxable pmfit will be available to allow 
all or par1 ofdle deferred tax asser to be util.zcd. Unrecognized deferred tax assets arc reassessed at 
each rcrcn1ittg period and arc recognized to rhc extent thor it has become prohable that sullieiont 
future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assol' and liabilities are measured at the ~1x rate that is expected to apply to the year 
when the asset is rcali1ed or tho linbility is scM led, based on tax r-Jtcs (and t"x lnws) that have been 
enacted ur .,ubstanlivcly enacted hy the end of the rcporrins period. 

f)eferrod income tax relating to items rcmgnized in OCI or equity is recogni7cd in OCI nr oquity and 
not in profit or Joss. 

f)eferrcd 4>x asset< and deferred tax liabilirio; are olli;ct, if a kg-•lly eoforocahle right exists to set off 
current income tax a,-,octs again:.t current tax linbiliries •nd the deferred income taxes relate to the 
srunc taN;1ble entity nnd the.: same raxation nudtority. 

Dividend Distributjlll! 
Dividend distribution to the Pan.'nt Company <stockholders and :-.·cr i< recogni7Ad as a liability in 
the consolidnrcd financial slatcmcnts in the 1>oriod in which the dividends arc approved or declared by 
the P~ll'('nl C'omp311y·,. BOD. 

Conlingcnci~ 

Conrjng-:nl liabiJili~.:s are. not n:~osnized in the consolidulcd financial stmetncnts. Tht\~c are disclosed 
unless tho possibility oi an outflow nf resourc..:s embodying economic benefits is remote. <.:onrins,em 
assefs arc not recogni1.ed in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of 
economic benefits is pmooble. Contingencies, if it has become virtu oily cenain tl13t an inflow of 
economic benctit.s will hrisc. the n.ssc.-t and the related income are J'eCOgniud in the eonsolidatctJ 
finam.:ial statements. 

E\'ents AOer the F.11d of the R000nin• Period 
Events afler rbc end of rhe rcp<Jtting pcriod that provide ndditinnal information nboul the Group's 
llnancin l position at the end of the reporting period (adjusting events) Me reflc<.:tcd in the con~olidated 
financial statements. I.: vents after the end of tlr reponing period that arc 001 adju<ting event< arc 
disclosed when matcri.1l to the consolidated tiooncial statemeuts. 

3. Sununttry of Significant AccnuntingJudgnunts, fstimalts and Assumptions 

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements requires managc1nent to mukc 
jndgmcnLs, estimates and assumptions th;.-tt unCet the rcp01ted amounts of assets. linbilities. income 
and expense<, and the disclosure of contingent iiSSets and contingent liabilitiCli. f'untre events may 
occur which ,.;n cause the judgment< assumptions used in orriving at the estinuu"' to change. The 
effects of any change in judgmcn1s and estimot¢S are rcllccred in the consoJic.latcd financiar smlemcnts 
i ts they become reasonuhly de(CJmin;tble. 

lftUllllf~Wlll~lllllll~~~~~m 
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Judgments, estimates and nssumptions m'e continually evalwucd and nrc bast'tl (lO historical 
experience rmd other !actors, including expectations of' fu ture events thnt nrc believed to be 
rca$ooable under the circum~t:mce.s. However, actual outcome can dillCr from these estimates. 

Jud!!!!lCUl5 
In the proet."" of applying the Group's accounting policies. mnnngemcnt has mnde the li>llowing 
j udJ,'ments, npt~rt fh1m those involving estlmaf.ions. which have the most signiticaut cfiCct on the 
amounl"i: recognized in the coat~olidated fmnn::i.al !oitatemcnts. 

lh:r q{Goiug Concern A.\sumption 
The undeJ·lyi 11~ assumpti011 in the prepanUi<mofthe acco1npanying consolklatcd finnncial statements is 
thnt the Group hns the ability to continue as n going concem for at letLIC the next 12 months from 
December 31 , 2020. lltc u.<c of the going corcem assumpri(IO in''OlV<"' management making sigtlifiC'•nt 
judgmentS, at a particular poin1 in time, about !he fitmre outcome of event< or conditions that are 
inherently uucx:nain which indude, btu arc not limited 101 fhrccasted level of revenue nnd opcmtins 
~osts, cash nO\vs. nnd the other potential sources offinam:ing includ ing CUJlital raisiug activities. 
Management's u.~essmem on going concern mld steps undertaken or will be tu1dertaken to reduce 
operating cosu and manage financing plans or~ disclosed in Note I. Accordingly. the accomptLOying 
consolidated financial statcmcnr5 have been p1epan.'<l on" soing conccn> basis ofacoounring . 

• Mlne E.xploroJian Cns1s 
1 he application of the Group's accounting policy for explormion and evaluation cxpcndimre r<'quir•"' 
judgment in dctcnnining whc.1hcr it is likely thlt future economic benefits are likely either from future 
exptoita.6on or sale or wbere activities have not reached a stage \vhich pennits a reasonable assc.~sment 
ofrh~ cxistelJCC o f reserves. ··l'llC dctcnninntinn (lf :t n:·soUI'<'e- is itself :an csthnatiun p t<.lOosct (bnt roquito.cs 
varying degrees of uncertainty depending on snb-clnssilicutinn and these estimates directly impact doc 
point of deferml of exploration and evalootion :xpeodirure. The deferrnl policy requires management to 
make certain eslimnu.'S and assumption~ a\)0(11 :ullac C\'ct1ts or circwnsl3tlCCS: iu panicular ,,.bethc.:r iln 
economica1Jy vinble exfmction operation can be established. Es1imatcs and assumplions made may 
change if new inlhnnation bccumcs avniJttblc. 

u: niter expenditure is cnpit;~li7cd. infonnation !>e<:omes av-•ilablesugge<ting that the recovery of 
expenditure is unlikely. me amount capital ized is written on· in profit or loss in the period when the new 
infonnation becomes available. Mine exploration co,ts amounted to l'6.R27,286 ruod P(>. 746,644 '" "' 
December 31, 2020 and 20 19, respectively (.<cc Note 12). 

A.lst'.<!liflg R«O•'I'rability of Mille ExplomliOir Costs 
Mineral propcr1y acquisition costs are capitalized ulllil lhc viability ofLhc mineral irucrcstls 
c.lctcnnined. E-xploration! evaluation nnd prc-fCasibility costs are choJ-gcd to "Mine exploratioo cOS(!>,, 
until such time as it has been dctcnnincd that a property has cc.onomicnlly recovcmble t•eservc:-;, in 
which case subsequent exploration costs and the costs incurred to develop a propeny arc capitalized 
to mine and mining propeniCl<. TI1e Group rc\'l<WS tbo tarr)<ing values of iL• mineral property 
inh:rcsts whenever events or changes in circumstances iudicfl tc that their carrying v;dues may exceed 
their estimated net recovcrahJc nmount:-;. Mine explowtion costs amounted to P61W27,286 and 
<f'.6,746,644 as at December 31. 2020 and 20 19, respectively (se-e Note 12). 

As at IA."Cembcr 31,2020 and 2019, mine explcnui<m costs transferred to mine and mining pruJll'l'lies 
amounted to nil (~ce 1'\ote 12). 

IIWMIIMIUIIIlliJN~III 
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Assessing lmpairmelll mt Proper~v. Plant wul Equipnu:nt and Oilwr Nmrfuu.mdol Assets 
Tbc: Grotlp a~s impaim1ent on property, plant and equipment and other nonfinancial asseB 
whetlC\'L'f events or changes Ln circmnstanc.:c~ indicate that the carryins amount of an as!>Cl 1,uty not be 
n:x:overoblc. 

The factors tbarthc Group co1111iders imporunr which <'Ould trigger an imfXiinnenr review include the 
following: 
• Significant undcrperronnoncc relative w expected hiswrical or pt·ojccted ful'ttrc operotiJ1g results; 
• Significant changes in the manner or usc ofrhc acquired as~cts ot· rhe Slratcgy for overall 

business; and 
• Significant neg>tivc indu5try or econom·c trends, 

In dctcl'mining the present value of estimated fumrc cash nows expected to be generated from the 
cootim>i:d use oftiK! al!Sets, dlC Group is required to make estimate:. ond assumptions socb a.' 
commodity prices, discount rate> and foreign currency exchange rates th01 can mutcrially aircel the 
c::onsolidrucd tinancinl ~t<Jtemeuts. Commodi1y prices ond foreign exchange rates arc hased 011 the 
current und forecasts in different hanks. Dixc:ount rate c:-~limate is computed using the weighted 
avcrage cust of c.1pitul. 

An imJ>Oirmcnt loss would be recognized whenl!vcr evidence cxi.sts [hat the recovcraOJe amount is 
less thun the carryirtg amount. Few purposc.:.s nf nssessjng impainncnt. ••ssets arc grouped ar the lowe~t 
levels for which there arc separately identifiable cash flows. 

TI1e recovcmbJe amount ofrbe as~ct is detcnrined ns the higher of its filir valu~ less cost!> tu sell and 
value in usc. Fair value les.c:. cn~rs In sell is d'•tcm1ioed th: the amotlnlthut would h~ obtained f 1\tlll the: 
sale ofthe asset in an arm's-length transacliOL between knowledgeable and willing partie.<, uet of 
direct coSIS of sellin~; the asscl When >-:due iJ use has been undcnakcn, fair value is estimated by 
discoum ing the expected future cash flows using a dis<'.Ottnt ractor (hot reflects the; tnarket rate fhr a 
tcm1 co11sistcnt with the period of expected cash Jlows. 

The awcgate neL book values of property, plun and cquipmeot amounted to P6,1\S6.554 and 
1'6,858,669 as at Docembcr 31, 2020 and 2019, respec-tively (sec Note 9). 

The canyi11g nmoW1t of' other nonfinancial "''"C'S. which include advlltlccs to oflkcrs aud employees, 
advances to suppliers and coorrnctors, other curxnt assets and other uonCUI'TCI.Ir a~s amoo.•otcd to 
PI ,262,956 and ¥1 ,256,786 a' at December 3 1,2020 and 20 19, respectively. 

Assessing £xi.rotence uj'Significanl lnjluem .. :c~ 
In asses•ing whether significant influCIICC still ~xists, the Group considered nor only its pcn:cnrase 
m\·nership hut other fllctors such as the board szat representations il has in the as:,ociate's govcming 
body. its interchange of managerial pc:I"SOJUlCI with the associ me, and m~ttcrial o·nnsaclions between 
the Grour and its invc~aee, among others. 

As at December 31. 2020 and 2019. Ote Group fl'-''"'scd that it has significant influcuce over D.'vtTC and 
MMC and has accounted Ji)r the invc.'irmcnts os associates (see Note I I ), 

A.ue.rsing Recoverobi/ilyo{Defern:d Tax Asst1s 
The Group review,; the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets at the end of the reporting period nnd 
r<'<luccs the amounts w the extem thut it is no longer probable that sullicicnt funu'C tuxahle pro lit und 
l!lxable temporary timing ditlerences will he nva,lublc ro allow all or pnrt of the defcrrc'<l income IlL< 
iiSsets to be utilia"tl. 
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The Gr<lliP has deferred tax ussct.s amounting to 1'374,890 and 1'293.0il 3> at December 31.2020 
ond 2019, respectively (ree Nulc 18). !\u cl;:ferred tax assets were recognized far tempornry 
differences amomning to f>2,30 f,922 aud 1'2,465.921 as st December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respuctivcly~ since there is no :_tssumnc.c tha' lllc Group will gcne.rr11e sufficient future taxable income 
to allow all or part of its deferred tax assctl; to be utilized (sec Note 18). 

A)-sesfiflf,: the hu.finels models o.ffiuancial fl'l..,\'f!f.f 
The Gmur manages its financial osset~ based on a business modcl thnr maintains adequate level of 
fina.ncinJ 11.~scts to llHIIch ex.pecllld cash oul nm~,·s. 

·n .. Oro11p'~ biL•ii>CSS mndcl can be to hold :inancial assets to collect oontmclltal cash Oows even 
when sales of cert•1in finonciaf assets occur. 

Determining stage ujimpoinnem ofjinoJI<:id asset.< 
At each reponing dare.thc Group ass<.·sscs ''itethcr thel'e has been a significant increase in credit risk 
for financial assels ) incc initior recognition by comparing the dsk of de lilUlt occul'ling over the 
expected life bctv.•een the reporling dale aod 11tc dale of inhial recognition. The Group considers 
reasonahlc and supportable infomtation that lS rele\'ant and available without undue cost or effort for 
this purpose. This includes quantilati\'e and qualitati"c infomtation and forward-looking analysis. 
Qu.anlitnrivc criteria may include downgrade in investment grade. defnullrd assOIS. counterprtrtics 
' vlth objcctjve C\'idence of imp~lirmcnt. A si&niflcanl incrcnse in credit risk is nJso pn:sumed if o 
debtor is more than 90 days P'"t due in makins a contmcmol paymcn1. Qualitati\'~ criteria may 
include significant ad\'Lne changes in business, financial or economic conditions in which the 
countcrpany operates, actual or cxpeclcd rcstnrcruring. 

Exposures that have not deteriorated signi fk;Kllly since origination. or where the deterioration 
remains within the Group's in>-estment grnde criteria are considered to ha•·c a low credit risk. The 
provbiun for credit losses for these financial tSsets is based ou a 12-momlt ECI.. 

An exposure will mil\l'atc lhrougll the ECL s1ng<\S as a..<Set quality deteriorates. I f. in a subsequent 
period, a:<<ct q11alily improves and also rever.«< any previously ~-.cd significant increase in cnedit 
risk since origination, then the los.& allowance measurement reve11s from 1ifbtimc ECL to 12-mnnths 
ECL. 

Signif~<-'l.mt incretlSf! in credit rUk 
In assessing whether 1he crOOil ri~k on a financial instrumcm has incrCi'lSed signiticnmly since initial 
recognition. the Gl'()ur compares the risk of u dcf~nll t occurring on the financial instrument as nt the 
rcrorting date \Vith the risk of a dct~mlt occurring on the financial instrument as 01 the date ofinitia1 
rccognitioo. In making this asses;mcnt. the G10up consider.. hotb quantitative and qualit1tivc 
information that is reasonable and suppo11abfc, including historical experience and forward-looking 
infOnnZ~tion that is nvtti lahle wilhOut undue co:-.1 or e.ftbrt. Fnrward·looking infot•mfJtion considered 
include..., the future prospect:-; ofthe industries in which the Group's debtors operate, inf()rmation 
ohtained from economic expert r•'J'Of1S. finnncid analy;cs, governmental bodies. relevant think-tanks 
and other similar organizations, as well as considcr.ttion of v&rious exrcmal sources of act1.1al and 
forecast economic infOrmation thm relate tn the Group':-; COI'C opcmrions. 

In particular. the following information is taken into account when as54.."!\~ing whether credil ri:dc has 
increased significant I)' since inilial recognition: 
• an ncLUal or expected signitic:mt deteriorntion in the financial instrumcnl's ..:xtcnwl 

(if available) or illtemal credit rating; 
• exi>ting or forecast advcn;c cltangcs in busi tess, financial or economic conditions that are 

expected to cau~ 3 signifie4ln1 decrease in ue debtor' s ability to meet its debt obligations~ 
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• an uctunl or expected signilicnnt dctcriomtion in thcopc.rating rcsnlts nfthe debtor~ Ol' 

• au actual or expected signiticam advcnc: change in the regulatory, economic. or technologjcal 
environment of the debtor that results io • significant decrease in the debtor's abili!)' to mea its 
debt obligations. 

Irrespective of the outcome of the above as.cssment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased signifl<.-antly sbcc initial rtl'ttgnitioo when comraclual payment~ are 
more ~•an 30 days past due, unless the Group has rcaso11able am! supportable iufonnatio11thnt 
demonstrutes o1J,crvo~ i .'\e, 

Despite d1e fon.ltoing. the Group nsSUJn<:s tlllt the credit risk on a fu~ancial instnunent bns not 
increased significantly since initial recogniti::m if the tinancial in!-tnJnlent is determinL~d to ha\'e fow 
credit risk at the rcr01ting dace. A flnaudaf instnuncnt ito detenniucd to have low credil dsk jf 
i) the financial instrument has nluw risk of tlcJUult, H) tltc borrower ha.li. a suon~ capacity to mcer its 
contractual cash tlow obligations in tbt ncar tcmo and iii) ad\.= cl~ang<.'< in economic and busincs.< 
conditions in the longer ten:n mny, but will n:n nect!.:-oarily. reduc~ the ability oft he borrmver ro fulfil 
iL'i- contrac1ual cash flow obligntiuns. The Grc•up considc1·s a finnucial asset to have low cn.:dil risk 
when it has au internal or external credit mti11g of"invesoment grade" as per globally understood 
deflllioion. 

The GrClUJ> regularly monilors ihc effectiveness of the criteria used to identity whether there lllh been 
a sig.nHic.:ant increase in credit ri...;k nnd revise~ them a$ appropriate tn ensure that the criteria are 
capable of identifying signilicanl increase in credit risk before the amnunt becomes past .Juc. 

EstinKtkii nnd Assumptions 
The COfl,ulida.ted finunciol stn(CJncnt;o; pn:patu.l iu (II.A:-tJf4.Jance With PFRSs require lllatlag~..-·rncnt lo 

make estimates and ns.~umptious that affect amounts reporte-d in the consolidatC<l financial stalcn>ents 
and related notes. l11c e~imatt.-,.; :uld assumptions us\.XJ in 1he con~1idnted financial statements arc 
hased upun maungcmcnfs evaluution of relevant fhcts and circmn~umces as of the date of the 
consul idtttcd tinancinl statements. Actual results could diflCr from such cs,timntus. 

Rewmr«' R£Jtoguition 
The Group rccognil:eS revenue fl'Om sale ofb\!llion and concentrate at the time these are produced 
and shipped to buyer smelters, rc~pectivcly. Revenue is rneasurcd hascd on shipmem \'alue bnscd on 
quoted metnl prices in the London Bullion Market and Lonok10 Market Exchange, .. Shanghai Gold 
E.xchange. and wcighr and assay for meta) con:ent net of smelting and treatment charges. Provisional 
shipment values up In 98% bullinn and up tn 100% concentrate while the remaining balance is 
collected upon delenn ination ofrhc Jinal shipment value bi•scd on final weights ond assnys for metal 
content and prices during the applicable QP lt~s deduction for.mching and treatment charges. Total 
recogniLed revenue relating to sate of metal> nnountcd to I' I ,456,41!4. 1'2,030, 103 and 1'2.08 l ,563, 
net of smell ing and trcah1leot charges of 1'36,1 g:l P168,K79 and 1>152,7%, in 2020, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively (sec Note 2'1). 

Estimuting Ore Resen'CS and Rcsnurces 
Mineral rc:tcrves and n.-snurces c!.limates for development projects arc, to a Jargc extent, based on the 
intcrprctntion of geological data obtained ~·rnll :!rill holes nnd other sampling techniques and 
li:asibility studies which derive estimates Of CO>IS based Uf'Oil anticipated tOnnage and grades Of orcs 
to be minc.J and proees.«:d, the configuration oftbe ore body, cxpectc.J recovery ra1es from ~IC nre. 
estimated opera(ing costs, estimaLcd climatic condilions and other f.tctors. Pmvcn reserve estimates 
arc at1ribUh~d lo futur'C dcvcloplllCitt projectS Oltly \Vhere there is a significant COJn•nitment lo rmject 
funding nnd extraction ond lor wh ich applicable govemmcnrnl and regulatory appro\'als ha\'c bet:n 
=ured or ore rea>onnhly certain 10 be S<.'Curt'd. All proven reseiVC estimates are subject to revision, 



-33-

cirherupwanl or downward, based on J\C\a;· lnfhrmntion, such as from block grading and p1·otluction 
activities or li'om c;hnuges ln cc<momic factor.-; includ ing product prices. contract terms or 
development plans. 

Estimates of reserves for undc•·eloped or pa:tially developed areas are subject to greater unccrt>inry 
over their 1\otul\: li fe than estimate.' of resef\es for "''"'" that are substantially developed and depleted. 
As an area goes inro production. tho amuunl ofprovcu reserves wHI be :,uhjcct ro future rcvhdun once 
additional inlhmlation becomes nvnilnblc. A.s those nrens arc litrther developed, new i.nfonnation 
may lead to revisions. The estimated recoverable rc:scr\'c.S are used in the cnlculation or depletion, 
depreciation, amortization and teSting for i"ll"inllcn~ the assessment oflife of mine, and forecasting 
the timing of the p8)mc"tlt of provision for mine rehabrlitation and decommil<<iooiog. 

Jn accord:mce with its policy, the Company reviews the C!oiimmed rc..\ourccs nnd resc-rvt'i'i on nn 
ongoing hasis. This review iud icntcd that a P<ll1ion or n;snurce were pan of the ore ex(racrcd in prior 
ye~r. As a result, e ll-.,ctivc .January I, 2019 . :he Compnuy added a portion or resources cxpococd to be 
C(mvcrted into rc.orvcs in the calculation of depletion. As at December 3 I, 2020 and 2019. mine and 
mining properties presented under property. plant and equipment amounted ro 1'5.315,156 nnd 
P5,419,9K6, rCl!pccth-ely (sec Note 9). 

Estimating Allou·ancefor luwmtoJ:Y Ob.mlesunce 
Parrs and supplies inventuric.s. which arc used in the Group•s operations. ore stated at the lower {)f 

cost OJ' NRV. Allowance for invcmooy obsoksccnce is established when there is evidence thutthe 
equipment where the parts and supplies were originally purchased for arc no longer in >ervi<:e. 
Materials which are non-moving or have become unusable urc priced at their recoverable amounL 

Inventories cnt'ricd til lower of cost or NRV, amount lXI to P550.965 and 1'524,477 as at 
December 3 1. 2020 and 201 9. respectively (see Note 6). 

E.~tinuuing lmpainucnt of /n~t·slmcm.f in and .4.dvall(:i'f to Associate.'f 
The GroUJ>assesses whether there nne any indicators of irnpainnent for investments in and advances 
to associates ut the end of the n.']10rting period Thc.<c assets are reviewed for irnpaimleflt whencvt.'f 
e\'cnts or changes in circumstances indicate tl"'J the carrying amoum rnay not be recovcrahle. If any 
such indication exists nnd where the cmryiHg o,:aluc exceeds 1hc c~1 ima1ed rocovcmhJe nmounl, the 
investment is written down ro it." rccnvcrnble amount. 

Provision for imJ>.1imtent of invc<tmem in associates amount<'<! to P7.359 and nil ha.< been !\:COgnized 
in 2020 and 2019. Investments in and advanc.s to asl«X:iates amounted to P557,847 and PS64.256 as 
at Doo:mber 31, 2020 and 2019, rc>JX'Ctively (see ~ole I 1). 

Esrimation of AI!nwance for lnlpHjmwnt of Finnnciul t\s,(ets 
Provision for /!,'CLfnr Cash. Ji·ud(! Nc.•cei11ab/e~· (nut subject to provisional pricirrg). ,·Von·trmJP 
Ret.:eivablc:r anti Cvntract Ass.e£J 
The Group USC>~ a prm•ision matrix to calculate llCLs for tmde r=ivablcs not subject to provisiooal 
pricing. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of vurious customer segments 
ll1at ltavc similnr loss patlcms (e.g., by geography, product type, customer type and!or rating, and 
coverage by Jt th.:I"N nf credit and other fQrrns of credit insurance). 

The provision nuurix is initially based ou the Group ·s hiswrical observed default rates. 'll1e {I roup 
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forv.'8nl-lnoking 
in.fonna.tion. For instance, if forecnsl economic condiricms arc expected to dcteri(}((Ue over 1hc next 
year, which can le:ul to an increased n11mher of defaults, the historical defnuh rates are adjusted. At 
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every repurtins date, the historical obscrvec dcfaul1 rates arc upda1ed nnd ('hanges ial the rurward~ 
looking cstimntcs are analyrcd. 

The assessment of the comllntion between tistorical observed defaul! rates. forecast economic 
conditions and ECLs is a si&nificant cstimote. The amount ofECts is sensitive to change. in 
circumstance:; and of forecast economic ~nrditions. The Group's hi~tcuical credit loss experience nnd 
forecast of economic condilions may also nol be repre-scnuative of customer's actu:.l d~:J:mlt in 1h0 
fumre. 

'11tc Group measures its ECL em cash. nOn·trudc receivables and contntct asset in a way thai reflects 
nn unbiased and pmbahility-wcightcd amount determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes 
nnd the time value of rnunC)'· In mcasLUing ECL) the Group consider whether there is a signi ticanl 
increase iu credit risk. The Gmur uses an ECL model that considers the Probability offlefatth (PO), 
Los. Given Default (LGD) and Exposure at Default (EAD). In estimating the ECL, the Group uses 
nil availahJe infonnation in measuring ECt..., s:uch as avnilablc credH rating of the irl.Strumcnt.s aud the 
dchtor, defituh usscssment on the debtor, imd histoty of experience with the debtor. A fotwatd· 
looking inJbrmt'ltion, such as intcrC$t rate, inflation rate and changes in the gross domc~tic product, is 
incorpor•tcd and its relationship "ilh the creditlo.-. is analyz(-d at each reponing dnte. 

The corrclatjon of fimx:ast economic condilions and ECL is a significant estimate. The amount of 
ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumsromccs and of fOrecast economic conditions. The Group's 
forecast of economic conditions may"''" n01 be rcprc<cntative uf the debtor's actual default in the 
future. 

t\s at Lleccmhcr 3 J, 2020 and 20 19~ tolal financial asxcts of the Group n..n()unt.-d to 1> 194,787 and 
1'310,993. respectively. Allowance for ECL on fi nanciolasscrs amounted to l' 18.955 as at 
Dcccmbcr31. 2020 and 2019. 

Inputs, auumptirms ami esllmmion teclmlquc;; 
The llCL is measured un either a 12-month or lifetime basis depending on whether there is a 
~ignific.ant hu.:rc~tsc in crlltlit risk or wht.:thcr M asset i~ considen.xllo he credit-impaired. 11u~ E\l. 
model consider> the PO, LGD, and EAD. dcli>cd as follows: 

• PI'Obability ~( d~fau/1 
The PO reprc•cnt> the likelihood of n customer def.1uhing on its l'inuncial obllgntion. either over 
the next 12 months. or over (he remaining lifC oftbe obligation. PL> estimate.; nn:: estimates ala 
certain date, whicb an: colculated ba>cd nn statisti<:<ol rating model<. and assc.<s<-d using rating 
tools tailored to the various t·ategories of rounterpanics and exposurc.t;. These statistical model~ 
nre based on internally compiled tli.Jta comprising both quantitative and qua1itative factorx. 
Where it is nvoilablc, market data may ttlsc• be used to derive the I'D for large enrpomlc 
counterpa.rti¢~. If a countc.!'rparty or exp<>Surc migrates between rating classes, then this wiU lead 
10 a change in the L'Stimate of the associated PD. PDs arc estimated considering the contractual 
manrritic~ of exposures und estimated prcJHymenl rates. 

The 12-months ancl lil'etime PD represent the expected point-in-time probability of a default over 
the next 12 months and rcnl<>ining lifetime lfthc linancinl instrument, m.'j>Cdivcly, based on 
conditions existing at the bolancc sheet date and fumre economic conditions that affect credit risk. 

• l.oss given (/cjt.w/t 
Loss Given Default represents the Group's oxpcrtation of the cxtettl of I= on a dcliculled 
exposure. ucking into account the mitigatin& effect of collateral, itS expected value when reali1ed 
and tlle time \'alue of money. LGD varies ty type of cetunte.rpany, type of seniority of claim llnd 
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availability of collateral or other credit !11pport. LCD is espressed as a percentage loss per unit of 
exposure utthc time of default (EAD). LGD is calculaiL'd on a 12-momh or lifetime has is. where 
12-momh LGO is the percenroge of los; expected to be made if the default occurs in the next 12 
month.• and lifetime LGD is the percentage orlo.s e.<pccted to be made if the dcfaulr occurs over 
tbc remaining expected lifetime of the Iron. 

• ElJJOsurc at dr,/ilull 
EAD is based on the amounts the Group expects to be owed at the time of doluult, over d1e next 
J 2 mouth~ or over the remaining liJCtime. For example, fhr a re\:olviog commitment. the Group 
includes the currunt drawn balnnce plus rtny further amount rhm is cxpcc[cd to be dt·nwn up tu the 
current enntmcmnllimit by the time of default, should it occur. 

The ECL is dctcnnincd hy projecting the PD. LGf>, Md EAO for each luture month and for each 
individual cxpo<tll'e or collective segment. These three components are multiplie-d together and 
adjusted for the likelihood of survi>11J (i.e. th< exposure has not prepaid or defnulioo in an earlier 
month). rhis clfccti\•ely calculates an OCL ~,..each furure month, which is then discounted hack to 
the repm1ing dnte nnd summed. The discount rate used in d1e ECL calculation is the original EIR or 
an appruxlmm ion thereof. 

The lifetime PO is developed hy applying n moturity prnlile to the current 12-mnnth I'D. The 
maturi ty prnfile looks or how detauiL< develop on o portfolio from dte poiut ol'initinl recognition 
throughout the lifetime of the loans. The ma~n·ity profile is based on historic~! ob.<orvad data and is 
assumed to be the !\amc ac.ross aU assets within a porrfolio and cnxlit grade hnnd. This is supported 
by historical analysis. 

The 12-month and lifc~ime EADs are detennhcd has.."d onlbe conln!ctualrcpaymeuts ow~-d by the 
customer. Early repaymeolfrefinancc assumpcions, when allowed, are also iuCOip013ted into the 
calct1~1tion. 

There have been no significant changes in estimation techniques or sjgnificnnt assumptions made 
during the reporting period December 31, 2020 and 2019. 

btCfJTjlOYllliQJI 0/(urward~/ooking iU/OI'IilaliUJI 

The Group im.:orpor.ucs forward-looking inHumation into both its asset-~sment ofwht::thcr the credit 
risk of an instrument has increased significnnt.y since its initial recognition and its measurement of 
ECL. The Group bas identified and documeul..-d key dn\'Cr.< of credit risk and credit losses of each 
financial instrunlcnt• and, using an analysis ol historical data, bas estimated relationships between 
macm-ec(lnomic variabk-s identified and credit risk and credit losses. Predicted rclarionship between 
the key indical<m; and default and)<,,, rates on financial asset• have been developed hosed on 
analyzing histuticul data.. 

Leases · E..\•JimnthtR IBR 
The Group ca1111nt rc4ldily determh1c tht.: intcrc:~ t mtc impJicit in the lca.sc, therefore, it w\cs its JRR to 
measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate ol'interc.st that the v roup would have to pay 10 burrow 
over a similar I CI'Ill, and '""ith a similar security, tho fund'i necessary co obcain an ussct of a similar 
value to the right-ol:use asset in a similarct'<lnJmic environment. The IBR tl1ereforc rellccts what t:be 
Group 'would hove to pay', which requires estimation when oo obscr¥ablc r•tcs are avnilablc (such as 
for subsidiaries thot do t10t enter into financing transactions) or when tbey need to he adjusted to 
reflect the tcnn• and conditiOtiS of the lease (fllf example, when leases are not in the sub,idiary's 
funclional currency). The Group estimales ~'" IBR using obser\'ablc inputs (such ns market intcrcsl 
rates) when av:tilnble 1.\J~d is required to make Co!l1ain cnti1y-specific estimates (such ns the 

UIWiiiUI~II~IIIIIIIflrl~lllf~I'IM 
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,..b.,idiary's stand-alone credit rating). TI~e Group's lcliSC liabilities amounted 1'6,455 and P11,822 •·' 
ofDc:~..:mber 31, 2020 and 2019, rco;pccri\•ely (sec 1\otc 30g). 

F.stinmtion ofRetiremW11 Benefit f.).'pense 
The cost of dcfinod rctircmem obligation os well as the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
an: tlctcnnined using acruariaJ valuaticms. The actuarial valuation involves making \'ariou~ 
assumpciom. These include tbe detennination of tbe di>count rates. expected rates of rotum on assets. 
lim~ee salary increases, monality mtes nnd f•ture retiremc:nt increases. ()ue to the complexity of the 
valuation, the underlying ossurnptiun• and its long-term noture, dclincd benefit obligatinn are highly 
sensitive to changes in lhcsc assumption~ . . J\11 assumptions are reviewed at c~1ch end of the rcp<ming 
period. As at December 31, 2020 and 20 J 9, thc reti remcm benefits liability of the Gt·oup amounted to 
1'1.547,663 and 1'1.205.852, fl'>'jx:cti\•ely. Not retirement costs amounted to 1'101,921, P122,432 and 
1'142,6(,6 in 2020, 2019 and 2018, ro<pcetivdy (sec :--'ote 17). 

In de termining the appropria(t Uiscount mtc. managemcm considers the interest rate:; o f government 
bontb thnt are dcnominoted in the currency in which the benefits will he paid, with cxLrupol:ued 
man~ritie> corresponding to the expected duration of the dcfon<:d beuefot obligation. Furtlt~r detail• 
about the assumptions used arc provided in "'-ote 17. 

E,:,timllling !.iobilityfor .Mine Relmbililtl/inn Cost 
The ultiluat~ cost of mine r!.!habilitatiou and dccnmmjssiouing is uncertniu and co!'t estimates can 
vary in 1·esponsc to many filC(()n; including changes to the relevant legal rcquircmt·:nt:;. the emergt.Ttcc 
of new rcstorationtcchniq11es or experience. The expected timing of expenditure can also change, for 
example in R-sponse 10 changes in ore rcser.·c; or production rates. As a result, O>cre could be 
significnnt adjustments 10 the provisinn for rn.nc rchabilitntion and dccnnunissinninc. whir~h would 
ancct future fulnnciul rc.<ults. 

The provision fur mine rehabilitation and decommis-sioning cosh is based on e;;timatl'li fitmre costs 
using infnnnation availahlc at the ernJ of the r<porlingpcriod. To the extent the actual COSL< differ 
from th..:sc csrim.:11es, adjustments will be recorded and. the rrofit or Joss may be impaclcd. As at 
December 3 1, 2020 nud 20 I 9, liability for mir.e rehnbilitntion cost nmoumctl to l' 169,349 and 
1'159,974, respectively (sec Note 16). 

£vtimu/ing Fair Values of FitllTIIcia/ Aufls and Uabilili<!s 
PFRS• require tbat ect1ain finnncialas:<et. and liabilities he carried at fair value, which rcquires tl>e 
use of accnunting j udg.mcnL and estirnaws. Wllife signjficunt componcut!. of fair value mcnsurement 
are determined using verifiable nbjective evid<11cc (e.g. foreign exchange rmcs, in1crcst rntcs, 
volatility rates), the tinting and amount ofchar..ges in fair value wouiJ tliffcr with the valuation 
metl1odolugy used. Any change in the fair value of these linancial asset> and liabilities would directly 
affect the consolidated slatemc'!lt of comprei>CJsi,·e income. 

The canying values ond corresponding (hir values offinnnciaf asse~ and finnnciallinbil ilics as wcJI 
as the manner. in which fair values were dctcnnincd arc discussed (see NOh! J 1). 

Estimating Crmtingende,-s 
By their nAture, contingencies will only be resdvcd when one or more fim1re events occur or fail to 
oL·cur. The assessmcn1 nf comingcncic.~ inherently involves the exercise of significant judgment aud 
estimotes of the outcome uf future events (sec Note 30). 

IIIII~WMlllllR\IIftllll~l1tft~i1tM 



4. Cash 

Cash on hand 
Cash in hanks 
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Cash in banks cam interest at the. respective bank deposit rmcs. 

2020 
1'4,079 
27,367 

1'31446 

2019 
f!6,118 
56 505 

P62,623 

Interest income earned from cash in banks a01ountcd toP 102, 1'198 and 1'274 in 2020, 2019 and 201X, 
respectively. 

The Group has United States dollar (US$)-<lcnominatcd cash in banks amounting ro US$99 and 
l!S$407 as at December 3 I, 2020 and 20 I 9, ro:.,pcctivcly (see Note 31 ). 

5. Rcc.ch·ab1es and Contruct AS<ets 

Recei vah/es 

Trade 
Nontradc 
Officers and emplovc'"' 

Less alJo\vance for e-xpected credit losses 

2020 
1'68,898 

26,670 
2,825 

'Jit,~•n 

18,955 
1'79 438 

2019 
P.S3.970 
33,41 2 
2,646 

QO.O?R 
1X,955 

f!71.073 

Trade receivables include the Group ·s receivables arising from its shipmeuts of g_old, silver and 
concentrate to refinery and smelter customer under the Relining Agreements (fV\; see Note 29) and 
receivables from third party customers for dri!1 ing, hauling aud remal services. 

Nontrade receivables comprise mainly of rcccivoblcs lh>m related parties and other third parties, while 
receivables from ofticers and employees pertaiu to cash advances made by c1nployees for rlJe operations 
of the Group subjc<:t ti>r liquidation. tinliquid<ted receivables from officer.< and employees arc 
collectible 011 demand or considered as salary lc<.luction. 

Trade, uontrade rmd T('Ceivabh::s lfom otriccrs aod employees are uonimercst-bcaring_ and arc gcncraHy 
collectible on demand. 

l'rovision fOr ('xpcctcd credit losses on receivables amounting to nil, P41 146 and ¥~6 were recogni7.ed 
by the Group in2020, 2019 and 20 1H, rcspcclivcly (sec Note 24). 

Movements of allowance Hn expected credit losses are as follows: 

Balance at begiruting of year 
Trade 
Nontr.tdc 

l'rovision (Note 24) 
Balance at end of year 

2020 

P18,441 
514 

1'18,955 

2019 

Pl4,295 
514 

4,146 
l'IR,955 
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The Group has US$-dcnominatcd trade receivables amounting ro US$968 and L'S$595 as at 
December 3 I, 2020 and 2019, respectively (see Note 31). 

Contract assets 
Confract assets arc initially recognized revenue earned from unbiiiOO charges to rv1MC for drilling 
services rendered in 2018. Contract assets rctugni7.cd :1$ at Oec.ember 3 I, 2020 and 2019 amounted 
10 nil and I' I R, 732, respectively. 

6. ln\·enfHries 

Pans and supplies: 
ALNRV 
At COSl 

Mine products at NRV 

2020 

1'547,416 
94 

3,455 
1'550.965 

2019 

1'484.611 
359 

39,507 
P524477 

Parts and supplies on hand include materillls and supplies stored in Mch·o Manila, Bulacau, Mankayau 
and Lcyte. Cost of parts and supplies on hand amounted to 1'588,983 and 1'544,673 as at 
December 31,2020 and 2019, rcspec1ivcly. 

Mine products iuventOJy includes copper conC..'11Lratcs stored in a concentmte bodega owned by SSJ 
located compound in Pom, San Femando City, La Union. Cost of mine products amounted to 1'3,455 
~nd P39!507 Cl~ m; Dec:emb..:-r 31, 2020 und 201 •), rc:;pcctivc1y. 

f\·tovements in allowance for inventory obsolescence on parts and supplies on hand as ar 
Oeccmbcr 3 I, 2020 :md 20 J 9 are as follows: 

Balance at beginning of year 
l'rovision (Note 22) 
Re\'Crsal of allowance JC.>r inventory losse-s 
Balance at eJld ofvear 

2020 
1'59,703 

(18,230) 
1'41,473 

2019 
P4J,471 

18,232 

1'59 703 

Parts an<.l supplies inventories charged to profit and loss undcr"Consumables and suppJies" account 
amoumed to ¥437,737, ¥575,K44 and 1'560,708 in 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively 
(sec Kotes 22, 23 and 24). 

7 Advanci'S to SuppUers and Contractors 

AI; m December 3 I, 2020 and 20 I 9, the Group :ms advances to suppliers and contractors amounting to 
P298,659 andi'225,869, respectively. These atvanccs will be ofli;ct against future billings. Advances 
10 suppliers and contractors are non-financial assets arising from advanced payments made by the 
Group to its suppliers and contractors before go:x.Js and services have been received or rendered. These 
arc cla"isified as current since these nrc expccrcc to be offset againsL future short-tenn billings and are 
rct~ognizcd in the books at the amounts initially paid. 

Advances to suppliers and contrat.1ors are attJibutable to contracts ge11etally requiring advance 
pa)111ents. Amounts deposited wiiJ be applied a; part oJ'the filii payment oft he contracl price upon 
completion of the contract. 

ltllli~III!IIIUIUIII~IIIIUIIMHIIIRI 



8. Other Current Assets 

lopm VA 1 
Prepaid cxpcn..:s 
JJefcrrcd CO>ts 
Rental deposit~ 
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2020 
1'776,498 

89,941 
10,190 
2,745 

1'879.374 

2019 
P773.581 

153,182 
11,221 

450 
l'938,434 

By virtue of Revenue Mcmomndum Order 9-2000 dated March 29,2000, all sales of goods, propcrt)' 
and services mnde by n VAT-rcgistcrul pc1·~on 10 the Parellt Company, bcin~ a HXl% exporter, are 
automaticall y zero-rated for VAT puqmscs cllcclive August S, 2001. 

Input VAT repn.'SCIH> VAT paid on purchases of applicable goods and service.,, net of output tax, 
which can be claimed for refund or recoven:d a.< lax credit against certain fillure tax liability of the 
Group upon appnl\'al by the RIR and! or tbe Philippine Bureau of Cu.<toms. 

Prepaid cxpcnSl.':\ include advance paymenl-s for 1oxes. insurance. n.-,t and olher $C1Vices and costs 
incurred undel' operating de\•elopmcnt drives, 

Deterred costs rcproscnr withdrawals of tubing In be used in drilling operation,. <.:~>lis of which is 
ammtizcd based on mctets drilled. 

Rental dtl><>Sit.< nrc refundable ar the end of the l.::"c term. 

IIIIi m ~ 11111111 ~111 111 Uti m IM Rill If 



9. Prnpcrty, Plant and F.quipment 

Ccm:: 
BatancH st J>effmMr Jt, 1019 
AddUinns 
·rransftrs 
Adjudment to tapiiali7:rd cost or mine rehabilitation and 

- 40 -

2020 
Plant. 

m:~clllnC"ry, ~gbt..af-u~ 

)tine: and equipment, and asset.s -
mluinJ,: llulldlugs and ofO« furnitu re <:on~trurdon wal"('bOusc and 

pr,.penies improw.menh: and futunil l.and in-progrtss buUdin2 

Pl 1.9ll,372 
150,460 

623 

1'556,500 
1641 

i'3,273,ll8l 
66,..152 
5.118 

P71J.469 Pll4,%9 
~.OH 
(~,741) 

1'20,649 
4,lJ8 

Total 

P16,60l.961 
271,!53 

dec-ommi..ssinnin& (Not~ 16) ~.672 - - - - S.6n 
Rtrirtmta.tsfd.U·paul• - 276 (277.811) - - - (l71S3S) 
R:~lt~H at c-:nd orw·ar 1l.OX0.127 ~$6.936 '3.067.641 7ll . .at-.t 1~9.111 Jj.907 Ui.602....l!'l 

AccumullltL-d depletion. dtprcciation nnd amorti1atfon: 
K:alftnttS 1\t bc)tinnln& of ytttr 6~03.386 347,989 2.859,624 - - 9;361 9,120,360 
Dtplt.'iinra, depr«-latlon and amortization 161.~5 36.084 1 7~189 - - 9.411 471.269 
Nttlr'fmenta.nd di~pouls - 176 (li6.0.Wl - - - (175..764) 
Bal•nc~ at end of ,nr 6.764.971 3JI4..:U9 2..7SJ.77l - - 18..7i2 9 911.865 

AllowAn<'e for- impalrnttnl: 
Billi1nc:r5 at begl.mdRl:._IIRd enct of ~'t_nr___ - 19.241 • ,691 23.93! 

Ne1 bouk nlues PS..315.15lJ ttl S.\..146 P309.177 P713,469 ~I!!M,I60 ~.135 1'6.656.554 
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Cl.lSl: 
Balance.'! at Dcct!nbt"t' 31. 2(1 19, as pn:vinu~ly reported 
Adaocion ofPfRS If• 
B:danc:n at Janu.'W)' I . 2019. u rest:~tcd 
Additions 
Tru.n.<d'crs 
Adju.st.m<nt to capittlU:ed t"O.'Ct nf m;ne n:babilitstion and 
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2019 
l'l3nl, m~1t:hincry, N.lsht· of-u."c 

~fine and equipment. >~ml as.~\.3 
mining Building,• and ul'rlCC fumilt.~te: C'.('lf.t~tructiun \\~house and 

l'!rOI'-"'f'"Jes i!l'ttlf<'\'etnrn'!S and fixtures Land in~ boildin~t 

PI I,Kl £,.491 

11.836,<191 
41.233 
(7.666) 

P471_554 

471.554 
Q,~51 

76,>7g 

P~.425,U~ 

l.41S.Sl(, 
:14.217 
1~4.841 

P7l3.469 

71),469 

1'22<·.969 

226.'160 
122.053 

<2J4.om 

1'-
20.669 
20,669 

TCO>I 

P16,f,i4..109 
W.N"•9 

16.694,718 
197.354 

cl«<molls:sioning('IOI< 16) 53314 - - - - 5)JI4 
Retir~t.":di~posals (1383) (340.(,02) - 042,4SS) 
Hl'lll'll\tes a l end ('If year 11.923.:r72 .~56500 3.27.3.')X2 713.469 li4.W•9 20.669 16 .602.9(,1 

Accumulah:d dcplc1lon. dt"predar.it'ln and ;,unort17:!1iou: 
~at ~iru: af )'t'::'lr 5,800.464 317.192. 2..946.-10$ 
fkpletion,dcprecb1iona.ndam('l1i2:3tiun 612.,922 ~1.154 246,193 
R~tircmcm and diSPosals {1.15?)_ (333,5741 

9.15-1-.861 
9.J61 900,230 

- 1334.73 1) 
HaJMoes <l.l end o fye.v 6.S.03~'~(t ~47.189 2.85<JJ,24 9.361 9,720,100 

Al~~nce fo. impairment 
R:\I:Yices at hcp,tnnin~ and end of )'ell.! 19J41 4,691 23.932 

Net book value~ ~5,419.986 __ Plk•),l70 P409.667 P.713A69 PIJ4.96? ¥11,308 l'6.858.WJ 

lll~lmmllllmllllllnml~ 111m~1~ 
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Prior to 2005, the Group adopted the revaluation model and engaged an independent finn of' 
"ppraisers to determine the fair value or it.' land classified under "Propel1y, plant and equipment" in 
the consolidated statement of finuncinl position. WlliCII is cqwtl to the amount in tenns of ntOiley fir 
which the property would oxdmngc in the current real estate market, bc!wccn willing ll<ll'tics both 
having knowledge of all rclcvam 11tcl"'· n1c fhir vnlue wns estimmed using the market dut4t opprnach, 
which is ba.o.::cd on sales and Jisti.ngs of comp:.rabl~ property registered within the viciuiry thot 
cotl5idered factors such as loc.uion. si1.c and shape of the properties. 

In adopling the revaluation model, the Group applied the fair value as deemed cost exemption under 
PFRS I. First-time Adopti011 <>/ PFRS, to measure the Group's land at lair '"'lue at January I, 2004. 
ln 2012, the Group clos<:d outthc rcval.-11ion increment amo1111tiug to 1'5 I I ,504 as at January I, 2010 
to remioed earnings. ·rbc re••aluation "'""""" )'lCrtains to the remaining deemed <:OM adju.rn>c:nt on its 
land when the Group tr.msitiooed to Pl'RSs in 2005 (:l<'<' Note 30k). 

The Group re·estimatcd il' provision fhr rnine rehabilitation and deoonnnis~ioninga.( At 
June 14, 2020. Mine ond mining properties include provision fi>r mine rehabilito tion nnd 
decommissioning amounting to I' I OG,H I nnd PI 05,972 as at Decem her 31, 2020 and 201 9, 
respectively. 'l1le rates used by the Pur~'M t C'-<1111pany in computing depletion arc I' I, I 45, P2,R3R and 
1'2.464 per ton in 2020, 2019 nnd 2018, respectively, as a result of the costs capi~1 l iz.ed undct· "/vline And 
mining properties" ti>r Ute development of rhe Victoria fu>d Qualtl. Pyrite Gold (QPG) Pl'(ljcct. 

Cer1nin drilling equipment und~.:r upJnnl, much inery, equipmem, and ofl1cc furniture und lixturc.s" 
were used as coHateral for the Group's shOI't·tcnn and lung-term loans \\'ith a locnl bank 
(see Note 14). 

Comuruction in-progress pertains to variou~ mining operations requirements that \utd~.:rgo in·house 
constructions and fabric'lltio"' in Manknyan. As at Oet<'tllber 31, 2020 and 2019, the Crroup 
transferred construction in-prugn,.,.,, arnoontifll ro 1'5, 74 I and 1'234,053 , respectively, to mine and 
mining properties. and plant, m:>ebincry, C(juipmcnt. onicc furnirure and fll<Nres. 

10. Financial Assets Designated al f'VOCI 

As al December 3 l, 2020 and 2019, tho finnne1al "-~'cis designored at f'VOCl consists of invc~ttncnts in: 

Quoted equity shares 
UnquotOO equity shares 

Movements in fmandal assets dc~ignatcd m FVOCI are as follows: 

2020 
1'26, 194 

41,721 
1'67 915 

2020 
Balance at beginning of year 1'161,937 
Changes in fair values offmnncial &S><.'b drsignated 

atFVOCJ 
Disposals 
Balance a1 end of vear 

(94,022) 

1'67,915 

2019 
l';l 1 ,6~2 
JJ0.285 

PJ <> J,937 

2019 
P21 1.9SI 

27.121 
(77.135) 

I' I 61.937 
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'The follmving tahJe shows the movement on fitir value reserves for financial a!'scts dcsigna1ed m 
FVOCI shov.n as a separate component of equity. 

Balance at hcginnios ofyenr 
Changes in fair valuu.'i uf linancinl nsscts dosignarcd 

at FVOCI 
TransfC-roffair value resei'VC offiuunci:.tl ns~ts 

designated at FVOCI to retnincd Cltmings 
Balance at end of year 

211211 
1'58,603 

(93,993) 

(1'35,3911) 

2019 
P61,288 

26,801 

(29.4R6) 
P58,60J 

Investments in quote<! cquit)· shares pertain I) inv~sun(nt in common sbares of various local public 
oornpnnies and golf club >han.._ 

lnvesnnems assets in unquolcd cquiry shares pcnain to im·c.<lmenls in private local oompnni"" and 
therefore have no ftxed maturiry date or eoupon rate. 

Dividend income earned by the Oroup amouuted ro nil in 2020, 2019 and 2018. 

The l)arcnt Company executed o dCI.}d of assignment in favor of LCMC Employee Pcnsi01, Pion 
("the Plnn") on December 22, 20 16 covering 160,568,775 or 180,000,000 or its Prime Ori<nt 
l'hilippines, Inc. (POPI) shares for u tntul consideration ofPJ08,292. 

The obligation tu pay the balance of stocks subscriplinns payable ofP96.341 ~as b~c'11 ug, .• ,,.l and 
accepted hy the Plan. In May 2019, the l'urcnt Company paid its remaining stock >ubscriptions 
payable amounting to 1'11,443. Tbe ourstnndin~ balance of stock srtbscription pnyablc amounted to 
nil as at D~emlx:r31 , 2010 and 2019. 

In May 2019, the Parent Company dispo>«.-d ils shares in POPI with total.h:m:s of 19,431.225 for 
P69,234. On July2019, SSI disposed its shar!S in POPI "ith to<al sharesof2,060,000 forP7,901. 

As. at I.>cccmbcr 31. 2020. d1e Group has, no intention to dispose its unq1101ed equity shofCl<. The 
aggregate cosr of tbc'Sc inveshnenr.s amoumed to 1'41,721 and I' 130,285 as at December 3t, 2020 and 
2019, respectively. 

J I. ln\•estment~ in and AdvanCl'S tu As.suciuh,•s 

2020 
Acquisition co~l: 

Hahmccs 91 bcginnin}! :md 
end ofnar 

J\crum ul:lted equity: 
Sh:~re in net earnings (lou): 

Balances at beginning of ~ur 
~uiry in ntt IOS5 
Sha,.. in OCI - FA at FVOCI 
Share in OCI - RIIO 

BaJanres at end of \1 t:9 r 

(Forwanlj 

Pll,800 

(1,154) 
(470) 

(1'1,620) 

~me 

1'518,426 

30.306 
(1,405) 

28 
(B) 

1'28.906 

Tntnl 

PSJO 226 

29, 156 
( t .8~) 

28 
(23) 

1'21,2116 
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2020 
Allowance for impairment losses: 
Ballln(~es at brginning of ) ' I'!H,.. 

Prcn'i.sion lOr Jmnuirment lossc!i 
llnlances Ol end ur ytmr 

I nnstments in W§.!IOt'illtes 
Ad\'MOCl"S to assodart (Note 1 ~) 

20 1!1 
Acquisition cost: 

Balnnce.s at bcWnning and 
endofytar 

Accumulated equity: 
Sluwe in net en•·nings (loss): 

UalaJlCCS nl beginning ofyeot 
U1ui1y in net lo~s 
ActuariaJ gain on 

retirement obligntioo 
Unreali1.ed h))$ on 

linancial assets 
designated., rvocr 

Balances at end of year 
Jnvc-snnc:nt.o:; in asso..:inh.·s 
Advances to as.."''eiatc {Note 15) 

/m·'C'SIJII(!Ut in ,\-f,\!C 
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OMTC 

,_ 
(7,359) 
(7,359) 
2,H2t 

1'2 821 

DMTC 

1'11.800 

XI 
(1.231) 

( I.ISO) 
10,650 

P.I06SO 

) 1MC Total 

,_ ,_ 
(7,359) 
(7,359) 

547,332 5Sil, l53 
7,694 7.694 

.. ~~5.026 1'~7.847 

MMC T ()li\1 

P5t8 426 P530.211> 

32,2~5 32,376 
( t.74 t) (2.'J72) 

72 72 

(320) (320) 
30.306 2?.156 

54&.732 SS9.382 
4,k74 4,874 

P553,606 1'5(>4,256 

The Group effectively hns 19.60% ownership in ~1MC in 2020 and 2019. Th<L<. the Group ass~sscd 
that it has signif.cnn1 influence over MMC due to the following: 
(a) The Group has four out of nine bo:vd sealS nnd tlm:c ou1 of nine rcpr<.'l<Cntations; and 
(b) The Gmup has at le.,Si nine executive officers and one managerial personnel se1vlng as part of 

MMC's corporal~; numagement. 

As at Occcmlx.T31 , 2020, the fair value per sbareofMMC shares A and Unmounted 10 PO.OlOO an<l 
1'0.0110, respectively. As ar Decemlx.T 3 1.2019, the fair vt~luc per share ofMMC shan:.< A and D 
amouniOd to 1'0.0079 and 1'0.0080. Fairmarkel value ofrl1e investment in MMC amoulllcd to 
PS43,H75 and ¥412,391. as at Doccml>cr 3 1, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

lm·T!slmcnt in Dlvfl'C 
The Group 8SSC"-"<Cd that it has significant influmce ova- DMTC due to dlC following; 
(a) lllC Group bas ownership interest of25.44%over its Outstanding c.•piral sbam; and 
(b) "J he Group. th rough J)OCP, has at leasr Pl 5.1 million nr 54.71% contribution in the total assets of 

the DMTC. 

Provision for impainncnt of invesm>enl in aS>ociatcs anlOUntiog 10 P7 ,359 and oil were n:c<>gni7.ed by 
the Company in 2020 and 2019, respectively (sre N01e 28) 

·n1c Grnup measures Lhc investments under the equity method and prt.-parcs finnncial !tlah.nncnl~ for the 
same nJaR1acial reporting period as the Group. 
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·n1c filllowing table iiJustrnres swnmtui:t...cd tlnancial infonnation oftht: Group's invcsuncms in 
ASSOL:iatt'S: 

2020 DM'fC MMC Totnls 
Asset~: 

Current Assets 1'19,213 1154,460 1'73,673 
Noncurrent Assets 225 3,HI ,747 3 111 .972 
T otal Asset~ 19,438 3,166,207 3,1HS 645 
Liabilities : 
Currrot Liabilities 6,868 183,814 190.682 
Noncurrent J.iabilitics 1.480 70214 71 694 
Total Liobiliti~ 8,348 254.028 262.376 
Net Asset~ 1'11,090 112,912,179 112,923;269 
Nrt Lou (PI.R47) (1'7.169) (1'9,016) 

2019 DMTC MMC Totals 
Assets: 
Current Assets P26.333 P81.679 PJ08,012 
Noncurrent Assets 1,216 3,101 ,451 3,102.667 
Tol!d Assets 27,549 3.183 130 32 10 679 
Liabilities: 
Current Liabilities 10,6 19 181,551 192. 170 
Noncurrenl Llabilitic.'i 3,994 7 1 322 75 3 16 
To~11 Liabilities 14613 252.873 267.4~6 
1\ct Asset' 1'12.936 P2 930.257 1'2.943 193 
Net Loss (1>4,839) (P8,880) (P13,7 19} 

12. Mint Exploration Costs 

2020 2019 
Bal3nce at beginning of)'car 1'6,746,644 P6,683.763 
Additions 80 642 1\2,88 1 
Baltmce ar eod ofvear 1'6,827.286 P6 746,644 

l'tll'stJant to the agreement between Gold Fields Limited, FSGRI and the Parent Company, ongoing 
exploration and pJ'e-de\•clopmcnt expenses n1·c being incurred on the Far Southeast Project 
(sec Note 30a). 

Depreciation expense capitalized ns part or mine exploration costs in 2020, 20 I 'J and 20 I X :nnounted 
to I' IS, 774, 1'21 ,568 and 1'1 7.315. respectively. 

No allowance for impaim1enr losses on mine C'tpknation costs was recognized in 2020 und 2019. 

/iUlitllll!lnlllWIIImiMmllllllliU8 



13. Trade and Other I•ayablcs 

Trade 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 
Employee related expenses 
Accrued utilit ies 
Unclaimed dividends 
Payable to regulatoty authorities 
/\ccmed production tax 
L>ue to related partic~ (Note I 5) 
Trust receipts 

. 46 . 

Namre, tenn.s and conditions ofrhe Group's lilbilitics: 

2020 
1'1,194,81 0 

740,052 
104,523 
64,477 
26,695 
72,408 
14,675 
83,866 

1'2,301,506 

2019 
P562,032 

929,397 
XO, 174 
28,920 
26,695 
27,135 
19,81\4 

103,907 
1,847 

1'1,779,991 

• Tr.tde payahles include impoJt and local purchases of equiprnl'nl and invcnlorics such various 
pariS and supplies used in the operations of the Group. These are non-imerest bearing and are 
uonnally settled on 60 days' terms. 

• Ac.crucd expenses ;md other liabil ities are nonimerest-bearing and are nonnfllly scnlc<.l on a 30 to 
60 days' tcnn. These include otl1cr Oflt'r<ting expenses that are payable to various suppliers and 
con(ractors. 

• Employee related expenses include unclaimed wages, accrued vacalion and .sick leave and 
accn1ed payroll. These arc non .. interest hearing and are payable in 30 days' term. 

• Accrued utilities perrain to unpaid bill in~ f(n· power, communication .. light and water charges. 
Thc~-:c a1·c non-interest bc:tring and M~ l\Otl ll;llly setd~d \.virhio .30 to 90 days. 

• Unclaimed dividends pertain to unpaid cash dividends declared by the Parent Company to its 
stockholders. These arc non-interest bearing and are payable upon demand of the payee. 

• Payable to regulatory agencies include \Vitbholding taxes and other govL·mmcnt contributions 
related to employee> of the Unmp. These arc non-interest hearing and are ootmally remitted 
within I 0 days from the close of each mo:tth. 

• Accrued production taxes pertain to excise mxes on meud st~les. These arc non-interest bearing 
tmd arc settled within 15 days a tier the end of each quarter. 

• Tntst receipts refer to an·angements of the Group with banks related to iL' impm1ations of 
inventories and various equipment which are interest bearing and have an average tcnn of90 tu 

120 days. 

Interest incUJTed on n11st receipts amounted co PI I, PI ,274 and PI ,41 1 in 2020, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively (see Note 27). 

The Group has USS-{(enominated trade and od1er payables amounting to US$2,831 and USS2,S21 as 
at L>cccrnbcr 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively ('ec :-;ote 3 1). 

IIEIIII
1
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14. Short-term anlll<m~-term Debt and Othto· Interest-bearing liabilities 

Gold dclh'l.-ry agrcemem (US$1,000 in 2020 
and 2019) 

Obtained loon from banks: 
Peso-denominated loans 
US$-dcnmninated loans 

Total borrowing> 
Lt>ss currcn1 portion of JomHcnn borrowings 

Gold Delivery Agreement (uDAl: 

2020 

P48,023 

135,990 
2.393 

186,4116 
185,984 

P422 

2019 

1'50,635 

149.384 
2,523 

202,542 
202.542 

p 

In December 1998, the Parenr Comp<IDy ("lltc.W inro a loan anti Hedging Facilities Agm:mcnl 
(the Agreement) with NM Rothschild & Son>{Au<m~lia) Ud. (RothsdJikl) and Oresdner !.lank Au 
(0.-....dnCO") which provides for borrowings up to USS30 million aod hedgin11 facility up to 300,000 
OUIICC> of gold 3S may be agreed upon by the j>Bt1ics up to Oecetuber 2002. A minimum hedging 
amount of250.000 ounces was imposed tu sc"<ure the payment of the loan. The lonn was intended to 
fonancc tho working Cllpital requirements oftlk: Victoria Project (see Note I). 

The Agreement wns fit~t amended in 2000. and funhcr amended in 2002 principally with respect to the 
repayment of tho loan. The 2002 deed of am<<~dmcnt provides Jbr the extension ofrhe loan ngr<'Cmcnt 
up to September 2007. As at December 31. 2004, t.hc loans obtained from Rothschild and L>resdncr 
have be-en fully paid. 

In accordance with tht hedging facility, the l'a-cnt Company emered into varin<>< forward gold CODirncl• 
with Ro<hschlld and Drcsduer (Lmd~) whicl. provide lord"' buying or selling of gold in fiXed 
quantities at ce11ain fixed prices for deliver)' in various maturity dat~ in the ftnure. Any gains or losses 
on the forward safes contracts arc recognized tt>On closing nfthe peninent contr.u.:ls. 

At December 31, 2004, the Pnrent Company's !howard gold contracts to 'ell 169,043 ounces of gold at 
an average pliccof' US$295 per ounce will mnlUJ'I.) 011 vilfiou~ dates in dte future aud urc hcing rolled 
fonvard rchuivc tn the ongoing discus:-;ion with Lenders. These t:ontracts had o negative 
mark-to-market valuation ofUSS24 million based on the spot rate of l/S$43 7 pet' otutcc as at 
December 31. 2004. 

Tile 1'11rent Company doe< 1101 recognize any clcriv~rive fmancialliability under rhc hedging contracts 
with Oresdner. Aller months of discussionanJ ncsoti~tions, the l'arcnt Cmnt>any and Dn.'Sdner 
agreed iu D"'"crnhcr 2005 on a commercial resohn ion ro their controversy which was Jhnnaljzecf 
through a GDA that"''" signed on January 25 2006. Undcr theGDA. a gold loon of nboUI US$14 
million shall be r-epaid by way of minimummo~thly installments starting frum Fchnllll)' I. 2006 ttp \u 
September 30, 2009nfthe cash equivalent in lJSS of200 ounces ofgnld complHed ut rhc spot price in 
the market and any remaining balance to be fully repaid by the 11nal delivery on SCi>rcmbcr 30, 2009. 
The Pwcnt Company also hns an option to settk by ddivcry of quantity of gold. 

The GL>A contains ccnain covenants, which include, among othtTS, payment of kllcrcst. strict 
L"Omp1iance '"·ill• regulalory pro\'islons reg.1rdi.a11 inii..'ITI:tl revenue taxes and crwimnmcntal 
requircm<.,t>. =rictions in the incum:ncc of indebtedncs.• and certain derivative trunsactions. 
limitation in the dispo<al and transfer of asset' 11>d prohibitions in the purchase of issued shlll'CS. 
roduction in capit.1J nnd issuance of shares other than ror cash or make a dis.tributio11 nf assers or other 
capital to its stuckhuldcrs. 

11Dliii'~1~111~111RIIIII~~~Ili,WI,III,lllll 



• 4K • 

As fJ·om September 2H, 20 I 0, the rights of <.:omrncrzhank AG (Conunerzbank; fonnorly constituted as 
Oresdner Oank AG) und~r the GOA have berntrun;l't.m:d to Statham Capital COrpot"Jiiun (Sr.Jtham). 
Accunlingly, Statham is substinned for Ccm•mcr7.batll: as the financicT onder the GOA. 

An amendment to the GOA was entered into by 010 Parent Company. On October 5. 2010. a 
moratorium was agreed on, providing for the resumption of momnly deliveries of 200 owta:s in 
January 2011 and a final delivery date nf'Dccember 31,2011. Total amount under theGDA is 
US$10,027. 

On FcbmmJ' J 0, 20 II, onother rnun-uorium nnd resh,Jclurc agrcL·mcnt were c111ercd into by thl! ParCJll 
Compru1y. This J'C.,ultcd in a reduction in the tntnl outstanding. liability. with the cmrcspondinggain 
induded iu ··service fCcs and other operating income" in the consolidated stut..:mcnts or compreheusive 
income. In 2014. the Parent Company and St.;lthrun cntc..Tcd into another restmcturc agr~c..'nlcnt wherein 
the docdatt wa< extended 10 2017. The due date hns been extended again to 2019 and, in 2019, 1he 
due date ha; been further extended to 2021. A sat n.,...,.,mber31, 2020 and 2019. a he remaining 
obligatioo owing 10 Statham under the GOA amounting to t;SS 1.000 witb Pe-so cquivalcnL' of 
1'4K,023 and 1'50.635, respectively, i• payahk on December 31, 2021 as the final delivery date based 
on latc~t rcstrucnJring. 

The Parent Company filed a civil case against Rothschild for 1hc declaration ofrhe null ity of the 
forw~~rd gold cnntracts 10 sell 97,476 ouHc'"' of gold. Rothschild filed a mutionw dismiss and this 
was denied by the Regional Trial Court (1{'1'<.:: and .<uhscquenlly by tlte Com·t of Appeuls in 
December 2006. Rothschild elevated the matter 10 the Supr<'flle Court (SC) inl'ebruary 2007. On 
Nowmbcr 21!. 20 II . the SC denied the Motiun In Dismiss of Rothschild and upheld the jurisdiction of 
the RTC over the person ofRmhschild in the case for nullity of hedging contract> filed by the Parent 
Utmp:1ny m 2005. Tnal or !he case was completed by the RTC in 2017. In a decision dat(-d 
February 5, 2018. the RTC ruled in favor oft!>: Parent Company, declaring the lorwnrd gold a>otracts 
null and void. Ocfcncbna Rmhschild bas filed 1111 uppcal with the Coun of Appcul,. 

Bank Lo:m~ 
Borrowings from (l ineal bank are all cle<tn loans with interest rates ranging from 5.50% In 10.25% 
in 2020 and 5.50% to 8.75% in 2019. 

In September 2016, the Parent Company obtaiucd credit accommodations from the Bank of Commerce 
which turned past due and had an ouL, tanding principal balance in the total amount of L'S$432, 
exclusive of int<'l'<l<t and penalties as of May 31, 2016, e'idenced by 11\tll n:ccipts. During 2017. the 
Parent Compooy settled tlac full amount oft he outstanding 1031 balance. T Oflll intCr<'SI on the abo,·c­
mcntioned loan for the year 2017 amounted 10 0424. 

In March I, 2017, DDCP entered into a loan a~rocmcnt with United Coconut Planters Rank for 
additional working capital. The. proceeds ofth~ loan' Hmounlcd to 1>20,000. '11cc loan carries interest 
per annum oi'6.S%. This loan is payable in cisht equal quarterly installmcnL< of ,P2,500. nte loan is 
secured by :o chattel mortgage of drilling equipment. nte carrying value of the luun umounted to nil 
as at Oecembcc· 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The loan wa; paid on March H, 2019. n tc interest 
expe-nse rccogni7cd related to this loan amounted 10 nil, P45 and i'536 in 2020, 2019 nnd 2018, 
respectively (:.cc Nolo 27). 

lllliltii' IIIIIIIIWIIIII~~ ~mWitlf~Uf 
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In March 30,2017, the Parent Company ente:ed into an Omnibus Lorua agrctmcnt amounting to 
Pl50,000 witl1 Unired Coconut Planters Bani: (lJCPB). Maturity date oftl1c said loan is on Jtdy 2X, 
2017. ·me Joan c.anies interest per annum of 6.50%. The Joan is payable in full on maturity date and, is 
secured by chattel mortgage nf drill ing equipment which covers 200% of the Joan. The loan 'v:" rolled 
over at maturity dale aOer the Parent Company paid P J 2,400 of principal amount, therefore carrying an 
outstanding blllance of P 137,600. Same terms and conditions llpply for the rolled over loan. The new 
manuity date of the loan is November 24, 2017 but waHolled over again during2017. The canying 
value of tl1e Joan amounlt'd to l' I 06,XR5 as at December 31, 2020 and 2019. Total interest incurred 
related to the said lo;m in 2020,2019 and 201K ammmted U>l'R,9 I I, P9,005 and 
l'7,7X5, respectively (sec Note 27). 

In March 30, 2017, the Parent Company entered into a Term Loan agreement amomoting to l' I 70,000 
with UCPB. The loan carries an interest mtcof6.50% and will val) ' after the first pnyment 
dcp~nding on prevailing market rate and is payable in 12 equal and continuous qualterly 
amortizations. The Joan is secured by a chattel mortgage of drilling equipment (sec \'ole 9). The 
carrying value of the short- term portion of tt,c Joan amounted to P28,333 and 1'42,500 as at 
December 3 I. 2020 and 20 I 9, respectively. As of December 3 I, 2020 and 20 I 9, the long- term 
portion of this Joan amounted to ni l. Total interest incurred for the said Joan in 2020, 2019 and 2018 
amounted to.P 1,930, P5,340 and 1'7,235, respectively (sec Note 27). 

Itt July 31,2017, tloe Parent Company entered into an agreement with Philippine Bank of 
Conunuuicarions (PBCOM) to restructure irr; outstanding tnost receipts into long-term bank loans. 
The oulstanding balance of Peso and USO trt:Sl receipts on the date of restructuring amounted to 
'1'3,080 and 1'25,788, respectively. The Pes(l and USD loans bear interest at 8.75% and 5.50%, 
respectively, and are due on April I X, 2019. n1e carrying value of the USD Joan amounted to !'2,393 
and !'2,523, as at December 31,2020 and 2019, respectively. Total interest incurred amounted ro 
l' 149 and nil for Peso and USD loans for 2020, respecri,•dy, l'25 aud >1'304 JC>r 20 I 9, respectively and 
Pl43 and 1'990 for2018, respectively (see '>ote 27). 

On January 17, 2020, the Company entered into a Joan agreement with Asia United Bank (;\UB) also 
for additional working capital. The prococds of the loan aououuted to .PI ,042, uer of processing fo~s. 
documental) ' stamp taxes and mortgage fees. The loan cartil-s an interest per annum of I 0.25C}·O and is 
payable in 36 equal monthly installments ofP34, which started on February 17, 2020. l11c Joan is 
secured by a chattel mortgage of transportation equipment. Total interest incurred for the said loan in 
2020 amounted to 1'88 (see Note 27). 

15. Related Party Oisclosures 

Related party relationships ex ist when one part:; has the ability to eomrol, directly or indirectly through 
one or more intem1ediaries, the odter party or CJCercisc signHic.ant influence over the other party iu 
making financial and operating decisions. Sud relationships also exist bct\vccn ancL"or among entitjes 
which are under common conlml with the reporting enterprise, or be£ween and:'or among the rc...1mrting 
entcrplise and their key management personnel. directors, or its stock holden;. 

The Parenr Company has a Board-approved M:cteoial Related Paey Trausactioils (Matcritd RPTs) Policy 
dclining Material RPTs and setting fonh theappro,•al procedure for the same in compliance witll the 
requirements of Revise'! SRC Rule 68 and SEC Memorandum Circular I 0. sctics uf'201 9. 

IBIIIIIIIIIIIUII Rllll l Mil m IM 111.11111 
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Under tltc said policy, Matc1i:d RPTs.1hat is1 tmnsactions which~ eilhcr individuaiJy. or in aggregate over 
" twelve (12)-lllOI1th period with tltc same rclutcd party. amouut to at least tL'fl percem (10%) of the 
ComJ>3ny's COOI;Oiidmed total a=• b.'~Scl 01 i!$ lote>t audited financial stalcrnem:s, OL'<.-d to be apprcwed 
by at lca.r a two-thirds (213) vote of the boanl nf directors prior to cxccuriou. 

Intercompany tran.s.net-ions arc eliminated in the consolid:ued financial statements. The Group'~ 
related Jl3flY tr.nsoctiOITh, which arc under t:.-nns that arc no les; lovorablc thon those arranged with 
third parties, arc a' follows: 

2020 
Amou11t/ Oubb•nding 
Vohtmt· Bllhtnt:c Terms O mcUdons 

Subsidi:~rlts 

Rt'Cf'ivcbln 
llDCP Pl4,2~6 P-1 2(1._931 On dt'Jllfl11d; nnninftrdl~hfirilt~ l ~nsecm·e~ nn impnlrmcru, 

and coUettlbk in cas.b not gu:u·antel'<l 
LIDC 146 H9.867 ()n dtma.nd; n(lnhlltrnl~bf11riDl l!ns««rtd., no imp3frmetU~ 

lfld tJOUettifJJt in CQ'h not guarantt-f-d 
FSGRI 2,566 6R5 On dl'rnand; nonintr.I'!."SC·bt·uring llnM:.cun:d . no huJ•~tlnnt~a(. 

and colh:dihlt In u sh not guatMn leed 
Ad..vnas 
J'SGRI 94,140 On dt'mand: nnnintt-rtit .. lu'8ring l'nst-cured, •u• impah•menl, 

1111d t:flllr.ttlbiC' ln ca~h 1101 guaa'tnreed 
/1a_~·B/'Jit•J 

Sl 16,380 (16).767) Oo dcm.and~ nonioluut·bftllriog Uns«urnt. not )':.Winltnttd 
.and toDt•ctihlr In t-11Sh 

Rrntul 
I•'SGRI 2,274 Nt.ulintr rt"s.t •lk' lll'ing and rwrm.ally llns.ccua•td. not gu:.rtnltt"CC. 

"l!t tlrd on :tti-Ciiill\ l trm 

Srn'icn 
ODCP :16,227 N•~rllnftrtst-hclu'ID2 11nd nonnally t:nsec11ttd, not guarttnll'(d 

&cflh:d on JO·d~ay term 
Sl 16.380 P..ouJntt'rf$1-btari•g and DOnMIJy ll'lbtturect not guaramttd 

St"llltd on ~0-dA\' lc-rm 

20 t9 
Anll:lWUI ~t311J.S•ng, 
Volume H~ktnre Terms Cumlitions. 

Suhsidmrk s 
Rt't't'imhlt•S 
llOCP P- Pl44/o95 On dcruandi nanrntem.t-borin.g Unsc:aued. nn impl'tnnmt, 

:u1J collc~ibl c: in cash nut gmmm1e~d 
lll>l' m S9.12 t On Ucm.'lnd: IIOnintl'n;$4-b!uring Unllecurcd, no imrairmcnt, 

and coll~liihJc In cash not t uatlu'lte:d 

Alh·ances 
~'SGRI 94,140 On dcmund; noninteu;)l:(·hcaring lJnsccluuJ, no impau'm~:m. 

1wd collediblu in cash nul tuar1u11~~d 
Ptr.'l1Nt•s 
DOCP On denr.and; nooin1cre<e-bcaflng Uns.."'lC'Un-d, llOI, &uou~nu::ed 

t~nd coiJectiblo in cash 
St 15.38 1 ( t 66.58~) On rlcnwnd. nonintciCSt·bcaring L'n~'(.:urcd, not gu~•mnceeU 

and coUcctibfc in cas.'l 
F$GJU 2,749 (1,)44) On dC!ll.ltMI: noninttte$1-.b:aring Un._..:oarrcd, not ~-uamn1ced 

"ud {';(Jif~:ctihtc if• c<J:.h 
Hf•nwl 
fiSGRI 2 .274 ~unrnrctts~·bellrin!, an.J nonnall)' l1n.<;;eCUred, 00( gta..lrlflt~ 

stlllctl on Jo.da · tttnl 

S('n 'ice.J 

~· 
2,tiM Nonimere .. •;t-tx:Muig anti nonnaUy UIJS<('u~d. nor guoru.ntte<l 

w=nkxl on 30-da>· 1am 

lUW1\I~lUi~BWftl'llli~ll 
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a. In the nom>al conrse ofhusiness, UIC Oroo.p grants and re"'ives advllllccs lo and from il' associates 
and stockhuldcrs, which arc considen:d related pnl1iC>. 

The corrt.--spunding recci vahlc.s and pay~blcs arising from the said lrrms.act ion~ including operational 
•uppon as at December 31. 2020 and 2019 •~ as follow": 

ASJOdat r.s 
Rf'M•'flbl~: 
llMTC 

PII}YlM>::s: 
O~n-<: (Nott 13) 

~I~IC(Nol< tJ) 

t f tlvtim't',,.: 
MMC(Nol< II) 

Slockholdtl"1 
I'MJ'tlbla: 
Vu1•ious (Noh.· 13) 

At~S(Ici:ucs 

RtVVimh./t> 
OMTC 

Puwrhlt>s. 
OMTC(o;OI< 131 

MMC(Not: m 

Atlt'flnr.e.s· 
MMC (NOic I I) 

S«><l:llold"'• 
Pd)ab/ts: 
Vtuloul(~b: l.l) 

21120 
,\mounl/ Outstandins: 
Vohune- Hal.luKc- Ttrms 

62 

iitl,g61 On dL•rmmd; nonfuh:,rt!il~hr,llring 

• ncl colloctlhlc h• c:a'>h 

( I~.UZ) On demand: noninltrt51-bf111rhtJ;:. 
and toll~ti.bk in tiStl 

(12.~tl) On demand: noninlr:n't>f .. bt-ln1ng 
und colltcllble In ush 

7,6~ N·mintett,.t •IM.·twing :and nornually 
Jt•llln:t oa JCM11" ltrm 

(56,084) ~·unlntt•·est·bearinJ,t Jtnd 
art oo•• ~tut.lly settled to t111sh 

on 34klav lcrm 

20 19 
Amvunl/ Outslaut.liug 

TtiTIIS Vo/uun: B~lrau<.•c: 

PJ.l~ On dcnlMd: DI:On!~~~hesnng 
;~~nd c&Utoctiblc in cao:h 

1,198 (11>,606) On dcmAtld: tl-.mintc:re.ocl·bOIIfln_g 
and colle\:tiblc an cash 

(31 ,1tg) On dcrn.'\nd, ooniokr'e11...bc:.iJ'IIg 
a net ooiJectibl e in ca'h 

6.426 4.8?4 Ncmint~rCSI ·btaring ami norm3lly 
sented on 3Ckl:tv rctm 

(56.083) NoninlcrcSl~bearinc; ~tnd 
arc ttOnnall~· sc:tJicd in cush 

un :lO.d:tv term 

Conditions 

UnM!(;UI'td, no iruJllllrlfll'flt, 
not gt~araJlfccd 

l) n.M'furtd. no imp• irmtm, 
not turantttd 

Un.s«urtd. oo hupii.h'rnu r. 
nor guarnulctd 

UDJti:Urt'd, no imp:.irmtnt. 
aol gunnl«tt 

lin.serurtd, 
nn g ttarnttco 

Un..;cc:urcd. no iruptinncnt, 
O(l( C Uli 1'.111 k:c:cl 

lJn:~cct.ared.no irnpuimtCIU, 
ooc. gUOAr.tnk.'Cd 

Um.ccurcd, no itnpainncnt. 
no1 guar~ntctd 

tJns.c<:ufcd, no imp::111'tncn1. 
llOl gu:.aranl"'od 

Unsccun:t!. 
nu gu:ll'llniCC 

b. On April 17,2000. the Pnren1 Company entered into a Trust Agn:cmenl with LIOC fortbe latter 
to serve a~ a second lrustcc fOr the Parent Cctnpany's retirement fund. 

On March 31, 2003, lhc rarent Com puny e111eroo iuto a separate Trust Agreement with LIDC 
whereby the latter ceas.:d 10 be the second trustee of the Plans and instead to become lbc principal 
trustee. Prior to the TruSt Agn:cmcnl, rhe ac.ual disbursemcn~ of the fund for the Plans, or 
payments to the retiree or beneticialics. had been the responsibility of a local bunk as the 
principnJ tnJSICC. The Pt11"Cnt Company has decided IO tcnninatc the services of t he local bank 
and consolidmed to LIOC the adminisrrntiouofthc rlons. 
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The carrying amounr and fair value ofttc rcriromenr fund amounlcd ru 1'550,755 and P478,881 as 
at December 31,2020 and 2019. respectively (see Note 17). 

The reriremem fund oonsisl• of cash in l<lnks- shon-renn invcstmc-nL'I, invCl<lmcnrs in Q\IOied and 
unquored eqt~iry seeuriliC$ which accoul'lS for 0.28".4 and 86.25% and 13.44% and 0.03% oftbe 
trusr fund, ""'Jl<."'lively. as at December 31 , 2020 (sec Note 17). 

The voring righrs onlhe shares of stock rc.r on I he mrs1ees of1hc rcrircment fund, who are also 
the key lnttn{lgcmcnt personnel of tile I'OI'CIII Cmnpany. 

The Group made contributions to the 11\ ISt l'und amoun1ing to 1'49,720 nnd P72,399 in 2020 
and 2019, respectively (sed\'olc 17). 

C. CotnpenSOiiOO or key management persorulelan! M foJIO\VS: 

Shon-tem1 benefiL> 
Post-employmenl benefi1s 

16. Lillbility r,,. Mine Rehabilitation Cost 

94Jnnc-.: ut beginning ofyeflr 
F.ffect of change in e>1imatc (\'ole 9) 

Aetrclion of intcrc~t (Note: 27) 
Ralance nc end ofye11r 

2020 
PSI, IOO 

13,200 
1'64.3110 

2019 
1'51,100 

13,200 
1'64.300 

2020 
P 159,974 

5,672 
165,646 

3.703 
1'169,349 

201M 
P51,100 

13.200 
P64,300 

2019 
1'101,383 

53,314 
154,697 

5,277 
PIS9,974 

The Paren1 Company makes a full provision for the l'ulurc cost of rchahilittting the mine s ire aud 
other tiu:ure costs on n discounted hasis amou11ting to 1'169,349 and 1'159.974 as ur Occcmber 31, 2020 
and 2019, rc:;pcctivcly. Provision for mine rchabilitution and decommissioning represents the present 
value of future rehabilitation and other wsts. l'hcse provisions have been cre.11ed bnsed on the Parent 
Company's internal CSiimat(.."S. As...:;umptionc;, bnsed on 1he cum."'tll economic c..·nvirnnmcnt~ have been 
made which mao:tgL'111Cnt believes are reasonable bo:<is upon which to eslimnce the furure liabilily. 
These estimate> are rc•·kwcd regt~larly to t.Jke-uno aceoonl any malcrial changes 10 the assumption" 
However. ncmal costs will ultimately depend UJ)Ort fttntre market pric<-s lhr the necc<snl)' worlcs 
required which wiiJ reOect market com.lition~ ;:.t the rclcv:mt time. t"'unhennorc, the liming of the. 
rehabili1ation and cxpendirurc of other costs is likely 10 depend on when the mine ccnses to produoc 
iJL economically vinble rati.}S, and Lhc timing th:1t 1·hc event for which the other pmvisinns provjded for 
\Viii occur. 

Discount rate used by the Parent Company i~ I. R8%nnd 1.49% in2020 and 2019, r<"Spectively. 
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17. Retirement Plans 

l"hc Parent Company has f\ondcd. noncontributory deftncd benefit rcoiremcnt plans covering 
<ubstantially all J"Cl,'Uiar employees. while I:OCJ>, I'SGR I nnd Sl hal'c unfunded defmod benefit 
n::tiremeiH plans. Benefits ore depentfcm on the yeCifs of service and the respect ive cmployt-c's 
compensation. The ddined benefit retirement obligation i.> detennincd using the projected unit credit 
method. 

'l'lw amoutlts of dctittcd bene lit retirement expl·n~c reCOij:Hi7ed in the COibOI idated statements of 
comprchcnsi~-.: income folio\\~ 

2020 1-I)J!} 018 
tou .. dlld Lcurutwkd T11UI t'•mli:e:l Utl(.,..r~,j Tf'\t.:l h .. 'rd l!tlf .. llld.G ruul 

c--~''"('Q:d 
~2!'1 f'4ft,ll6 f'I,$SO P4M'i'6 f'4l.191 1'2,4)7 fl44,,)4 fi~1,42U PI S~2 ,~~11.')42 

)ltlt'ltl<l~l)\( oi'M:)f 

jNOIC 11~ 49, 117 l.t!UI !1,9.45 '13,11!('. 4,JI1 7?,'NK ~I .Wf I I';IJ(I 8J,1:N 
f'97,l.tl f'lj1j PIOI.tll f' lr'i.liS:t H.'J4& fi'I U,.Ul P ll9,414 PJ.2>:! Pl.&1ffl 

Tile GrouJl hns current sen·ico cost< e<opirnlizcd to mine exploration cosL' amountcxl to Jl837, 1'696 ond 
P9 15 in 202!). 201 9 nnd 2018. r<.,;pectivcly. f'Jl"thcr, inten..,.t costscapim!i-LCd to mine exploration costs 
in 2020,2019 and 2018 amounted to P289, 1'243 ruxl 1'284 . n.-..-peaively. 

'lllc amounl~ ofrenu:asuremcnt gaiH (lo."iS) rect~gni7ed ln the consolidated statement'i nfcomprchcnsivt 
income r.,now: 

Remea&~n:rnenl £ain (los~) on mirnncnt 
U<S deferred lax 

nerncasull!fllt.:nl gain (loss} on retirement linbiJity. net 
ofrnJC 

2020 
(1'2?1,776) 

87,533 

(1'204.243) 

2019 
(1'<\$.308) 

19.593 

(1'4S.i tS) 

2U tS 
NS.s,I.!.'J 
(t4:\.119) 

P338,6t0 

The amoums of defined benefit retirement oblogntion recognized in the consolidated statements of 
tinnncial position tb llow: 

l'••t~ck•d \.'nf11nded 
l)eflned 1'\cll)dlnf'd: l>rfint:d 
&tu1il r•lr VtdiJ\' Gl 8tr~rl11 ll('atfh 

C uu-..111 ) l'l'lit:(' t ••!(f 4!1, 1l(i 4X, I26 IA-"l .CV.¥?6 
fkfa('ftU pJ~id (5&.A4J) (~.oJ) (! .. IJJ) (1.1J,\J 
A rlwuQ.I pia.~~ 

C llungc- ln dt•mograpltl<: IISSPJUptl•ul\ U15.812 S1.8U · ~~.CJ+O 1,(ltl~ 1411,.,-IS 
Chan~t•• ;., Onll.ud ~tl .,utmpfiun5 (9l;W2) (112 .. ~92) 4.9S(i (81lt.'ll) 
f!\IH:rit:ll(e adjt~stmtlll Ul.ll7 Ul.l17 (3.7t.1) DIAJ-4 

C••tribllll••\ 49.1M !"'·7!8J !" !7211 
H•llntff •I "•d • f''hr run.2oo .. ~~.155 fl,47ti_.U5 f'71,llll PJ341Jtf!,\ 

Fu.nr.lnl u.t.rd<:d 
O:facd 
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Uendits p.1id 
Gaim. due 1;,1 rctu::l'lclm•~n t 

.1\ct•u:n :•l g:•il.l:lo:;s: 
Change in dcn:<')g•l•phic ;ss~<empl1 ()11 ~ 
Clw •ge in fin.1nd1•l assumptio:1:1 
Expcricnccadjustn~ctlt 

Cnn lniY.I lil'll"' 

Uulnnce~> ~· eoJ ofyc:u 

Ddi n«l 
Bl·ndit 

Liabili\' 
(f"2J7') 

2SS319 
{21,4.!1) 
(47,62l j 

P1 ,62•1.22~ 

• 54 . 

Fund('d 

Fu.ir Value of 
PlanAll~tll 

(¥12,57') 

162l>li9 

12.:"\9!} 
P47X,~I' I 

Unf1.11tdod 
NclDelirwd Dl'linod 

Bc:~dit Fk:ucii1 
l.1.1lltititv L..i:ebihl\' ToiJJ ,_ 

fP3lo5-4j (PJ.ii5.J) 
(W .• , <H} ( IU,7U~) 

125,6.SO ll,~(l(l 1 3.:1.J ~() 

(21.43!) (388) (21.H I?) 
(4~.622j 703 {46,<)19) 
(71,3991 (72.39?'• 

PI,I45J47 1'<>0505 PI205.S:'2 

The overall cxpcck'd rctum on pJnn assets js detennined based on the market prices prevailing on that 
date applicable to U1c period over which the obligntiou is robe settled. 

The major categories of the Group's pJnn assets a!> a percentage of the J3ir value of total pl:m asse-ts 
follow: 

2020 2019 201R 
Cnsb in banks 0.28% 0.52% 0.93% 
Slulrl· tcnn investments 86.25% 87.J2% 
Equity invcstmcnls: 

Quoted 13.44% 806% 99.00% 
Unguoted 0.03% 4.30% 0.07% 

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

TI1e principal assumptions used in dctcm1ining pens inn and post-ellJployment benefits for the Group's 
plan ;~::;t:l~ iH 2020~ 2019 am12018 follow·: 

L>jscoUI'II ratl'. 
Expected rnre of return on plan 

assets 

Sahil)' increase rate 

Turnover mtc 

l\'lortality rate 

2020 
3.40% 

4.30% 
0% for 2021; 

2.00% l'or 2022 
onwords 

Across tht> 
board 

5.00% rate 

1994 tiS Group 
Annuity 

~IOJ1atity 

2019 2018 
4.30% 7.05% 

4.30% 4.23% 

2.00% 2.00% 

Across the hoard Across the lx>atd 
K.50"!. r.iiC R.OO% mte 

1994 us 
1994 US Oroup Group 

Annuity l\nnuity 
Monality Monality 

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes ol' each 
significant assumption on the defi ned retirement benefits Habilit)• as of the end of the reporting 
period, nssuming all other assumptions were held constant: 

Discount rates 

SniMy incre<~sc rmc 

Increase 
(decrease) 

-+il.25% 
-0.25% 

+1.00% 
- 1.00% 

2020 
(P I ,512,366) 

1,623,627 
297,688 

(249,241) 

2019 
(Pl,264,J03) 

1,322,14 1 
571 ,082 

(5 10,555) 
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The OV(-ragc future working years of servict covered hy lhe Group·, rcliremeot bencfil plan is 
cigllllo 14 years in 2020 and eight to 13 yc= in 2019. 

Shown below is 1hc maturity analysis ur I he undiscountcd benefit paymcnls as al December 31, 2020: 

l,css lhan one year 
More than one year 10 fh-'C years 
More 1han fi,•e yetlfll 10 I 0 )'cars 
More lhan I 0 years to IS years 
More than I 5 years I<> 20 years 
Murc than 20 veal'S 

p 1,323,033 
11 ,790,195 
28,602,323 
15,830,407 
15,661,430 
67 904,831 

1'141 .1 12 219 

TI1e acluarial valuation repor1 was certified by lhc /\cluarial Socie1y ul"thc Philippines ou 
March 16, 2021 as presenting fairly rhe fair value of plan assets and defined bcnefil liobilil)• "' ul" 
December 31. 2020. 

18. Income Taxes 

Curren I provision for income lax in 2020 pcr1~ins to DOCJ•'s, Sl's and FSGRJ 's Mi11imum Col]>orate 
Income Tax (MCIT) mnounling 10 I' I ,26 1. Currer>! pmvision for income 1ax in 2019 pet1nins 10 

ODCI1"s Minimum u11porate Income To• ~CIT) and Sl's and F'SGRJ"s RcgularCo<porme Income 
TaA (RCIT) amounting 10 1'412 and P 1.712, rcspc<:tivcly. Current provision for itlCOlllC lax in 2018 
pertains 10 FSGR l's MCIT and DDCP's. OMTC's and Sl'.< RCIT ""'"""';"B '" 1>1 06 ond 1'5,187, 
r~specl ivcly. 

TI>e componcnls of the Group's dcfc-m:d mx assets and li•bilities at l.Jel.-cmlx.T 31, 2020 a11d 2019 
follow: 

l>cfMTr.d ·rax 
Asscts -nt:i 

ne:ftt'rOO T11~ 
l .hlbll[tltS •IICI 

1010 l(ll~ 20!6 2019 
R~nl:t•cl tliNcll'f ill projit or~ .. 
Accnalof 

Rd~ncnt bmtfiu liability 
Liahlliry 10r mit)e relmbil1tutinn OOSl 
Lca.;o lit~hilit) 

Pco,· i ~ivuJo liar: 
In vcntory obsolescence 
lm,..aint\CUiiosst:s 00 pqtetl}'• p~nt ;abd cq~airmcr­
lmpalnnel'll k:ts.so. oo n"'OC'iwhlcs 

L 'nrcalirod f or..::t gn f.\Ch:an""" }()._((Cit 

NOLCO 
UIU'e[tli:r,~,.ocl l(m:ign cxch{ltt.eC lObS 
Exccss MCJT 
Various c1~Ut 
Rcmgnt:M direclly in oth•r MRJWehentrH 111t"Wtttr: 

Rcurnncnl b.."nCfili liability 

(F(H'IlliiY/) 

P330.649 
50.805 

1.473 

11.4111 
1.1110 
4.!01 

8 

1.573 

71.098 

P3llo,}71! 
47.992 

I ,:H7 

11 .402 
7.11Ml 
4.144 
14~ 

17,YS0 
941 

408 07? 

~6.511 

312 
Jl 
,) 

IJ.2l5 

p 

345 

93 

10.618 
11 OS6 



Rrengni:t.YI ditn.•tl)· in p~-u/it tJT lottt: 
R('Y ... uation incrc:rncN atl bod 
Coi.t uf rn~ ~t.t-f•t~tlon and dectm.-nis:sic~ins 
Rigbt-uf·~~ 
L 'nr~lizcd ron;oiw' cxehan&oc gains 
Unhillcd r.::vcnuc 
Remcw.ur~all of 0 130 
Rec:iJJ.:ni::i.'ll dilw·r&· in ot/11',. t'<m.1Jrche,t<>Jh• ittt.:'(lt/1(', 

Rc:tircmcn( IXncliB li~•b i l i1v 
~fe;-recl t.•x liuhiliric'l 
Nc1 dcfCmxlta~ us,cL~ (lmbilitics) 
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Dtftncd Ta.'( 
t\neu ·Dtt 

2020 2019 

(JI74.'iSO) (P74.550) 
(11,1199) 01.192) 
(1,420) (1.290) 
(1.322) 

(414) 

(7.J76) 
( I 09.605! (l ll.OOMJ 
P~74.890 fl29:l,071 

Drrcrrt'fi T:u: 
Llabmties ·o t.~l 

2020 2019 

('107,600) (PI07.600) 

(119,016) (1 19.()(13) 

1,473 

Q25,14.lj ~26.6031 
(P21l.918) ('P2 1 .'i ,547~ 

The reconcilimion of lhc Group ·s provision r..- irK"OmC tlX for the lllrt'C years L"11dcd De<:ember 31' 2020 
compulcd a1 I he stnrurory ra' ntiL-s k> lhe prov.sion for (bcncfrt from) income lax shown in rhe 
consolidaled SIO!cm<"llt< of compreheusive inoomc follow: 

Tax nt ~tatu1nry income tax rate~ 
Addilions 10 (rcducliuns in) 

income mxes resulting fmm 
lOX cJlcC~' nl: 
1'\0LCO nnd Excc-:;s MCIT for 

which no deterred lax 
assets were recognized 

Cluwgc In unrecogni2ed 
deferred rax as!.Cis 

NOLCO Application 
Share in operating resulis 

of associ ares 
Noudcducl ihlc expenses 
lnterosl incumc suNecced 

to tinnl ttiX 

Oth.:rs 
Tax at effective incxm1c tax rates 

2020 
(P224,295) 

14,525 

206.903 

562 
6,SOS 

(211) 
(8SS) 

P.J.32S 

2019 2018 
(1'3 17.022) (1'236,013) 

249,907 210,104 
4,078 

892 631 
37.492 17,96 1 

(34) (82) 
(611) (8,420) 

(1'29,376) (\' 11 ,74 1) 

The Group did nol rcx:ogni'7e deferred inoornc !IX oS<ctS on cenain NOLCO and excess MCIT over 
RCJT because maot~gemenl believes thai il is more likely lhan n01 lhar doe canyforwanl bcnefils "~II uor 
be realized in the ncar 1\more. 

NOLCO 
Provisions 
Allowance for impElirrncnt ofinvestmcuts in 

as•ociutcs (I\ ore I I) 
F.xcess MCI r over RCIT 

211211 
1'2.271,378 

21,HIIS 

7,_159 
1.379 

2019 
P2,454, 136 

11 ,645 

140 
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A~ of n ecembcr 3 1, 2020, the Group has in<uiTCd i'\OLCO and excess MCIT ewer RCIT before 
taxable year 2020 \\'hi<:h can be claimed as deduction from furure taxable income ztnd income tax 
payable and, exec"< MCIT over RCIT that c1n be claimed as""' credit, respectiv~ly, as folio" '" 

Y car lncum:d 
2018 
2019 
2020 

Year of Expiration 
2021 
2022 
2023 

NOLCO 
1'89K,532 

788,840 
584 006 

P2,271 ,37H 

F.xccss MCIT 
over RCIT 

Pl3 
112 

1,254 
1'1.379 

Movemwts uf' NOI.CO and excess MCIT over RCIT for the years ended n ecember 31, 2020 
and 2019 arc as fu llows: 

i\OLCO 2020 2019 
Balances ot ~><.-ginning of year 1'2,454,1 36 P2.076,998 
Additions 584,006 794,185 
Applic31ions (5,345) 
Exeimtjo1•s (761,419) (417,047) 
Balances rH end of year P2,271,37K P2,454.136 

Excess MCIT over RCIT 2020 2019 
Balances nc beginning of year Jill40 P39 
Addition> 1,254 112 
r:xl!irarton" !lSI (II! 
Balances at end of Y<:ar tl1~79 Pl 40 

On September 30, 2020, the BIR issued Revenue Regulations 1'\o. 25-2020 implementing Section 
4(bbbb) of"Uayanihan 1o Recover As One Att .. , which s1a1es Ibm the NOLCO incurred for 1axablc 
years 2020 ond 202 1 can he carried over and claimed as a deduction Jl'om sru•s income forlbe next 
five taxable ycnt~ following the year of such loss. 

As at necember 31, 2020, the Group has incurred NOLCO hefore taxable yc(lr 2020 that can be 
claimed a.<; dcduc1ion from future taxable income for tlli: next three consecutive cnxablc yea~. as 
follows: 

Par'"-nl Camoony 

NOLCO NOLtcl 
Ycttr ,\vnilmenl J\rJ>Iicd NOLCO Applied NOLCO 
Jncum.::tl Period Amount Previous Yen··~ Ex.2ircd (\urem Ycllr Un•eelicd 
2017 20 1 ~·2020 1'572,255 P- 1'572,255 t> IL 
2018 201!1·202 1 640,217 640,217 
201'1 2020-2022 793,982 793.982 

P2.006,454 f' 1'572.255 P- 1'1.434.199 

ltiiWiiiMIMlliiWII ~IUIIII!tWUimDI 
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LIDC 

NOLCO NOLCO 
Year A\·aihnenl Applied NOLCO Applied 1\0LCO 
lm:umxl l'eriod Amount Previa.~ Y ron F.x(!irod Currcm Year Una2eliro 
2017 201g·2020 1'240 1'- 1'240 .... .... 
2()18 2019·2021 294 294 
2019 2020-2022 162 162 

P6% I' 1'240 1'- P4.16 

DDCP 

N()I.CO NOLCO 
Yea1· Avuilmcnt ~~~~l ic.l 1\0LCO Applied .'IQI,CO 
lrK:urrod Period Amoum r•re\•io•; Y cars l:'x~red CumntYt.ar Umi!I!Jjed 
2017 2011<-2020 1'24,793 p 1'14.793 P- p 
2018 2019·2021 
2019 2020.2022 4S.n1 5.211 43.516 

f 73,520 .... P24,71JJ 1'5,211 1'43.516 

lli 

:-!OLCO .\101 ,(;(l 
Ye.ar A\'l&ihncnt Applied NOLCO Applied 1\'0I.CO 
Incurred Period Amotmt Previou" Yc~trs Ex~ ired Current Yc-:tr Una(!~llcd 
201 7 201M-21Y211 P- .... .... p 1'-
?018 2019-2021 
2019 2020.2022 

1'- I' 1'- fL. 1'-

FSURI 

NOI ,{;() NOLCO 
Year Avoilmcn1 !\' plied NOLCO 1\pplicd 1\0LCO 
Incurred l'crlnd Amount l'teviou~ Ycttrs t:h:ein."d Current Yeor UmtJ!J!Iicd 
2017 201 X-2020 1'22,544 P- 1'12,544 p v 
201 8 2019·2021 
2019 2021).2022 54 54 

1'22.598 fL. 1'2~.544 p 1'54 

As of December 31, 2020, the Grotop incum:d NOLCO in ~1xable year 2020 which can be claimed as 
deduclion frvm 1he regular laxablc income or lhc ncx1 tivc consecmivc taxable years pursuant to the 
Sayanihan LO Recover As One Ac~ as Hlllcw.:s: 

Parent Cumm•m' 

NOL('O Nol,CO 
Yeur Avnilmcnt Applied NOLCO Applied NOL.CO 
Incurred Period Amount Prevluuj \ ' C.":lf'S l:'x~ired Cunene Ytar Vna!!!li<d 
2020 2021-2025 P580,903 .... 1'- P- 1'580.903 

l~lllll ll' lllliiii~IIIIMmiiMWIIIUI 



19. 

• ~9. 

L!LJC' 

NOLCO :-!OLCO 
Year A\·ailmcm Applied 1\0LCO Applied NOLCO 
Incurred Period Amount PrcviCllS Y can.. ExE!red <.:urm• Year Unaoolied 
2020 2021 ·2025 P205 p... P- p... 11205 

DDCP 

:-/OI.CO NOI.CO 
Yc!ir Avnihncnt 1\jlplicd NOLCO Applio<l NOLCO 
Incurred Period .t\mount Previo11j Yc~1rs Ex~ired Current Ycn1· t:na[![!licd 
2020 2021·2025 p p... p P- P-

Sf 

~OLCO 1\'0LCO 
Year Avaitmcnt .\pplied NOLCO Apphed 1\0LCO 
Incurred l'e1·iod Amount Previo1~ Ycurs Exeired Omt111 Yctu L:na1-.plied 
2020 202 1·2025 P2,7~3 p... P- P- P2.783 

.llil.!lJ 

NOLCO 1\01.(0 
Year /\vailmcm Applied NOLCO Applied NOLCO 
Incurred PL1iOO Amou1ll Prc\'iuw Y cars Ex~ired Cum-nt Year llrl~lit:d 
2020 2021·2023 Pll4 .... .... I' PJJ4 

Capital Srock 

The Parenr Company's authorized share capir•l is ¥f>.M billi on divided in Ill 66.4 hill ion shares m 
PO. 10 par value eneh, consisring nf 39.8 billion Class "A" imd 26.6 billion C'lnss "U" Cllmmnn shares. 

Only Philippine nmional~ arc qualified ro ocquirc. own, ur hold Closs "A" share~. ·rhc rntal number of 
Class .. 8 .. shares of swck subscribed, is.5ued or oul~ttutding rtl any time shall iu no case cxct'Cd 
rwolthirds (213) of the number of Clas.' "A .. share& or 40 ofrhc aggregate number of Clnss "A~ and 
Class "R" sliMes dten su!N:ribed, issued oroutunding. 

As at Oet:c,nlx."l' 31. 2020 and 2019, the Parcnr Company's capital sloe!: is as follows: 

Issued 
Clus::; '"A" 
Class "8" 

Subscnhed 
ern.~~ ··A" 
o ..... s-

T obi shares is~ and subscribed 
Less rub~rip! ion receivable 

f\'o. of ~hare~ 

J9.821,417.656 
26,552.508 993 
66.373.921><>49 

1,451,540 
379.908 

1.8'31.448 
66,375.758,007 

Amount 

P3,~X2, 142 
2.6)5,25 1 
6.637.393 

145 
38 

183 
6.637.576 

1.891 
P6.635.1i85 
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As m Deecmber31 , 2020 and 2019. suhscrirtions recdv:ohlc amoumcd twPI.89l and was presented as 
a dedueti<mto capital stock. 

On Augusr 15, 2005, the Parent Com pliny's BOD ap11roved the oObr of2,558,803,769 Class "A" 
shan.-s und I ,705,H6K, IR2 Class "B" sh:orcs, or I shar~ fbr every S shares held by shareholders as nt 

Sept~mhcr 21 , 2005 1h nn the Parent <.:ompa:~y's unissued capital stock at the olfer price orP0.20 
per shnre. The olrer of shares was exempt from rcgistmtion. As at the end of that year. the Parent 
Company had 22,035 stockholticr.;. 

On July 17,2006, the Parent Company's BOD approve-d I he offer of 1,919, 102,827 Class "A" shares 
and I ,279,40 I ,13 7 Class "B" shares. or I share fi>r evcoy 8 shares held by shardmldcrt< ns al 
August 16, 2006 from the Parent Compnny's unissued capiral stock at the offer price ol'l'0.20 per 
shan:. The sale of shares was exempt thm> registration. As otthe end of that year, the Pnn:nt Company 
bad 21,7HR stockholder.<. 

On November 19, 2007, the l'arcno Company's BOD :opproved th~ gnont of the 171h Stock 
Option Awards (AwMds) to selected employees, director. and officeo·s of the Group in ncCllruance 
with the DOD approved Revised Stock Optioo Plan ("RSOP"}. The Awards cover a total of 
420,000,000 conunon shares consisting of 252,000.000 Class ~A" and 16R,OOO.OOO <.:lu.~s "B" shares 
from the Pareot Company's unissue-d cupiml srock, cxc-n:isahle at the price nfP0.32 per share. within 
five (5) year.< rrom the date of SEC approval of the .$mole. The option J)rice ofi'0.32 per shnre was 
co111putcd bnsed on a new formula in the RSOJ', i.e.~ the mnount equivalent to 80% of th~ uvcmge 
closing price of the sl<K:k for' the ten ( Ill) tmding days immediately preceding the date of the approval of 
the Grant by the Parent Company's UOO. The SEC nppro,ttl the Awards and the RSOJ' on 
Fchru31')' I , 2008. 

On l'o~""" y t8, 200H, I he rarcm Compuny's ACID approved the ol1er of 2,467,419,971 Class "A" 
shares nod 1.644,944,414 Clas.' "B" shares. or one ( I) shno-c lor every seven (7) shares hold by 
shareholders as at March 25. 200K from 1he Parent Company's unissued capital stock Ot t he on·er price 
of 110.25 pc:r •hare. TIIC oner of shares WIIS exempt from n.-gistmtion. A$ nttbc end of that year, the 
Parent Company had twenty-one lhouStlnd fou: hundred thirty-nine (21.439) stockholders. By vin uc of 
the I :7 stock rights oR'cring at the price off'0.<5 per shao·c approved by the Parent Company's BOD ou 
Febnoao·y 18, 2008, the shares covered by the Awm·ds inCtl!oc~cd by 36.000,000 Cl:LI-' "A" shares and 
24,000.000 Class "B" shares. The average option price was accordingly ndjusted to 1'0.3 1 12 per share. 

Durin~: the annual meeting of the stockholders on April20, 2009. the shareholders approved the 
increase in the authorized capital stock froon 1'3.35 billion to 1'6.64 billion. Tite stockholders also 
approved the one-time waiver of their rll'c·emp!lvc righL w subscribe tu isNues or dispol'itinns of shares 
of the l' urcnt Company in proportion tO 1heir respective sharchuldings but only with respect to the 
is:mes 0 1· dispositions of shares in l'iuppo11 of rh! im:rcusc in the authuri1cd capltal stuck to 
1'6.64 billioo~ provided thtottbe shan"' to be iss-Jed to >uppon such incn:asc in the Aulhoriled Capital 
Stock shall 1104 e,xcccd 20% of the stock subscribed, iS>Uod and outstanding after strch issuance. 

On October 18, 20 I 0, the l'nrent Cnonpnny's BOD appo·oved tho:: oiler of 6,031 ,3 72,952 Closs "A" 
shares and 4.020.90\I.NNR Closs "ll" shurcs. or one (I) sfwr< liJr eveoy 3.3 >hares held by shurchnlders 
as at Dccc'l11bcr 3. 2010 (lithe offer price uff>O.~O per sl1.1re to support the intn:ase in the Partnt 
Cnmpauy's auth<>rized capilal stock from P3.35 billion to 1'6.64 billion. TI>e offer was 3pproved and 
confinncd hy the SEC a< an exempt transaction on i\O\'Cmbcr9, 2010. As atlhc end of that year. the 
Parent Company had 21,173 stockholders. 
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By virtue of the I :3.3 stock rights offering M 1'0.30 per share approved by the Parent Company's DOD 
on October 18,2010, the number of shares covered by the Awards, spccilically those li>r the fourth 
and fifth years of the option, increased by 3.1.409,662 Class ".\"and 22,273, l 08 Class "fl" shares. 
Accordingly, the average option price was a<ijustc'd to 1'11.3086 per share. 

There were nu outstanding stock options as at December 31, 2018 and 20 17. 

On September I 5. 20 I 4, the BOD approved an offer to shareholders, on record as at 
November 12, 2014, the right to subscribe to one (I) shar(> of common -"ock f{>r every 5.5 shares held 
on such record date at the price ofP0.20 per share ti·om the Parent Company's unissued capital stock. 
Proceeds from the offering were utilized for the settlement of debts as well as for the exploration 
programs covering the Victoria, EnargilC, and Honeycomb area.~ . 

On July I 7, 20 I 7, the BOD approved an offer to shareholders, on record as at Novembe-r 6, 2017, the 
right to subscribe to one share of common stuck l(>r every 4.685 sl.,res held on sucl1 record date at the 
price Ml'O.I S per share from the J>arent Com~any's unissued capital stock. Proceed' fi·om ihe oftering 
were/will be utilized fi>r the lurtherexploratiou and development of the Copper-Gold project and 
setllement of debts and pension obligations. As at December 3 I, 2017, the Parent Company's proceeds 
from the said ollering amounted to P J I 8,425. 

Further to the Parem Company's SRO last November 6, 20 I 7, proceeds from the offering amounted 
tu l' I ,633,420 as at January I 5, 2018. 

Subscription Receivable amounting to P802,299 penaining co the uncollected balance !rum the 
offering as of December 31 , 2017 were fully collected as at January I 5, 20 I 8. 

On June I 5, 2020, the BOD approved and recommend to shareholders for approval, th<' amendment 
of the Articles of Incorporation for tlte pttrp<:<le of (I} incre<L~ing the authoriz.ed capital stock from 
1'6.64 Billion to 1>12.00 Billion; and (2} removing the requirement in par11graph (b} that "The total 
number of shares "l.l" common stock will shall at any time be subscribed, issued and outstanding 
shall in no case. exceed four-sixths (4/6) of the number of share., of class ''A·~ and class "Du common 
stock subscribed, issued, and outstanding". 0 .1 July 27,2020, the Hoard decided that the plans f<>r 
amendment. of the Articles of Incorporation and increase in authori7.ed capital stock will no longer bo 
taken up at the annual meeting as it was nor nC:(,t'Ssary. 

The J>areot Company had 27,752, 27,777 and 27,8.15 stockholde•~ as at December 31, 2020, 2019 
and 2018, respectively. 

20. \'on-controlling Interests (:\ICJ) 

NCJ represent third parries' interests in FSGRI. 

Finrutcial inlbnnation of suhsidial)' that has mate1ial NCI is provided below: 

FSGRJ 

Principal Place of 
Business 

Ptilippines 
2020 2019 
40% 40% 

IIMIIIIIIIIllllllmiii&IMIIIiiiMUI.IIIII 
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Equity attributable to materia l NCJ: 

f'SURl 

Net income and OCJ attributabl~ to material NCI: 

FSGR1 
Net income 
OCI 

2020 

(1'33) 
(2,048) 

2020 
1'239,838 

2019 

P27 

2019 
P24 1,919 

2018 

Pl,759 
571 

The summarized financial infom1ation of this subsidiary is provided below. This int(mnation is 
bastxl on amoums before interc.ompany eliminations. 

Operating expenses 
Finance income (charge) 
Other income 
Income befOre income-tax 
Benefit from (pru\'ision tOr) income tnx 
Net income 
()thcr comprehensive income 
Total comprehensive income 
A ttrih•.•t:tble to NCI 

2020 
(P459) 

15 
38'1 
(63) 
(20) 
(83) 

(I'H3) 

(1>2,081) 

2019 
(P296) 

(441) 
975 
238 

(171) 
67 

1'67 
1'27 

Summarized st.1tements of financial position as at December 3 J, 2020 and 2019 arc as lollows: 

2020 2019 
Current assets 1'363,182 1'355,743 
]\'oncurrcnt assets 6,H(•2,646 6,804,612 
Current liabilities (186,467) (1 76,921) 
Noncun-cnt liabi lities (6,263,522) (6.202,39 1} 
Towl equity 1'775,839 1'781,043 

Attributable to: 2020 2019 
Equity holders of the J'arent Company 11536,001 1'539,124 
NCI 239,838 241,919 

Summarized cash tlow inlonnatinn fior the years ended December 3 1, 2020 and 2019 arc as follows: 

-:;:--.,..-----------------:::-~21~)2:!!.0 __ --.,. 2019 
Operating 1'13, 733 (1'6,~71) 
Investing (60,842) (38,53 1) 
Fiuancing 49,407 46,146 
F.ffect ofexchanee rate chang~ on cash IS (26) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash 1'2.113 P7 18 
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21. Lo" Per Sh•re 

Oasic loss per share is calculated by dividing the 1<"5 anribul:lble to equity holders of the Parent 
Compruty by the weighted average numb<:r of common shares in is>Uc during the~~-

In computing fc>r the diluted loss per share, the Parent C'.ompany considered dte eOect of any potcntinlly 
dilutive stuck optiorL' outstanding as nt Th.'Ccmhcr 31, 2020 and 2019. Titere were no outstanding stock 
options as of Oecembcr 31, 2020 and 2019. 

Net IU:i~ ;artl'ihuroblc to equity 
holden; <>f the i"•rcnt Compony 

Weighted n\·eragc number of 
conunnn sh,'lrcs for hnsic cmd 
diluted J,-.;s per •hare 

Ba.~:~ icll1ifu1cd loss per share 

22. Cost or Sales 

t'onswnables and surr)lie. (J\otc 6) 
Personnel costs (Note 25) 
Ocplc.tion, depreciation and 

amoni?.aliOO 
litiliti::s 
Repairs and mhintcnoncc 
Contractual SCI'viccs 
Proc:Uction cnx 
l"rofe.--siorul fees 
Taxes, dutio~ ond licenses 
F1-eigbt and handling chMges 
lnsuraocc expense 
Provision ror inveotury 

obsolescence (Note 6) 
Odters 
Tot! I 

2020 

(P7S6.998) 

66,173,927 

(1'0.011 3) 

2020 
1'425,339 

424,7% 

419,371 
220,290 
212.527 
57.717 
57,341 
22.697 
15,020 
6,!)32 
2,70J 

42,li53 
VI .907,586 

2019 2018 

(PJ.027.391) (l>n6,729) 

66,373,927 63.650.959 

(P0.0155) (1>0.0 122) 

2019 2018 
P5f.0,415 P522,799 
467,780 408.927 

81&.'l41 695,075 
25>.313 256,311 
274,470 278,(,09 
75.578 30.462 
SI ,S63 84,512 
33.077 13,953 
14,748 14,124 
26,623 40,171 
12,3&4 10.961 

18,232 
63,294 69,342 

P2 699,871! P2,425,246 

Depletion, dcprccimion omd amorli:t..ation includcli mnortizatinn for intangible assets under "Other 
noncurret'lt as:;cts" amounting to i' l ,920. f'l ,800 Jnd P1 ,7S6 in Oecemb<:r31 , 2020.2019 and 2018, 
respectively, 
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2.1. Cost of Sc.-viccs 

2020 2019 201S 
Consumables and supplies (1\otc 6) P10,360 P13,234 P29,679 
Personnel <'OSIS (Note 25) 7.974 4,638 32,778 
Depreciation and runortizMtion 6,2.U 3,989 59,769 
J>o·ofessional tees 2,512 217 1.260 
'faxes, duties and license ll'Cs 2,132 1.923 3,740 
Uti lities 1,7/iS 496 8,279 
Re1).1irs and maintenance 1,753 480 8,767 
Transpo11ation nnd lJ'il\'eJ 19 128 706 
OlhCI$ lll4 234 4 711 

P32,935 J>25.3J9 4'149.689 

24. Operating F.xpense.." 

2020 2019 201~ 

l'el'sonuol costs (:>~ooe 25) P95,127 P109.836 1'95,398 
Depreciation and amortization 34,812 58, 132 9.815 
Outside service~ 20,161 52,42.5 48/>09 
Profe.ssionaf fees 8,828 10,6811 12.078 
Transportation and travel 8,445 8,139 7.594 
Taxc.10, duties and license fees 5,687 19,994 2 J ,636 
Security and janitorinl fees 5,604 5,674 5,365 
Rcntuls 4,767 4,771 2,1jA4 
Repairs and maintenance 4,388 1,406 1,307 
Utilities 4,339 4,086 4,568 
lnsumnce expen~e 3,552 3,021 3,255 
Consultancy and directors~ fees 2,~)40 6,161 6,331 
Reprcscnwtion and cnt<..-rtainmcnt 2,125 4.500 1,529 
Conswnabk-s and supplies (Note 6) 2,03H 2,1 95 8,230 
Bank charges 949 1,413 2,198 
Slockholdcrs' meeting and expenses 908 2,824 2,262 
Con(ribution and donation 585 10<1 55 
Provision for expected credit losses 

on receivable' (Note 5) 4,146 g6 
Others 20,237 15.525 2802 

P22.S,492 1'3 15,032 ~235.802 

25. Personnel Costs 

2020 2019 2018 
Cost (>f sales (Note 22) ~424,796 1'467,780 1'408,927 
Cost of service-s (1\otc 23) 7,974 4,638 32,778 
Operatinp. expenses {!:iote 24) 95,127 109.836 95.398 

~527,897 ~582,254 P537.103 

IRYIIIIIIIIIIIIIRIIImlllliiiU!~I'IM 



Details of persoJUJel costs follow: 

SaJ;nies and wages 
Retirement beoelits (Note 17) 
Orhers 

. 65. 

2020 
1'-'71,700 

49.139 
107,058 

1'527,897 

26. Sup plemental Disclosur•tu Stottments of Cash t'Jows 

:-.loncnsh investing acti\itics pertain 10 dlC following: 

Jncrcase {decrease) in: 
Liability for mine 
rehabilitation cost~ 
FVOCI 
~1ine exploration costs 

2020 

PS,67l 
(94,022) 

2019 
P359,N97 

43,93X 
178419 

P582.254 

2019 

P53,314 
(50,014) 

201X 
P360.200 

58,942 
117,9(>) 

1'537, 103 

20JR 

(P7,161) 
13,4>2 

(272,604) 

Movement!' on the reconcilialiou of liabi lities .ui sing from financing activil ic.~ arc as fhiiO\VS: 

2020 
nn·ci)!ll 

JMU.I'f I, urhn'(' l)~r-.,r~lfl\"r Jl , 
2010 c.$t. n.o,-~~ ....... ., ... ., ... Other 111,. 

Currrat iottrtlt-~arlntiD.all) 1uul l"'rrel'llnc:" f ltll-3.41 (PI4.1t>6) ( fll, 'Nl) PJ5G fllil5,t!U 
NO ... t'llrrfat h•lll'rnJ,.br.u -ing ao.IU •.cl 

bwr•-'a:s (210) "l "' C.J'J'nt~rtito tbbilie.a 1,114 ( 11,196) '·"' ~' ,.;•w••w-.1 lnw lillt.lifico;s oi , ICIK {!.l.t?! ... 
TCihl l•bilitin fnm ftund•t kiM I~ f U.-J6.1 (PU.$Jlt (f'l.7.&2) P!.711 P lf!.l61 

2019 
r (•n:lgn 

)IUI IIMI')' I , tx.:-Ju..ngc Ad(lrtillnuf Orc~tnbe• l 1 , 
201~ ~~~~ n.\w .. mwoemc;r. l PFRS Hi Otl!~·• 2(11 ·~ 

C\tf1tn! illl<!n!•l·hl;'.,rior, ll\:10)( 11:-td 
h<'fi~IWffl,t!.S f.l24l,.Srll (P$1 .~~J4) (P2.:'72J 1'- f' l 4,11"17 P20~ .542 

Non-cuNCIII intC•ts!•he;mnt! lo;m~ ~r.d 
huiT(II~ ingl> 1•1,167 (14, 1(ii' l 

C11mn1 k a!lle liubilitic!: (9.659) 8.()(18 M99 4,10~ 
N••ncuncml l tli S<':' liabtliti.:s 111822 ~4, 1 011! 7,714 
Totall i:th ilil le<~ tlom f'immcinl;1 lll'li v itk~ 1125~.10)1 tflfll ,2.5J) (P2,572) P:!.Q,490 f'QI) I P2t4,l"' 

2018 
fo'«eiJ;D 

Jllll~la?' '· ~cbs.¥ O«cmb.."t.ll. 
20U; Cadi fto..-'!0> ....,..,......,. Odlct !01'( 

Ct~rrttl irJ'.c~'SI·ba~ .,_,uti bc!rrowt.IIJ.' P:IU01 (P90,.633l Pl.2~J Pll~ll '241J41 
"oo-c.n-m: Bt~rinc kllil$•1111 

bonowiruu 130illl ,ll,s!l41 14111\1 
lnbl habih'VS tToot finaxDf aru~m 1''&.&/I'CX !~$3lJ P3.lS.! • P!S6,i011 



27. finance Costs 

lnlercsf cost on retirement 
liabili ty-nct(Note 17) 

I merest expense: 
Short·tcnn and Jong.term 

borrowings (Note 14) 
Trustrcl'cipts (Note 13) 

Accretion of interest on mine 
reh~1bililation costs (Note 16) 

Interest cost on lease liability 
(Note 30g) 

Others 

28. Other Income - net 

Loss on sale of scrap inventories 
Provision fo1· impairment of 

iovesnnent jn associates 
(lain (loss) on disposnl oJ'p1operty. 

plant and equipment - net 
Jntcl'cst income 
Gain due. to 1-etrenchment 
Gain from insurance clai1n 
Discount 
Miscellaneou.' income 

29. Revenues 

Revenue from cont1-acrs wilh 
custa.:•tners: 
Sale ofhullion 
Sale ofc.oncentmte. 
SeiYices 

Other revenues: 
Rent income (Note 30g) 
Mark-to-market losses 

Sale o.f Bullion 

-66-

2020 

1'51,656 

11.078 
I I 

3,703 

444 

1'66.sn 

2020 
(1'7,476) 

(7,359) 

7,317 
102 

20,733 
P.l3,317 

2020 

1'223,896 
1,232,588 

17.757 
1,474,241 

2,2S2 
(3,515) 

PI ,472,978 

2019 2018 

P77,555 P83,724 

14,719 16,689 
1,274 1,4 11 

5,277 5,854 

490 
63 53 

I"J9.Jn PI07.731 

2019 2018 
1'- Vl,768 

13,372 (739) 
2,~24 274 

10,703 
965 

9,629 
5 785 I 570 

PJJ.I49 1'12.502 

2019 2018 

1'435,365 1'429,463 
1,594,738 1,652,1 00 

33 750 46.767 
2.063,853 2,(28,330 

3,962 7,704 
(2Q,431) (15,392! 

1'2.047,384 P2,120.642 

Titc Parent Company entered into RA with Ue:aetts Limited (Hcracus) in 2005 for the relining of the 
former' s gold and silver bullion production. F.:tch shipment of materials under the agreement will 
consist of no less (han ·20 kilograms of materials. 
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At S<!ttlcmcnt. the prices for all sales arc as follows: 

• Gold - I he London Rullion Morket Association PM fixing in US$ 
• Silver- the London Au ilion Mm·ket AS>oeintioolixing in US$ 

Hcrneus shall senlc the metal payables initi•lly up to 9SO/o ofO>c provisional va lues less smelling Olld 
trc.:atment charges while 1he remaining balam.:c shall be.: poid afil'l' t.lctcnuining the final m•~ayed gold 
and sil vcr con cents ()f refined materlnls fOr each shipment. 

Smelting and tl.!fining chMgcs include refining. tnmsportation and insunmce charges incurred by 
Heroc:us. n Jesc charges nrc deducted H·omlbl! amount receivable from Heroeus On .Janutlry f. 200!'. 
1hc RA was renewed under the same rem1s. A further renewal wa~ mnde on Octobt."r I. 2013, 
effccti\'e for two years. Hcraeus conliiTOed purchase of gold and silver for the year 2015. also under 
1he same and cxisring tenn>, in 1heir Jetter dncd April I, 2015. During 20 17, 1ho refining agreemenl 
wns l'CitCwed Ulld!!:r the s.nmc tcm1s of the previou~ year contmct thnl expired on 20(9. On 
Oclobcr I. 2019, the Pan~ot Company «llCI"-'<Ithe refining agreement under the same tcnn<. 

Sal~ llj'Concemrate 
On Scplembeo· 2 I. 20 l 7. the Parenl Compan} entered into a copper-gold concentrate contmct with 
Louis DreyiU.< Company Metals Sui&se of the former's cCJf)per-gold concentrate production. Each 
shirmem of materials under the agrccmem ct•nsisr of no less ahan 20 contaiucrs with a minimum or 
contoincr loading quoHty of23 wet rnctlic tolls. The coulntct will tCn11inate uptm perfommnce of all 
obligatlom stu ted iu the ag,reemcnt4 

M<>reover, on December I), 2017. the Parent Company cn1ered inlt> n copper-gold cuneoonrate. 
cotllract with C:liveden Trnding AO (Ciivedor). The Marcl'inl shall be shipped in hie h"C' ~~~wooden 
pallels and stutlM in conL1incrs. in lOts of 500 dry metric Ions plusiminus len pen.'Cnt (+I- 10"~). in 
Parent Comp•ny's option. The ParenT Comp''")' bas the oJ>rion 10 inct•ease.thc commincd quanlity by 
up to nno1.her 500 dry rm:n·ic tons plu.s/mimts len percent (+/- 10%) under rbc xame remtx ~md 

conditions. Aller success lui complclion of the Int. Cliv.:dcn and 1hc Pareur Company will agree to 
enter into a di'ICussiou fc>r rossibk: dcliveric:< from the Parent Company's 2018 production. 

AI scttlemcm, the prices loo· all sale.• are as loll<>ws, folluwing tbc month alkr shipmen!: 
• Oold · the L<mdon llullion Market Association AM and PM momhly average foxing in t;SS 
• Silvc:- • the London Bullion Market A''SOeintion monthly a'•crage fixing in US$ 
• Copper - 1hc London Metal e xchange 111or1hly average settlement prices i11 US$ 

Smelling and refining charges in 2020,2019, '"'d 2018 rclaied to sale of bullion and C<lOCCiltr.ues 
amoumed to P36,183, PJ68.879 and ~152,756, respectively. 

30. Commitment>, Agreement•, Contin~:ent Ual>iliti<S and Otht r 111•tters 

(a) The Parem Company's 1:100 approved its execution ofiln Option and Shareholders ' Agrccmenl 
("Agrccmem") wi th Gold Fields Switzcrlard J·lolding AG ("GFS"). a wholly owned Sllbsidiary of 
C.nld Field' Limited, in relation to the dcvdopment and operation oftbe Far Soutbca.'t Po·ojecr. 

The Agreement grout> GFS an option to subscribe to new share> uf stock of FSGRI representing 
a 20"~ interest in FSGJU within 18 months :'rom lhe execution of the Agreement or 10da)"' from 
the issuance of a Financial or Technical AS!is1atwc Ago-cement (FT A A.) uvcr the Project area, 
whichever comc.s lalcr. I f the option is exercised by GFS, the J)arcnt Com puny's interest in 
F'SGRJ will be reduced from 60%to40%. 
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The Parent Company was paid a non-refundable option fee of US$10 million. The option 
requires GFS to sole-lund pre.developm>nt expenses includutg exploration and a feasibiliry smdy 
of the Prctiect and contriblltc USS II 0 million into PSORI. OFS must also mntrihutc its 
prop01tionate share of the development cost m which point GFS will receive its 20% interest in 
FSORI. 

Advances fi·om GFS to FSGRJ are mainly for funding of its ongoing exploration activities. As at 
D<,.;cmher 31, 2020 and 2019, the advances amounted to 1'6,131, 772 and 1'6,074,657, 
respectively. Those advanCI}S \viii be convc11cd to equity upon Gold Field's exercise of the 
Option in accordance with the Agreement. 

(b) In an agreement entered into with Philippu1e Associated Smelting & Refining Corporntion 
(PASAR) on April 21, 19H3, the Parent Company commillcd to deliver In PASAR and PASAR 
conunitted to take iu a minimum qltantity of its calcine production fi·om its master plant in 
accordance with the pricing and payment terms defined in the agreement. The agreement is li>r 
Clll inde11uite. period unle-ss otherwise fcnninatcd or cancelled pursuant to agreed cerms or by the 
parties, mutual consent. 1u 1998~ rhc agr-:X-rncnt was .susp~:ndcd l()r an indefinite period in view 
of the temporary cessation of the Parent Company's roaster plaHt opc.rations. 

(c) On March 3, 1990, FSGRI entered into a MPSA with the Philippine Government through the 
Department of Environment and Namral Resources (DENR) and the l'arcnt Company pursuant to 
Executive Order ;\o. 279. Under the tenns of the agreement, FSGRI shall pay the l'hilippinc 
Govcmmcnt a production share of 2% on gross mining revenues and f 0% ou net mining revenues 
payable within thirty (30) days at the end of each financial reporting year and such will 
commence upon the start ofFSGRJ's conunerdal operations. The said govenunent shan.:."S have 
been ellixtivo::Jy revised l>y Republic Act. No. 7942 or the Philippioe Mining Act, Sec. 84 of 
which smtes that the excise tax on minernl products provido::d under Sec. 151 of the National 
lntemal Revenue Code shall be the govenunent share under the MPSA. 

The initial tcnn of this agrccmcl1l shall be twcnty .. fivc contract years fi·om the effective date. 
subject to termination a-S provided in the agreement, and rcnewabk t<x another period of twenty­
five years upon such tcm1s and conditions as may be mutually agJeed upou by the pa1ties or as 
may be provided for by law. 

In November20 II . pursunnt to the Agree111ent with GFS, the Parent Company filed a letter of 
intent with the Mine and (jeoscicm.:cs Bun: au to convert p011ions of MPSA No. 0 1·90-CAR, 
MPSA No. 151 -2000-CAR and APSA No. 096 with an aggregate ar<-,. of 424.3477 hectares into 
an FT/\A. 

On August 13, 2013, the 1300 resolved to renew MPSA 1\o. 001-90 that will he expiring in 
March 20 15. FSGRI joined LCMC in its •pplication for the renewal of the MPSA without 
prej udice to FSGRI's pending application for conversion to FTAA. The assig;uuem documents 
whereby the two (2) parties exchanged pmpc11ies, with FSGRI obtaining about 304.08 hectares of 
the MPSA and the Parent Company getting the balance remain pending with the DE:-JR. 

The Parent Company and co-contraclor FSGRI (the "Applicants") tiled a joint application for 
the renewal (the "Application") of MPSA 'lO I-90-CAR with the Mines and Geosciences 
Burcau-Curdillcm Administmtive Region (MGR-CAR) 011 Ju11e 4, 2014. In a letter dated 
August 20, 2014, the MGB -CAR inti>nncd the applicants that they had subst.1ntially complied 
with the requirements for the renewal of the said MPSA and that 1hc Application will he indorsed 
to the J\alional Commission on lndigenou1 Peoples (NClP) for appropriate action. The 
Applicants replied (hat the imposition of new f04Uircmcnts such as the Free and Prior lntOnned 

IBIIIIIIIIIIIIUIIII,IIIIIIIIilllml.lllillll 
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Consem or the endorsement or the Application tn the NCJP impail'l' tile controctor.<' vested rights 
under the MPSA, the Mining Act {MA)and tbc Cnn<tinnion, including, but o01limited to. the 
contractors' right under Section 32of t he MA to a renO\val of t he MI'SA "under the same tcnns 
and conditions." Since, despite good faith eil<n1s ofthe Applicants, the matter hud remained 
unresolved as or mid-February 20 15, a t:lOlllh prior to the expiry or t·he initial IC1'111 of the MPSA. 
Ute Applicants initiated Arbitration prcx-..,.,dings agoin.>t the Republic of the Phi lippines. 
represented by the OL:\1R, pursuant to S:t1ions 12.1 and 12.2 of the Ml'SA. Punmam to the 
Repttblic Act (Rep. Act) No. 876, Arbitration Act, Rep. Act \'u. 92RS. tlte Ahemative Dispute 
Ro.ctlution (ADR) Act of2004, oud the Special ADR Rules, the applicants tiled with the 
ltcgional Trial Cou•·t a l'ctition for Interim Measures of J>mtcctionwhcrcby their pmycd for I be 
issuanoc of a writ of Preliminary lnjunctton against th~ DENR, MOO and the NCir co b~ assured 
of uninterruptt-d <>pcralions during the p<ndeucy or the Arbitration. 

In Ococmher 2015, the ApplicantS obtained the Mbitral Tribunal's J' inal Award upholding lbcir 
position. Specifically, Ute Final Awnrd conlim>cd thnt the Free and Prior lnfum•cd Consent and 
Certification Precondition reqttircmcnts under the Indigenous Peoples' Rights' Act may nol be 
validly im)JQSed as requirements for the r;newal of the MPSA, and the IaUer should be renewed 
under the same tenus and conditions, willout prejudice to change' mumally agn:cd upon by the 
partie<. In a decision dated April30, 2018. tbe Court of Appeals upheld the Final Awanl orthe 
Arbitral Trihunal. J'he Republic of the Philippines filed a Petition for Rel'icw with the Supreme 
Court whit.~h rcm;,ins pending:. 

Under a memorandum of agreement entered into on October 18. 1991 by FSGR I and the Part'Jlt 
Company among residents of various bormgays of Mnnkayan, Bcncuer, the municip.1l 
govenunent of Monkayan, the Bensuer provincial govenunem, the DF.NR, FSGRI and the Parent 
Company (collectively as "Group''), amo11g other llungs. arc mandated to abide by cet1'nin 
commitments to lh!! bEirungays ns comaincd in the snid agreement in 1·eturn Jbr the continued 
implementation of the Far Southeast l'roj<ct. 'l1•c ugrccmeot likewise provides that: ( I) the 
implementation of the project is subject tO me conditions imposed or may be imposed by me 
DEl\R spccific.1lly on certain cnvironmertaJ concems; and th.; rcsidems shaH not hinder the 
imJ>Icmcntation of the pl'o.iect and sh<rll assist the Grnup and the DBNR in the peocclt•l solution of 
conflicts relative to the Group's opcnuions. 

In April 1998, the Porcnt Company l.'fltcred into a separate mernoondum of agreement with the 
Onicc of Municipal Mayor and Sangguninng Bayon ofMankayau, DENR and MGJJ. Under the 
agreement, the Parent Company i~ mandated to cstahlish and maintuin a 1\.·tonitoring Trust Fund 
and MRF amounting tn f'50 and l'S,OOO, r;spectivcly. The funds arc to he nsed for physical and 
Mn:ial rchabilitatiOit, rctClrestntiou fiJid restoration of areas and conuttunltics a fleeted by mining 
activitic.~ and for pollution control. slope slahil i7ation nnd integrated community development 
"Otc rchabililfttion rund to be 01aintuincd by the l'an.111 Company in a mutually acceptable bonk, 
~ubjcet to annual n;vicw ofMRI' committee, is payable in four (4) equal quaneny payments of 
PI ,250 up to March 1999. As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the rehabilitation lund offl5,000, 
which doe> not meet the leal\lres pi'Ovidcd under Philippine lnte•·protmiun IFRJC 5, llight.v"' 
lnter'•sts ariyinf!.frum Decommissioning. R'!stomJionand Envirmuru:wta/ Rehahllitotion J·imdv , i~ 
prescuted under "Other noncurrent assets" account in the consolidated SU'Itemcnt' oftit~11lCial 
po)ilion. 

(c) Titc Parent C'..ompany is either a defendtu11 or co·dcfCIIdanl in certain civil, labor and administrative 
case..~ which arc nnw pending bcl<.>I'C the cou.ts and other governmental bodies. In the opinion of 
management and the Parent Company's legal counsel. any adverse decision on these cases would 
not materially alfect the Pan'flt Comp;~ny's linandal position as at IJ\:ecmber 31, 2020 and 2019, 
and results ofop<.·mtions for U1e year> ended December 31, 2020, 2019 :md 2018. 
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(t) The P>rt'Tlt Company filtd a petition witt the Panel of Arbitmlllr.< of the MGll-Conlillcra 
Autonomous Region (CAR). &1;uio Cit:- for the canccllation ofOte mining cla.ims of the Gaffueys 
a ncr discovering lhut the Gaffneys' 6 patentable mining claims \\'ere floating claims in violation of 
Sect inn (Sec.) 28 of the Philippine Uill of 1902, hence void ab initio. liowever, the Panel of 
Arbitrators, relying on a 1991 de<:ision of the I" Division of the Sur•·cme Court (SC) ("roe Mining 
Association vs. Garcia'', 202 SCRA 222) which has already been discarded and overruled by the SC 
£n Bane in the 1 ~7 case "ltogon-Suyoc Mines. Inc. vs. DENR Secretary, et al." (which states Otat 
'"the rcquiranenl thai a mining claim muM h:wc valid tie points~ i.e., must be dcscnbcd with 
reference to a pcnnnncn1 object, Clmnnt be dispensed wit1t and non-compJiance I herewith rcndcni 
the mining claims moll and void) ct·ronenusly sustained the validity of U1c mining clnims of the 
Uu l1ilC'YS· The Panel lurther entennined the monetluy counterclaim of the UaOnc-ys and awarded 
them damages no!Withstanding thnt it has no jurisdiction whatsoever over money claim<. This is 
clear in Sec. 77 ufthe J>hitippine Mining Act and in the ca..<eof "Jorge Uonzales and the Panel of 
Arhitrntors vs. Climax ll rimco Mining Corp., et ol.". G.R. No. 161957, where the SC, reiterating iL• 
ruling in "Phil ex Mining Corp. vs. Zaldivia», 150 J>i!JL 547 ( 1972), stated that cuntrocnml 
violotions such as frnud, misrcprc..;~;n tario 1. non-payment of royollies, compensation. vnlidity of 
cuntraels and dtc like. are judicial qucsrio,s that only the couns.notthc Panel of i\rbitmtor.;, could 
hear and decide. ·n~e Par<'Jlt C'ompru~y tl!JpC'.tlcd this ruling to the Mines Adjudi<:ati<Ml Board »11ich 
alfonned thedeeision of the Panel of i\rbi:raoors in Junc201 1 but ord~ the MOD Ccntrnl Olliccs 
to review and detcnninc the reasonabl~ amounts ofmonCLM)' awards 10 which the Gnffneys are 
entitled. Roth parties filed motions for rownsidemtion. Acting on the said motlons, the MAB 
oflirtnLxl its decision in r~pcct ofdte vnlidity of the tnining claims. but1·eversed itsciJ'nn the 
monccMy awanls, staring that U>orlotury cuims can ot~y be detenniued through a competent coun. 
l.loth pames appealed, the Parent Company in respect of01¢ \'alidity of the GaOheys • mining claittb 
and the Gaffile)'S in respeci of tho .itnisdiction uflho Panel of Arbitrul(n·~ over their monetary 
claims. Tile uanh~'Ys' appeal was dismos:<ed by tllQ Court nf Appeals and they have filed a motion 
lor rc~'Onsideration. The Parent Company's appeal was gmnlt'd by the Court of Appeals, declaring 
as null and void the miuittg claims ofdte GaHhcy,. which ruling ha.' been affinued with finality by 
the Supreme Court. 

(g) The Pan:..11t Company lease~ Jands where it> roa$ting r'llant and centml warehouse is constructed. 
Lease agreemcm litr tho roasting ph111t, which expired in Apti l 2016, was extended tO another t(Tm 
of six years ,~,-·bile rhc other lca!'C ngrecmetlt Co\•cdng the Paret.H Comp~lll}'·s \V:Jrehousc will extend 
until February 2022. FSGRJ h:.< h."Jl'<: con:racts lorn nice sp;1ce and building. Leases of the 
rrQI>enies have lca.<e temlS of tim'<: years. 

11le folfo,ving umounts recognized in smtement of comprehensive income: 

Ocpreciatioo CXp<'ll<e of rigbt-or-u.<c asset; included 
in propeny, plunt and equipment 

hHcrcst expense on lease liabilities 
Expenses relating co shorHcnn lea.<cs (included in 

cost of sale~) 
Expenses relating to short-tcm1 leases (ittc.udcd in 

opemting expenses) 

2020 

P9,411 
678 

1,259 

3,572 
1'14 920 

2019 

P3.754 
490 

2.0S8 

2,&03 
P9,105 
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The mil forward analysis of lel& liabilitiL-s follows: 

AI January I 
Addition 
lntcresr ex pense 
l!ayments of: 

Interest 
Principal por1ion 

As atl1ecembcr 3 1 
Current porrion of lease liabilities 
r\(mcurrcnt portion offense l i:thiHtit!~ 

2020 2019 
1'11,822 1'20,490 

4,051 991 
678 991 

(678) (991) 
(9,418) {8.66~) 

6.455 11.1122 
5,594 7,714 
1'861 1'4.108 

Interest expcn;c amounting to 1'234 ond Jl501 werc<api~11izcd ns part ofminccxrlormion cosis in 
2020 and 2019, rc.'rccti vcly. 

Sh<>wn below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounred lease paymcms l(or the pcrind end« l 
December 31, 2020: 

Withiu u11c year 
More than one year to two years 

2020 
P5,826 

873 

The Pan:nr Company leases out some of i!s properties which include land, a warchoose, 
em·"~1howc• 30d other futilitica to variouscutili~ .Kcma1 income for 2o .. m. 2019 and 201M 
amounted 10 l'2,252, ·1'3, 962 and l'7. 704, rcsr cctivcly (see Note 29). I .case ltm> of dl< rent 
agreemcntlii nre vulid tbr one year and are rl'lucwa.ble ut the discretion ofhoth the <.-ontracting 
parties. 

(b) A< nr Dcocmber 31. 2020 and 2019, the Patent Cornpruoy has no unused credit lines with various 
blinks. These f.1ciliti<'>< can be availed of through <hort-lcrm and long-tenn loans. opening of import 
lencrs of credit and outright purcha<c of negotiable bill.<. 

{i) 1n an executic>n sale held on Oc<:anber 12, 2001, DOCI' 3<XJuired a 40% interest in the Guinaoang 
Project of Crescent Mining and Dcvelopmc.1t Corpmation (Crcscem) which is covered by M PSA 
No. 057-096-CAR. The execution sale was done in connection with the case filed by DOCP before 
the RTC-Mal:ari City against Pacific l'ak-on Resources Corporation {Pacific Falcon) for tl>e 
pa)•mc.nl of drilling services rendered at U>c Guinaoang Project 1UilO<m6ng ro US$.107, 187. Per 
records oflhe MCiA and the Joint Vcnnore Agreement between Crescent and Pacific Falcon 
{fonnerty known a• Trans A•i•n Resources _td.). PacifiC Falcon ha.< a 40% interest in the subjcc.t 
MJ'SA. DL>CP had thepcnincnt <crtilicatt nf sale rcgistco·ed with the MOB and requested the 
MGIJ lor approval of the transfer to DOCP oi'Pncific Falcon's 40% iotc~l in MPSA 
:-lo. 057-096-CAR. The MGA having refused to effect. •ucl> transfer DVCP. filed a motion with 
the RTC of Makati pt·aying rhm an Order be issued dir<<:ting tl10 MGIJ and dle DENR to im·,cnd the 
MI'SA of('l'l~scent to reflect DOCP's 40% iotcrcst tll<YCin. which the RTC granted. subject to the 
pcttinent provisions of mining law and its Implementing Rules anJ RegulAtions ("IRR "). 11oc 
OENR tiled a petition for review ofthe said Order with the Court of Appcnls but the same was 
dismissed for latk uf merit. On the ooher hand, Crescl11t tiled a P<1ition f<M' Revi~w " itb Ole Court 
of Appeals, claiming that tbc Decision oftheR rc dared 23 April 2001 could no longer be executed 
becnusc it wns barred by prescription. The 0 \ p,nmtcd doc petition. DOCP elevated tl1c mntlerto 
the Supn.n1e Court whece it c' pending rcsolt~iun. 
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(j) SECTran>itional Rclicfin PAS 39 

The SEC. in its Notice (the Notice) dated November 30, 2006 pUI'SUant tu Resolution No. 493, 
provided trunsit.ion<ll rei ief allowing certain commodity derivative contracts of mining companies 
he "grand fathered" and exempted ITom the fair value n::quiremcnt< of PAS 39. 

The said exemption will apply cmly if the following rcquiremc11ts Me met: 

I. Cmmnodiry derivative ~'Ontracrs ent<red into and effective prior to Janu~l)' I , 2005; 
2. Commodity dcrivntive omuracts wih original mnturity ufm(we than nne (1) ycur: ond 
3. Commodity derivative conti'OCts thlll would have qualified under PAS 39 hedge 

accounting rules had these been applied at inception of such contracts. 

The Parent Company notified SF:C that it is availing of the exemption from compliance with 
Pi\S 39 pul'<uant to the Notice on irs letter to SEC dated De<:ernhcr 19,2006. 

llad the Parent Company qualified and was not exempted from Pi\S 39, retained earnings will be 
reduced and liabil i t ie~ will be increased us ot January I. 200S by PI .280,0011. 

(k) Roelassifte.1tion ndjusuncnl< 

I. The Pa1·cnt Company and its .~ubsidiary. Sf, reclas.'\itied tht..: revaluation incremenl in land 
account with the balance amounting to PSI l .504 to retained earnings. 111e rcvaluntion 
increment penains to the remaining bJlnnce oflhc deemed cnst adjusuncnt on land which 
arose when the (jrour tronsitiuned to I' FRS in 2005. 

As at December 31.2020 and 2019, tile baL1ncc ofre1ained camings "hieh will nnt he 
available for dividend distribution .. includes the remaining balance ofth~.: dcellled ~ost 

adjustment amounting to P47 l ,529. 

2. The consolidated financial statements reflected the proper accounting for the Group's 
revalua(ion increm..:nt in land, 

3. Tbt'n: \Vere some rcclassilicutiotlS made in De<:tmhet 31, 2018 balanc<'l< 10 facilitate proper 
classification and confonn to the Deocrnbcr 3 l , 2019 consolidated financial statement< 
prcscntarion. 

(I) EO :\o. 79 

On July 12, 20 l 2, EO No. 79 was released t:> lay out1hc ftnmewul'k fbr d1c irnplememation of 
mining rclom>s in ll>< Philippine,_ The poli.:y highlights Rveral issues tbal includes an'll of 
ccwcrage of minin& sma11~Je mining. cre.ltion of a council, tr.rmspar'-11cy and 3L'Countnbility and 
reconciling the roles nfrhe nationnl g.ovcmmcnt and loc••l goven•mcnt units. Mnnagc1111.:nt believe.~ 

that F::O 79 has no major impact on its current operation.'\ since tile mine is covered by au existing 
MPSA with the gO¥enuncnL Section I ofe::> No. 79. providQ; that mining COillr.l~'ls approved 
before the cfTecti\'ily of O>e EO sl>sll eootimo: 10 he valid, hindiug, and euforccahle so long us tl1ey 
strictly comply with existing lows, rules and regulations and the terms and conditions of their grant. 
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On March 7. 2013, the MGI.ll1a' rccnm»cndcd with the DENR the lifting ofDENI( Memorandum 
Onlcr No. 2011-0 J on the susp"11Sion of •cocp~1nce of all rype> of mining apJ1licarions. Effective 
March 18,201 3, MOB has stm1ed ncccpling mining applications for Bxplora!ion l'ennil' (F.Ps) and 
Financial or Teclmical Assistmtcc Agi'OCII1Cill' Wl'AA) pursuant to DE.NR AdmiuiSII'ntivc 0 1'<1er 
(DAO) l\'o. 201 3-11. 

(m} nte Parem Company initiated in 2005 n case tbr the dcclamtion of nullity of forward gold 
contracts with Rothschild 10 sell 97.476 ounces of gold on the ground that they are considered"-' 
wagering lhtnsactions under Philippine bw. In a decision dated February 5, 20 1 ~. thc Regional 
Trial Courr ("RTC"} of Makati City mled in favor of Lepanto. declaring the subjl'<:t contract< null 
aod void. Defendant Rothschild h:ts filed an appeal ,.;lh th~ Coun of Appeals. 

(n) The Pareru Company received on februtwy 14, 2017 an Order of Suspension from the then DE.:'\R 
Secretary alleging the Parent CompMy h:ld violated ·'c'Cnain provisions·· of the EIS Law, the 
Philippine Mining Act, DAO No. 2010-21, and UAO J\o. 2000-98. On the same date, the Parent 
Compa!l)' filed a Notice of Appeal with uc Oflicc of the President (OP) pur•uant1<1 
Administrati ve OrdcT Nn. 22, Series of2011 , which fi ling effectively stayed the oxccutinn of Lite 
Order. n1e Parent Company likd its Mettorondum on Appeal with dte OP o month Inter. In a 
decision dated Octohcr 12, 201 7, the 0 1' pmvisionally lifted the Suspension 01'tlC1' suh,iect to the 
following conditions: (i) The Plll'cnt CompAII)' is given six mootbs from receipt of tho decision to 
implement appropriate mitigHting ltlC11SIIICS and ordered to pay lines to the Mines and 
Geosciences Bureau ond Envirunrru.:nltll Mnnagement Uurcau; and (ii) n1c approprintc ngcncy or 
the DENR is directed to conduct a monthly inspccLion on Compnuy's compliance with the 
decision a11d to submit 11 monthly report to the Oflicc of the President regarding the progrc>S of 
the corrective measures. The Parent Con~>any has paid the lines and i< complying with the said 
de~,;biou. 

(o) Continuing COVID-19 Jl'lndemic 
In a move to contain the COVID-19 outbreak, on March I(•. 2020, !he Office of the President of 
the Philippines issued Proclarnutinn 1\'n. 929, declaring a State oiT..alamity throughout the 
Philippines fi>r a period of six (6) month> aod imposed au enhanced community quarantine 
throughout the island of Luzon un1il Aprilll, 2020 which was subsequently extended until 
May 15. 2020. On May 12, 2020. tltis wa< fi1rther extended into a modified enhanced community 
quarantine, wherein certain implementing rules have been relaxed. 

11tc community qunrantine classific•t tinn was subsequently extended or changed as follows: 

Classification 
GC11Cral community qunrautitlC 
Modified enhance community quomntim 
General conum.mity quamntinc 
Enhanced conunutlity quatunlinc 
Modified c•nhanccd community qunmntir:c 
General conununity quar.mtinc wirh heightened 

n.."<trictions 

Ellcctivity 
June I - August I, 2020 
August 2 - 18, 2020 
August 19,2020- March2~. 2021 
March 29, 2021 April II , 2021 
April 12, 2021- May 14, 202 1 
May 15, 2021 - May 31, 2021 

n te Group assessed that the llaid events do 1101 materially impact its financial po>ition and 
(K'rfom1ance as of and for Otc Y""'' ended Oecembcr 31, 2020. Co"~idering the evolving nature nf 
this ombre~ the Company wi11 oonrinue l l monitor the siluation. 

mWiiiMI~IiUIIII IIIllmmiMOIIIII I 
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31. F'lnancial Ri5k Management Objecti\'CS and Polides 

The Group's rrinctpal financial instrw11cnts cornprixc cnsh and ca~h cquivalcntr-: aud intcrcst-hcnring 
borrowings. TI•e main pul'J!Ol'C of the Group's fmaocial instrument,; is 10 fund the Group's 
operations. 111e Group bas other financial bstruments such as receivable.<;. AfS financial assets and 
trade and n1hc1' pAyable!-, wh ich arise directly from opera~ion~. Themnin risks arising from the usc of 
linancial inst•,•ment~ arc <.:rcdi t risk, foreign exchHngc risk, imcrc~t mtc risk, equity price risk and 
liquidity risk. 

·n~e Group's HOD reviews and •flProves lhc policies fl>< managing ""ch of these ri>ks and the)· arc 
summadzed below. 

Credit Risk 
Credit risk refers to the pooentialloss ari'ing from any failure by counrerpanics to fulfill !heir 
c>bligations, as •nd when they fo il due. 11 is inherenttn 1he businc.-s as potential ln,;<es may arise due 
to the failure of its cuslomers anti coun1erpanics to fttlfilllhcirohJigocions on moturity dates or due to 
aclvel'se market condition:-t 

All gold exports when priced arc practically .atled on c:tl<h basis. lllC Parent Company's exisling 
contracts with gold refineries allow for advnnccs of98"-4 of payable metals paid in two working dnys 
li·om pricing. Full s~ulcmcno· is normally received within three workins dnys. F'or COP!>Cr 
cnncentrotes~ Parent Company ·s exisriug cuntract.s wilh smelters allow fhr advam:c~ nf95% of payuble 
metals paid wirhin two to five working days lrom pricing. Full setdcmcm, however. takes three 10 six 
rnomhs. 

The Par~nt Comp:ul)' onlcl'tt i1uo m~rkding comnu.:1:-. l•nly whh rcllnerfes and smelters of cst.ahh$hcd 
international repute. Since the Parent Comp:a'ly becarnc n primary gold and coppc1' concentrmcs 
produCl'r, it has emt'rcd inlo cxclush·c marketing contracts wilh Hemal.\ for gold and Cliveden 
Trading AG and Louis Dreyfus Compan)' Metals Suis<e SA for ""PIJCr COllCCJllmlos. 

The Group ht1s n signiftt:anc conccntr.tlion of crl!dit risk in relation to its trade roceivnblc!> fi-um 
II(Tcaus. Such ri.,k is managed by securing the specilic upproval of the BOO before entering inro 
conrracts "'ith refmerics and by assessing the c:n:ditworthiness of such refineries. 

The cn::dil risk nrising from these linancinl nssets arise$ 1l•om default of the countel}lMty, wi th 
111u.ximum exposure equal lo the carrying amount of(h<:~c instnHncrlls. The Group's gross maximum 
exposure to crtdit risk is equivalent to the canying valm·s since there are no collateral agreemeu~ for 
tbesc fmancial assets. 

The table bcluw sho,vs rhc gmss maximum exposure hJ credit risk without considcrntion to collatcrills 
or other credic ~nhancements fi>r the components of the consolidated stutcments of (immcial position 
ns at D<.-cember 31, 2020 and 2019. 

Cash in bunks (]';ore 4) 
Trade reccivuhlcs (Nore 5) 
Non trade rccei vables (Note 5) 
MR.f under other ooucurrcnt assets 
Financial assets designated at FVOCI (Note I 0) 

Quoted insl'nuncnts 
Unguolcd insrmmenls 

202!1 
1'27,J67 

6g,89R 
26,670 
3.9~7 

26,194 
41 ,721 

1'194,787 

2019 
P56,505 

53,970 
33,412 
5,169 

31 .652 
130,2&5 

P310,993 
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Credit Quality and t\ ai11g Analvsis of financial Assets 
The credit quality and aging analysis of the Group' s linantiala"cts as at Dcccmher 3 1, 2020 
and 2019 arc summari2Cd in the tanks below. 

,\sat December 31,2020 and 2019, the folkowing tables provide credit infl>rmation on the Group's 
financial assets: 

2020 
Cash in hank.< (Note 4) 
Trade recd•·•bles (NoteS) 
Nontrade receivotbJes (NoteS) 
MtH' 
Fjnancial assets designated at 

I'VOCI (Note 10) 
Quot<>d 
Unquoted 

Total 

2019 
C•sh in banks (Note 4} 
Trade rccci •·abies (Note 5) 
Nontrade receivables (NoteS) 
Mt!P 
Financial assets designated at 

FVOCI (Note I 0) 
Quote<! 
Uoqnoled 

Total 

Neither 
r•ast nuc ~OJ' 

lm!)aired 
P27,367 

32,49(1 
13,02..1 
3,937 

26t194 
41,721 

Pl44,732 

Neil her 
Past Due 1\or 

hll!lai1'ed 
1'56,5115 

15,330 
15,159 
5,tG9 

31 ,652 
130285 

P254,t0(1 

1•ast l>uc Bul 
Not fmJ)IIircd 

(30-180 d:m) ,_ 
17,967 
13,133 

P31,!00 

Post Due But 
Not Impaired 
(311-1 ~0 days) 

1'-
19,827 
18,1 10 

1'37,937 

Past Ouc and 
lndividmtU)' 

Impaired 
..... 

18,441 
514 

f'I8,9SS 

Past Ducomd 
Individually 

Jmpilircd 
1'-

18,813 
143 

1'18,956 

fotal 
1'27,167 

68,898 
26,670 
3,9J7 

26,194 
41,721 

1'194,787 

1'56,505 
53,970 
33.412 

5,169 

31,652 
130,285 

P3 10 993 

Accordingly, the Group has assessed the credit quality of the folkm;ng Jlnancial assets that are 
neither past due nor impaired: 

• Cash in bnnks are assessed as high grade since Lhc related amounts are deposited with [he 
country's rcpurablc banks duly approved by ROD. 

• The carrying nmount of t\{RF approximate their f3ir values .'iince they are resn·icted cash \-.·ith 
bank. MRF earns interest based on prevailing market mtc.- repriced monthly. Cash with banks 
and other noncurrent assets are considereC high-grnde since these arc deposited in reputable 
banks. 

• Trade receivabfes. which pertain mainly to receivabll;s lfmn sale of ore, arc assessed as high-grade. 
These are assessed base-d on past colle-ction experience of litH settlement within three days afier 
invoice date with no history of dcfauiL 

• Nontrade re.ceivables, whicb pertains to re:eivables from subcontractors and other third parties 
arc assessed as high-grade since these have high probability ofcolkction. 

• Quoted equi£y sharc.o; arc asscs~cd as suhstandard grade due to the low performance of shares in 
lhc local stuck market. 

• linquoted cquily instnuncnls arc assessed as high gmde as investees aJ'e-engaged i.n lone copper 
sn1elter that operates in an indusrry which has potential grmvth. deluxe hotels and reputable non­
life insurance companies in the count1y 

IWIIIIIII IIIIIUIIII l'llllllllll'liiUI~11U 
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The above high-grnde credit quality financial assets pertain to financial assets with insignificant risk 
of default based on historical experience. SubSiandard gmde credit quality financial assets pel1ain to 
finrutciaf assets with mon: than insignificant risk of default based on histmical experience and:'or 
counterparty credit standu1g. 

Aging mwl).~\·is f~j'past due bw not impairedfimmdal assel.'l' per class 
As of December 31 , 2020, the aging analysi~ of past due but not impaired receivables presented per 
class, follow (amounts in thousands): 

PRst Due but Not Jmeail'ed 
Witl1in 31 tu 60 61 to 90 Over 90 

30 dot)'S days d!l\'~ Oays ToM 
J>cccm~cr ~1, 2020 
Tnult~ ncei"·~bles +'2,196 P2SJ ¥131 PIS,357 1'17,967 

Excessive ri.Jk conc<'Jllratian 

Given the Group ·s divets.e base of countcrpartics in its financial assets, it is not exposed to large or 
excessive conccntmtions of credit 1isk in any geographical region or industry. 

Wlite-{)IT policv 
The Oroup writes-otr a financial asser, in whole or in part, when the asset is considered uucollectiblc, 
it bas exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has concluded rbat it has no reasonable expectations 
of recovering the. financial asser in hs entirety or a portion thereof. The Group writes off an account 
when aiJ of the foJ JO\\'ing conditions are met: 
• the asset is in past due fCJr over 120 days or 360 days for special customers, or is already an item­

in-Htigotion with ouy ofth~ follO\\:ing: 
a. no properties ofthc borrower could be attached 
b. the whereabouts of the client cannot be located 
c. it would be more expensive for the G:-oup to fOilow·up and colle.ct the amount, hence the 

Grt,up has ceased cnf()rcement activit}', and 
d. rollcctions can no longer be made due to insolvency of bankruptcy of the bon·owcr 

• re.strucmring is no longer possible 
• filing of legal case h~ not possible 

Markel Risk 
Markel risk is the risk ofloss to funue eamin~s, to fair valuc.'S or to future cash flows that may result 
from changes in the price or a financial jnstnunent. The value of a fimmcial instrument may change 
as a result of changes ju foreign currency cxdangc rates. 

Foreig11 E.1·dumge J<isk 
Foreign exchange l'isk is the risk to eamings o:- capital arising tfom changes in foreign exchange 
rates. The Group takes on exposure to effects of fluctmnions in the prevailing t(neign currency 
exchange rme.s on its consoHdakd Jinancial statements and consolidated stacemcnts of cash llows. 

The Group fOllows a policy to manage irs curr~ncy risk by closely monitoring its c.ash flo\V position 
and by providing forecast on all other e.xposures in non-Philippine Peso curr(.1lciL·.s. 

The Oroup sells its produc1 to the interstates national market. All metal sales are denominated in 
US$. Dollar conversion of metal sale:-; to Philippine Peso is based on the prevailing exchange mtc at 
the time of sale. 
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The Group's US$ denominated monetary assets nnd liabilities·~ at Decembet' J I, 2020 and 2019 
follow: 

2020 2019 
Original Peso Origjnol P= 

Currencv E<l~ti\·alcnt Cum:ncl: F,guivalent 
Assets 
Cash llS$99 1'4,739 t;S$407 1'20,610 
Trade reccivahlcs 968 46,486 595 30.131 

US$1 1167 1'51.225 US$ 1 ,002 l'.S0,741 

Liabilities 
Trade payablcs nnd accrued expense.< US$2,831 1'135,953 tjS$2.821 1'142,855 
Borrowin~"i 1,050 50,413 1,050 53,172 

USSJ,l!RI 1'186.366 US$3.871 Pl%.027 
Net ""'...CL< !liabilities) il 'S$2.814) (I' 135,141) !USS2.869) {1'145.286) 

As at December 31. 2020 and 20 I 9, the exchange rate of the Philippine Peso tO the US$ is 1'48.02 and 
1'50.64. respectively 10 US$1. 

The sensitivity to t1 J'Cf1sonably poss ible clumge in the US$ exchange rate, with all other variahlc-.) held 
consl<tnl, of t he Gt·oup 's income bcfi>rc income laX ns of December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as fo llows: 

2020 2019 
Cbaoge in Senslth•lty of Change in Sensitivity of 

fun :igo r refaX fon.ign rretax 
Curren!:l: exchange rate lnt-umr exchanee rate lnt."'me 
uss 1'0.32 (1'901) P0.3R (1'1,090) 

(1'0.11) P310 (1'0.52) 1'1,492 

TI1crc is no othe1· impact 01• tl1c Group's equjry oti)Cr than those already ::~ffecting the consolidated 
profit or loss. 

Liuuidity_Ri<k 
Liquidity risk arise.< from the poS~.ibility that t~c Group may encow•lcr di fticultics in raising funds to 
meet maturing oblig3tiuns lfom financial instrJmcnts or chat a market for derivatives may not exist in 
some circum""tances. 

Tbe Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility d1rougb 
the u:;c of advances from related panics. The Group considers its available fimds and its liquidity in 
managing its long-tcnn financial requirements For its shon-tcnn fundin~ the GI'OUJ)·s policy is to 
ensure thnt there arc surticicnt capital inflows to match repayments ofshorHcrnt debt. 

As part of its lk1uidity risk management, the O·nup reguiMiy evaluates its Jl"ticctcd and actual cash 
flows. !( olso continuously assesses condition:~ in the tinnncinl markets ror opportunities to pursue 
fund raising activities, in case any requirement, arise. Fund raising activities moy include availment 
ofballk loans and capital marker issues. Accutdingly. its loan marurity profile i> regularly reviewed 
to ensure availability of lunding through an adrquntc amount of credit facilities with financial 
institutions. 

lill~lliMIMIIitlllmllmlllll'lll.~l 
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The table below sunuuarizes the ruarurity pro(i!c of the Group ·s financial liabilities which is based on 
t:nntrJctual undiscounted p<~ymems and fmancial assets which arc used to manage the liquidity risk as 
at December 31, 2020 and 2019: 

.\fort' than Mort' than 
1..<-uthan Three to~h $b:tn n lme iu f•)~' M•>rc<: lha(l 

2020 On dcn•a••d ll1r1~l' rn)nfhs muntbs montln ''ears two Vt>llr~ Tohll 
Fin:~ndal Assets: 

Cash hi h :1u1lo:ll (1\Pfe 4) fi:27.J67 ·- •· ·~ •~ •· Pl1,361 
Tnade reeeh·ables (NoteS:) 32,490 2.l~J6 283 131 15.3!t7 tk,oi.JI ltl:l,t,9lj 
MKF J,m 3,?31 
Nontn dl' rt'(ll'h'nbll'S (Note ~ JJ,I)2J 
Ho:wd:.t .&li~f'll< d tdj:nutcd ld 

J.l.IJJ Sl4 16,610 

1'\' 0CI !Notc: JO! 61.91~ 61.915 
Total 144.1.12 
Ffnat•d&f J.fahiiUic\: 

1,.196 l8J l~ll 28.490 18.9!'!" 194.78, 

Tr11dt: IIIJUI oth~r puy:1bks 
(Nott 13)" (l.Z0.\.498) (315) (~?i) (,,. .. , (989) (19,110) {2,119,098) 

Uurrowiogs(J~;otc 14) (185.984) 1422) (186,41)6) 
TotMI !!.389.41f! ~ tJ.7S) (S72) 0,894) ~l .-4 1 H fU.""~"~fH (2.415.$1141 

tl'l,l44,']!-G) Pt.811 fP2.8h (f1J,71\J) ¥_21,1)19 (PHI S) (P2.1ltJ ,7l i i 
• J:' . .-d~tdhtg ptf}VJ6/t.' ro Tf'jpllntory OUIIJOrlti~ 

More;hm; More than 
Less lhan Tbrcc to six to (>111! Ill lw•• f\·l~ore than 

2•)1 9 On demand tbtcc n10.1!h!! :1ix nt<w!h" 
FiMncial Asset:;: 

12 mtonth~ t·enn: two ~-euu T<Xal 

Cash in banb {Nt~ti: <I) P.S6,SOS P- p. P- l'- • P~"'sos 
't nulc rr o;:dv;ob les (No;l" 5) 5% 2~.~75 9 1 9(1 li,SQ6 IS.SJ2 53.910 
~:lRF 5,169 5.1M 
N~.Jn tr:t\1<:: Jt:.,;<;ov;~l:okli (Note 5) 11 .905 3.256 18.1(11! ( 4) 33.412 
f!i•wl'ld<llu~~t"ts \lesign<llcd al 

r VOC:t K, ''"' U) l b i.? J7 16 1.93 7 
Tom I 23(..1 12 26,13 1 ., 9(1 29614 18.?55 3 10.993 
Fio:mr:illl Lt.:biliticJt: 

iradt ~"d (llhtl rmyabf..:s 
(N(olt: 13)"' (1.509.705) (2·1l,H I) ( 127J (:') (9}5) (141) (L152.S56) 

80ft()Wi:la$ ft\'OIC IJ) r6::1n:<t (12l.050l H4.1(.71 f2025.J2.) 
1'<11111 £11571.0301 (3613?i ) i l-1.29<1) F' (935) (741! ! 1 .955 ,)911~ 

(PI,;.JO.?I 8) <P3:H.i.~60l ffl l<l.203) fo'>('J. PZSJY:!; Pl 8.214 IP 1,644.405} 
*E:rcl !l<iillg po)'tJb/1! II> r<>gt~!aMt;•' mrth(lro),:,y 

The group pions to address its liquidity gap b~· a combination of issuance of equity securities: 
availmcnt of advances fron1 related parties or loans from banks. 

Pair Values 
PFRS$ defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
JiabiJity in an orderly transaction het\,.•e-en market participants at the measurement date. Fair values 
are obrained from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models and option pricing models, as 
appmpliate. 

Cash in Banks. lhuk~ Receil~ab/es, :Vrmtrade ileceivable..s and Trade and Other Payable.\' 
The carrying amounts of cash in banks. tr.ldc receivables. nonlmde receivables and trade and od1cr 
payablcs, \Vhich arc all suhjeL't to nonnal trade credit renns anc.l arc shurt .. tcnn in nature, approximate 
their fair values. 

Finaucial Assel'i Designated at FVOCI 
J~'air values of financial assets designated ac FVOCJ quoted equity securities ar.; based on quoted 
prices published in markers. Fair values of fimneial assets at FVOCiunquoted equity securitie!> are 
based on lhe lmest selling price available. 

1 .11~1 .1\WIIlliill\iiii\ III,I~IIII'III~IM 
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Borrowings 
The outstanding shoi1·term borrowings and iong-tcm1 borrowings as a1 December 31, 2020 and 2019 
bear Jloming rates Lhat arc repriced mond1ly and qunrterly. 

TI1e fair \'alue. ofrhe interest-bearing long-term debt in 2020 and 2019 is based on the discounted 
value of future ea$h flows using the applicable rates for the similar types of loans. 

The Group uses {he foUO\\'iug hjcrarchy fur tlctcmlining and disclosing the tbjr value by valuation 
technique: 

• Quoted prices in active markets -tOr identical asset or liability (Levell ); 
• Those involving inputs other than quoted prices included in Level I that are observable for the 

asset or liability, eid1er directly (as prices) or indirectly (Jeri vcd from prices) (Level 2); and 
• Those inputs for asset or liability that are not based on observable market datn (unob:>ervablc 

inputs)(Levcl3). 

The fair value hierarchy nf the financial assets and liabilities as at December 31 of eac.h year is 
pr..:-..'i.;ntccl as follov .. ·s: 

20211 Level I Lcvcl2 Lcvcl3 Tot:ll 
Financial ass<'b designated at 

fVOCJ 1'26,1~4 IL 1'41,721 1'67,915 
Borrowiogs (186,406) (186,406) 

1'26,194 (I' I 86,406) 1'43.142 (Pll8,491) 

2019 Lt;vcl I Level 2 Levcl 3 To1al 
Financial assets des ignated at 

FVOCI P3 1,652 IL ¥130,285 ¥161,937 
Don·owu•,gs (202,542) (202,542) 

1'31,652 (1'202,542) 1'130,285 (l'40,605) 

TI•ere were no transfers between levels of fair value mcasun:mcnt as at December 31 , 2020 and 20 19. 

32. Cajlilal Managl'tncnt 

·me primal)' objective of the Group's capjtal management is to etlsure. that the Group maintains 
posith'c cash balance in order to support their businesses, pay existiug obligations and maximize 
shareholder value. The Group manages its capiral structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of 
changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capiral srrocture, the Group rm1y obtain 
additional advances from stockholders or issue nc.\v shares. No changes we.re made in the objectives, 
policies or processes during the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. The Group monitors 
capital us ing the consolidated financial statements. The Group has complied with all extcrnnlly 
imposed capitnl requirement~ in 2020 and 20 1 ~. 

As at December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group's capi"11. which is composed of C{H)UllOil shnres and 
additional paid-in ~.apital, amounted to¥ II ,712, 71 N. 

1 11111\IUI~~II!I .II IIIfilllltllliiiU!~'IM 
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33. Se~mcne lnfornllleion 

Thr primary segment rlJmrting formal is dctcm1ined to be business segments as the Group'~ risks and 
rates of return arc affected prcdominontly by diffcn.-r~cc' in the product~ and services produced. "fllc 
opemtiog bu~ine•= are organized and maruged separately aca:>rdiog to the natun: of the products 
and sc.rvices provided. with each segment rcilrcscnting a strategic huxincss unit that oOCrs diflbren1 
products and serves different Jrlarkcl~. The Group derives revenue from the JhlJowing mnil• operating 
business segments: 

Mining Acti\·itics 
This segmo.:nt cng;~ges in exploration and miJ.ing of gold. silver, copper, lead, 7inc and all kinds of 
ores. metals, mincmls, oil, gas and e<ml and tbeir related by-products. 

Service 
n tis segment th: l"ivcs irs income n·um drilling, hnuling ~tnd savml illiug services ln its relnced and 
outside parties. 

Other< 
This segment is c...·ngagcd in tJ1e trading. manufacturiu,g. irwcsting and insurance broktT a.c1ivi1ies of 
t h~ Group. 

Transfer prices bclwecn business scgmcnts are set on an amt's .. Jength basis in a manner similar ro 
transactions with thin.l parties. Segment rc\·cnuc, segment expcn:-;c and segment result include 
transfer< between business segn><:nl<. Those uansfcr.c arc eliminated in oon.;olidation. 

11~~..: OnJup upcratc:s Hnd generales revenue principal!)' In the J-'hihppmcs. Thus, geographical 
segmen1ation is not requ ired. 

The f(lllowing tables present certnin inforrnati:m regarding the Uroup 's operating business segments: 

2020 Minia & Su~C"t- Uthtn Eliminlirm Cu~hbttd 
Rt\-enue frnm t"fttmtl customt'n: 

Sale of ml•llll~ .. net 1'1,460.153 ..... ..... ..... Pl.460,353 
Otbtrs 2.,!~2 4,16R 6,205 Jl,62S 

lnte.r -it'G!IINII rc\'CIIUC 2,174 .16.227 t ~,657 (541t SH! 
S t1_;1m:nt r enmut• 1,464,879 40.395 2t ,lM (54,158) 1,472.978 
COJ I nnd nJM!ratln~ fXJ)USts (2,135,:65) (63.270) (26.9Hl ) 59,604 ( 2, t 61i,Ut~) 
Sh art in opc nllinc result!J of 

as.sodafn !'.!!!5! !t .Bl~ 
lnroml' {los!) bffort hl«tmt tau: (670,486) (22.875) (S,t 20) 3,571 (lo94,9t0) 
Vlnanct rosl, ner ofuth~r inc:omt (sz.m ) 14,573 ( t4.506) (486) (52,741) 
Pnwi~iCin few ~bt•ntll r frotul income hn t7,102 !20.781 ) .l54 !J,nsJ 
Ntt incmnc ~In,.., ~ jP705,706! ~~29,08~) !Pt91272! P3.031 ' P7S0197(,! 

Segruetu asstu ~t 6 • .154,006 Pl6<1,192 1'691.280 (t"!O 1,269) Pt6.410,409 
ln,·tst mt nls in 11nd :~d ,·-anHs to aJSDdiii("'C !166,213 95.905 (5U4,33t ) S57,1147 
Stgn1U t li-abUitit.. ( t0,542.6n} (2t 6.08t) (1!18.144) 4tl,746 (ll,il4.l7'J 
Ueprf'Ciation 460,4t6 14.0114 4.542 488,981 
C11p it.I L'l pt'llditurn: 

T ttn(;.ihlc n~t·d JIS!ifCS 6.206,211 29,760 37t,044 49.539 6,6S6.SS4 
lfltt\ll=ihlc lll.,~ct~ 1.7•)2 1,7t)2 

<:ash Oows arlslnw, fl'llm (m;ed in): 
Operating nctl~·ltln 1.1.103 (8.712) 3.25 t 257,129 265.501 
Inn sting acth'ftlts (60.8t4) lo,!\81 85t (272,045) (.12S,4 t1) 
f in•Dcing il( th1tln 49.2JJ 685 t46 (18,417) J l,6.l7 

lliiW~1~1ftlliiW11~1Uiiiii WI.IIUIOI 
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20 19 
Revenue from cxtcro.1l customet:>; 

Minin,g; St!rvice Other.-; Eliminauon Consorid~tee.l 

S.ufc of metals - nCI P2,0Jf.:,979 P- p P- Ft2,038,979 
Others 3,961 4.444 8,411;\ 

lnkr-st:b.,cnt revenue 2.274 121944 32,665 (47.883'1 
Seg.ment1-evenw: 2.045.214 12,?44 37,11J9 (47.883) 2,047,384 
CQSt tmd opl'fming expe-nSt'S (2,95;.}20) (102.73 1) (34,458) 55,2(1() (3.040,249) 
Share in OI?:CI'<'lt ill~ ~suh:; of associates (2.972l 12,912) 
Income (Ins~) b::fbrc inoomc tax (91 3,106) (89,787) 2.651 4,405 (9?5,837) 
F'innncc oolit, net of other incOfue (79,441) 26.25( 1,938 (9,65 I) (60,903) 
Provir.:ion lhr ~-~tit t'rom! ittCOllk' fa~ 14.'J:rr; 1(•!045 (1.445) 29.376 
~e( income (fuss) IP97':.711) IP47.491) t'.11 144 iP5,246\ iP 1.027.3641 

Segmerll tl&)e.l.-; P16.35 LI 57 P330,728 fi196,R42 (P923, 148j Pl6,555.579 
hl•.:t:~lmt'nts in and mJvomcc.:: to associates 96),454 IIU-499 (509,697) 564,256 
Scgm~m Jiabilitib (9,64~. 120) (252,126) (252,076) 433.6-t\8 (9.720.234) 
Dcpl'l?ciaHon 85: ,IS74 42,839 5,66$ 902.378 
Capit:tl cxp-;nditurcs; 

Tangi!)lc fixed assets 6)&:.788 53,3(X; 375.124 47,389 6,858,669 
lntangiblc assets 1622 3,622 

Cash flows arising from {uJ'cd m): 
Operating activities 1·1<1,060 (79.607) (7.642) 61,109 117,920 
)n\•e-sting a;;.Li·;itics ( 181.394) 30,910 7,792 (16.510) (159202) 
Financing <1\'(ivities (2(\4~ I) (10.524) 225 12,293 ( I ~.487) 

2018 
Re\·enue-fro1n t'XIt'ftwl cusu>mcrs: 

Mining Service Othtts Elimination Cunsulidatccl 

Sale of metals- m:t ~2.093.054 p P- P- P2.093.054 
Others 77Qol 18,727 1,157 27,588 

I 

Segmeril ••::. .. eLo; Pl6,738.iJO P37.1,406 t-1 "!92,356 (P858,510) PI 'J ,045,982 
lnvcstmems in and ad\'an.,;es to a:>SlKia!cs 961.190 110,499 (501>,475) 5(J5,2f4 
Segmcm lbbilihcs (9,043,1 07) (246,518) (250.235) 375,501 (9,1(>4,359) 
Dcprodari<)n 72 1 ,·~41 ;\(o, l94 5.895 783,730 
Capital expenditures; 

Tungihlc. fixed assc•s 6,961 ,078 1114,1125 380.136 50.016 7,49$,315 
lnl<tngibl~ <JSsel" 4.o21 4.62 1 

Cash flows aJ'ising from (us.:d in}: 
Opcruting ;;tc:tivitics (13,610) 55.9(1) (198) 21 ,296 6.1,449 
Juve.'lting activitie-s (868,)16) (50,291) (2.218) (14,083) (934,908) 
Firwncing a::.ti\'itic:o: 737.475 (II ,085) 389 ) ,663 7)0,442 

liDIIIIIII!Iilllil~'ll lll llllmlll~!il.l 
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34. E'·ents after the Reporting f'criod 

CREATE Act 
President Rodrigo Dutene signed into law oa March 26, 2021 the Corporate Recovery and Tax 
lncemives for Enterprises (CREATE) Act to attract more invesuncnrs and maimain fiscal prudence 
and stability in the Philippine~. Republic :\c: (RA) 11 534 or the CREATE Act introduces ref onus to 
the corporate income tnx and inccruivcs syst,ms. h takes clicct 15 days allrr its complete puhlication 
in the Oftlcia l Gazette or in a oewspapet ofgenerol circulation or April II , 2021. 

The following are the key chang,-s to the Philippine tax law pursuant to the CREATE Act which have 
an impact on the Parent Company: 
• Effective July I, 2020. RCI T rate is reduced from 30% to 25% for domestic and resident foreign 

corporations. For domestic c.orporations \~,o·ith net taxable income not exceediug Php5 mill ion and 
wirh total assets not cxcc::ding PhpiOO million (excluding land on which the business entity's 
office, plant and equipment are situated) during the taxable year, the RCJT rare is reduced to 
20%~. 

• MCIT rate reduced from 2% to 1% of gmss income ctlective July I, 2020 to June 30, 2023. 

As d:trificd by me Phi lippine Financial Repc1ting Standards Council in its Philippine Interpretations 
Committee Q&A No. 2020-07, the CREATE Act was not considered substantively enacted as of 
December 31, 2020 even though some of the provisions have rctro:tctivc cOcci to July I, 2020. The 
passage of the CREATE 1\ct into law 011 March 26, 2011 is considered as a non-adjustingsubsequem 
event. Accordingly> current and dcfcn·cd taxes as of and fOr the year ended ))cccmbcr 3 f. 2020 
continued to be computed and mcasurl}d using the applicable income tax rates as of 
December 3 J, 2020 (i.e., 30% RCJT! 2% MCJT) for financial reporting purposes. 

Applying rhe provisions of the CRJJATl! Act, the Parent Company would have been subjected to 
lower regular corporate income tax rate of 25Yo effe-ctive July I, 2020. 
• This docs not have an impact on the cuJTent inco)ne tax for the year ended December 3 J, 2020 as 

the Group is in gross loss and net loss position hence no current income tax. 
• ntis will re.>ult in lower deferred L1X asset> and liabilities as of December 31,2020 by !>8,635 and 

¥303, respectively, and provision for dcfeJTed tax f(>r the year then ended by l' 123. TI1ese 
reductions will be recognized inrhc 2021 financial statements. 

Exccmive Order CEO\ No. 130 
On April 14, 2021, President Rodrigo Omcrtc issued EO No. 130 lining the moratorium un mineral 
agreements under Section 4 of President Benigno Aquino's EO No. 79 issued in 2012. 

Ul ill ill IIIlO llillllillll Mill~ IIIIIUIIII 
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INDF:PENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 0"1 

80/o.<PHC r{t:o(J No. 0{10 1. 
O::t<.~l•l':r 4. :>OHI. \'nla! \lntil/";!lv!>l ?4, :?-021 

SI::C Ac:'¥edil:l!ial' N6 . OD12·FR·5 (G11 1 ~•0 /q, 
N(l•:(mllr<~r fl ?01$. •~;1 , i:j IJnlii \IQ\'(tf!l.l;>ol 5. 202~ 

COMPONENTS OF FINANCIAL SOUi\Di'OESS INDICATORS 

nrc Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Lepanto Consolidated Mining Company 
21st Floor, Lepanto Building 
Pasco de Roxast MakMi City 

We have audited in accordance with Philippine Standards on .\uditing, the consolidated financial 
statement' of Lepanto Consoli dared Mining Company and Subsidiaries as at December 3 J, 2020 
and 2019 and li1r each of the three years in the pc'riod ended December 31, 2020. and have issued our 
report thereon dated June 7, 2021. Our audits were made for the purpose offonning an opinion on the 
con.>olidatcd tinnncial statements taken as a whole. The SupplementnJy Schedule of Fittancial Soundness 
Jndkators, including their definitions, formulas, ca lculation, and their appropriate~tess or usefu1J1ess to the 
intended users, are the responsibility of the Comr'<;1uy!s mam1gemcnt. ·naose financ.ial soundnc.ss 
indica ton; arc not measures of operating pcrform~ncc defined by Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards (PFRSs) and may not be comparable tc· s imilarly titled measures presented by other companies. 
This schedule is presented l(>r the purpose of complying with the Revised Securities Regulation Code 
Rule 68 issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is not n required part of (he basic 
fiubJi(;.iitl ,'\(i't{cmcnt.~ prcpiln::.d in <lcwrd i'UlCC with I' FRS. TI1C etu•IJMI I~Jib uf ti le~~: fitiUll<.:hal ::;oum.h1~s:s 
indicators have been tmccd tn the Group's consolidated linaucial stat(.'fTICnts as at December 31, 2020 and 
2019 and for each oft he three years itt the period ended December 31, 2020 and uo material exceptions 
were noted. 

SYCIP <.;OR RES VELA YO & CO. 

~~;gJao 
Parmer 
Cl' A Certilicate No. 0100794 
SEC Accrediration No. 1250-AR-2 (Group A), 

February 28, 2019, valid until Febnrary 27, 2022 
T'~' Identification :-Jo. 163-069-453 
BIR Aecrediration No. 08-001998-097-2020, 

November 27, 2020, valid 1m til November 26, 2023 
PTR No. 8534308, January 4, 2021, Makati City 

J un~ 7, 2021 
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INDEPENDENT AtJDITOR'S REPORT 
ON StJPPJA<MENTARV SCHEDtJI£ 

The Stockholders and Boa rd ofOircctor:-i 
Lepanto Consolidated Mining Company 
21st Floor, Lepanto Building 
Paseo de Roxas, Makati City 

'l ei: :c~J..?) f!&G-1 O:\l'!7 
F~x: (f.31J 80 19 067? 
&:;.Gr.mlph 

BO!•,,'PRG Rs:t~ No. 0001, 
Oe;lnb<~l 4, ?111n, vnhd uum fwQII~! :?4, 7{)?1 

SEC k.Ciedll.'llfu l' No. 00 12·Fil ·S (Gn:!.oj) Ar 
NO'v::•e:e:>:~f 6. ?.(1'16, •t:s!iti m•lil NO\•t:•""'f>m 5 , ~0?1 

We have audited in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the consolidated financial 
statements of Lepanto Con-solidated Mi ning C'.olllpany and Subsidiaries as at December 3 1~ 2020 
and 2019, and fin· each of the three years in tltc period ended December 31. 2020, u>cluded in this 
Fom1 17-A, and have issued our report thereon dated June 7, 2021. Our audits were made for the purpose 
of fonning an opinion on the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The ~chedules listed in 
the Index wthe Consolidated Financial Statemeo:s and Supplementary Schedule~ are the respon~ibility of 
the Company's management. These schedules are presented for purposes of complying with the Revised 
Securities Regulation Code Rule 68 .• and are not part. of the basic consolidated fmancial statements. 
These schl~dulcs ha\•l' been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated 
financ.ial statements and, in our opinion> filirly stale, in all material respects. the financial inl(>mlation 
required to be set f(nth therein in relatioo to the basic consolidated financial stmemeut& {aken as a whole. 

SYCIP GORRF.S VRI./1 YO & CO. 

f~~;gJoo 
Pa11.ner 
CPA Certificate 1'\o. 0100794 
SEC Accreditation No. I 250-AR-2 (Group A), 

febntaJy 28, 20 t 9. valid until febntmy 27, 2C22 
Tax ldcntificarion No. 163-069-453 
BIR Accreditntionl'\o. 08-001998-097-2020, 

:'\ovember 27, 2020, volid until November 26.2023 
PTR No. 8534308, January 4, 2021. Makati City 

June 7, 2021 
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SCHEDULE O F FINAi'iCIAI, SOUNONLSS INDICATORS 
As of Occcmhcr 31, 2020 

LEI' A.'fi'O CONSOLIOAT IW MINING COMPANY Al'iO SUUSWIARIES 
2 lsr Floor, Lepanto lluilding, Pasco de Roxas, Makati City 

Formub 2020 
Profitabilill' Rat(os: 

Return on as>Cts Net Lo~s (4.SH%) 
Total Aiscts 

Retunl on ~~uity Net Lm.~ (12.9H%) 
Totall!quiry 

Gru" profit moYJ:in Grrn<.' 1'-ofir (31.74'Yo) 
~el KcvenlK.-s 

Net pmlit maYJ:in Net LO>S (50.98°/o) 
RcvcnulS 

Liguiditv and ~!!I"'!:I•Cl' R;'ttius: 
Current rntio CurTent Assets 0.74:1 

Currenr Linbililics 

Currf...,lt ,\ sscts Inventories -
Quick ratio Other Cum:nt As..cts 0.16:1 

Cum:nt l iabilities 

SolvcJlC)' ratio Net Loss (0.07:1) 
Total Lbbilitics 

Financiall .evt'I'AL!!.: ,Ba«Ios: 
:'\ ssct to equity mtio Total As~cts 2.84 

Total equity 

Debt to equity rario Total l.iabilities 1.84 
Total Equity 

F.amings Defore lntcn:sl and 
intcn.~l CO\'crugc ro,1io Taxes !EBIT) O.OH 

Finance Cosb 

2019 

(6.2 1%) 

( 15.03%) 

(33.11%) 

(50.18o/o) 

0.92: 1 

0.19:1 

(0.11 :1) 

2.42 

1.42 

0.09 



INDEX TO THE CONSOLIDAT IW FINANCIAL STATI;;,\HtNTS ANO 
SUPPLE~H;\'TAit\' SCHEDIJLES 

DECF.M RF.R 31 , 2020 

LEPANTO CONSOLIDATED MINING COMPANY A.\'0 SU!lSIOIARIF.S 
21st Floor, Lepanto Ruikling. Paseo de Roxa.•. Makati Ciry 

Rccom:iliatinn of Romincd Camings Avnilobl! fo1· Dividend Declnration 

Map of the Rclutinnships of the Companies Within th~ Group 

8upplcmcnrary Schedules Required by AnMX 68·J 

Financiul A~ts 

A mounts Rereivable from Directors. Officer.., Employees, 
Rclatccl Panics and Principal Stn<:kholdcrs (Other than Related 

l'urt ics) 

:'\mnun ts Receivable from Related Pan ic! which arc 
Eliminnted During Consolidation of J'tnanciul Statements 

Long·tCm> Debt 

Indebtedness to Related Parties 
(L<m&-tCrnl Loans from Related Con1p<111ieS) 

Guarantees of Securities and Other J:,.suc,o, 

Capita l Stock 

Schedule 

II 

Ill 

A 

8 

c 
D 

E 

F 

G 



SCHIWIJLF. I 
RECONCILI ATION Of IU:TAINii:l> EARNINGS 
AVAII,ADLE FORDI VTOEND DECLARATION 

A• ofDcocmber 31, 2020 
(AmouttS in thousands) 

I.EI'ANTO CONSOUDAT ED M INING COMPANY Al\0 SUBSIDIARI ES 
21st Floor. Lepnuw Building. l'aseo de Roxas, Makati City 

Unapproprintcd Re~1iuoo Earning>, "-' ndjustcd ~'available for divideud 
distribution. beginning of the yenr (P5,80 1,631) 

Add: Net loss actually c:~rncd/o·clllizcd du ring the 1>criod 

Net l""s dwing the period closed to Retained Earring> 

Less: Non .. ncfu:d/unrrali..:t.ed income nd of fat 
Equity in ncl income or ussocialcJjoint venture 
Unreali7.cd fort'ign cxcl1.111gc gain - (after lliX) except those 
attributable to cash and cash equivalent•) 
Unrealized actu:tl'ial guin 
Fair value adju-'nlCflt (mark-to-market gain$) 
Fair vnlue adjustment of investment property resuhing ro gain 
Adju.<tmem due to deviation from PFRS- gnin 
Other unrealiz•-d gains or lldjusuncnos to the rcoaincd earnings a. 

a result of cenain trtmsactions nocoun1cc1 for Lmclcr PFRS 
Suhtoml 

Add: Non-actuallosgc, 
Dcprecimion nn revaJualiOil increment (af.cr tax) 
Adjustment due to devintion from PFRS- loss 

Subtut:tl 

Loss on fair ' 'alue adjustment orinveslmeot PfO!X'rtY 
(nfter1ax) 

l'iet loss actually incurred during the period 

Add (Less): 
Oividc'fld declamtioru during the period 
Appropriations of retained earnings during ohc period 
Revcrsuls of oppmpriati011S 
Effucts of prior period adjustments 
Treasury sh:ucs 

Subtotal 
T01'AL RF:TA l.'IIED EARNI.'IICS, 

END AVA ILABLF- FOR DI VIDEND 

(705,622) 

(2,446) 

(2,446) 

(70S,06R) 



Shinside. 
lnr~r[!on•tt!l 
(Subsidiaoy) 

100~ .... 

SCHEOUll!: II 
MAP OF 1'11£ RELATIONSHIPS OF THE COMPANIES WITIJIN THF: GROUP 

As of December 31, 2020 

Lf:I'AI\TO CO~SOLIDATF.I) MINI:'IG COMPANY A Nil SL'BSIJ)IAJH£S 
21st Floo1·, lepanln Ruilding, Pa~co de Roxa>. Mnknri City 

1 .!'11>~nto Con~olld1•tdd Minina; ~umean\' 
(l'ortul Company: F.ep<>rting CornJ10ny) 

DiA111flncf Uri.llins: Lfol!:llllO [ fiVt"Stnlt R! F'ar Soll!!!£!111 Gnld 1\bnil!! D'JI[!hl~ 
!:!!J'UOrafl<"ua c2( 1IIP an{! l>s:rrkia•m£nt Rc~!'!'I'~'S 1 Int. Cor&HU'tlfiuu (~11\IC} 

l'hi!iupines COJ:JUtrution (~ubsirl iary) (AssoCtUIC) 
(Sul»idiary) (~ubsidiJOry) 100% 19-00% 

101m 100'~ 

Oltun:~nt Kalllt'2Utn ~!IIUH'r-

Ma1wllt.~·h11'in l: 11ml Uold lt C:'I(mi ~!'N~ lm:. 

Trading Curj!Ur:ltiO!! (Subsidinry) 

(A><OciMe) 100% 

2S.4L% 



St:HF:l)l'LF. TU 
SUPPLEMFNI'ARY SCH£0ULES IU:QUlR£0 BY A.'iNl:X 68~1 

A< of Jccembcr 31 , 2020 

LEPA1\'TO CONSOLIDAT ED f>Ul\"NG CO:\U'ANY AND SUBSIDIARJES 
21st Floor, Lepanto Building, Paseo de Roxas, Makati City 

SC!iF:OULE A; FiNANCIAL ASSETS 

~1amc of issuing emity and 
assod3.tion of each issue 

Financial asset designated at FVOCI: 
Philippine Associated Smelting & Refining Corp. 
Manila Peninsula Hotel 
Philippine fire and Marine lnsur•nee Corp. 
Crv~"I'I f1'\lil:. 
Alabang Counny Club Inc. 
Canlubang Golf & Country Club Inc. 
Club Filipino 
~akati (Sports) Oub Inc. 
Man ila Polo Club 
PHII.AM Properties Corp. 

Nmnbcr of shares or principal 
amOWlL' of bond< and notes 

37,407.798 
1.304,632 

330.613 
20,000 

I 
1 
I 
I 
I 
I 

Amount< shown in the Statement of 
financial Po~ition 

(liR.Ures in thousands) Income rceeiv<.-d •nd accrued 

37,40R 
3.955 

4.702 
1,400 

250 
700 

19,000 
soo 



Sf.A.£DULE OL 
Sl"PPLEMENTARY SCIIEDUTJES REQUIRED RY ANNEX 68-J 

As of December 31, 2020 

LEPANTO CO NSOLIDATE]) MINTNC COMPANY AN]) SI!BSIDIARTF:S 
21st Floor, Lepanto fluilding. Pnseo de Roxas, Maknri C ity 

SCHEDII LE B: AMOUNTS RECRTVABLE FROM DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, E:\fPLOYEF.S. RELATED PART IES AND PRDIClPAL 
STOCKHOLDERS (QTHF.R THAN RELATETl l'ARTIF.S) 

Name and 
Designation ur 

Dehror 

BalAnce at 
Beginning Amount< Amount• B>laoce at end 

period Additions Collected Written urr Current Not Current of period 

I NOT APPLICABL.C -----1 



SCHI::DUL£ Ill 
SUPPLEM EIIOTARY SCHEDULES R£Q UIR£1> BY ANNEX 68-.J 

As of December 31, 2020 

LEPANTO CONSOLnM.TED )UNt!IOC COM.PMY A.'ID St;BSIDI ARIES 
21st Floor, LG"Panto Building, Paseo de Roxas, Mnkati City 

SCHF.OULE C: ru\IO UNTS RECEIVABLE FRO~! RELATF.O PARTIES WHICH ARE EI.Tl\UIIOATE:D DURIIIOG THE CONSOLIDATED 
Ft!IOA.NCJAI. STATEMENTS 

Name and 
Oalancc at 

Amounts 
Amounts Balonce 

0<-signation Beginning of periud 
Additions Collectc'<l I 

Written o!T 
Current Not Current 

a1 end period 
of Debtor Setllcd 

L>DCP 1'144,694,794 I' Pl4.762.386 1'- 1'129.931,908 1'- P I2'J.931.90H 
FSGRI 92,796,322 2.029.008 - - Q4,82S,.BO - 94,R2.;,330 
LIDC ~9.721,3 1.1 146,000 &9,H67.313 - 89,867,313 



SCH F:DUL F. III 
SUPPLF.MDITARY SCHEDULES RF.QUJREllBY .-\.'INF.X 68-.1 

As of December 31, 2020 

Lf.PAJ'\TO CO~SOLIDAT£0 MIMNG COMPANY AND SURSlDIARJES 
l ist Floor. l epanto Building. Pasco de Roxas. Makati City 

SCHEDULED: LONG TEfu"l DEBT 

Amount !'hown under the caption Amount :th0\\11 u1\dcr the caption 
Title of Issue and Amount authoriu d by "Current Poniun of lung-term "Lung-tcm1 borrowings- net of current 
type of obligation Indenture bormwin&•• in rclOted baloncc •he.!t ponion .. in related balance sheet 
Statham Capital Corporation -

(}n/d D~liveiJ' Agreemetlt 
PBCOM \JSD Lo3n 
UCI>Ll Pc~;o Loun 
PBCO~ Peso Loan 
AUB Peso Loan 

US$1 ,000.000 
USS49,83Q 

P320,000,00Q 
1'4,041,719 
Pl ,041 ,R9f 

1'4&,023.000 
1'2,392.986 

P IJ5,21 7.62 1 
~ 

1'350,446 

P-
t' 
p 
P-

P422,274 



SCHJ:: DUU: Ill 
SUPPU:.\t EN'l'ARY SCKED1..1..ES REQUlRED RV AI\1'\EX 68-J 

As or ne~~mher 3 1, 2020 

LEPANTO CONSOLIDATED MINING COMl'AI\X' ANl) St:RSIDIARIES 
21st floor, Lepanto lluilding, Pnseo de Roxns, Makati City 

SCH.EDl!l.E £: INOEBTEDNF:SS TO RE LATt: n PARTIES (LONG-TERM LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANJE$) 

:-rome of Related PE1rty _ Bnlancc_ill_bcgiltuing of p~riod ll•tlane<) at eml of period 

I NOT APPL!CADLE - , 



SCHF.DULF. Ill 
SUPPLE~IENTARV SCHEDI:LES RF.QUJRF.V BY .~NEX 68-J 

As of December 31,2020 

t,EI'Ai'ITO <..'01'\SOLffiATED ~liNING COMPANY Al'\'V SUBSJOIARIF.S 
21st Floor, Lc:panto Building, Pascn de Roxas, Makmi Cicy 

SCHF.DULP. F; Gl:ARANTt;;ES OF Sf,CURITlES OF OTHER ISSUES 

Name of issuing entiry of 
securities guarantocd ~y the 

company for which this 
statement i~ filed 

Title of is.•ue of each do~ or Total aJUo:runt guarJnteed and Amount ow~-d by person tor 
securities guaranteed out:S_randing,__ which statement is filed Kature of guarantee 

I NOT APPLICABLE I 



SCHEDULE nt 
SL'PPLEMEI'\TARY SCHEDULES REQUIRED I.IY ANNEX 68-J 

As ofl><:cembcr 31,2020 

LEPANTO CONSO LIDAT ED MINING COMPA!'\Y A.'W S\,""BSIOl.UUF.S 
2 1st floor, l-epanto Building, Pnseo de Roxas, Makttti City 

SCHfDULE G; CAPITAL STOCK 

The Pan:nt Company's authori>cd share copital is 1'6.64 billion divided into 66.4 billion >hares at i'0.10 par '11lue each, con•isting of39.~ billion 
Class "A" and 26.6 billion Clnss "B" common shares. As at n eecmber 3 !, 2020, total shores i""ed and outstonding is 66,373,926,649 held by 27,777 
shareholders. 

!'\umber of shares Nnmber of cha= 
issued and rcsctved for oplions. 

oun;tanding as shown wamms, No of shares held by 
Ntlmher of shares under related balance .;onversion~ and D iroc.tors and 

Title o f Issue authorized sheet cartion _Q_thcr tigllts ·-- Relatcd_partics Officers Others 
Common Stock 

Class A 
Class fl 

39.840.000,000 
26.560.000,000 

39,82 1,417,656 
26,552,508,993 

30.920 
783,523 

1,318,40~.331 
263.765.314 

38,502.978,405 
26.287.960,156 
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ANNEX "B"

MARCH 31 *DECEMBER 31
2021 2020

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalent 60,580P             31,446P                   
Receivables, net 82,070                79,438                     
Contract asset -                     -                           
Inventories, net 525,041              550,965                   
Advances to suppliers and contractors 316,157              298,659                   
Other current assets 879,054              879,374                   
   Total current assets 1,862,902           1,839,882                

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 6,599,965           6,650,419                
Available-for-sale financial assets 67,915                67,915                     
Investments and advances in associates 551,654              557,847                   
Mine exploration cost 6,843,761           6,827,286                
Deferred income tax assets 374,891              374,891                   
Other noncurrent assets 89,178                92,170                     
   Total non-current assets 14,527,364         14,570,527              

TOTAL ASSETS 16,390,266P      16,410,409P            

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 2,332,963P        2,280,406P              
Short-term borrowings 185,900              185,984                   
Unclaimed dividends 26,693                26,693                     
Income tax payable 49                       7                              
   Total current liabilities 2,545,605           2,493,091                

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Advances from Far Southeast Services Limited 6,155,026           6,131,772                
Long-term borrowings 422                     422                          
Lease Liability 861                     861                          
Liability for mine rehabilitation cost 169,824              169,349                   
Retirement benefit obligations 1,521,494           1,547,663                
Deferred income tax liabilities 211,666              211,917                   
Stock subscriptions payable -                     -                           
Deposit for future stock subscriptions 69,200                69,200                     
   Total non-current liabilities 8,128,493           8,131,185                

TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,674,098         10,624,276              

EQUITY 
Capital stock 6,635,685           6,635,685                
Additional paid-in capital 5,077,033           5,077,033                
Re-measurement loss on retirement plan (206,924)            (206,924)                  
Cumulative changes in fair values of AFS investments (42,192)              (35,390)                    
Deficit (5,987,217)         (5,924,109)               

5,476,385           5,546,295                
Non-controlling interests 239,784              239,838                   
   Total equity 5,716,169           5,786,133                

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 16,390,267P      16,410,409P            

* -  A U D I T E D

LEPANTO CONSOLIDATED MINING COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Amounts in thousands)

         ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
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ANNEX "A"

2021 2020 2021 2020
REVENUES
  Sale of metals 382,278P                              260,791 788,216P                             682,993P                             
  Service fees and other operating income 7,248 13,063 8,865 42,604

389,526 273,854 797,081 725,597                               
COSTS AND EXPENSES
  Mining, milling, roasting, smelting, refining and
    and other related charges; administrative expenses;
    depreciation, amortization and depletion; 
    and other charges (501,306) (520,032) (974,516) (1,183,165)                           
INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS (111,780) (246,178) (177,435) (457,568)                              
FINANCE COST, net (2,776) (2,772) (5,614) (5,385)                                  
FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAINS (LOSS), net 625 (762) 1,882 (969)                                     
OTHER INCOME (CHARGES), net 12,057 1,886                                    16,113 6,871                                    
SHARE IN NET EARNINGS (LOSSES) 
  OF ASSOCIATES (118) 2,157 (2,051) -                                       
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX (101,992) (245,669) (167,105) (457,051)                              
PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM)  INCOME TAX
  CURRENT (1,657) (6,770) (3,352) 2,004
  DEFERRED (219) 3,696 (471) (2,064)                                  

(1,876) (3,074) (3,823) (60)                                       

NET INCOME (LOSS) (100,116)P                            (242,595)P                            (163,282)P                            (456,991)P                            

Attributable to:
  Stockholders of the parent company (100,076) (242,548) (163,189)P                            (456,897)P                            
  Non-controlling interests (40)                                       (47) (93)                                       (94)                                       
Net Income / (Loss) (100,116)P                            (242,595)P                            (163,282)P                            (456,991)P                            

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
   attributable to stockholders of the 
   parent company
      Basic & Diluted (0.001508)                            (0.006883)                            (0.002459)                            (0.006883)                            

ENDED JUNE 30 ENDED JUNE 30
FOR SIX MONTHS FOR SECOND QUARTER 

LEPANTO CONSOLIDATED MINING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF INCOME

FOR THE QUARTERS AND PERIODS ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 AND 2020
(With Comparative Figures for 2020)

(Amounts In Thousand , Except Loss Per Share)



ANNEX "B"

JUNE 30 *DECEMBER 31
2021 2020

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalent 120,889P           31,446P                   
Receivables, net 92,622                79,438                     
Contract asset -                     -                           
Inventories, net 561,926              550,965                   
Advances to suppliers and contractors 396,855              298,659                   
Other current assets 926,742              879,374                   
   Total current assets 2,099,034           1,839,882                

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 6,566,000           6,650,419                
Available-for-sale financial assets 67,915                67,915                     
Investments and advances in associates 538,779              557,847                   
Mine exploration cost 6,862,885           6,827,286                
Deferred income tax assets 374,891              374,891                   
Other noncurrent assets 90,261                92,170                     
   Total non-current assets 14,500,731         14,570,528              

TOTAL ASSETS 16,599,765P      16,410,410P            

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 2,651,979P        2,280,406P              
Short-term borrowings 185,900              185,984                   
Unclaimed dividends 26,693                26,693                     
Income tax payable 47                       7                              
   Total current liabilities 2,864,619           2,493,091                

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Advances from Far Southeast Services Limited 6,167,360           6,131,772                
Long-term borrowings (833)                   422                          
Lease Liability 861                     861                          
Liability for mine rehabilitation cost 170,945              169,349                   
Retirement benefit obligations 1,493,315           1,547,663                
Deferred income tax liabilities 211,446              211,917                   
Stock subscriptions payable -                     -                           
Deposit for future stock subscriptions 69,200                69,200                     
   Total non-current liabilities 8,112,294           8,131,185                

TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,976,913         10,624,276              

EQUITY 
Capital stock 6,635,687           6,635,685                
Additional paid-in capital 5,077,033           5,077,033                
Re-measurement loss on retirement plan (206,924)            (206,924)                  
Cumulative changes in fair values of AFS investments (35,390)              (35,390)                    
Deficit (6,087,298)         (5,924,109)               

5,383,108           5,546,295                
Non-controlling interests 239,744              239,838                   
   Total equity 5,622,852           5,786,133                

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 16,599,765P      16,410,409P            

* -  A U D I T E D

LEPANTO CONSOLIDATED MINING COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Amounts in thousands)

         ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY



ANNEX ''C''

FOR SIX MONTHS 

ENDED JUNE 30

2021 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Income/ (Loss) before tax P (101,992)        P (245,669)      P (167,105)     P (457,051)     
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and depletion 5,667             13,013          208,795      160,609      
Equity in net losses (income) of affiliated companies 118                (417)             177             -              
Foreign exchange losses (income), net (625)               762               (1,882)         969             
Provision for retirement benefit cost -                 -               973             973             
Loss on sale of asset (0)                   -               (0)                (0)                
Interest income (7)                   (17)               (12)              (32)              
Interest expense 2,776             2,772            5,614          5,385          
Provision for income tax 1,876             3,074            3,823          60               

Operating income before working capital changes (92,187)          (226,482)      50,382        (289,087)     
Decrease (Increase) in:

Receivables and advances to suppliers (91,430)          (68,805)        (105,251)     (211,661)     
Inventories and PPE 68,957           116,371        (3,840)         71,247        
Prepayments and other assets (48,771)          41,167          (45,459)       39,767        

Increase (Decrease) in:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 316,895         186,040        367,985      481,036      
Liability for mine rehabilitation cost 1,121             159               1,596          2,069          
Deferred income tax liability, net (220)               (234)             (471)            (445)            

Cash generated (used) from operations 154,365         48,217          264,943      92,926        
Retirement benefits paid (29,017)          (8,080)          (56,335)       (25,799)       
Interest received 7                    17                 12               32               
Income tax recovered (paid) -                 -               -              -              

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 125,356         40,153          208,620      67,158        

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments, net 20,577           320               13,775        (0)                
Acquisition of property and equipment (77,544)          (38,393)        (131,497)     (83,452)       
Exploration costs and other assets (19,124)          (20,584)        (35,599)       (38,018)       

Net cash used in investing activities (76,091)          (58,657)        (153,321)     (121,471)     

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from:

Borrowings 12,334           13,570          35,588        30,718        
Disposal of Assets -                 -               -              -              

Payments of:
Borrowings (1,255)            (78)               (1,339)         (13,245)       
Interest (37)                 (46)               (106)            (894)            

Capital and other reserves 2                    -               1                 (1)                
Net cash provided by financing activities 11,044           13,446          34,144        16,578        

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 60,309           (5,058)          89,443        (37,735)       

Beginning of period 31,446           62,623          31,446        62,623        

CASH AT END OF THE PERIOD P 91,755           P 57,566          P 120,889      P 24,888        

2021 2020

LEPANTO CONSOLIDATED MINING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2021
(With Comparative Figures for 2020)

(Amounts in Thousand Pesos)

JUNE JUNE



ANNEX "D"

JUNE 30 JUNE 30
2021 2020

Authorized - P 6.64 billion
Share capital at par value 6,637,393P         6,637,393P       

Subscribed capital (net of subscriptions receivable) (1,707)                 (1,707)               

Share premium 5,077,033           5,077,033          

Cumulative changes in fair values of AFS investments (35,390)               58,283               

Re-measurement loss on retirement plan (206,924)             (4,728)               

Retained earnings
  Beginning balance (5,924,109)          (5,173,166)        
  Net Loss for the period (163,189)             (214,349)           

(6,087,298)          (5,387,515)        

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE
  STOCKHOLDERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY 5,383,107           6,378,759          

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 239,744              241,825             

5,622,851P         6,620,584P       

LEPANTO CONSOLIDATED MINING COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 & 2020
(Amounts in thousands)



     ANNEX “E” 
 
LEPANTO CONSOLIDATED MINING COMPANY  
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 and DECEMBER 31, 2020 
 
 
 
Note 1 - General information 
 
Lepanto Consolidated Mining Company (parent company) was incorporated in the 
Philippines and registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on 
September 8, 1936 primarily to engage in the exploration and mining of gold, silver, 
copper, lead, zinc and all kinds of ores, metals, minerals, oil, gas and coal and their 
related by-products.  On January 29, 1985, the SEC approved the extension of the 
parent company’s corporate term for another fifty (50) years after the expiration of its 
original term on September 8, 1986. 
 
The Parent company’s shares are listed and traded in the Philippine Stock Exchange.  
 
On January 14, 1997, the Parent Company was registered with the Board of 
Investments (BOI) under Executive Order No. 226 as a new export producer of gold 
bullion on a preferred non-pioneer status.  This registration entitled the Parent 
Company to a four (4) year income tax holiday (ITH), which can be further extended 
for another three (3) years subject to compliance with certain conditions, and lower 
tariff rates on acquisition of capital equipment.  It is required to maintain a base equity 
of at least 25% as one of the conditions of the registration. 
 
On April 1, 1997, the Parent company started the commercial operations of its Victoria 
Project gold mine.  Consequently, in October 1997, the parent company temporarily 
ceased operating its copper concentrate roasting plant facilities in Isabel, Leyte for an 
indefinite period.  The Roasting plant facility was also registered with the Philippine 
Economic Zone Authority (PEZA) on December 17, 1985 pursuant to the provisions of 
Presidential Decree No. 66, as amended, and Executive Order No. 567 as a zone 
export enterprise to operate a roasting plant for the manufacture of copper calcine at 
the Isabel Special Export Economic Processing Zone.   
 
On March 30, 2000, the Parent Company registered its copper flotation with the BOI 
as a new producer of copper concentrates on a preferred non-pioneer status.  This 
registration entitled the Parent Company to a four (4) year ITH, subject to compliance 
with certain conditions, simplified customs procedures, additional deduction for labor 
expense, and unrestricted use of consigned equipment for a period of ten (10) years.  
It is required to maintain a base equity of at least 25% as one of the conditions of the 
registration. The Copper Flotation project was suspended at the end of 2001; BOI 
registration was cancelled on July 11, 2006. 
 
On January 5, 2004, the Parent Company was registered with the BOI under 
Executive Order No. 226 as new export producer of gold bullion on a non-pioneer 
status, for its Victoria II (renamed Teresa) Project, located also in Mankayan, Benguet, 
Philippines. This registration entitles the Parent Company to ITH with the same 
incentives that were granted on their registration with the BOI on January 14, 1997. 
The Teresa Project commenced its commercial operations in April 2004. 
 
On November 21, 2006, the Parent Company was registered with the BOI under 
Executive Order No. 226 as new export producer of copper-gold concentrate on a 
non-pioneer status for its copper-gold flotation project located also in Mankayan, 



Benguet, Philippines.  This registration entitles the Company to ITH for four (4) years, 
which can be further extended for another three (3) years subject to compliance with 
certain conditions, and duty-free importation of equipment, spare parts and 
accessories for five (5) years. The copper-gold flotation operations were suspended in 
2009 in view of the sharp decline in copper prices, of which the BOI was notified. In 
August 2017, the Company notified the BOI that it will resume copper-gold flotation 
operations in the fourth quarter of 2017. 
 
The registrations mentioned above enable the Parent Company and its subsidiaries to 
avail of the rights, privileges, and incentives granted to all registered enterprises. 
 
The Parent Company currently operates the Victoria Project from which it produces 
gold dore. It commenced commercial operation of the Copper-Gold Project, producing 
copper-gold concentrate, in October 2017. 
 
The Company has two Mineral Production Sharing Agreements (MPSA), referred to 
as MPSA No. 001-090-CAR and MPSA No. 151-2000-CAR, both in Mankayan, 
Benguet.  
 
MPSA No. 001-90-CAR was jointly executed by the Company and subsidiary Far 
Southeast Gold Resources, Inc. (FSGRI) on March 3, 1990 with the Philippine 
Government, through the Department of Environment and Natural Resources.  The 
MPSA has a term of 25 years, renewable for another term not exceeding 25 years 
under the same terms and conditions.  The Company and FSGRI filed an application 
for its renewal on June 4, 2014.  The application for renewal of the mining rights are 
still in pending approval as at December 31, 2020. 
 
The Parent Company has its principal office at the 21st Floor, 8747 Lepanto Building, 
Paseo de Roxas, Makati City.   
 
 
 
Note 2 – Compliance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
 

The consolidated financial statements of Lepanto Consolidated Mining Company 
Group (the Group) have been prepared in accordance with the accounting principles 
generally accepted in the Philippines. The Group prepared its consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) 
except for the exemption from the fair value requirement of the Philippine Accounting 
Standards (PAS) 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, on long 
term commodity hedging contracts entered into by the parent company and 
outstanding as of January 1, 2005, which was permitted by the SEC.  
 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are 
consistent with the most recent annual financial statements. 
 
 
 
Note 3 – Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

 06/30/2021 12/31/2020 
Cash on hand 4,836 4,079 
Cash in banks 116,053 27,367 
 120,889 31,446 

 
Cash in banks earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates.    



 
   
Note 4 – Receivables 
 

 06/30/2021 12/31/2020 
Trade 61,019  53,608 
Nontrade   47,286   41,529 
Advances to officers and employees 2,961 2,607 
 111,266 97,744 
Less: Allowance for impairment losses (18,645) (18,645) 
 92,622 79,099 

 
The Parent Company’s trade receivables arise from its shipments of gold, silver and 
concentrate to refinery and smelter customer based on contract/agreement. 

 
Trade and nontrade are non-interest bearing and are generally collectible on 
demand.  Nontrade receivables comprise mainly of receivables from subcontractors 
and other third parties, while receivables from officers and employees pertain to 
cash advances made by employees for the operations of the Group.   

 
Receivables from officers and employees are non-interest bearing and are generally 
subject to liquidation.  Unliquidated receivables from officers and employees are 
collectible on demand or considered as salary deduction. 
 
 
 
Note 5 – Inventories 
 

 06/30/2021 12/31/2020 
Parts and supplies 561,926 547,510 
Mine Products 0 3,455 
 561,926 550,965 

 
Parts and supplies include materials and supplies stored in Metro Manila, Bulacan, 
Mankayan, and Leyte.  The decrease in the amount of P14.42 million represents 
withdrawals of stocks used in operations. 
 
Mine products inventory include copper concentrates stored in a concentrate 
bodega owned by SSI located at its compound in Poro, San Fernando City, La 
Union. 
 
 
 
Note 6 – Advances to suppliers and contractors 
 
Advances to suppliers and contractors are non-financial assets arising from 
advanced payments made to suppliers and contractors before goods and services 
have been received or rendered.  These are classified as current since these are 
expected to be offset against future short-term billings and are recognized in the 
books at the amounts initially paid. 
 
Advances to suppliers and contractors are attributable to contracts generally 
requiring advance payments.  Amounts deposited will be applied as part of the full 
payment of the contract price upon completion of the contract or consummation of 
transactions and receipt of all related documents. 
 
 



 
 
Note 7 – Other current assets 
 

 06/30/2021 12/31/2020 
Input VAT 786,491 776,498  
Deferred costs 2,042 10,190 
Prepayments 136,481 89,941 
Others 2,613 2,745 
 927,626 879,374 

 
By virtue of Revenue Memorandum Order 9-2000 dated March 29, 2000, all sales of 
goods, property and services made by a Value Added Tax (VAT) - registered person 
to the Parent Company, being a one hundred percent (100%) exporter, are 
automatically zero-rated for VAT purposes effective August 8, 2001. 
 
Input VAT represents VAT paid on purchases of applicable goods and services, net 
of output VAT, which can be claimed for refund or recovered as tax credit against 
certain future tax liability of the Company upon approval by the Philippine Bureau of 
Internal Revenue (BIR) and/or the Philippine Bureau of Customs. 
 
Deferred costs represent cost of withdrawn tubings to be used in drilling operations. 
Aforesaid costs are amortized based on meters drilled.   
 
Prepaid expenses include advance payments for taxes, insurance, rent and other 
services. 
 
 
 
Note 8 – Trade and other payables 
 
Composed of trade, due to related parties, accrued expenses and other liabilities, trust 
receipts, employee related expenses, unclaimed dividends, payables to regulatory 
authorities, accrued utilities and accrued production tax. 
 
Nature, terms and conditions of the Group’s liabilities: 

 Trade payables include import and local purchases of equipment and inventories 
such as various parts and supplies used in the operations of the Group.  These 
are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on sixty (60) days’ terms.  

 Accrued expenses and other liabilities are noninterest-bearing and are normally 
settled on a 30 to sixty (60) days’ term.  These include other operating expenses 
that are payable to various suppliers and contractors. 

 Trust receipts refer to arrangements of the Group with banks related to its 
importations of inventories and various equipment which are interest bearing and 
have an average term of ninety (90) to one hundred twenty (120) days. 

 Employee related expenses include unclaimed wages, accrued vacation and sick 
leave and accrued payroll. These are non-interest bearing and are payable in 
thirty (30) days’ term. 

 Unclaimed dividends pertain to unpaid cash dividends declared by the Parent 
Company to its stockholders. These are non-interest bearing and are payable 
upon demand of the payee.  

 Payable to regulatory agencies include withholding taxes and other government 
contributions related to employees of the Group. These are non-interest bearing 
and are normally remitted within ten (10) days from the close of each month. 



 Accrued utilities pertain to unpaid billings for power, communication, light and 
water charges. These are non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 
thirty (30) to ninety (90) days. 

 Accrued production taxes pertain to excise taxes on metal sales. These are non-
interest bearing and are settled within fifteen (15) days after the end of each 
quarter. 

 
 
 
Note 9 - Business Segments 
 
The Group derives revenue from the following main operating business segments: 
 
Mining activities –This segment engages in exploration and mining of gold, silver, 
copper, lead, zinc and all kinds of ores, metals, minerals, oil, gas, and coal and 
related by-products.  
 
Investment activities – This segment derives its income as a general agent, broker 
or factor of any insurance company or as a commercial broker, agent or factor of 
any person, partnership, corporation or association engaged in any lawful business, 
industry or enterprise. Income is derived from commissions, which represent income 
on non-life insurance policies underwritten by a subsidiary for certain principals. 
 
Hauling and Leasing activities – This segment engages in handling all kinds of 
material, products and supplies in bulk and maintaining and operating terminal 
facilities such pier and warehouses. Income is derived mainly from hauling fees and 
warehouse rentals. 
 
Insurance activities – This segment derives its revenues from premiums from short 
duration insurance contracts, which are recognized over a period of the contracts 
using the 24th month method. 
 
Drilling activities – This segment derives its income from drilling services to its 
related and outside parties. 
 
Manufacturing and Trading – This segment derives its revenue from manufacturing, 
distributing, selling and buying machinery and equipment, general merchandise and 
articles related to diamond core drilling industry. 
 
The assets, liabilities and results of the business segments of the LCMC Group for 
the 2nd quarter of the year 2021 and 2020 are as follow: 
 
 
 
Mining activities 

  
 2021                           

(in thousands)  
 2020                           

(in thousands)  
CURRENT ASSET  2,041,000   1,994,166  
NON-CURRENT ASSET  14,497,909   14,461,275  
CURRENT LIABILITES  3,018,827   2,467,504  
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  8,060,740   7,677,913  
GROSS INCOME  788,216   422,086  
NET INCOME / (LOSS)  (158,968)  (219,013) 

 
 
 



Investment activities 

  
 2021                          

(in thousands)  
 2020                          

(in thousands)  
CURRENT ASSET  20,464   236  
NON-CURRENT ASSET  90,800   206,112  
CURRENT LIABILITES  90,301   89,910  
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  18,763   18,763  
GROSS INCOME  -     -    
NET INCOME / (LOSS)  6,213  (54) 

 
Hauling and Leasing Activities 

  
 2021                           

(in thousands)  
 2020                           

(in thousands)  
CURRENT ASSET  218,769   192,643  
NON-CURRENT ASSET  390,339   405,727  
CURRENT LIABILITES  34,621   16,967  
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  138,207   134,113  
GROSS INCOME  10,559   8,142  
NET INCOME / (LOSS)  (572)  256  

 
Drilling Activities 

  
 2021                           

(in thousands)  
 2020                           

(in thousands)  
CURRENT ASSET  222,988   266,003  
NON-CURRENT ASSET  29,936   70,042  
CURRENT LIABILITES  193,370   231,318  
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  17,146   20,154  
GROSS INCOME  10,581   28,944  
NET INCOME / (LOSS)  (7,904)  6,571  

 
 
 
Note 10 – Seasonality 
 
There is no seasonality or cyclical factors in the company's operations.  



ANNEX "F"

LEPANTO CONSOLIDATED MINING CO.
AGING OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE - TRADE
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021

OVER OVER

      C U S T O M E R S CURRENT 30 DAYS 60 DAYS TOTAL

HERAEUS LTD. 47,161,214                 -                              -                              47,161,214                 

LOUIS DREYFUS COMPANY -                              -                              

OPEN MINERAL AG 1,397,506                   1,397,506                   
-                              -                              -                              -                              

48,558,719                 -                              -                              48,558,719                 



`                                ANNEX “G” 
 
 

MANAGEMENT’s DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULT OF OPERATIONS 

As of June 30, 2021 
  

 
Consolidated revenues for the second quarter of 2021 amounted to P389.5 million 

compared with P273.9 million in 2020. Consolidated net loss decreased to P100.1 million 
versus P242.6 million the previous year. 
 

For the first half of 2021, combined revenues reached P797.1 million compared with  
P725.6 million for the same period in 2020. Consolidated net loss significantly decreased to 
P163.3 million, better than last year’s loss of P457.0 million. 
 
 
Mining Operations 
 
 
April – June 2021 versus April – June 2020  
 

Dore production contained 4,146 ounces of gold and 11,016 ounces of silver versus 
last year’s  3,228 ounces and 9,375 ounces, respectively.  
 

Metal sales went up by P121.5 million to P382.3 million because of the higher 
production and better metal prices. Net loss totaled P104.2 million compared with last year’s 
P210.0 million. 
 

Gold price averaged US$1,815.5 versus US$1,737.3/oz while silver price averaged 
US$26.54/oz. versus US$17.37/oz. the preceding year. The P/US$ exchange rate averaged 
P48.17/US$1 compared with P50.40/US$1 last year. 

 
Tonnage milled increased by 15,810 tonnes to 113,572 tonnes as last year’s 

production was affected by the prolonged lockdown. Milling cost went down from P83.3 
million to P81.9 million; depletion and depreciation increased by a total of P 5.0 million to 
P102.8 million on account of the higher production and the acquisition of additional 
equipment, respectively.  
 
January – June 2021 versus January – June 2020  
 

Metal production  in the form of dore  consisted of 8,649 oz of gold and 34,100 oz of 
silver. Last year’s metal production included gold copper concentrates (suspended in March 
2020)  and totaled 7,861 oz. of gold; 20,733 oz. of silver; and  618,442 lbs. of copper.  

 
The higher production and metal prices caused  metal revenue to increase  from 

P682.99 million to P788.22 million; and combined with the lower costs, contributed to the 
65% decrease in net loss from P454.6 million to P158.7 million.  
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Gold price averaged US$1,796.56/oz. versus US$1,630.64/oz. last year, while silver 
price averaged US$26.30/oz. versus US$17.41/oz. Copper price averaged US$2.71/lb last 
year. The P/US$ exchange rate averaged P48.23/US$1 compared with P50.66/US$1 last 
year. 

 
Largely due to the suspension of copper operations, total cost and expenses 

decreased by 14% to P951.5 million from P1,105.4 million on account of: 56,375 tonne- 
drop in the tonnes broken  causing an 11% reduction in mining cost; decrease of milling 
tonnage  to 195,884 tonnes from 222,496 tonnes and of  milling cost  from P181.21 million 
to P165.16 million; reduction in depletion and depreciation from P219.2 million to P206.2 
million; and  overhead and administrative costs from P257.7 million to P213.9 million.  
 
 
BALANCE SHEET MOVEMENTS 
 
 
June 30, 2021 versus December 31, 2020 
 

Cash and cash equivalents increased by P89.4 million due mainly to timing of 
disbursements for operational and capital spending. Receivables increased by P13.2 million 
representing the unpaid portion of a dore shipment. The increase in advances to suppliers 
and contractors of P98.2 million represent outstanding deliverables from various suppliers. 
Other current assets increased by P47.4 million resulting from unamortized operating 
development expenses.  
 

Trade and other payables increased by P371.6 million due to mine development, mill 
upgrade and exploration expenditures. 
 

Deficit increased by P163.2 million representing the net loss from operations during 
the period.  
   
 
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES  
 

 
Capital expenditures for the quarter totaled P96.7 million, of which P35.6 million went 

to exploration; P53.1 million to machinery and equipment; P3.8 million to mine development; 
and P4.1 million to maintenance of tailings storage facility 5A. 
 

For the first semester, total capital expenditures amounted to P164.8 million; of 
which P59.3 million went to exploration; P85.0 million to machinery and equipment; P14.0 
million to mine development; and P6.4 million to maintenance of tailings storage facility 5A. 
 
 
OUTLOOK FOR THE YEAR 
 
 
 Lepanto is presently focusing on gold dore production from its Victoria and Teresa 
deposits.  Exploration drilling is concentrated on targeting extensions of the said deposits. 
Meantime, the mill plant and CIP are undergoing rehabilitation to improve gold and silver 
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recoveries and increase throughput. There are no plans for any significant changes in the 
number of employees or purchase of significant equipment. Raising of capital may be 
resorted to support operations, further exploration (including of copper areas), and 
development.   
 
 
SUBSIDIARIES  
  

 
The key performance indicator used for the subsidiaries is net income for the six 

months ended June 2021 versus the same period the previous year. 
 

Diamond Drilling Corporation of the Philippines reported a net loss of P7.9 million 
this year versus P6.6 million net income last year. Lepanto Investment and Development 
Corporation reported a net income of P6.2 million compared with last year’s net loss of 
P53.7 thousand. Shipside, Incorporated registered a net loss of P572 thousand against last 
year’s net income of P0.26 million. 
 
 
 
 
* - KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS-LCMC 
 
Tonnes Milled which indicate the amount of ore taken for processing, Milled Head is the amount of 
gold per ton milled and Gold production which is the final product of the operations. Metal sales, 
Cost and Expenses and Net Income round up the review process on how the company is 
performing vis-à-vis the performance of the same period last year. Average Gold price for the period 
adds another parameter that needs watching notwithstanding that the company has no direct 
influence on its movement.  



            ANNEX “H” 
 
 
 

LEPANTO CONSOLIDATED MINING COMPANY  
Impact of Current Global Financial Condition 
 
 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk refers to the potential loss arising from any failure by counterparties to fulfill 
their obligations, as and when they fall due.  It is inherent to the business as potential 
losses may arise due to the failure of its customers and counterparties to fulfill their 
obligations on maturity dates or due to adverse market conditions. 

 
All gold exports when priced are practically settled on cash basis.  Parent Company’s 
existing contracts with gold refineries allow for advances of 98% of payable metals 
paid in two (2) working days from pricing.  Full settlement is normally received within 
three (3) working days.  For copper concentrates, Parent Company’s existing 
contracts with smelters allow for advances of 90% of payable metals paid within two 
(2) to five (5) working days from pricing.  Full settlement, however, takes three (3) to 
six (6) months..   

 
The Parent Company enters into marketing contracts only with refineries and smelters 
of established international repute.  Since the Parent Company became a primary 
gold and copper concentrates producer, it has entered into exclusive marketing 
contracts with Heraeus for gold and Trafigura Beheer BV and Shanghang County 
Jinshan Trading Co., Ltd. for copper concentrates. 
 
The Group has a significant concentration of credit risk in relation to its trade 
receivables from Hereaus.  Such risk is managed by securing the specific approval of 
the BOD before entering into contracts with refineries and by assessing the 
creditworthiness of such refineries. 

 
The credit risk arising from these financial assets arises from default of the 
counterparty, with maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these 
instruments.  The Group’s gross maximum exposure to credit risk is equivalent to the 
carrying values since there are no collateral agreements for these financial assets. 
 
There is no significant exposure to credit risk. 
 
Market Risk 
 
Market risk is the risk of loss to future earnings, to fair values or to future cash flows 
that may result from changes in the price of a financial instrument.  The value of a 
financial instrument may change as a result of changes in foreign currency exchanges 
rates, interest rates, equity prices and other market changes.   
 
Foreign Exchange Risk 
 
Foreign exchange risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from changes in foreign 
exchange rates.  The Group takes on exposure to effects of fluctuations in the 
prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its consolidated financial statements 
and consolidated statements of cash flows.   



The Group follows a policy to manage its currency risk by closely monitoring its cash 
flow position and by providing forecast on all other exposures in non-Philippine Peso 
currencies.   
 
The Group sells its product to the interstates national market.  All metal sales are 
denominated in US$.  Dollar conversion of metal sales to Philippine Peso is based on 
the prevailing exchange rate at the time of sale.  The Group also has purchase 
transactions denominated in AU$. 
 
Foreign currency-denominated liabilities of Parent Company totaled US$1.02 million 
at the end of second quarter this year. This amount was revalued at the start of the 
year based on an exchange rate of P48.023/US$.  No revaluation of said liabilities 
during the current year.  Foreign exchange gain or losses due to the movement of the 
Philippine peso vis a vis the US$ are recognized at year-end on outstanding US$ 
denominated assets and liabilities.  The gain/(loss) on Philippine peso 
appreciation/(depreciation) against the dollar as a result of settlement of liabilities is 
reflected as foreign exchange gain/(loss) in the financial statements. 
 
As of the end of the quarter, Far Southeast Gold Resources, Inc., a 60%-owned 
subsidiary, had total foreign currency-denominated liabilities of US$145.4 million.  
Said foreign currency liabilities are converted to Philippine peso at the time of their 
incurrence.  No revaluation of said liabilities is done on account of the 
appreciation/depreciation of the Philippine peso; hence, no foreign exchange 
gain/loss is recognized for the quarter ended.  Settlement of these obligations will be 
at their recorded value based on the agreement with the creditor/investor. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
The Group’s exposure to the risk for changes in market interest rate relates primarily 
to its long-term borrowings with floating interest rates.  The Group regularly monitors 
its exposure to interest rates movements.  Management believes that cash generated 
from operations is sufficient to pay for its obligations under the loan agreements as 
they fall due. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group may encounter difficulties in 
raising funds to meet maturing obligations from financial instruments or that a market 
for derivatives may not exist in some circumstances. 
 
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and 
flexibility through the use of advances from related parties.  The Group considers its 
available funds and its liquidity in managing its long-term financial requirements.  For 
its short-term funding, the Group’s policy is to ensure that there are sufficient capital 
inflows to match repayments of short-term debt. 
 
As part of its liquidity risk management, the Group regularly evaluates its projected 
and actual cash flows.  It also continuously assesses conditions in the financial 
markets for opportunities to pursue fund raising activities, in case any requirements 
arise.  Fund raising activities may include bank loans and capital market issues.  
Accordingly, its loan maturity profile is regularly reviewed to ensure availability of 
funding through an adequate amount of credit facilities with financial institutions. 
 
Fair Values 
 
PFRS defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 



measurement date.  Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, discounted 
cash flow models and option pricing models, as appropriate. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Trade Receivables and Trade and Other Payables 
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and trade and other 
payables, which are all subject to normal trade credit terms and are short-term in 
nature, approximate their fair values. 
  
AFS Financial Assets 
Fair values of investments are estimated by reference to their quoted market price at 
the end of the reporting period.  Unquoted equity securities are carried at cost, net of 
impairment in value, since fair value of these AFS securities cannot be reliably 
determined as these securities are not listed and have no available bid price. 
 
Loans Payable and Borrowings 
Carrying value of the loans payable and borrowings as at end of the quarter 
approximate their fair values.  Borrowings from local banks are all clean loans with 
interest rates ranging from 5.0% to 7.0%. 



ANNEX "I" WP

AS OF 2ND QUARTER YEAR ENDED
JUNE 2021 DECEMBER 2020

Profitability Ratios:
Return on assets -0.98% -4.58%
Return on equity -2.90% -12.98%
Gross profit margin -10.84% -31.74%
Net profit margin -20.49% -50.98%

Liquidity and Solvency Ratios:
Current ratio 0.73:1 0.74:1
Quick ratio 0.21:1 0.16:1
Solvency ratio -0.01:1 -0.07:1

Financial Leverage Ratios:
Asset to equity ratio 2.95:1 2.84:1
Debt to equity ratio 1.95:1 1.84:1
Interest coverage ratio 29.77:1 11.18:1

LEPANTO CONSOLIDATED MINING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
FINANCIAL RATIOS

PURSUANT TO SRC RULE 68, AS AMENDED
JUNE 30, 2021

(With Comparative Annual Figures for 2020)
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